
Members of the public are welcome to attend committee meetings. However, occasionally, committees 
may have to consider some business in private. Copies of agendas, minutes and reports are available 
on request in Braille, in large print, on audio tape, on computer disk or in other languages.

Healthier Communities Select Committee
Agenda

Tuesday, 18 October 2016
7.00 pm, 
Civic Suite
Catford
SE6 4RU

For more information contact:  John Bardens (02083149976)

Part 1

Item Pages

1.  Minutes of the meeting held on 13 September 2016 1 - 10

2.  Declarations of interest 11 - 14

3.  Health and adult social care integration - evidence session 15 - 124

4.  Lewisham hospital update (systems resilience) 125 - 134

5.  Public health annual report 135 - 222

6.  Information item: Healthwatch Mental Health Forum 223 - 228

7.  Information item: People that don’t speak English and Access to 
Health and Wellbeing Services in Lewisham

229 - 246

8.  Information item: The Refugee Community and Access to Health and 
Wellbeing Services in Lewisham

247 - 264

9.  Information item: The Turkish Community and Access to Health and 
Wellbeing Services in Lewisham

265 - 280

10.  Select Committee work programme 281 - 300

11.  Referrals to Mayor and Cabinet



Healthier Communities Select Committee
Members

Members of the committee, listed below, are summoned to attend the meeting to be held 
on Tuesday, 18 October 2016.  

Barry Quirk, Chief Executive
Thursday, 6 October 2016

Councillor John Muldoon (Chair)
Councillor Stella Jeffrey (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Paul Bell
Councillor Colin Elliott
Councillor Jamie Milne
Councillor Jacq Paschoud
Councillor Joan Reid
Councillor Alan Till
Councillor Susan Wise
Councillor Alan Hall (ex-Officio)
Councillor Gareth Siddorn (ex-Officio)



MINUTES OF THE HEALTHIER COMMUNITIES 
SELECT COMMITTEE

Tuesday 13 September 2016, 7pm

Present: Councillors John Muldoon (Chair), Stella Jeffrey (Vice Chair), Colin Elliot, 
Jacq Paschoud, Joan Reid, Alan Till and Susan Wise

Apologies: Councillors Paul Bell

Also Present: Aileen Buckton (Executive Director of Community Services), Tim 
Higginson (Chief Executive, Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust), Caroline Hirst 
(Joint Commissioner, Children and Young People’s Services), Ruth Hutt (Consultant 
in Public Health, Lewisham Council), Sarah Perman (Consultant in Public Health), 
Joan Hutton (Head of Assessment and Care Management), Carmel Langstaff 
(Service Manager – Interagency Development and Integration), James Lee (Service 
Group Manager, Prevention, Inclusion and Public Health, Lewisham Council), Tony 
Read (Chief Financial Officer, Lewisham CCG), Warwick Tomsett (Head of Targeted 
Services and Joint Commissioning for Children and Young People, Lewisham 
Council), Geeta Subramaniam (Head of Crime Reduction and Supporting People, 
Lewisham Council), Danny Ruta (Director of Public Health, Lewisham Council), and 
John Bardens (Scrutiny Manager).

1. Minutes of the meeting held on 28 June 2016

Resolved: the minutes of the last meeting were agreed as a true record.

2. Declarations of interest

The following non-prejudicial interests were declared:

 Councillor John Muldoon is a governor of the South London and Maudsley NHS 
Foundation Trust.

 Councillor Jacq Paschoud has a family member in receipt of a package of adult 
social care.

 Councillor Susan Wise is a member of the King's College Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust and the South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust.

3. Health and Wellbeing Board response to Committee's referral on 
Healthwatch report

Resolved: the Committee noted the response

4. Health and adult social care integration - evidence session

Aileen Buckton (Executive Director of Community Services), Tim Higginson (Chief 
Executive, Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust), Tony Read (Chief Financial 
Officer, Lewisham CCG) introduced the report. The following key points were noted: 



 The Council started integrating staff working in the community in 2011 – including 
district nurses, occupational therapists and physiotherapists. Virtual 
Neighbourhood Community Teams of social care staff and District Nurses 
working with primary care have now been established.  

 Residents had said that they found it difficult and confusing to organise their care. 
GPs had also said that they were sometimes unsure about where to refer people 
to for additional care and support. 

 GPs had said that many people they were seeing, particularly those who were 
lonely and isolated, could be better helped by other organisations in the 
community. The Community Connections programme has since been set up – 
matching people like this with appropriate organisations in the community.

 The Council and the CCG brought together health and social care commissioning 
some time ago and are now looking at joint commissioning across the whole 
system. 

 A new virtual patient record, Connect Care, has been developed so that Patient 
records have also been integrated so that different health and care professionals 
can share information and work together. 

 Integration work is also focused on reducing avoidable admissions to hospital 
and delays with discharge. It has also led to more efficient management and 
better co-ordination of services. 

 The Government has now asked local authorities to have a plan in place by April 
2017 for how they will fully integrate adult social care and community-based staff 
by 2020. Over the last year, Lewisham Health and Care Partners have reviewed 
the governance arrangements and established an Executive Board that will 
consider new models for health and adult social care integration.

 The Board will also be looking at estates and IT and the possibility of co-locating 
neighbourhood teams; and how the roles and responsibilities of the workforce 
can encourage closer and more person-centred care. 

 A key part of this work includes closer integration with mental health services.  

Aileen Buckton (Executive Director of Community Services) and partners answered 
questions from the Committee. The following key points were noted:

 A whole communications strategy about the wider transformation of services will 
come out alongside the SE London Sustainability and Transformation Plan 
(STP). It will be brought to the Committee before it goes out. The integration of 
health and adult social care is only a small part of this.

 The STP draws heavily on the Our Healthier South East London (OHSEL) 
programme, which has had significant public engagement. The STP submission 
itself hasn’t been published yet because it hasn’t been finalised. But people can 



find a huge amount of information about it on the OHSEL website 
(http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/about-us/).

 Delays in discharging people from hospital are sometimes down to the hospital 
not doing its side of things, not doing all of the assessments for example. But it is 
increasingly down to problems finding the right placements for people with very 
complex needs. 

 Providing better support for people in their homes will help with discharge delays 
as well as reducing unnecessary admissions. 

 Health partners are also now much more aware of who those people with 
complex needs are and why they are not being discharged in good time. They 
also know that a significant number of re-admissions are down to people not 
having the right support at home and in the community. 

 In Lewisham, it’s rare that a delayed discharge is down to a social care package 
not being ready. It’s normally down to the need to find specialist placements or 
when someone has chosen to go to another borough. Staff are starting to plan 
patient discharges at the time of admission.

 Local health partners are held jointly accountable for the hospital’s four-hour A&E 
target, and this target also relates to delayed transfers of care. The data is 
scrutinised by a board of local health partners every fortnight.

 Health and care partners are looking to expand admission avoidance services. 
The enhanced care and support workstream is looking, for example, at “home 
wards”, so that people can receive treatment within their own home rather than 
within a hospital. 

 The capacity of Lewisham’s rapid response team is being extended to a 7 day, 
8am to 8pm service to increase access, particularly over the weekend. 

 The Council and SLAM are working together to improve access to health services 
for people with mental health needs. This includes looking at whether 
assessments can be done somewhere else rather than A&E. 

 Services in the community are being extended – the social work offer is very 
close to being 7 days a week. There will be extended access to GPs 7 days a 
week, 8am to 8pm. 

 Under the proposed model, an individual’s key worker will think more holistically 
about what’s needed and co-ordinate care around the person’s needs as a 
whole. It doesn’t mean there will be only one person – others will be brought in as 
and when they were needed.

 Pharmacies, although not part of multi-disciplinary teams – as they don’t go into 
people homes the same way – are very much part of whole wider community 
network.

The Committee made a number of comments. The following key points were noted:



 The Committee noted that major service transformation is best achieved by 
taking people with you. People must be told about the changes that are coming 
and much thought must be given to how this is done. 

 The Committee noted that in developing new models of care, public involvement 
and co-production is needed right from beginning. There’s a lot of suspicion and 
fear around the STP process because of the perceived secrecy.

 The Committee also noted that it is important to look at people’s personal support 
networks as well as community and social services. Lots of vulnerable people – 
those with mental health needs, substance abuse issues as well as older people 
– are still ending up in A&E when it’s not best for them.

Resolved: the Committee noted the report. 

5. Lewisham Future Programme

A18 – widening the scope of charging for social care services

Joan Hutton (Head of Assessment and Care Management) introduced the report. 
The following key points were noted: 

 £200,000 of the proposed savings will be achieved by, among other things, 
removing the subsidy and increasing charges for day care meals; charging 
arrangement fees for those who fund their own social care; increasing charges 
for the Linkline/community alarm service; and changing the non-residential 
charging policy to reflect Government guidance. 

 A further £300,000 will be saved by improving the way payments are collected. 
This includes making service users aware of care charges, and sending out 
invoices at an earlier point in the process.

Joan Hutton (Head of Assessment and Care Management) answered questions from 
the Committee. The following key points were noted:

 The exact amount that each individual charging proposal will save will be 
identified by analysis of each element and confirmed once the proposal has been 
agreed.

 Previous IT systems have prevented the Council from being able to collect 
payment in better way Officers are confident that the new IT system will help 
improve things.

 People are less likely to try to avoid paying care fees if it the costs are made clear 
to them early on in the process.  

 The social care arrangement service will continue to be provided by the Council 
when charges come in for those who fund their own care.

 Proposed charges will market tested and put out to consultation for three months.



The Committee made a number of comments. The following key points were noted:

 The Committee noted that some people can well afford to pay for their social 
care. And that with some social care debts running into the tens of thousands of 
pounds, this affects the care the Council is able to provide to those who 
genuinely can’t afford to pay. 

 The Committee noted that some of the proposed charges seemed quite high and 
expressed concern that they may lead to fewer people using these services, 
simply creating pressures in other parts of the system – the Linkline alarm service 
for example.

Resolved: the Committee agreed to refer its views on this proposal to the Public 
Accounts Select Committee:

The Committee expressed concern about the possibility of vulnerable people 
choosing not to use services like this as a result of increased charges – the Linkline 
alarm services in particular. The Committee recommended, should this proposal be 
accepted, that the Mayor and Cabinet make sure that any decrease in use by 
vulnerable people is closely monitored. 

A19 – reduction in the staffing costs for assessment and care management

Joan Hutton (Head of Assessment and Care Management) introduced the report. 
The following key points were noted: 

 The proposed saving of £500,000 will primarily come from deleting 12 to 15 FTE 
posts from across the assessment and care management teams.

 Savings will also come from improving staff IT, introducing mobile working, and 
improving access to information, advice and signposting for service users.

Joan Hutton (Head of Assessment and Care Management) answered questions from 
the Committee. The following key points were noted:

 The proposals are not just about cutting staff – they’re also about better 
managing and reducing demand at the front end. This includes using multi-
agency staff to make sure that every contact counts and people get the right 
assessments. 

 Savings will also come from a more proportionate approach to assessments. This 
involves making sure that people are signposted to other services in the 
community at the right time – reducing the demand for Council services.

 The Live Well App will also help save money by providing professionals with 
access to range of advice and information about services – helping them to 
navigate residents around the system.



Resolved: the Committee agreed to refer its views on this proposal to the Public 
Accounts Select Committee:

The Committee expressed concern about possible increases in delays for 
assessments, and decreases in the quality of assessments, as a result of deleting 
10% of posts in the assessment and care management teams. The Committee 
recommended, should this proposal be accepted, that the Mayor and Cabinet make 
sure any negative consequences are closely monitored.

A20 – reduction in Day Care

 The proposed saving of £300,000 will come from not renewing the existing block 
contract for 50 day care places across two sites. Demand has been falling and 
people will instead be funded on an individual basis by personal budgets and 
direct payments.

Joan Hutton (Head of Assessment and Care Management) answered questions from 
the Committee. The following key points were noted:

 The current direct payment amount is £50 per day.

Resolved: the Committee noted the proposal

A21 a) and b) – reduction in mental health spend

Joan Hutton (Head of Assessment and Care Management) introduced the report. 
The following key points were noted: 

 Of the proposed saving, £300,000 will come from better managing demand for 
accommodation-based care. A further £200,000 will come from making sure that 
people subject to s117 of the Mental Health Act are reviewed and discharged 
when appropriate – meaning that they may need to contribute to the cost of their 
care.

Joan Hutton (Head of Assessment and Care Management) answered questions from 
the Committee. The following key points were noted:

 Focusing on prevention is more cost-effective and will help absorb the savings.

 Officers agreed to provide more detail about the proposals, including the 
numbers of people affected, to Committee members by the next day.

The Committee made a number of comments. The following key points were noted:

 The Committee expressed concern about the ability for sector to absorb the when 
mental health services are already seriously underfunded.

Resolved: the Committee noted the proposal, subject to further detail being provided 
the next day.



L10 – Adult Learning Lewisham subsidy

Aileen Buckton (Executive Director of Community Services) introduced the report. 
The following key points were noted: 

 The proposed saving of £40,000 will come from removing the Council’s subsidy 
for Adult Learning Lewisham. There will be no impact on the service.

Resolved: the Committee noted the proposal

Q7 a) and b) – review of Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)

Warwick Tomsett (Head of Targeted Services and Joint Commissioning for Children 
and Young People) introduced the report. The following key points were noted:

 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) are one part of a broader 
range of support for the emotional and mental health needs of children and young 
people in Lewisham.

 The proposal will involve reducing the Council’s financial contribution and using 
more funding from the pupil premium grant.

Resolved: the Committee noted the proposal

6. Public health savings

Danny Ruta (Director of Public Health, Lewisham Council) and colleagues 
introduced the report. The following key points were noted: 

 The Council has to save £4.7m after the Government announced further cuts to 
public health funding. The Council have tried to protect public health services as 
much as possible and believe that the impact of residents could have been 
greater without this. But there is still a £300,000 shortfall and officers will have to 
come back with further proposals in the future.

 The current proposed savings come from preventative health services; health 
visiting and school nursing; and sexual health services.

Danny Ruta (Director of Public Health, Lewisham Council) and colleagues answered 
questions from the Committee. The following key points were noted:

Preventative health services

 Given the level of cuts, closer integration between services and making sure 
every contact counts will become increasingly important in the future.

 Officers pointed out that Stop Smoking services are a cost-effective intervention 
and said that the health service will have to pay sooner or later for more 
preventative services.



 Lewisham’s Staying Healthy pilot, for example, is about looking at the whole 
environment that people live in and tackling those parts that make people fat.

 Officers also pointed out that Lewisham has been given highest level of ‘Baby 
Friendly’ award and that the borough is also on the right path to increasing 
breastfeeding.

The Committee made a number of comments. The following key points were noted:

 The Committee expressed particular concern about cuts to Stop Smoking 
Services. The Committee also accepted, however, that if we don’t cut these 
services we will have to cut services for the most vulnerable. 

 The Committee noted that it is disappointing to see cuts to public health when 
much of the drive towards further integration is about prevention too

Resolved: the Committee voted against making a referral to Mayor and Cabinet and 
noted the proposal.  

School nursing and health visiting

Warwick Tomsett (Head of Targeted Services and Joint Commissioning for Children 
and Young People) and colleagues introduced the report. The following key points 
were noted:

 Officers received lots of positive feedback about these services during the 
consultation – and a mixed reaction to the proposed changes.

 People were broadly supportive of changes to school nursing. People were also 
supportive of more integration between health visitors and children’s centres. But 
there was some concern about the possibility of families with high needs being 
lost by making changes to the universal health checks to include more group-
based activity. 

 The Council’s equalities analysis assessment found that the proposed changes 
do not discriminate. But these are not finalised proposals. There will be more 
engagement, including with providers.

Warwick Tomsett (Head of Targeted Services and Joint Commissioning for Children 
and Young People) and colleagues answered questions from the Committee. The 
following key points were noted:

 Representatives from the Save Lewisham Hospital Campaign expressed 
particular concern about the damage to children’s health. They said the cuts to 
CAMHS, health visiting and school nursing were very risky and concerning. They 
stressed how dangerous it is to make cuts so early in a child’s life. They said that 
evidence shows children need support early on – especially under the age of five.



 Representatives from the Save Lewisham Hospital Campaign said they were 
worried about the extra pressure on GPs and the drop-off in people using the 
help that’s there if it’s more difficult to access. They also said they were worried 
about the possibility of services being provided by private companies in the 
future. They asked the Committee to reject the cuts. 

 Officers noted that there is currently some overlap and duplication in services and 
that the proposals maintain a universal service. Support will be maintained for the 
most vulnerable. Officers are working with providers and stakeholders to ensure 
that the needs of vulnerable parents will continue to be identified and the report 
outlines how the risks will be mitigated. 

 A member of the public, a health visitor, said it is very hard for many people to 
speak out in a group. Another health visitor added that the Council should avoid 
cutting health visitor team leaders as they proved essential support.

The Committee made a number of comments. The following key points were noted:

 The Committee noted the potential risks of making cuts at early points in 
children’s lives, when they are so vulnerable. 

 The Committee also expressed concern about the increased risk that the most 
vulnerable people won’t be recognised and supported. 

Resolved: the Committee noted the proposal 

Sexual health services

 The proposed savings will be achieved primarily through a new way of charging 
for sexual health activity (a new integrated sexual health tariff) and moving 
uncomplicated contraception and STI testing online and into pharmacies. 

 Consultation found high level of support for proposals, in particular online testing. 
Many people said they’d experienced long waits at sexual health clinics. 

 Consultation also found a high level of support for young people’s sexual health 
services. Officers will be looking to develop a teenage wellbeing service – 
focused on sex and relationships education as well as STI prevention.

Ruth Hutt (Consultant in Public Health, Lewisham Council) and colleagues answered 
questions from the Committee. The following key points were noted:

 Officers noted that some people from high-risk groups may still choose to visit 
specialist clinics out of borough. Officers said that this was right for some people 
but that they still didn’t want others to feel forced out of borough.

 Officers said that the best way to deal with high rates of re-infection among 15-
24-year-olds is to get partners tested – breaking the chain of infection – and 
encourage condom use.



Resolved: the Committee noted the proposal 

7. Devolution pilot business case

Aileen Buckton (Executive Director of Community Services) introduced the report. 
The following key points were noted: 

 The Council is asking for more powers in how it manages its estates and 
workforce. Officers are asking for the freedom to set up hubs of community-
based care and to create more flexible health and social care roles (as used in 
the Buurtzorg model from the Netherlands).

Aileen Buckton (Executive Director of Community Services) and partners answered 
questions from the Committee. The following key points were noted:

 The next steps for the pilot will be developing more detail about each area and 
working with the London-wide team to see what might be done without formal 
devolution of powers. Officers will come back to the Committee in the future with 
more details about workforce changes,

The Committee made a number of comments. The following key points were noted:

 The Committee noted the importance of retaining the freehold of any estates.

Resolved: the Committee noted the report. 

8. Select Committee work programme

John Bardens (Scrutiny Manager) introduced the report. 

Resolved: the Committee agreed the work programme

9. Referrals

The Committee agreed to refer it’s views on savings proposals A18, widening the 
scope of charging for social care services, and A19, reduction in the staffing costs for 
assessment and care management, to the Public Accounts Select Committee.

The meeting ended at 10.15pm

Chair: 

----------------------------------------------------

Date:

----------------------------------------------------



Healthier Communities Select Committee

Title Declaration of interests

Contributor Chief Executive Item 2

Class Part 1 (open) 18 October 2016

Declaration of interests

Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the 
agenda.

1. Personal interests

There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member 
Code of Conduct:

(1) Disclosable pecuniary interests
(2) Other registerable interests
(3) Non-registerable interests

2. Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:-

(a) Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or 
gain

(b) Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than 
by the Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the 
register in respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a 
member or towards your election expenses (including payment or financial 
benefit  from a Trade Union).

(c) Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they 
are a partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the 
securities of which they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods, 
services or works.

(d) Beneficial interests in land in the borough.

(e) Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more.

(f) Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the 
Council is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a 
partner, a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of 
which they have a beneficial interest.  

(g) Beneficial interest in securities of a body where:

(a) that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land 
in the borough; 



(b) and either

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person* has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued 
share capital of that class.

*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with
whom they live as spouse or civil partner. 

3. Other registerable interests

The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register the 
following interests:-

(a) Membership or position of control or management in a body to which you 
were appointed or nominated by the Council

(b) Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to charitable 
purposes, or whose principal purposes include the influence of public 
opinion or policy, including any political party

(c) Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an 
estimated value of at least £25

4. Non registerable interests

Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be likely 
to affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close associate more 
than it would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area generally, but which is 
not required to be registered in the Register of Members’ Interests (for example a 
matter concerning the closure of a school at which a Member’s child attends). 

5. Declaration and Impact of interest on members’ participation

(a) Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are 
present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must 
declare the nature of the interest at the earliest opportunity and in any 
event before the matter is considered. The declaration will be recorded in 
the minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable pecuniary interest 
the member must take not part in consideration of the matter and withdraw 
from the room before it is considered. They must not seek improperly to 
influence the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an interest 
which has not already been entered in the Register of Members’ 
Interests, or participation where such an interest exists, is liable to 
prosecution and on conviction carries a fine of up to £5000 

(b) Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a 
disclosable pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the 
interest to the meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any event before 
the matter is considered, but they may stay in the room, participate in 



consideration of the matter and vote on it unless paragraph (c) below 
applies.

(c) Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a 
disclosable pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a 
reasonable member of the public in possession of the facts would think 
that their interest is so significant that it would be likely to impair the 
member’s judgement of the public interest. If so, the member must 
withdraw and take no part in consideration of the matter nor seek to 
influence the outcome improperly.

(d) If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a 
member, their, family, friend or close associate more than it would affect 
those in the local area generally, then the provisions relating to the 
declarations of interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a registerable 
interest.  

(e) Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s 
personal judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek the 
advice of the Monitoring Officer.

6. Sensitive information 

There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests. These are interests the 
disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk of violence or 
intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such interest need not 
be registered. Members with such an interest are referred to the Code and 
advised to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance.

7. Exempt categories

There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in 
decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing so. 
These include:-

(a) Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter 
relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception)

(b) School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a parent 
or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor unless 
the matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or of which 
you are a governor; 

(c) Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt
(d) Allowances, payment or indemnity for members 
(e) Ceremonial honours for members
(f) Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception)





Healthier Communities Select Committee

Title Health and adult social care integration – second evidence session

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 3

Class Part 1 (open) 18 October 2016

1. Overview

As part of the second evidence session of the in-depth review of health and adult 
social care integration, the Committee will be hearing from four witnesses:

 Fiona Russell, Senior Adviser, Local Government Association, Care and Health 
Improvement Programme

 Clive Grimshaw, Strategic Lead for Health & Adult Social Care, London Councils

 Susan Underhill, Deputy CEO, Age UK Lewisham and Southwark (lead provider 
of Community Connections in Lewisham) 

 James Archer, Public World (will be giving an introduction to the Buurtzorg 
model) 

The Committee has also received written evidence (included in this report) from the 
following organisations:

 Lewisham Local Medical Committee

 Carers Lewisham

These relevant reports are also included as appendices for further reading:

 Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology, Integrating health and social 
care, August 2016

 Kings Fund, Social care for older people: Home truths, September 2016

2. Written evidence

2.1 Lewisham Local Medical Committee

Lewisham LMC is grateful to you for your request for an LMC view on the integrated 
paper.  The LMC is sorry for the delay in responding and thanks you for your 
patience.

In principle, the LMC supports the vision of integrated care across health and social 
care to provide a more seamless approach to improving lives.  The LMC can see 
that through this, with appropriate resourcing and planning, health outcomes could 
be improved and unplanned care attendances could be reduced.



The key is in the planning and ensuring a sustainable process and the LMC wishes 
to highlight some key areas relevant to the primary care role.

 1. Development and integration into practices of the neighbourhood care networks 
and timetabled meetings between the teams - NCNs and GPs 

This could be real or virtual using the I Boards.  The keys for success here are that 
the right people are at the table (enablers) and there is protected time for GPs to 
attend.  The process will not work if the meetings are slipped between clinics - the 
practices will need to be released from patient care services with practice cover 
provided to ensure continuity of care for the patients 

2. Clear simple pathways for communication between partners within the team

One suggestion is that for an integrated form for services users such 
as Occupational therapy, physio, social care , children's services, third sector etc. 
 to be developed.  These would need to simple and easy to complete similar to the 
integrated referral form used for diabetes.  If 3 different forms are required for one 
patient to meet their needs then it won't happen.  Also when patients are referred 
directly this should be a simple one step process.

Currently if GPs refer to occupational health we often receive a request for more 
information about the patient such as ability to self care etc - this non clinical 
information could be captured in the form or reviewed by the receiving service.

A similar process happens with child social care - so a phone call to duty then 
requires Child Assessment Form (CAF) and this can often be followed by further 
requests using section 17 enquiries - often the same information is sent 3 times - 
whilst it is essential that the right information is shared duplication and more of 
reports is a disabler and could discourage referrals

The LMC appreciates that this works both ways so in essence a more streamlined 
and efficient method of sharing information would benefit all.

3  Working with our partners

Primary care is an essential spoke in the integration wheel but we face 
unprecedented demand and limited resources and staffing - as does the Local 
Authority 

So that we can better work together and develop better understandings the LMC 
would suggest that those leaders charged with developing the integration share 
work experiences - maybe a ‘walk in my shoes’ scheme between social care and 
health care.

If we better understand the limitations and barriers of those involved we can better 
overcome them 

4 For integration to be a success there needs to be closer working between the 
acute services and primary care



This will involve the acute providers seeing primary care as an equal partner where 
appropriate work is shared and there are clear expectations of each providers rules 
and responsibilities.   If primary care is overwhelmed with inappropriate work 
demand it will not be able to deliver on the work required for integration. Again once 
we better understand how each provider works, what they can do and what they 
can't then outcomes will be improved. 

Essentially all providers need to understand the role they have in wrapping care 
around the patient and take equal responsibility for delivering their part in the care 
package 

5 Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP)

The LMC noted that STP plans were referenced in relation to integration.  However 
this was presented as a resourced and well-funded programme that might help 
 develop integration.  The LMC is not sure that this truly reflects the STP - which in 
essence is about developing a sustainable health care model through efficiency 
savings. As indicated there is little new money available and integration is more 
about reallocating budgets.  There does need that be a clear risk assessment about 
the impact of this ‘movement’ of resources and the potential impact on currently 
resources services.  In other words where is the money coming from and what is 
left behind

Finally but probably most importantly if we are to truly integrate and make a 
success of it there needs to be clear public engagement and ownership.    Changes 
in design need to be patient focused and ensure we are truly meeting our 
populations needs and thus not exposing patients to risk.    The plans need to 
ensure that it tackles and tries to reduce health inequalities.

The LMC hopes you find the above comments helpful.

2.2 Carers Lewisham
 
Initial thoughts on integration of health & social care

It is obviously difficult to offer any meaningful comment or critique without seeing 
concrete proposals so the following represents our initial thoughts based upon 
discussion we had at board level.

From a practical, carer-perspective:

1. Carers would broadly welcome the integration of health and social care if it 
resulted in a simplified, streamlined service for them. It would be counterproductive 
however - for their ability to remain an unpaid carer - if this integration led to the 
services, which they need to support the medical needs of the cared for person to, 
becoming subject to means-testing.

2. One key change that would benefit carers would be that they would not have to 
repeat their story and situation at each consultation and that their situation would be 
considered as a whole and not in part. For example the situation of the family is not 
always considered when multiple appointments are made for the cared for person 



which can be disruptive and stressful for the carer. It puts pressure on both their 
time and resources and perhaps could be streamlined in some cases.

3. But this would require an integrated approach to their personal details and their 
input in the data that is collected and shared, not only between agencies but 
between the medical professionals and the carer, not just the cared for person. This 
has a practical implication for an agency such as Carers Lewisham, which uses a 
distinct CRM database and does not have access to Connect Care or other 
statutory databases. Any integration would therefore need to allow for the costs of 
integrating ICT systems, processes and databases particularly amongst voluntary 
sector partners.

4. There would need to be considerable investment in time and training for staff to 
consider the whole situation when deciding on interventions (eg, hospital admission 
or discharge) including the identification of the carer and, once identified, 
consultation with the carer. A lead organisation responsible for identifying the carer 
in each situation, particularly young carers, and for sharing that information with all 
the agencies involved will therefore need to be identified. This is especially 
important when carrying out risk assessments. Carers need to be at the heart of the 
solution not an after-thought.

5. Within that consultation and involvement there would need to be an agreed 
weight given to the input that the carer gives. For example if a risk assessment is 
taking place around a hospital discharge and the carer says they cannot cope with 
the person being discharged immediately then there needs to be weight given to 
that statement, whilst recognising it may also be a nuanced response. The carer 
might mean “I cannot cope at the moment because I am feeling unwell, but I will be 
OK in a week or two”. Or it might be their way of saying “I don’t feel I can cope 
given their level of disability following their hospital admission, but I am not sure / or 
don’t want them to feel rejected by me”. We would suggest that carers’ needs 
should be assessed at this point as a matter of course.

6. There would need to be an integration of complaints processes so that the carer, 
or cared for person, could make one complaint which although it may involve a 
number of providers would result in one investigation within a set timescale and with 
a single set of possible outcomes.

7. If integration is going to lead to an increased role and/or reliance upon carers, 
there must be an increase in funding and opportunities for both general and 
emergency respite. It is a fundamental fact that carers need respite if their own 
health and wellbeing is not to suffer. To fail to realise and acknowledge this, is 
simply storing up problems for the future.

From a professional-perspective:

1. We agree with the premise that greater co-ordination of health and social care 
would be a good thing. Health outcomes are at least as dependent on LA work as 
on the NHS. So, aligning objectives and reducing duplication must be good.

2. However we note that all the mechanisms and policy encouragement to integrate 
was provided in the Government paper, ‘Partnership in Action: new opportunities for 



joint working between health and social services; a Department of Health 
discussion document,’ in 1998. This provided for lead commissioning; better 
coordinated provision of services; pooled budgets; integrated teams; transfer of 
funds between sectors; joint finance of services; joint education, training and 
development; and the development of shared information systems. In other words 
we have been here before, especially, but not solely, with mental health services. 
There is therefore perhaps a danger of policy fatigue amongst practitioners and 
professionals coupled with the danger of policy confusion amongst client groups 
and the public in general. Indeed, for many of our clients, these policy initiatives do 
simply conjure up fear and confusion.

3. One of the difficulties with the Scrutiny paper, which admittedly is proposing a 
review, is that none of the strategies discussed is given any relative weight, so it is 
unclear what direction the Council is proposing to go in. Terms such as 
collaboration lack any clear definition and have been used synonymously with 
concepts such as co-operation, co-ordination, participation and integration.

4. A further difficulty is that integration is not defined. Does this mean: Working 
more closely? Sharing teams? Different teams working in the same place? Sharing 
budgets? Merging budgets and commissioning? We note that there is already close 
working in Lewisham with the Better Care Fund enabling Joint Commissioning by 
the LBL and CCG. Relationships are - to the outsider - generally good and 
productive.

5. There is a natural worry that, because these changes are happening under 
"austerity", quality standards may slip and not be mandated. Furthermore, local 
authority budgetary pressures may very well make integrated health services more 
liable to cuts. As we are seeing now, local authorities are so cash-strapped that 
they are cutting services, including those that used to be in the NHS, such as health 
visitors and school nurses.

6. We worry that this new push for integration is driven not by client needs but by 
the Treasury where the focus is on reducing NHS spend and efficiency savings. In 
SE London, for instance, the STP has to bridge a £1.015bn gap in NHS funding 
over 5 years to 2020/21. And a £242m gap in social care funding to 2020. Whither 
the client here?

7. If services are moved into local authorities will this open them up to back-door 
privatisation through tendering, etc? The service redesigns will be procured by the 
rules for tendering which remain in place. Indeed, there appears to be a new putsch 
to privatisation: “NHS Improvement is to explore new partnerships between the 
health service and the private sector, including the potential for further outsourcing 
of clinical services and the use of “independent sector management models”.” 
http://www.hsj.co.uk/topics/service-design/nhs-improvement-to-explore-new-private-
sector-partnerships/7009575.article

8. It is not clear if it is intended to have virtual joint teams with common IT systems 
but separate locations; to co-locate staff but leave them within their own employing 
organisations, or to have them employed within one integrated Health and Social 

http://www.hsj.co.uk/topics/service-design/nhs-improvement-to-explore-new-private-sector-partnerships/7009575.article
http://www.hsj.co.uk/topics/service-design/nhs-improvement-to-explore-new-private-sector-partnerships/7009575.article


Care organisation? Within any joint system it is crucial that the social care element 
is not lost as has happened to some LA mental health teams which have been 
located within health systems and lost their social care focus, or lacked support 
from their social care line managers, or even in some many cases been managed 
by health staff with little reference to local authority staffing systems. In systems 
where teams have been integrated, but not been placed under a common 
employer, all sorts of difficulties have arisen over performance and disciplinary 
issues where those involved are from different organisations. Similarly the 
professional needs of staff have sometimes been neglected by managers and 
training departments unfamiliar with the requirements of other professions. In 
systems where staff are co-located and integrated, but remained employed by 
different organisations, it is crucial that staff have effective support from their 
employing organisation. The overarching legal contracts that have been set up in 
such situations have always been open to question, which would not occur if all 
staff were employed within one organisation. Such a situation which pertains in 
Ireland, would mean that staff within social care who invariably are present in 
smaller numbers, need an effective voice within a health organisation to represent 
their professional needs and requirements.

9. The integrated care pioneers mentioned in the document clearly consist of co-
located staff, who are only integrated in the sense of their function. It is unclear if 
they have integrated management or whether the social care staff have their own 
managers, and vice versa.

10. We would like to make clear at this point that we have significantly reorganised 
our services along a neighbourhood delivery model to facilitate co-location and 
integration and wish to discuss this further at a practical level with the Council/CCG

11. We think the concerns about the medicalisation of social care are very real, and 
it would be essential to have social care representation throughout the management 
structure of any integrated service, whatever form that service took.

Generally, Carers Lewisham would like to reiterate that we very much want to work 
in partnership with the Council and CCG to ensure the best possible outcome for 
our client group and are broadly in favour of integration (but the devil, as always, is 
in the detail). We are therefore more than happy to participate further and to appear 
before the committee itself if that would help.

3. Recommendations

The Committee is asked to note this information.
If you have any questions, please contact John Bardens (Scrutiny Manager) on 
02083149976.



 

 

Number 532 August 2016 

Integrating health and social care

 

An ageing population and the increasing 
prevalence of long-term conditions are putting 
pressure on health and social care services. 
The four UK nations have committed to better 
integration between health and social care as 
one solution to these challenges. This briefing 
outlines what integration is, examines policies 
to enable it and gives examples of integration 
in England. It also looks at the evidence on the 
challenges of achieving integration and 
assessing the effectiveness of approaches. 

 
Overview 

 Integration aims to put the needs of people 

at the centre of how services are organised 

and delivered. Models of integration vary. 

 Co-ordinating resources or pooling budgets 

between health and social care services can 

enable joint working. The four nations of the 

UK have introduced different financial 

arrangements to support integration. 

 Data sharing, as well as different incentives 

and employment terms between sectors, 

pose challenges for integration. 

 Assessing the effectiveness of integration 

schemes is difficult. Evaluation tends to 

focus on whether integration has relieved 

pressure on services, such as reducing 

emergency hospital admissions, which data 

suggest is not routinely achieved. However, 

integration may improve user outcomes and 

experiences, but data to assess these are 

not consistently collected. 

Background 
Health and social care services are facing two major 

population challenges. First, the UK has an ageing 

population. In 2010 there were three million people aged 

over 80; by 2020 this figure is expected to double.1 Second, 

life expectancy has risen over the past 50 years. However, 

self-reported healthy life expectancy has not risen at the 

same rate and increasing numbers of people have multiple 

long-term conditions, such as diabetes or dementia.2,3 In 

2008 there were 1.9 million people with three or more long-

term conditions; this is likely to rise to 2.9 million by 2018.4  

The effect of this population shift on health and social care 

services is significant; over-75s use more than 60% of bed 

days in acute hospitals and 70% of the health and social 

care budget is spent on chronic conditions.3,5 Increasing 

demand is one of the key factors causing funding gaps, 

estimated at £30 billion in the NHS and £4.3 billion in social 

care by 2020 in England alone.6,7 Older people are likely to 

require both health and social care to meet their needs.8 

Better integration between health and social care has been 

put forward as a way to reduce costs, relieve pressure on 

services and improve user outcomes and experiences.9,10  

Defining integration 
Integration is a broad term and definitions vary. Recent 

policies across the UK that have encouraged greater 

integration between health and social care have tended to 

define it as care that is person-centred and coordinated 

across care settings. Integration can be within different 

healthcare settings (e.g. primary and secondary) or between 

health and social care services.11 This POSTnote focuses 

on integration across health and social care. It also briefly 

covers broader models of integration, which seek to extend 

integrated care to include improving population health.  

For care to be integrated, organisations and professionals 

must bring together all of the different elements of care that 

a person needs. Approaches to achieve this form a 

spectrum, from loose networks to full structural integration.12 

For example, health and social care staff working in 

separate locations may share electronic patient data. 

Alternatively, health and social care professionals may be 

physically integrated in a single location to improve 

multidisciplinary working. Integration schemes can seek to 

integrate care for a whole local population, or for specific 

sub-populations, such as older people or those with a 

POSTNOTE 

The Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology           www.parliament.uk/post           post@parliament.uk           020 7219 2840           @POST_UK 



POSTNOTE 532 August 2016 Integrating health and social care Page 2 

particular condition. Many schemes also include 

partnerships with voluntary and third sector organisations.13 

Policies to enable integration in the UK 
Integrated care policy in the UK has a long history. From 

case management in the 1980s, through inter-agency 

working in the 1990s, to integrated care pathways in the 

2000s, successive governments have tried to bridge the 

divide between health and social care.14 Across the four UK 

nations, health and social care systems are funded and 

operate differently; however, all have free healthcare at the 

point of access and all have committed to better integrated 

care. Coordinating resources or pooling budgets between 

health and social care is seen as an enabler for joint 

working.15 However, integrating separately funded systems 

is challenging, especially in situations where healthcare is 

funded through taxation and social care is means-tested.16 

Recent policies across the home nations have established 

varying financial arrangements to support integration. 

Wales 

Health and social care services are separate in Wales. NHS 

Wales is responsible for healthcare, and Local Authorities 

(LAs) for means-tested social care. The 2014 Social 

Services and Wellbeing Act requires LAs, Health Boards 

and NHS Trusts in Wales to work together to look after the 

health and wellbeing of their local areas. In 2013, Wales 

established the Intermediate Care Fund. This fund (totalling 

£60 million in 2016/17) is used to support people to maintain 

their independence and remain in their own home, to avoid 

delays in discharge from hospital. It may be used by LAs, 

health and housing organisations and the voluntary sector.17 

Scotland 

Until recently, health and social care services were separate 

in Scotland. NHS Scotland is responsible for healthcare, 

and LAs for social care. Although most social care is 

means-tested, personal care costs for people aged over 65 

years are not, following the recommendation of the 1999 

Royal Commission on long-term care for the elderly 

(Sutherland report).18,19 The 2014 Public Bodies (Joint 

Working) Act requires Health Boards and LAs in Scotland to 

enter into joint financial arrangements, either by one 

delegating functions and resources to the other, or both 

delegating to an integrated joint board. The Act also 

specifies expected health and social care outcomes for 

which Health Boards and LAs are jointly responsible. The 

Act came into force in April 2016 and 31 local partnerships 

have been established.  

Northern Ireland 

Since 1973 Northern Ireland (NI) has had one organisation 

responsible for healthcare and means-tested social care.20 

However, health and social care have continued to operate 

separately. A Government-commissioned review in 2011 

suggested that the system was unsustainable and 

recommended a shift towards community care.21 The report 

led to the formation of 17 Integrated Care Partnerships 

across NI, joining together GPs, social care, voluntary 

bodies and other services.20 These built on pilots conducted 

in 2010.22 

Box 1. The Better Care Fund in England 
In 2013 the Government announced the Better Care Fund (BCF), a 
£3.8 billion pooled fund for Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) 
and Local Authorities (LAs) to commission jointly health and social 
care services starting in 2015/16. The fund is not new money. It is 
£3.46 billion ring-fenced from NHS England’s budget topped up with 
the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) and the Social Care Capital Grant 
(previously both paid directly to LAs). The BCF is allocated to local 
areas based on a formula derived from the CCG allocation formula, 
the social care formula and the DFG distribution formula. LAs, CCGs 
and Health and Wellbeing Boards agreed on plans for spending their 
BCF allocation in April 2015. Around half of local areas contributed 
additional funding, adding another £1.5 billion to the fund.23 In 2016/17 
the BCF increased to £3.9 billion, and from 2017/18 the Government 
will make an extra £1.5 billion available for the scheme.24,25 

England 

Health and social care services are separate in England. 

NHS England is responsible for healthcare, and LAs for 

means-tested social care. The 2014 King’s Fund-

established commission on the future of health and social 

care (Barker report), recommended that health and social 

care funding in England should be brought together in a 

single ring-fenced budget.26 Policies in England have 

focused on encouraging local areas to coordinate 

resources. For example, in 2013 the Better Care Fund 

(originally known as the Integration Transformation Fund) 

was introduced to encourage financial integration between 

health and social care services (see Box 1).  

NHS England’s 2014 Five Year Forward View launched new 

models for different types of integration tailored to local 

needs (see below).6 The 2015 Spending Review made a 

commitment to integrating health and social care further. It 

stipulated that every part of the country must have an 

integration plan by 2017, to be implemented by 2020, noting 

that the approaches taken by local areas will differ.  

Devolution to local government is likely to provide new 

approaches to integration between health and social care. 

For example, Greater Manchester Combined Authority 

(GMCA) was granted full control of its £6 billion health and 

social care budget in April 2016.27 Although in early stages, 

GMCA has committed to a wider population health approach 

(see Box 2 for examples).27 

Examples of integration in England 
From 2009, the Department of Health (DH) and NHS 

England used three schemes to support local areas across 

England in developing plans for integration within healthcare 

settings and, in some cases, across health and social care. 

These schemes are outlined below, because they represent 

the largest dataset available on integration between health 

and social care in the UK. However, the broad approaches 

described have been used more widely across the UK.  

Integrated Care Pilots 

In 2009, DH launched a two-year integration pilot 

programme focusing on primary care. 16 local areas tested 

various integration schemes. Five schemes included efforts 

to integrate social care with GPs. For example, in 

Cockermouth, GPs, dentists, diagnostic teams and 

voluntary and community sector services co-located to  



POSTNOTE 532 August 2016 Integrating health and social care Page 3 

Box 2. Population health system approaches 
The term ‘population health systems’ describes approaches that seek 
to improve the health of local populations, including tackling the wider 
determinants of health.28 This requires coordination between 
organisations that provide not only health and social care services but 
also services such as housing support, education programmes and 
employment advice. It also requires coordination between different 
governance levels, from central government to local communities. 
These systems are emerging in a number of countries, including New 
Zealand and the US. A long-established system is Kaiser Permanente 
(KP) in the US. KP is a ‘health maintenance’ organisation, with over 
10 million people on its register across nine regions.28 KP integrates 
primary and secondary healthcare, focusing on prevention of illness 
as well as treatment, and uses risk stratification (analysing population 
data to identify possible future ill health) to tailor lifestyle interventions. 
Integration of social care services is currently limited to ‘integrator’ 
roles, where KP staff support members to connect with community-
based social services, and more recently, institutional partnerships, 
such as KP medical care in assisted living facilities.29 

Accountable Care Organisations (ACOs) 
An ACO is a type of population health system. It is a network of 
independent health and social care providers sharing financial and 
medical responsibility for people on their register. Developed in the US 
in 2006, ACOs receive payments from the federal government for 
meeting cost efficiency and quality of care standards. Evaluations of 
ACOs in the US suggest that they are successful at delivering high 
quality care. However, financial results are mixed, with some reporting 
savings and others losses.30 The model has been criticised for failing 
to integrate long-term care providers.31 NHS England’s Five Year 
Forward View states that some local areas will operate through similar 
arrangements to ACOs, for example Northumberland.7 

provide care for older people. They also used virtual wards, 

where high risk patients were treated and monitored at 

home rather than in hospitals (see POSTnote 456).32,33 

Integrated Care Pioneers 

In 2013, 14 local areas (pioneers) were chosen through 

competition as exemplars of integrated approaches. 11 

more sites were added in 2015.34 The pioneers’ approaches 

varied. For example, Greenwich Coordinated Care took a 

person-centred approach where people with high service 

use were assigned a care navigator to help individuals 

express their needs in specific ‘I’ statements (e.g. ‘I would 

like to stop smoking’ or ‘I would like help with the damp in 

my home’).35 The care navigator then organised a 

multidisciplinary team meeting (including GPs, housing 

services and mental health workers) to develop an action 

plan to meet the ‘I’ statements.36 Other pioneers worked 

with voluntary organisations to improve care provision, such 

as NHS Kernow’s Living Well programme to improve care 

for older people in partnership with Age UK.34 DH has 

commissioned a long-term independent evaluation of the 

Pioneers, which will run up to 2020.37 

New Care Models 

NHS England announced the ‘New Care Models’ in 2014.7 

Five models are being trialled across 50 local areas 

(vanguards); three of which include integration between 

health and social care.  

 Enhanced Health in Care Homes is focusing on 

integrating services for older people in residential care. 

 Integrated Primary and Acute Care Systems are 

trialling ways to join up GPs, hospitals, community 

services and mental health services. Some will operate 

like Accountable Care Organisations, a type of population 

health system (see Box 2). 

 Multispecialty Community Providers (MCPs), also a 

type of population health system, are testing ways to 

move specialist care out of hospitals and into the 

community. MCPs provide primary care as well as 

community-based health and care services. 

Within each of these models, the approaches taken by the 

vanguards differ. For example, Calderdale MCP and 

Birmingham & Sandwell MCP have the same care model, 

but use different interventions. Calderdale MCP is co-

locating a variety of community-based services (including 

GPs, social care and mental healthcare) in one place. 

Birmingham & Sandwell MCP is developing a health and 

social care system accessed through GPs, who assigns 

users a care coordinator who manages their care plan and 

access to services as outpatients.38 

The challenges to integration 
Research on integration schemes in the UK suggests that 

there are three key challenges, outlined below. 

Data sharing 

Health and social care providers regularly collect personal 

and confidential information about people in their care. This 

is regulated under the Data Protection Act 1998 and various 

other legislation (see Box 6 in POSTnote 474). Data sharing 

is vital for high quality integrated care. For example, social 

care workers assisting with medication management need 

access to NHS data on prescribed drugs. Sharing data also 

prevents duplication of effort, where providers unnecessarily 

take the same user information (e.g. allergies).39 

Sharing data requires providers to ensure that it is used 

appropriately and legally. Integration schemes have 

reported problems with contradictory guidance around 

information governance from different government and NHS 

bodies.16,34 Evaluation of the integrated care pilots in 2012 

suggested that there is a culture of risk aversion, where 

some services are reluctant to share data because of 

continued uncertainties around lawful practice.32 Data 

sharing between sectors can also be difficult as it requires 

information to be collected and coded following agreed 

practices before being stored on interoperable IT systems.32 

Steps have been taken to improve data sharing. In 2014, 

the Government appointed a National Data Guardian to 

build trust in the use of data across health and social care, 

including encouraging clinicians and care workers to share 

information to enable joined-up care.40 The 2015 Health and 

Social Care (Safety and Quality) Act also introduced a legal 

duty for health and social care bodies in England and Wales 

to share information when it can facilitate care. 

Incentives and targets 

Health and social care providers have different audit 

systems and payment models, which can result in conflicting 

interests and a lack of incentives for building services 

http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/POST-PN-456
http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/POST-PN-474


POSTNOTE 532 August 2016 Integrating health and social care Page 4 

around users rather than organisations.41 For example, tariff 

systems, where hospitals are paid for treating certain 

conditions, do not have a financial incentive for preventive 

care that reduces the need for hospital admission.39 The UK 

nations have tried to reconcile these differences. In 

England, the BCF implemented financial risk sharing 

between providers.25 In Scotland, the 2014 Scottish Public 

Bodies (Joint Working) Act legislates for shared 

accountability between providers.  

Workforce practices 

Integration schemes have reported ‘hard’ and ‘soft’ issues 

relating to integrating different professional groups.42 ‘Hard’ 

issues include different employment terms (e.g. contracts 

and pension schemes), which can make transferring and 

sharing staff across sectors challenging. ‘Soft’ issues 

include different organisational cultures and attitudes 

towards collaboration and professional status. For example, 

social care professionals have reported that their skills are 

underutilised by healthcare staff, while healthcare workers 

report perceiving social care staff as unwilling to adapt to 

new practice.43,44 High rates of staff turnover in the social 

care sector has also been reported as a challenge.43 A rapid 

evidence assessment in 2013 for the Skills for Care charity 

found that training to meet new requirements and develop 

new skills and competencies was effective in helping to 

overcome some of these issues.45 Quality and style of 

leadership have also been found to be important for 

delivering change and maintaining an integrated approach.45  

Assessing effectiveness 
Integration is sometimes suggested as a way to reduce 

costs.9,10 However, there is little robust evidence that this is 

commonly achieved, with available reviews even reporting 

higher costs associated with some integration 

approaches.16,46,47 Research suggests that this may be, in 

part, because integration can result in the identification of 

previously unmet need.48,49 The dominant rationale for 

integrated health and social care is twofold: 

 Improving efficiency and value for money.50 This 

includes making more effective use of existing 

infrastructure to curtail rising costs. These outcomes are 

typically reported using organisational and infrastructure 

measures (see Box 3).  

 Improving users’ experience, health and wellbeing.50 

User outcomes are assessed by some schemes but are 

not consistently required and there are currently no 

nationally agreed measures (see Box 3).25 The British 

Medical Association and the British Association of Social 

Workers consider that improved outcomes and 

experiences for users should be the primary objective.51,52  

Evaluating schemes 

Of the measures outlined in Box 3, reductions in non-

elective admissions (NEAs) and delayed transfers of care 

(DToCs), both primarily NHS measures, are widely used to 

assess whether schemes have been effective.24,25 Evidence 

from the integrated care pilots and other schemes suggests 

that a significant reduction in NEAs or DToCs is unlikely in 

the short-term.32,53 Current evaluations of the BCF have also 

not shown sustained reductions in NEAs or DToCs.54 This 

may be because there are long-term upwards trends in 

NEAs and DToCs for a number of reasons, and reversing 

these will take time.55,56 Research also suggests that 

integration schemes may not reduce NEAs and DToCs if 

social care is underfunded.57 Furthermore, assessing 

schemes via measuring DToCs and NEAs does not capture 

whether they have improved user outcomes and 

experiences. Research suggests that a combination of 

organisational and person-centred measures will provide a 

more accurate picture of effectiveness.32  In addition, 

integration may have wider benefits in reducing health 

inequalities;58 however, this is rarely measured despite the 

availability of indicators (e.g. Marmot Indicators).59 

Integrating health and social care is complex and evaluation 

can be difficult because of policy and budget changes, 

which can make it challenging to attribute results to a 

specific intervention.48 Experts generally agree that long-

term evaluation is necessary because the effects of 

integration may take a long time to become apparent.60,61 

Intermediate markers of progress may be beneficial to 

assess whether schemes are making progress. The lack of 

an agreed set of measures for assessing integration 

schemes across the UK makes comparison between 

schemes very difficult.62  

Box 3. Measures of effectiveness 

Organisational and infrastructure measures 
Two widely reported measures are: 
 Non-elective admissions (NEAs): The number of people who are 

admitted into hospital as an emergency. NEAs cost the NHS £12.5 
billion annually and have risen by 47% in England over 15 years.63 

 Delayed transfers of care (DToCs): The number of patients ready 
to move from hospital care into social care but are unable to do so 
because of infrastructure delays between services (see CLB 7415). 

Person-centred measures 
Measures reported by some schemes, which could be used more 
widely are described below. Some schemes, such as those funded 
through the BCF, are required to report user experience, but there is 
no requirement to report health or wellbeing measures.25 
 User experience: There are national measures used by the NHS 

to capture patient experience (e.g. the GP patient survey), which 
could be used or adapted to assess user’s experience of integrated 
health and social care services. However, currently most schemes 
are using locally-developed measures.24,25 

 Health measures: Relevant measures vary with the aims of the 
integration scheme, but can include survival rates and specific 
clinical measures, such as lung capacity for people with respiratory 
disease. Some studies also measure functional outcomes, such as 
the ability to perform daily activities.64  

 Wellbeing measures: Improved wellbeing is an aim of multiple 
integration interventions but outcomes are rarely reported, even 
though various measures are available (see POSTnote 421).6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

POST is an office of both Houses of Parliament, charged with providing independent and balanced analysis of policy issues that have a basis in science and technology. 

POST is grateful to Rowena Bermingham for researching this briefing, to ESRC for funding her parliamentary fellowship, and to all contributors and reviewers. For further 

information on this subject, please contact the co-author, Dr Abbi Hobbs. Parliamentary Copyright 2016. Image copyright iStockPhoto.com. 

http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-7415
http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/POST-PN-421#fullreport


POSTNOTE 532 August 2016 Integrating health and social care Page 5 

Endnotes 

1 House of Commons Library (2010) Key Issues for the New Parliament 2010: The 
Ageing Population. London: House of Commons. 

2 Jagger, C. (2015) Trends in Life Expectancy and Healthy Life Expectancy. 
London: Government Office for Science. 

3 ONS (2016) Statistical Bulletin: Healthy Life Expectancy at Birth and Age 65 by 
Upper Tier Local Authority and Area Deprivation: England, 2012 to 2014. 
London: ONS. 

4 Department of Health; Long Term Conditions Team (2012) Long Term 
Conditions Compendium of Information: Third Edition.  

5 Cornwell J (2012) The Care of Frail Older People with Complex Needs: Time for 
a Revolution. London: The King’s Fund. 

6 Local Government Association & Association of Directors of Adult Social 
Services (2014) Adult Social Care Funding: 2014 State of the Nation Report. 
London: LGA. 

7 NHS England (2014) Five Year Forward View. London: NHS England. 
8 Bardlsey, M., Georghiou, T. & Dixon, J. (2010) Social Care and Hospital Use at 

the End of Life. London: Nuffield Trust. 
9 Monitor (2015). Integrated Care 
 Licence Condition: Guidance for Providers of NHS-funded Services. London: 

Monitor. 
10 Department of Health (2014) Better Care Fund Will Help Join Up Local Health 

and Care Services to Improve Care and Reduce A&E Admissions. London: 
Department of Health. 

11 National Collaboration for Integrated Care and Support (2013) Integrated Care 
and Support: Our Shared Commitment. London: National Collaboration for 
Integrated Care and Support. 

12 Leutz, W.N. (1999) Five Laws for Integrating Medical and Social Services: 
Lessons from the United States and the United Kingdom. The Millbank 
Quarterly 17: 77-110. 

13 Ham, C. & Curry, N. (2011) Integrated Care. What is it? Does it work? What 
does it mean for the NHS? London: The King’s Fund. 

14 Shaw, S., Rosen, R. & Rumbold, B. (2011) What is Integrated Care? London: 
Nuffield Trust. 

15 Suter, E., et al. (2009) Ten Key Principles for Successful Health Systems 
Integration. Healthcare Quarterly 13: 16-23. 

16 Mason, A., et al. (2015) Integrating Funds for Health and Social Care: An 
Evidence Review. Journal of Health Services Research and Policy 20(3): 177-
188. 

17 Welsh Government Housing Policy Division (2016) Intermediate Care Fund 
Guidance 2016-17. Cardiff. 

18 Royal Commission on Long Term Care (1999). With Respect to Old Age: Long 
Term Care – Rights and Responsibilities. London: TSO 

19 Scottish Government (2002) Community Care and Health (Scotland) Act 2002. 
Edinburgh: TSO. 

20 Ham, C., et al. (2013) Integrated Care in Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales: 
Lessons for England. London: The King’s Fund. 

21 Northern Ireland Health and Social Care (2011) Transforming Your Care: A 
Review of Health and Social Care in Northern Ireland. Belfast. 

22 Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety (2005) Caring for 
People beyond Tomorrow: A Strategic Framework for the Development of 
Primary Health and Social Care for Individuals, Families and Communities in 
Northern Ireland. Belfast. 

23 Better Care Fund Taskforce (2015) Meta-analysis of Better Care Fund Plans for 
2015-16: Headlines Findings from Updated Plans. London. 

24 Department of Health & Department for Communities and Local Government; 
Better Care Fund Taskforce (2014) Better Care Fund Policy Framework. 
London: Department of Health. 

25 Department of Health & Department for Communities and Local Government; 
Better Care Fund Taskforce (2016) 2016-17 Better Care Fund Policy 
Framework. London: Department of Health. 

26 Barker, K. (2014) A New Settlement For Health and Social Care: Final Report. 
London: The King’s Fund. 

27 GMCA; NHS in Greater Manchester (2015) Taking Care of Our Health and 
Social Care in Greater Manchester. Manchester: GMCA; NHS in Greater 
Manchester. 

28 Alderwick, H., Ham, C. & Buck, D. (2015). Population Health Systems: Going 
Beyond Integrated Care. London: The King’s Fund. 

29 Bellows, J., Young, S. & Chase, A. (2014) Person-Focused Care at Kaiser 
Permanente. The Permanente Journal 18: 90-91. 

30 Shortell, S., et al. (2014) Accountable Care Organisations in the United States 
and England: Testing, Evaluating and Learning What Works. London: The 
King’s Fund. 

31 Crecelius, C. (2013) Accountable Care Organizations and the Long-Term Care 
Physician. Caring for the Ages 14: 16-17. 

 

32 RAND Europe & Ernst & Young LLP (2012) National Evaluation of the 
Department of Health’s Integrated Care Pilots. Cambridge: RAND Europe; 
Ernst & Young LLP. 

33 Lewis, G., et al. (2013) Integrating Care for High-risk Patients in England Using 
the Virtual Ward Model: Lessons in the Process of Care Integration from Three 
Case Sites. International Journal of Integrated Care 13: 1-11. 

34 Erens, B., et al. (2016) Early Evaluation of the Integrated Care and Support 
Pioneers Programme: Final Report. London: PIRU. 

35 National Voices (2013) A Narrative for Person-Centred Coordinated Care. 
London: National Voices. 

36 NHS England (2015) Integrated Care Pioneers: One Year On Pioneer Profiles 
and Case Study Examples. London: NHS England. 

37 PIRU (2015) Evaluation of the Integrated Care and Support Pioneers 
Programme July 2015- June 2020. London: PIRU. 

38 NHS England (2016) Multispecialty Community Provider Vanguards. London. 
39 Goodwin, N., et al. (2012) A Report to the Department of Health and the NHS 

Future Forum. Integrated Care for Patients and Populations: Improving 
Outcomes by Working Together. London: The King’s Fund & Nuffield Trust. 

40 Department of Health (2015) Consultation on the roles and functions of the 
National Data Guardian for Health and Care. London: Department of Health. 

41 Turning Point (2010) Assessing the Evidence for the Cost Benefit and Cost 
Effectiveness of Integrated Health and Social Care. London: Turning Point. 

42 Robertson, H. (2011) Integration of Health and Social Care: A Review of 
Literature and Models. Implications for Scotland. Edinburgh: Royal College of 
Nursing Scotland. 

43 Davies, S., et al. (2011) A Systematic Review of Integrated Working Between 
Care Homes and Health Care Services. BMC Health Services Research 11: 
320-341. 

44 Humphries, R. (2015) Integrated Health and Social Care in England – Progress 
and Prospects. Health Policy 119: 856-859. 

45 Skills for Care (2013) Evidence Review - Integrated Health and Social Care. 
Oxford: Skills for Care. 

46 Nolte, E. & Pitchforth, E. (2014) What is the Evidence on the Economic Impacts 
of Integrated Care? Copenhagen: World Health Organisation. 

47 Martínez-González, N.A., et al. (2014) Integrated Care Programmes for Adults 
with Chronic Conditions: A Meta-review. International Journal for Quality in 
Health Care 5: 561-570 

48 Mason, A., Goddard, M. & Weatherly, H. (2014) Financial Mechanisms for 
Integrating Funds for Health and Social Care: An Evidence Review. York: 
ESHCRU; CHE. 

49 Wilberforce, M., et al. (2016) Is Integrated Care Associated with Service Costs 
and Admission Rates to Institutional Settings? An Observational Study of 
Community Mental Health Teams for Older People in England. International 
Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. 

50 Evans, J., et al. (2013) The Evolution Of Integrated Health Care Strategies. 
Advances in Healthcare Management 15: 125-161. 

51 BASW (2016). BASW Position on Social Work and Integration Between Health 
and Social Care. London: BASW. 

52 BMA (2014) What is Social Care, and How Can Health Services Better 
Integrate with it? London: BMA. 

53 Bardsley, M., et al. (2013) Evaluating Integrated and Community-based Care. 
London: Nuffield Trust 

54 NHS England (2015) Better Care Fund: Data Collection and Performance 
Report Q2 2015/16. London: NHS England. 

55 Public Accounts Committee (2015) Planning for the Better Care Fund. London: 
Public Accounts Committee. 

56 Wittenberg, R., Sharpin, L., McCormick, B. and Hurst, J. (2014) Understanding 
Emergency Hospital Admission of Older People. Report, 6. Oxford: Centre for 
Health Service Economics and Organisation. 

57 Humphries, R. (2015) Integrated Health and Social Care in England – Progress 
and Prospects. Health Policy 119: 856-859. 

58 Asaria, M., et al. (2016) How a Universal Health System Reduces Inequalities: 
Lessons from England. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health 0: 1-7. 

59 UCL Institute of Health Equity (2015) Marmot Indicators 2015. London: UCL. 
60 Hayes S., et al. (2012) Collaboration between Local Health and Local 

Government Agencies for Health Improvement. Cochrane Database 
Systematic Review. 

61 Steventon, A., et al. (2011) An Evaluation of the Impact of Community-based 
Interventions on Hospital Use. London: Nuffield Trust. 

62 Bevan, G., et al. (2014). The Four Health Systems of the United Kingdom: How 
Do They Compare? London: The Health Foundation; Nuffield Trust. 

63 National Audit Office (2013) Emergency Admissions to Hospital: Managing the 
Demand. London: National Audit Office. 

64 Chao, J., et al. (2015) The Effect of Integrated Health Management Model on 
the Health of Older Adults with Diabetes in a Randomized Controlled Trial. 
Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics 60: 82-88. 

 

http://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons/lib/research/key_issues/Key-Issues-The-ageing-population2007.pdf
http://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons/lib/research/key_issues/Key-Issues-The-ageing-population2007.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/464275/gs-15-13-future-ageing-trends-life-expectancy-er12.pdf
http://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies/bulletins/healthylifeexpectancyatbirthandage65byuppertierlocalauthorityandareadeprivation/england2012to2014
http://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies/bulletins/healthylifeexpectancyatbirthandage65byuppertierlocalauthorityandareadeprivation/england2012to2014
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/long-term-conditions-compendium-of-information-third-edition
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/long-term-conditions-compendium-of-information-third-edition
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/field/field_publication_file/the-care-of-frail-older-people-with-complex-needs-mar-2012.pdf
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/field/field_publication_file/the-care-of-frail-older-people-with-complex-needs-mar-2012.pdf
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/5854661/Adult+social+care+funding+2014+state+of+the+nation+report/e32866fa-d512-4e77-9961-8861d2d93238
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/5yfv-web.pdf
http://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/sites/files/nuffield/social_care_and_hospital_use-full_report_081210.pdf
http://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/sites/files/nuffield/social_care_and_hospital_use-full_report_081210.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/418493/IC_licence_condition_mar15.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/418493/IC_licence_condition_mar15.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/better-care-plans-to-help-elderly-and-reduce-hospital-visits
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/better-care-plans-to-help-elderly-and-reduce-hospital-visits
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/198748/DEFINITIVE_FINAL_VERSION_Integrated_Care_and_Support_-_Our_Shared_Commitment_2013-05-13.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/198748/DEFINITIVE_FINAL_VERSION_Integrated_Care_and_Support_-_Our_Shared_Commitment_2013-05-13.pdf
http://www.socialesalute.it/res/download/febbraio2013/walter_leutz.pdf
http://www.socialesalute.it/res/download/febbraio2013/walter_leutz.pdf
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/Integrated-care-summary-Sep11.pdf
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/Integrated-care-summary-Sep11.pdf
http://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/sites/files/nuffield/publication/what_is_integrated_care_research_report_june11_0.pdf
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3004930/pdf/nihms1308.pdf
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3004930/pdf/nihms1308.pdf
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4469543/pdf/10.1177_1355819614566832.pdf
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4469543/pdf/10.1177_1355819614566832.pdf
http://gov.wales/topics/health/socialcare/working/icf/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/health/socialcare/working/icf/?lang=en
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140131031506/http:/www.archive.official-documents.co.uk/document/cm41/4192/4192.htm
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140131031506/http:/www.archive.official-documents.co.uk/document/cm41/4192/4192.htm
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2002/5/pdfs/asp_20020005_en.pdf
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/field/field_publication_file/integrated-care-in-northern-ireland-scotland-and-wales-kingsfund-jul13.pdf
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/field/field_publication_file/integrated-care-in-northern-ireland-scotland-and-wales-kingsfund-jul13.pdf
http://www.northerntrust.hscni.net/pdf/Transforming_Your_Care_Report.pdf
http://www.northerntrust.hscni.net/pdf/Transforming_Your_Care_Report.pdf
https://www.health-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/dhssps/caring-for-people-beyond-tomorrow.pdf
https://www.health-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/dhssps/caring-for-people-beyond-tomorrow.pdf
https://www.health-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/dhssps/caring-for-people-beyond-tomorrow.pdf
https://www.health-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/dhssps/caring-for-people-beyond-tomorrow.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/bcf-meta-analysis-summary-feb-update.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/bcf-meta-analysis-summary-feb-update.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/381848/BCF.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/490559/BCF_Policy_Framework_2016-17.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/490559/BCF_Policy_Framework_2016-17.pdf
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/field/field_publication_file/Commission%20Final%20%20interactive.pdf
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/downloads/file/125/taking_charge_of_our_health_and_social_care_in_greater_manchester
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/downloads/file/125/taking_charge_of_our_health_and_social_care_in_greater_manchester
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/field/field_publication_file/population-health-systems-kingsfund-feb15.pdf
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/field/field_publication_file/population-health-systems-kingsfund-feb15.pdf
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3951036/pdf/permj18_1p0090.pdf
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3951036/pdf/permj18_1p0090.pdf
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/field/field_publication_file/accountable-care-organisations-united-states-england-shortell-mar14.pdf
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/field/field_publication_file/accountable-care-organisations-united-states-england-shortell-mar14.pdf
http://www.caringfortheages.com/article/S1526-4114(13)00253-9/pdf
http://www.caringfortheages.com/article/S1526-4114(13)00253-9/pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215103/dh_133127.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215103/dh_133127.pdf
http://www.ijic.org/articles/10.5334/ijic.1150/
http://www.ijic.org/articles/10.5334/ijic.1150/
http://www.ijic.org/articles/10.5334/ijic.1150/
http://www.piru.ac.uk/assets/files/Early_evaluation_of_IC_Pioneers_Final_Report.pdf
http://www.piru.ac.uk/assets/files/Early_evaluation_of_IC_Pioneers_Final_Report.pdf
http://www.nationalvoices.org.uk/sites/default/files/public/publications/narrative-for-person-centred-coordinated-care.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/pioneer-profiles-case-study.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/pioneer-profiles-case-study.pdf
http://www.piru.ac.uk/assets/files/Integrated%20Care%20Pioneers%20Evaluation%20%202015-2020-%20one%20page%20summary%20PIRU%2015%20Oct%2015.pdf
http://www.piru.ac.uk/assets/files/Integrated%20Care%20Pioneers%20Evaluation%20%202015-2020-%20one%20page%20summary%20PIRU%2015%20Oct%2015.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/futurenhs/new-care-models/community-sites/
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/integrated-care-patients-populations-paper-nuffield-trust-kings-fund-january-2012.pdf
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/integrated-care-patients-populations-paper-nuffield-trust-kings-fund-january-2012.pdf
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/integrated-care-patients-populations-paper-nuffield-trust-kings-fund-january-2012.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/461993/Consultation_ND_Guardian_accessible.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/461993/Consultation_ND_Guardian_accessible.pdf
http://www.turning-point.co.uk/media/23642/benefitsrealisation2010.pdf
http://www.turning-point.co.uk/media/23642/benefitsrealisation2010.pdf
https://www2.rcn.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/455633/Hilarys_Paper.pdf
https://www2.rcn.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/455633/Hilarys_Paper.pdf
http://bmchealthservres.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1472-6963-11-320
http://bmchealthservres.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1472-6963-11-320
http://www.healthpolicyjrnl.com/article/S0168-8510(15)00117-7/pdf
http://www.healthpolicyjrnl.com/article/S0168-8510(15)00117-7/pdf
http://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/Document-library/NMDS-SC,-workforce-intelligence-and-innovation/Research/IPC-ER4---Integrated-Health-and-Social-Care-Report-100613-FINAL.pdf
http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/251434/What-is-the-evidence-on-the-economic-impacts-of-integrated-care.pdf
http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/251434/What-is-the-evidence-on-the-economic-impacts-of-integrated-care.pdf
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4195469/pdf/mzu071.pdf
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4195469/pdf/mzu071.pdf
https://www.york.ac.uk/media/che/documents/papers/researchpapers/CHERP97_Financial_mechanisms_integrating_funds_healtthcare_social_care_.pdf
https://www.york.ac.uk/media/che/documents/papers/researchpapers/CHERP97_Financial_mechanisms_integrating_funds_healtthcare_social_care_.pdf
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26833970
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26833970
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26833970
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/261767268_The_Evolution_Of_Integrated_Health_Care_Strategies
https://www.basw.co.uk/news/article/?id=1122
https://www.basw.co.uk/news/article/?id=1122
http://www.bma.org.uk/working-for-change/doctors-in-the-nhs/social-care-integration
http://www.bma.org.uk/working-for-change/doctors-in-the-nhs/social-care-integration
http://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/sites/files/nuffield/publication/evaluation_summary_final.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/transformation-fund/bcf-plan/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/transformation-fund/bcf-plan/
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201415/cmselect/cmpubacc/807/807.pdf
http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/60622/1/__lse.ac.uk_storage_LIBRARY_Secondary_libfile_shared_repository_Content_Wittenberg%2C%20R_Understanding%20emergency_Wittenberg_Understanding%20emergency_2015.pdf
http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/60622/1/__lse.ac.uk_storage_LIBRARY_Secondary_libfile_shared_repository_Content_Wittenberg%2C%20R_Understanding%20emergency_Wittenberg_Understanding%20emergency_2015.pdf
http://www.healthpolicyjrnl.com/article/S0168-8510(15)00117-7/pdf
http://www.healthpolicyjrnl.com/article/S0168-8510(15)00117-7/pdf
http://jech.bmj.com/content/early/2016/01/12/jech-2015-206742.full.pdf+html
http://jech.bmj.com/content/early/2016/01/12/jech-2015-206742.full.pdf+html
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/marmot-indicators-2015
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21678371
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21678371
http://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/sites/files/nuffield/publication/An-evaluation-of-the-impact-of-community-based-interventions-on-hospital-use-summary-Mar11.pdf
http://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/sites/files/nuffield/publication/An-evaluation-of-the-impact-of-community-based-interventions-on-hospital-use-summary-Mar11.pdf
http://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/sites/files/nuffield/140411_four_countries_health_systems_full_report.pdf
http://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/sites/files/nuffield/140411_four_countries_health_systems_full_report.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/10/10288-001-Emergency-admissions.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/10/10288-001-Emergency-admissions.pdf
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25456892
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25456892




Authors

Richard Humphries

Ruth Thorlby

Holly Holder

Patrick Hall

Anna Charles

September 2016

Social care for 
older people
Home truths



Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6 8

Contents  1

2

1

3

4

5

Contents

Key messages 3

Background and context 6

The purpose of this report 8

Methodology and approach 9

The structure of this report 10

Local authorities: managing austerity 12

The national picture: what do we know? 12

The local picture: what we learned from our case studies 17

The impact on social care providers  23

The national picture: what do we know?  23

The local picture: what we learned from our case studies 26

The impact on older people, their families and carers 41

The national picture: what do we know? 41

The local picture: what we learned from our case studies  45



Contents 2

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6 8

The NHS 54

The national picture: what do we know? 54

The local picture: what we learned from our case studies 59

Strategies to improve care and support for  
older people  64

The national picture: what do we know?  64

The local picture: what we learned from our case studies  66

Discussion: the future of social care over the  
next five years 72

The financial context 73

The policy context 74

The future of social care for older people  75

Policy challenges  76

Appendix: Methodology  82

References 85

About the authors 93

Acknowledgements 95

7

8

6



Key messages 3

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6 8

Key messages

 • The social care system in its current form is struggling to meet the needs of 
older people. Six consecutive years of cuts to local authority budgets have 
seen 26 per cent fewer people get help. No one has a full picture of what 
has happened to older people who are no longer entitled to publicly funded 
care: the human and financial costs to them and those who care for them 
are mounting. 

 • Our assessment of national data and in-depth interviews in four unnamed 
local authority areas found that the past six years have also brought huge 
pressures on the social care market. Central government grant reductions 
to local authorities have been passed on to care providers in the form of 
reduced fees, or below inflation increases. Combined with shortages of 
nurses and care workers, higher regulatory standards and the introduction 
of the National Living Wage, this has put many social care providers under 
unprecedented pressure.  

 • Many social care providers are surviving by relying increasingly on people  
who can fund their own care, but those dependent on local authority contracts 
are in difficulty. Home care services face particularly acute workforce shortages 
and are now in a critical condition everywhere, threatening to undermine 
policies to support people at home. The possibility of large-scale provider 
failures is no longer of question of ‘if ’ but ‘when’ and such a failure would 
jeopardise continuity of the care on which older people depend. 

 • Local authorities have sought to protect the most vulnerable older people 
with the highest needs, while at the same time encouraging others to be 
independent, drawing on the resources of their families and communities, 
and to reduce dependence on support from the state. For many people the 
experience of needing to find and pay for care comes as an unpleasant surprise 
for which, in general, they are unprepared. Unpaid carers will also be expected 
to do even more.



Key messages 4

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6 8

 • Access to care depends increasingly on what people can afford – and where 
they live – rather than on what they need. This favours the relatively well off 
and well informed at the expense of the poorest people, who are reliant on an 
increasingly threadbare local authority safety net – especially if they live in 
areas where local authorities have been least able to sustain spending levels – 
and who are at a higher risk of declining quality and provider failure. 

 • The situation for older people has been compounded by pressures elsewhere 
in the NHS. Cuts to social care should not be viewed in isolation from 
overstretched general practice and community nursing and the uneven 
distribution of intermediate care beds; these are all factors identified by our 
interviewees. Under-investment in primary and community NHS services 
threatens to undermine the policy objective of keeping people independent 
and out of residential care. 

 • The most visible manifestation of pressures on health and social care budgets is 
the rapid growth in delayed discharges from hospital. While this is undoubtedly 
driven by funding pressures on both services and exacerbated by workforce 
shortages in social care, local authorities, NHS providers and commissioners 
must work more effectively together to address a problem that imposes a 
significant cost on the NHS and is taking an unacceptable toll on older people, 
their carers and families.  

 • The funding outlook for the next five years looks bleak. The measures 
announced by the government will not meet a widening gap between needs 
and resources set to reach at least £2.8 billion by 2019. Public spending on adult 
social care is set to fall to less than 1 per cent of GDP. The potential for most 
local authorities to achieve more within existing resources is very limited and 
they will struggle to meet basic statutory duties.



Key messages 5

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6 8

 • Based on the national and local evidence we have considered in this report, 
there are three major strategic challenges facing policy-makers in shaping how 
the adult social care system could develop over the next five years. 

 – Achieving more with less This could include continuing to work within 
the grain of existing policies such as personalisation, better commissioning 
and integrated care. But these efforts will not in themselves be sufficient 
to meet immediate funding needs. As the NHS England Chief Executive, 
Simon Stevens, has said, there is a strong argument that any extra funding 
should go to social care. As a minimum, the forthcoming Autumn 
Statement must recognise the scale of the immediate funding pressures 
facing the sector by bringing forward the additional Better Care Fund 
money planned from 2018/19, accelerating progress towards establishing 
a single pooled budget for health and social care in all areas by 2020 and 
developing a workforce strategy. 

 – A different offer If the government is unwilling to provide adequate 
public funding to support the current system, it must be honest with the 
public about what they can expect from publicly funded services. This 
would mean establishing a fresh and more explicit policy framework, 
which makes it clear that primary responsibility for funding care sits with 
individuals and families, creating incentives for people to plan ahead for 
their care needs and revisiting some of the new duties and rights created by 
the Care Act 2014 so that expectations are aligned more realistically with 
what the government is prepared to fund and local authorities can afford. 
This will be an unpalatable future but it is one that is already upon us. 

 – Long-term reform Because reliance on additional private funding will 
not be sufficient or equitable, a longer-term strategy is needed. England 
remains one of the few major advanced countries that has not reformed 
the way it funds long-term care in response to the needs of an ageing 
population. The Barker Commission – which called for a new settlement 
for health and social care – is the latest of a number of independent 
commissions and reviews to set out how this could be achieved. A frank 
and open debate is needed on how to fund health and social care on a 
sustainable basis into the future, recognising that a long-term strategy 
will exceed the lifetime of a single parliament. A mechanism is needed to 
secure cross-party consensus on some shared principles of reform.



Background and context 6

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6 8

1  Background and context

The adult social care system offers help, care and support to people with a wide 
range of needs arising from disability, illness or other life situations. It helps people 
to live as independently as possible, protects people from harm in vulnerable 
situations, balances risks with rights and offers essential help at times of crisis. 
Support is offered in people’s own homes, residential and nursing homes or other 
community settings. Unlike NHS care, most of these services involve an assessment 
of the individual’s ‘eligible’ needs and financial resources (means-testing). This 
report focuses on services for older people.

Local authorities have important statutory duties, but more than 90 per cent of 
actual support is provided by a diverse range of more than 19,000 independent 
organisations, ranging from big corporate chains to small family-run businesses, 
charities and social enterprises (Skills for Care 2016b). The withdrawal of local 
authorities and the NHS from the direct provision of long-term care has been a 
major strategic shift in adult social care policy over the past 30 years. The quality 
and sufficiency of these services are key indicators of a good society (Association 

of Directors of Adult Social Services 2015). 

The success story of longer lifespans means there are many more people with care 
and support needs arising from a mixture of physical health and mental health 
conditions including dementia and frailty in old age. But the system is in trouble. 
Even before austerity gripped public spending in 2010, the state was able to meet 
only a proportion of older people’s care needs; the remainder had to use their own 
resources, financial and family, to support themselves. Although 1.5 million people 
are employed in social care, another 6 million offer unpaid care as friends and 
family members. The gap between need and funding has grown wider since 2010. 
Over the past five years, local authority spending on the essential care and support 
needed by older and disabled people has fallen by 11 per cent in real terms and the 
number of people getting state-funded help has plummeted by at least 25 per cent. 
More people are paying for their own care, but the complexities of the system can 
be difficult for people to understand (Independent Age 2016; Health and Social Care 

Information Centre 2015d).

http://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/NMDS-SC-intelligence/NMDS-SC/Workforce-data-and-publications/Size-and-structure-of-the-adult-social-care-sector.aspx
http://www.adass.org.uk/distinctive-valued-personal-why-social-care-matters
http://www.adass.org.uk/distinctive-valued-personal-why-social-care-matters
http://www.independentage.org/policy-research/research-reports/information-and-advice-since-care-act-how-are-councils-performing
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB18642
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB18642


Background and context 7

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6 8

Older people generally have health as well as care needs. By the age of 65, most 
people will have at least one long-term condition and by the age of 75 most will 
have at least two (Oliver et al 2014). Older people account for 62 per cent of all 
hospital bed days and 52 per cent of admissions that involve hospital stays of more 
than seven days (National Audit Office 2016). The NHS, too, is under pressure even 
though its funding has been protected compared with funding for local authorities. 
Hospitals have struggled to meet the needs of the older age group in a timely way, 
in both emergency departments and inpatient admissions, and caring for older 
people in their communities has been hampered by shortages of non-acute beds, 
community nurses and overstretched general practices. Too often health and social 
care services are not joined up (Care Quality Commission 2016a). Most professionals 
and commentators believe that the cuts to social care services have contributed to 
the pressures on health services. 

Low levels of pay, training and skills of care staff – 37 per cent have no recognised 
qualification – and increasing difficulties in recruitment raise worries about the 
quality of care, at a time when the acuity of people’s needs in all care settings is 
rising. The former Chancellor’s announcement in the 2015 Spending Review and 
Autumn Statement of a new National Living Wage has been welcomed but will 
add at least £2 billion to workforce costs by 2020. This has triggered fresh concerns 
about the financial viability of many care providers after several years in which fees 
from local authorities have been frozen. Already some of the largest providers of 
home care have withdrawn from the market (LaingBuisson 2016).

It is therefore not surprising that the National Audit Office has warned that 
‘national and local government do not know whether the care and health systems 
can continue to absorb these cumulative pressures, and how long they can carry on 
doing so’ (National Audit Office 2014a). 

The need for a better understanding of the current pressures facing care services and 
the implications for their future sustainability has never been greater. Yet evidence 
about the relationship between changes in public spending on social care, the quality 
and quantity of services and the impact on the health and wellbeing of people who 
use them is extremely limited. More older people are falling outside the social care 
system, either because their financial means are too high for publicly funded help or 
their care needs are not high enough, yet knowledge about what happens to them is 
limited (Baxter and Glendinning 2014; Institute of Public Care 2012).

http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/making-our-health-and-care-systems-fit-ageing-population
http://www.nao.org.uk/report/discharging-older-patients-from-hospital/
http://www.cqc.org.uk/content/building-bridges-breaking-barriers-integrated-care-older-people
http://www.nao.org.uk/report/adult-social-care-england-overview-2/
http://php.york.ac.uk/inst/spru/pubs/2871/
http://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/index.php?absid=646


The purpose of this report 8

Social care for older people

1 4 53 62 7 8

2  The purpose of  
this report

The overall focus of this project is to better understand the impact of changes in 
local authority spending on social care for older people, through an analysis of 
national data and evidence and a snapshot of four local areas, taking account of the 
important relationship between the NHS and social care services in meeting the 
needs of older people.

This report concentrates on services for older people, defined here as people aged 
65 years and over, noting that although pressures arising from other kinds of need, 
such as disabled people of working age, are considerable, they raise different policy 
and funding issues.

The project had four lines of inquiry that guided our conversations with local areas. 

 • How local authorities are dealing with current pressures, the implications 
for their financial sustainability and their ability to meet their statutory 
requirements.

 • The implications for the social care market, including recruitment and 
retention issues, the impact of the new National Living Wage and the risks  
of provider failure. 

 • The impact on the NHS, with a particular focus on primary care, community 
nursing and acute services. How have changes in the availability of these 
services affected care needs and the ability of local authorities to meet them?

 • The implications for older people’s experience of social care and the quality of 
care they receive.



The purpose of this report 9

Social care for older people

1 4 53 62 7 8

Methodology and approach

National data analysis

We conducted a comprehensive analysis of national trends in adult social care 
expenditure and activity for older people since 2009/10, and examined related NHS 
data and trends in independent sector care provision to form a view across the 
whole system of health and social care.

Case studies 

Alongside this national data, we used a case study approach to describe what is 
happening at a local level. We conducted semi-structured interviews and focus 
groups in four local authority areas that varied in terms of size and type of council. 

Figure 1 Our lines of inquiry

Local 
authorities’ 

financial 
sustainability

Older people 
and their  

carers

Impact on 
provider 
market

Impact 
on NHS

Quality 
of care



The purpose of this report 10

Social care for older people

1 4 53 62 7 8

The authorities were in the North West, the West Midlands, the South East and 
London. We asked participants about changes to the funding of social care for 
older people in their area over the last five years; the impact this has had on social 
care providers, service users and other services; strategies that commissioners and 
providers are using to mitigate current pressures; and what they feel this means for 
the future of adult social care. 

Participants included key representatives from local authorities (n=17); clinical 
commissioning groups (CCGs) (n=5); NHS providers (n=6); independent sector 
social care providers (n=25); voluntary organisations (n=8); and Healthwatch and 
other local groups representing people who use services (n=4). 

Sites were selected to represent variations in local authority type; geographical area; 
rurality; and the deprivation and ethnic mix of the local population. The anonymity 
of sites is protected.

User interviews

Alongside this work we were commissioned by the Richmond Group of Charities 
to interview seven older people about their personal experiences of using social 
care services and/or about their experience as a carer of someone who uses these 
services. We draw on some of these stories in this report to illustrate the human 
dimension of our research findings. A full account of these interviews will be 
published by the Richmond Group (Hall and Holder 2016).

The structure of this report

In each section we provide a brief overview of the national data, followed by an 
analysis of themes from our interviews, which aimed to explore the experiences, 
perceptions and predictions from those involved in the care and health system for 
older people. The research findings are divided into five sections.

 • The views of local authorities about the scale and nature of the savings made 
so far, the principles that have guided their decisions and their perceptions 
about the future (Section 3).

https://richmondgroupofcharities.org.uk


The purpose of this report 11

Social care for older people

1 4 53 62 7 8

 • The views of social care providers, including residential, home care and related 
voluntary sector players about the impact of local authority budget pressures 
(Section 4).

 • The views of interviewees from all sectors about the impact on older people, 
their families and carers (Section 5).

 • The view from the NHS, including commissioners and those within hospitals, 
on the experience of managing rising pressures from older patients, and the 
part played by local authorities (Section 6).

 • An account of the various national and local strategies to improve care and 
support for older people and to mitigate the budget pressures (Section 7).

Finally, we consider the implications of our findings for the future of social care 
and assess the major strategic challenges facing policy-makers in shaping how the 
system could develop over the next five years.



Local authorities: managing austerity 12

Social care for older people

31 42 5 76 8

3  Local authorities: 
managing austerity

The national picture: what do we know?

Local authorities’ spending on social care for older adults

Central government has reduced its funding to local government by 37 per cent  
in real terms between 2010/11 and 2015/16 (National Audit Office 2014b). 

In 2014/15, local authorities spent £7.23 billion on social care for older people, 
£5.12 billion after user charges and other income is taken into account (see 
Figure 2). This accounts for 42 per cent of all council spending on adult social 
care (traditionally this has been closer to 52 per cent but has fallen because of 
definitional changes), the rest being spent on support for people aged 18–65 years. 
Since 2010, NHS money has been transferred to local authorities to support  
social care, currently through the Better Care Fund. 

Although outside the local authority system, the government also spends a further 
£4.7 billion on attendance allowance, a cash benefit administered by the Department 
for Work and Pensions payable directly to older people with care needs. Knowledge 
of who receives this benefit and how it used is relatively limited. The government 
is proposing to consult on whether this spending should be transferred to 
local authorities.

To put this into perspective, the NHS budget in 2014/15 was £116.4 billion, and 
figures prepared by the Nuffield Trust for the Guardian (Robineau 2016) suggest that 
two-fifths was spent on older people. Given that total public expenditure of all kinds 
is £755 billion, the level of spending by local authorities on the care of older people 
seems a relatively modest sum (see Figure 3).

http://www.nao.org.uk/report/financial-sustainability-of-local-authorities-2014/
http://www.theguardian.com/society/2016/feb/01/ageing-britain-two-fifths-nhs-budget-spent-over-65s


Local authorities: managing austerity 13

Social care for older people

31 42 5 76 8

Figure 2 Local authority spending on social care for older people, 2014/15

Figure 3 All health- and care-related spending on older people, 2014/15

Source: Health and Social Care Information Centre 2015e

Source: Department for Work and Pensions 2016; Robineau 2016; Health and Social Care Information 
Centre 2015e

10

8

6

1

4

2

0

£
 b

ill
io

ns

9

3

7

5

User charges

Net spend

NHS transfer

60

50

40

10

30

20

0

£
 b

ill
io

ns

Attendance allowance

NHS

Local authority social care

http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB19165
http://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/benefit-expenditure-and-caseload-tables-2016
http://www.theguardian.com/society/2016/feb/01/ageing-britain-two-fifths-nhs-budget-spent-over-65s
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB19165
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB19165


Local authorities: managing austerity 14

Social care for older people

31 42 5 76 8

Against this relatively modest baseline, gross spending by local authorities on social 
care for older people has fallen by 9 per cent in real terms between 2009/10 and 
2014/15. Without income from charges and money transferred from the NHS, it 
would have been 25 per cent. The NHS transfer, including the Better Care Fund, 
has made a real difference but has not fully compensated for cuts in local authority 
budgets. Of the £5 billion Better Care Fund, in 2015/16 just a third (£1.67 billion) 
was being used to protect social care services (Association of Directors of Adult Social 

Services 2016).

The national picture, on average, is one of reductions, especially taking into account 
increases in the older population over this period. Eighty-one per cent of local 
authorities cut their spending in real terms on social care for older people over the 
past five years. In more than half of local authorities the reduction was at least 10 per 
cent. However, the picture is not uniform – 18 per cent maintained or increased 
spending (see Figure 4). 

Figure 4 Percentage change in gross total expenditure on older people’s  
social care (per 100k population aged 65+) between 2009/10 and 2014/15,  
by local authority

Source: Health and Social Care Information Centre 2015e

40

20

0

-20

-50

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

ch
an

ge

151 English councils

30

-30

10

-10

-40

http://www.adass.org.uk/budget-survey-2016
http://www.adass.org.uk/budget-survey-2016
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB19165


Local authorities: managing austerity 15

Social care for older people

31 42 5 76 8

Reductions in numbers of people receiving publicly funded social care

There has been a big reduction in the numbers of older people receiving local 
authority-funded social care – from more than 1.1 million in 2009 to 853,615 in 
2013/14 – a fall of 26 per cent (see Figure 5). It is likely that the trend will have 
continued in 2014/15 and beyond but changes to data collection unfortunately mean 
that there is no a longer a comparable figure. The fall has been especially steep since 
2010, but this forms part of a longer-term trend that began in 2009. The number 
of people aged between 18 and 64 years getting help has also fallen, but not by 
as much. 

Despite the policy objective of supporting people to live at home, the steepest 
reduction has been in the number of people receiving local authority-funded 
community-based services – down 30 per cent since 2009 compared with just 4 per 
cent fewer for residential care and 6 per cent for nursing home care (see Figure 6). 

Figure 5 People receiving local authority-funded social care, 2005/06 to 2013/14

Source: Health and Social Care Information Centre 2014

1,400

2009/1
0

2008/0
9

2007/0
8

2006/0
7

2013/1
4

2012/1
3

2011/1
2

2010/1
1

2005/0
6

1,000

600

200

0

N
um

be
r 

of
 p

eo
pl

e 
(0

0
0

s)

1,200

800

400

Older people 65yrs+ 18–64yrs

http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB16133


Local authorities: managing austerity 16

Social care for older people

31 42 5 76 8

These national trends conceal wide variations in provision between different parts 
of the country and between individual councils. There is more than a six-fold 
variation between councils in their rates of people supported in care homes, and an 
eight-fold variation in their provision of home care (see Figure 7). The north-east 
and north-west tend to provide higher levels of both residential and community 
care (albeit with variations within those two regions). London stands out as having a 
low rate of residential provision, but high rates of home care. These differences arise 
from a variety of factors including historical patterns of provision, local property 
markets, levels of income, wealth and deprivation, the population age profile and 
different commissioning practices.

Figure 6 Older people receiving community-based, residential or nursing home 
care, 2005/06 to 2013/14

Source: Health and Social Care Information Centre 2014

1,200

2009/1
0

2008/0
9

2007/0
8

2006/0
7

2013/1
4

2012/1
3

2011/1
2

2010/1
1

2005/0
6

1,000

600

200

0

N
um

be
r 

of
 p

eo
pl

e 
(0

0
0

s)

800

400

Community-based services Residential care Nursing homes

http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB16133


Local authorities: managing austerity 17

Social care for older people

31 42 5 76 8

The local picture: what we learned from our case studies

The scale of budget reductions

Interviewees in all local authority sites reported having had to generate millions of 
pounds of savings over the past five years and facing even more challenging savings 
targets until 2018. Even when an authority was achieving an overall net growth in 
spending on adult social care, the process over recent years was described as ‘taking 
money out’ because of the growth in demand over the same period. Interviewees 
described how savings in adult social care were made in the context of big savings 
across local government services as a whole. Because adult social care accounts for 
the largest proportion of local government spending, ‘protecting’ social care from 
cuts has not been a viable option for all local authorities: 

We knew we had a council that had such huge cost savings to make across the 
years, you couldn’t protect social care because of the width of its services from 
that scenario.
(Local authority)

Figure 7 Rate of older people aged 65 and over receiving publicly funded care 
by local authority, at year end 2013/14

Source: Health and Social Care Information Centre 2014

14,000

10,000

6,000

2,000

0N
um

be
r 

of
 p

eo
pl

e 
pe

r 
1

0
0

,0
0

0
 p

op
ul

at
io

n

Local authority

12,000

8,000

4,000

Home careResidential and nursing homes

http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB16133


Local authorities: managing austerity 18

Social care for older people

31 42 5 76 8

A theme common across all sites was the difficulty of this process, including painful 
conversations with elected council members and other departments. Interviewees 
from other organisational stakeholders in the area, even where budget cuts had 
directly affected their own viability, often expressed empathy with the unenviable 
position that the local authority found itself in:

It’s horrible… [A] lot of the directors started off as social workers, they didn’t go 
in there to cut services or make a service work… but they’ve been put in this very 
difficult position.
(Social care provider)

Where have the savings come from?

The approach taken to secure the millions of pounds’ worth of savings in our case 
study sites is consistent with current knowledge in this area (Association of Directors 

of Adult Social Services 2016). Across the four case studies, interviewees from the local 
authorities reported having used a range of strategies, including:

 • reductions in the number of people in residential placements 

 • reductions in domiciliary care placements

 • reductions in the number of assessments carried out 

 • reductions in local authority staff

 • reductions/no increases in payments to local authority funding to providers 
(homes and domiciliary care)

 • reductions in grants to voluntary sector providers

 • decommissioning local authority owned homes

 • reductions in step-down beds

 • reductions in additional services (for example, meals on wheels).

Although each of the local authorities we spoke to had challenges that were unique 
to them (for example, in relation to the labour market or the distribution of social 
care providers), a powerful theme common for nearly all of them was that there 

http://www.adass.org.uk/budget-survey-2016
http://www.adass.org.uk/budget-survey-2016


Local authorities: managing austerity 19

Social care for older people

31 42 5 76 8

was no easy route to further savings, as the obvious opportunities for savings had 
already been made.

We’ve pulled out anything that is, what we would almost say now is the nice stuff, 
the wrap-around stuff… we haven’t got many places to go, is the answer.
(Local authority)

One local authority interviewee described how this financial year’s savings target of 
just under £15 million could not be met without breaching the council’s legal duties 
under the Care Act 2014 to assess and meet eligible needs. They had attempted to 
think innovatively – for example, charging users for telecare equipment already 
in use in their home, but had decided that the risk of people turning down the 
equipment and being more likely to have to turn to the NHS outweighed any savings 
they might have made. It would have been ‘a silly thing to do’.

Another local authority felt that it hadn’t ‘quite reached the end of the road yet’ but 
that things were extremely tough. In this case, the council’s comparison of its own 
spending against that of others – suggesting that it was still a ‘high spender’ – had 
convinced the council that further savings must theoretically be possible. By contrast, 
an interviewee from another council felt that he had been pressured by the council 
leadership to reduce spending based on comparative performance. He felt that the 
figures underlying this comparison were ‘misleading’ because other councils had 
higher numbers of self-funders, making it possible for providers to survive on lower 
fees through cross-subsidy (whereby self-funding residents are charged more than 
the local authority rate).

The narrative from the local authorities was not all about reductions in spending. There 
were also examples of increasing investment where it could reinforce broader goals of 
reducing long-term admissions to care homes; for example, increasing investment in 
adaptations and re-ablement services to enable more people to be cared for at home.

What has been the approach guiding the savings?

A guiding principle common to all the case study sites – in addition to bringing 
spending in line with that of other comparable authorities – was a redefinition of 
the purpose of publicly funded social care for older people. Although different 
names were attached to this – a ‘new vision’, an ‘asset-based approach’ or ‘promoting 



Local authorities: managing austerity 20

Social care for older people

31 42 5 76 8

independence’ – interviewees described a set of ideas that involved thinking of 
publicly funded social care in a different way. This was framed slightly differently 
in different places, depending on the history of each local authority. For example, 
interviewees at one local authority felt that theirs had previously been an overly 
generous authority, which they described as having a ‘gift-giving culture’. They said 
that in the past they had delivered too many services to people and undermined 
their independence: 

… but what it did do was stop people going out, it stopped people socialising, 
stopped people’s interaction with others, stopped people exercising. It was very 
patronising and wasn’t very good.
(Local authority)

This authority looked to the example of a neighbouring council as something to 
follow: it provided a much more intensive information and signposting function, 
and diverted people to community groups and other non-statutory resources. They 
felt that people should be seen as citizens rather than potential service users, and 
should be willing to use whatever is available in their neighbourhood, however 
small, even ‘one woman on a street’ doing meals for some neighbours: 

This is not about local authority interventions. This is about us shaping what 
happens with our communities.
(Local authority)

A similar approach was described in another case study site as ‘asking questions 
back to people’, rather than automatically deciding which services they could 
provide for them: 

We ask individuals first of all what they can do for themselves, and then we turn to 
the family and say ‘What can they do’, then to the local community and say ‘What 
can you do’, then only after that do we think about what the council should do.
(Local authority)

The core idea of this approach – of facilitating a person’s autonomy, preferably in their 
own home – also frames the provision of formal services when people do eventually need 
them. Our third case study site spoke about the challenges this brought, particularly in 
changing mind-sets in both the public and NHS clinicians, away from thinking about 



Local authorities: managing austerity 21

Social care for older people

31 42 5 76 8

care homes as a default option when older people reach a crossroads such as after an 
admission to hospital, to thinking about how that person can go home: 

… we probably do find ourselves in greater debate, at times, with families about 
their views about whether their elderly relative can go home with support or not.
(Local authority)

The fourth case study site also described a similar shift in approach, which had 
successfully ‘damped down demand’ for long-term, bed-based care. This involved 
retargeting resources to services such as incontinence services, to address the more 
immediate triggers that often lead people into long-term care: 

So we just said, ‘Well we’re not going to fund lunch clubs any more, we’re not 
going to fund transport that trundles people round to get to lunch clubs, if you 
want to do it, the voluntary sector, that’s up to you, but we’re not funding it.’
(Local authority)

There was also agreement that the scale of the cuts that lie ahead would be even 
more challenging, even where councils planned to take advantage of the opportunity 
to raise Council Tax (the precept) granted in the 2016 Budget. 

So much has come out of the rest of the council, it is going to come out of children 
and adult services, it is, because there’s nowhere else for this to come from.
(Local authority)

Next year looks completely horrible. 
(Local authority)

While local authorities described themselves as so far having been able to protect 
the most vulnerable service users, one area outlined that continued reductions  
in the adult social care budgets would start to reach ‘diminishing returns’, 
particularly if investment in prevention failed, leading more people at risk of 
needing long-term care. 

There was also an awareness that some of the strategies that had been used until 
now, for example reducing fees to providers, could no longer be used, as it risked 
putting too many providers out of business or damaging quality. One local authority 



Local authorities: managing austerity 22

Social care for older people

31 42 5 76 8

had called a halt to further fee reductions for home care providers, and signalled 
that they would also meet the National Living Wage: 

There was a commitment made to reduce the cost of home care to about £10.50 
or something, wasn’t it? So whatever we were paying was down to £10.50. Looked 
at it again, I said this is just ridiculous, you can’t keep slicing the money. So what 
I said was we need sustainable services going into the future because they’re our 
responsibility. Our issue is controlling demand, not salami slicing services. 
(Local authority)

Concern about the impact of the National Living Wage on home care providers 
was also expressed in another of our case studies: even if the council could increase 
its fees to offset the National Living Wage, it might not be enough to reverse the 
recruitment problem facing home care: 

Well, the home care has been proving very difficult and it is largely an issue of 
workforce and recruitment. It started off particularly in some of the rural areas… 
And then it spread a bit. So retail is our major competitor… Looking at some 
analysis of how retailers are responding to the National Living Wage, what we’re 
able to do won’t solve that problem.
(Local authority)

Prevention 

Across all our case study sites, interviewees spoke about a ‘gradual erosion’ 
of preventive services as a result of the difficult process local authorities had 
undertaken to reduce budgets (Healthwatch). One interviewee felt that ‘not enough’ 
had been going into prevention, while an interviewee from another local authority 
said that investment was going to be reduced in this financial year (2016/17). 
Prevention was described by one interviewee as the ‘poor relation’ of health and care 
services, often not prioritised because the benefits may not be visible in the short 
term (Healthwatch). There was recognition that it was important to focus on the 
root causes of increases in demand and to support people so that they do not need 
to access services. However, as summarised by one interviewee, this is an example 
of an unintended consequence arising from operating in this financial environment 
without ‘headroom’: ‘[you] deal with one thing and, as you sort out that issue, 
something else pops up’ (CCG). 



The impact on social care providers 23

Social care for older people

41 2 5 73 6 8

4  The impact on  
social care providers 

The national picture: what do we know? 

Fee levels

Most local authorities have sought to manage financial pressures by freezing or even 
reducing annual fees to providers with whom they contract. Estimates suggest that 
average council fee rates have fallen by 6.2 per cent since 2011. However, this has 
begun to change. In 2015/16, the average increase for care homes for older people 
was 1.9 per cent, higher than previous years but still below a ‘standstill’ requirement 
of 2.5 per cent (Laing 2015). 

This year has seen a sharp increase – 82 per cent of councils increased provider fees. 
Some 18 per cent increased fees by between 1 per cent and 1.9 per cent, and 46 per 
cent of councils increased fees by more than 3 per cent in 2016/17. Fees in home 
care in particular have risen quickly, with 5 per cent increases in a third of councils 
(Association of Directors of Adult Social Services 2016).

National Living Wage

Pressures are likely to intensify following the announcement in the 2015 Budget of 
a new National Living Wage of £7.20 per hour from 2016, rising to £9.15 per hour 
by 2020. Although any measures to raise wage levels in a notoriously poorly paid 
sector are to be welcomed, this will add substantially to the financial pressures faced 
by providers. It is estimated this will add £300 million to local authority costs in 
2016/17, rising to £800 million by 2020 (Local Government Association et al 2015). But 
the increase in total payroll costs of frontline staff is much higher – £2.3 billion by 
2020, on top of £1.7 billion of costs already implied by above-inflation increases in 
the National Minimum Wage (Gardiner 2015). This has been seen as a new threat to 
the financial viability of providers (Care England 2016).

http://www.adass.org.uk/budget-survey-2016
http://www.local.gov.uk/publications/-/journal_content/56/10180/7523718/PUBLICATION
http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/publications/care-to-pay-meeting-the-challenge-of-paying-the-national-living-wage-in-social-care/
http://www.careengland.org.uk/sites/careengland/files/4.%20Social%20Care%20and%20the%20National%20Living%20Wage%20CHPN%20-%202016.pdf


The impact on social care providers 24

Social care for older people

41 2 5 73 6 8

Workforce

Providers have also been struggling to recruit and retain staff. The care sector 
as a whole has a vacancy rate of 4.8 per cent (compared with a vacancy rate of 
2.6 per cent across the economy). This rises significantly for qualified nurses, where 
the vacancy rate is 9 per cent; slightly more than a third of nurses (34 per cent) were 
estimated to have left their role within the past 12 months (Skills for Care 2016a). 
One estimate suggests that the sector could face a shortfall of more than 1 million 
care workers by 2037 (Independent Age 2015). 

Given the sector’s ongoing diffculty with recruitment and retention, migrant 
workers play a large role in the social care workforce. Around 266,000 care workers 
were born outside the UK, one in five of the total. This figure rises to three in five 
in London. Among this population of foreign-born workers, 28 per cent were 
born within the European Union (Independent Age 2015). The outcome of the UK’s 
referendum vote to leave the EU has increased concerns about the sustainability of 
the care workforce. 

Market developments

There has been a steady reduction in the number of residential care homes since 
2010 and the number of places has fallen by 7 per cent (Care Quality Commission, 
unpublished). But the number of nursing homes increased over the same period and 
there were 9 per cent more places (see Figure 8). There are wide regional variations 
in these changes, with the loss of residential care home beds ranging from -18 per 
cent in London to -2 per cent in the East of England. Nursing home places have 
increased by as much as 16 per cent in the East of England but just 3 per cent in 
Yorkshire and the Humber. 

Signs of provider distress are increasing. Seventy-seven local authorities reported 
that at least one care home provider has ceased trading in their area in the past six 
months (Association of Directors of Adult Social Services 2016). Recent analysis of care 
home company accounts for the BBC suggests that 28 per cent of care homes are 
at risk of financial failure (BBC Radio 4 2016). Homes of lower quality and where 
there is more competition between providers are at higher risk of closure (Allan and 

Forder 2015). The spectre of large-scale provider failure was raised by the collapse in 
2011 of Southern Cross, the largest independent care home operator in the country, 

http://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/NMDS-SC-intelligence/NMDS-SC/Workforce-data-and-publications/Nurses-in-social-care.aspx
http://www.independentage.org/policy-research/research-reports/moved-to-care-impact-of-migration-on-adult-social-care-workforce
http://www.independentage.org/policy-research/research-reports/moved-to-care-impact-of-migration-on-adult-social-care-workforce
http://www.adass.org.uk/budget-survey-2016
http://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/b078w8rp
http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/61287/
http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/61287/


The impact on social care providers 25

Social care for older people

41 2 5 73 6 8

which threatened the care of 17,000 people in some 750 homes (National Audit Office 

2011). Some of the key factors behind this crisis – high levels of debt, separation of 
property ownership from care provision, under-occupancy and reliance on squeezed 
local authority fee levels – are still present in parts of the market (Burns et al 2016; 
Institute of Public Care 2014).

Many providers have responded to the financial pressures by concentrating on 
people who pay for their own care (‘self-funders’). Some 53 per cent of residential 
and nursing care funding now comes from private individuals, if ‘top-ups’ from 
relatives are included (though in part this increase arises from more older people 
having property and savings that place them above the £23,250 threshold for local 
authority financal support). The gap between local authority and private fee rates 
has widened over the past five years – one estimate is that average self-funded rates 
have risen by 40 per cent over this period (Laing 2015). There is now clear evidence 
that in many places self-funders are cross-subsiding local authority residents who 
receive generally the same care and accommodation at a much lower price (County 

Councils Network and LaingBuisson 2015). 

Figure 8 Number of care home places, 2010 to 2016

Source: Care Quality Commission registration data (unpublished)

260,000

Jan
 2

012

Sep 2
011

May
 2

011

Jan
 2

011

Jan
 2

013

Sep 2
012

May
 2

012

Jan
 2

014

Sep 2
013

May
 2

013

Jan
 2

016

Sep 2
015

May
 2

015

Jan
 2

015

Sep 2
014

May
 2

014

Sep 2
010

240,000

210,000

200,000

N
um

be
r 

of
 c

ar
e 

ho
m

e 
pl

ac
es 250,000

220,000

230,000

Residential home places Nursing home places

http://www.nao.org.uk/report/oversight-of-user-choice-and-provider-competition-in-care-markets/
http://www.nao.org.uk/report/oversight-of-user-choice-and-provider-competition-in-care-markets/
http://www.cresc.ac.uk/news-and-events/headline-443494-en.htm
https://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/publication_823.html
http://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/library/july-2013/file104/
http://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/library/july-2013/file104/


The impact on social care providers 26

Social care for older people

41 2 5 73 6 8

These developments are leading to the polarisation of the market, with some 
providers in generally less affluent areas with low levels of self-funding very reliant 
on inadequate local authority fee levels. In contrast, in affluent areas with higher 
levels of self-funders the market is relatively bouyant. This is being reinforced by 
new scheme developments concentrating on the private market rather than local 
authority-funded residents (Laing 2015). 

Financial pressures on providers of care in people’s own homes (also known as 
domiciliary care) are also intense, with clear signs that a tipping point has been 
reached in a fragmented market. The minimum sustainable price for home care is 
estimated at £16.70 per hour, with one survey showing that last year just 14 per cent 
of local authorities paid the minimum price (United Kingdom Home Care Association 

2015a, b). Two of the largest national home care providers have already left the 
publicly funded market and two others have posted operating losses in the past year 
(LaingBuisson 2016). In the past 16 months, home care providers have handed back 
contracts in 59 local authority areas, and in another 48 areas at least one home care 
provider has ceased trading (Association of Directors of Adult Social Services 2016).

The local picture: what we learned from our case studies

Although the landscape of social care providers looks different in different areas, our 
interviewees from residential, domiciliary and third sector care providers described 
how a combination of fee pressures and rising costs was creating a ‘perfect storm’, 
with implications for workforce, the shape of the provider market and the quality of 
care for older people. 

Fee levels 

The local authorities we interviewed were candid about how they had used fee 
reductions to providers as a key strategy to make the savings needed each year:

We made savings on hammering down provider prices, so we didn’t pass on any 
inflation for five years. If I look back over five years, holding price, provider prices 
down, was quite a strong part of our overall savings.
(Local authority)

http://www.ukhca.co.uk/rates/
http://www.ukhca.co.uk/rates/
http://www.ukhca.co.uk/rates/
http://www.adass.org.uk/budget-survey-2016


The impact on social care providers 27

Social care for older people

41 2 5 73 6 8

Sometimes these reductions were made as part of retendering contracts at lower 
fee rates. In one local authority, this had reduced the number of providers in the 
market, in this case home care, when the providers found they were unable to 
continue offering services on such low prices: 

We did a tender about five years ago, we took considerable costs out of the market, 
again… We’d wanted eight providers across the borough, but we lost two, in quite 
quick succession, because the business model that they’d built their tenders on 
wasn’t sustainable. So, and we’re still unpicking from that, really, we’re down to 
four providers.
(Local authority)

There was a common theme from interviews with both providers and local 
authorities that this process of reducing fees had reached its limits; in some cases, 
local authorities were starting to increase the amount paid:

I think it’s clear that we can’t strip any more costs out of the care providers.
(Local authority)

But in the view of many of the providers we spoke to, even small increases were not 
now going to be enough to offset rising costs:

All the fees that are being announced now for, I’ll get my years right, 16/17, 
we’ve had as low as 0.2 per cent and the highest one we’ve had so far is 4 per 
cent. So is that going to cover the costs? No, there’s real-world cuts happening, 
and unfortunately, where we stand, and I’m not saying as a provider, it’s as an 
industry, it’s a question of last man standing.
(Social care provider)

Care home providers expressed frustration with local authorities when it came 
to estimating the true costs of providing care. In one case study site, providers 
reported that the local authority had based its costs on the assumption that homes 
had 100 per cent occupancy, which they felt was unrealistic. In another, there was 
frustration that the council had spent money on external consultants to estimate 
costs, when in reality they knew what the real costs were: 



The impact on social care providers 28

Social care for older people

41 2 5 73 6 8

I mean, how many times do I have to submit those cost of care calculations? We 
know what the cost of care is. If all these councils and the amount of millions they 
have spent, on trying to calculate fees, to fit their model, you know. They’re just 
opinion shopping. I mean, we know that the cost of care is probably over £600 [a 
week]. If they can’t afford that, let’s recognise it and say, going forward, you know, 
this is what we expect. 
(Social care provider)

There was equal frustration from our interviews with providers of home care, where 
prices had also been driven down. In one case study area, this had had a direct 
impact on their ability to retain staff, particularly because a neighbouring council 
was prepared to pay a higher hourly rate: 

So the situation now across the board really with the exception of [council X] is 
reaching the untenable stage because it is now proving to be almost impossible to 
find the staff who are willing to work for the low pay which is made available by 
the councils.
(Home care provider) 

In some areas, a trend towards increased transparency was emerging between 
commissioners and providers as financial pressures intensified. Two social care 
providers in one area spoke about how they had spent time with the local authority 
explaining their costs in detail as a way of justifying their fees. One of these 
providers explained that it was important to try to show that the organisation was 
not trying to make a profit in the way that others perceived private providers to do. 
Conversely, two providers in one area said that the transparency and ‘frankness’ 
shown by the local authority had worked in its favour and facilitated positive 
working relationships (social care provider).

The National Living Wage

All providers also mentioned the impact of the National Living Wage. Across the 
board, it was welcomed, but was also met with scepticism about its reach and 
worry about its affordability. One social care provider outlined that the costs for 
their organisation were going to be higher than originally modelled because they 



The impact on social care providers 29

Social care for older people

41 2 5 73 6 8

were planning to apply the wage increase to all ages, to make it ‘fair’. The cost of 
maintaining pay differentials was also stated as another resulting cost.

For home care providers, this worry was particularly amplified, given that a bigger 
proportion of their costs are made up by wages. One local authority commissioner 
described the potential worry for an already stretched home care market in his area: 

I think in home care, it’s not just National Minimum Wage, it’s the rulings on 
paying travel time or sleep or pensions, there’s all sorts of stuff, isn’t there, that 
are combined together. I mean, they weren’t making big margins anyway, the 
providers, I did quite a lot of work on it, so our worry is that we’ll see; already 
we’ve had local providers who have sold up and said ‘It’s not worth doing 
any longer’.
(Local authority)

Despite these challenges, the National Living Wage was seen as a positive step 
in trying to improve the perception of care work as a rewarding career and was 
supported, in principle, by many of the interviewees. However, one interviewee 
pointed out, it did not solve the provider market’s competition for staff with the 
retail sector. 

Workforce

A theme common across our interviews in residential, nursing care and care in 
the home was the increasing difficulty in recruiting and retaining both care staff 
and nurses. Interviewees described intense competition with the retail and service 
industries as well as the NHS: 

It’s an incredibly difficult job, difficult profession, which doesn’t pay very well, 
where you’re being asked to do more and more on less ratios that will become 
less appealing.
(Social care provider)

Two providers discussed their reliance on migrant workers, but emphasised that they 
needed to be mindful of the needs of these workers if they wanted to retain them:



The impact on social care providers 30

Social care for older people

41 2 5 73 6 8

Bring in folk from Eastern Europe, but be clear about their ability to speak English 
and invest management time and resources into doing the cultural transition for 
those folk: it’s a pretty, literally, foreign workplace for them. 
(Social care provider)

A number of interviewees described real difficulty in recruiting and retaining nurses 
both in the context of the declining numbers of nurses, competition with the NHS 
and the lack of clear career paths in social care. Where competition from the NHS is 
strong, care homes are finding themselves having to pay more, under pressure from 
potential staff aware of the alternatives: 

Two years ago, I was probably paying nurses £13–£14, now I’m paying up to 
£20… I now get nurses who say ‘I’ll only work for £17’ and I think ‘Who is 
interviewing who here?’. 
(Social care provider)

In two of our fieldwork sites, interviewees suggested that in order to survive some 
providers were employing people on a ‘cash-in-hand’ basis; they hinted that many 
may be working without proper documentation and/or being paid less than the 
minimum wage. One provider was frank:

I expect there are quite a few who pay cash in hand and below the minimum 
wage… I get people knocking on my door looking for a job cash in hand.
(Social care provider)

This would be consistent with evidence of a wider problem of non-compliance with 
the National Minimum Wage in the social care sector (HM Revenue and Customs 2013).

Older people with more complex needs

Similarly, all sites reported an intensification of need in their client group, across the 
voluntary sector, domiciliary, residential and nursing care. For providers of nursing 
and residential homes, this was often seen as a result of the success of the policy 
agenda of keeping people at home longer. Although interviewees were split about 
the merits of this approach (some thought older people with care needs were often 

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-minimum-wage-compliance-in-the-social-care-sector


The impact on social care providers 31

Social care for older people

41 2 5 73 6 8

staying in their own home too long), they all agreed that the average complexity of 
need had intensified: 

We’ve seen an increase in dependency levels… There has been a huge government 
push for people to be cared for as long as they can in their own homes and this is 
the consequence of the success of that policy. 
(Social care provider)

Another interviewee suggested that care workers were often being asked to carry 
out clinical tasks, or tasks which may have traditionally been carried out by a 
community nurse. Examples include stoma care or dressings. Care home providers 
also illustrated this intensification, describing a pressure from local authorities to 
accept inappropriate placements, putting people with dementia into residential care: 

You end up having to move them because they’re wrongly placed. The council are 
saying, ‘Put them in a residential bed until they can’t cope, then we’ll move them’.
(Social care provider)

The same care home provider explained how far the situation had to deteriorate 
before additional payment was forthcoming to meet the older person’s needs:

In order for you to get the dementia payment, the person has to be beating 
somebody up, or violent towards the staff, they have to be wrecking the home.
(Social care provider)

For providers of home care, the combination of low fees from local authorities, 
workforce shortages and the greater needs of older people was described as 
extremely challenging, putting enormous pressure on the remaining workforce. 
An example was given by a home care provider of what happens when meeting 
the complex needs of a person (needing two carers and described as ‘particularly 
difficult’ by the provider) exceed the time being paid for by the council for a 
morning visit: 

We’ve not been able to do it for less than an hour and a half and because the 
council are yet to approve the extra time, the carer is now refusing to go back and 
we’re literally almost out of carers, our supervisor had to go at 7am this morning 



The impact on social care providers 32

Social care for older people

41 2 5 73 6 8

because we couldn’t find a carer to go to do the other half of the ‘double up’. So the 
complex needs is certainly something which is very apparent. 
(Social care provider)

Quality

The challenge of maintaining quality under these pressures was a strong thread 
running through all the interviews with providers, local authorities and the NHS. 
The CQC’s role as regulator of quality was seen as powerful: examples were given 
of care homes that had closed as a result of not being able to meeting the minimum 
standards of care – ‘the expectations of the standards, quite rightly, is going up’ 
(NHS provider).

Many social care providers felt ambivalent about the role of the CQC and, 
unsurprisingly, there were negative views about the style and content of the 
inspections. The social care providers we interviewed recognised that the funding 
pressures were having an impact on quality. In one site, social care providers were 
sceptical that high-quality care could be provided on the fees that the local authority 
was prepared to pay: 

I just don’t understand how you can provide CQC compliant care for £400 and… 
I don’t know how they do it and I suppose I don’t want to know how they cover it 
up that they don’t do it and unless you’ve got a really hot CQC inspector in there 
asking the right questions and looking in the right ways… 
(Social care provider)

Interviewees mentioned that savings could be made by not investing in new 
furniture, or requiring staff to buy their own gloves and aprons. Concerns were 
mentioned by several participants about the quality of training being offered by 
social care providers and about the ratio of staff to residents. Inappropriate referrals 
could also have an impact on the balance of staff to older people in care homes. 

What happens is CCGs, local authorities and the hospitals are under pressure and 
when everyone is pushed out of hospital you are under pressure to fill the beds. 
What happens then is you get a frail resident next to a dementia nursing patient 
and it upsets the whole balance of care. 
(Social care provider)



The impact on social care providers 33

Social care for older people

41 2 5 73 6 8

Overall, where providers were under financial pressure, the view was that quality 
was going to be harder to maintain: 

I think ultimately quality has to suffer. There is no maliciousness to it, most people 
working in care do it to the best of their ability. I think people came into it for the 
right reasons. But we’re at the back of the bus queue when it comes to recruitment. 
If all the good young staff are going to Sainsbury’s where you get £8.50 an hour, 
what is left for us when we pay the minimum wage and have to operate on a 
casual basis doing really difficult work?
(Social care provider)

Market developments

An interesting aspect of our interviews was the impact of fee reductions on 
providers’ business strategy. Although participants did not agree on how exactly 
providers should respond to the operating environment, many providers discussed 
a change in their business models and described a shift (where possible) to offering 
more services to self-funders and the NHS (acute trusts and CCGs) as well as 
local authorities. 

Care homes described making renewed offers to CCGs and acute trusts to assist 
with admission and delayed transfer of care pressures. They often saw themselves 
as offering a less intense environment than an acute inpatient ward, which could 
replace a shrinking NHS intermediate care offer, essentially acting as additional 
NHS capacity for older people. This contribution was typical:

If you’ve got someone going into hospital, it has a great impact on the hospital; it’s 
easily managed within a care home because you’ve got the right person in there to 
support you. But then, what you need to do is up-skill all the rest of your staff and 
it’s something that we’re starting to look at: the business of starting around having 
a more senior carer role that then picks up – I suppose you could say – the bottom 
end of that nursing role.
(Social care provider)

Another way in which both care homes and home care agencies discussed changing 
their business model was shifting towards one that relies on self-funders. One of our 
local authority interviewees, in an area with more prosperity and more self-funders, 



The impact on social care providers 34

Social care for older people

41 2 5 73 6 8

described the impact this was having: the income from self-funders was being used 
to subsidise local authority-funded users, leading some providers to abandon local 
authority-funded people altogether: 

… unquestionably, there’s cross-subsidisation in those homes that will do business 
with us. They afford our rates by what they charge self-funders. But, increasingly 
there are homes that, actually, don’t need to, don’t want to do business, again, 
particularly in the more affluent parts of the county. 
(Local authority)

What this meant for the older people who were supported by the local authority 
in the wealthier areas was less choice, and the prospect of being placed in homes 
at some distance across the county, which was large. Choice could also be reduced 
by the decision of social care providers to close down their businesses altogether. 
The combination of higher standards being driven by the CQC and the challenges 
of finding staff had led to care home providers deciding to quit in parts of the same 
local authority area, leaving the local NHS hospital with a reduced number of homes 
to discharge people into:

And a number of care home owners have said, ‘I can’t recruit. It’s getting harder 
and harder to maintain registration at the levels that I would want to in a safe and 
financially viable way. So, do you know what? I’ll sell my massive, big, Victorian 
house overlooking the sea and turn it into flats and make an absolute killing.’ 
It’s not a difficult decision for someone to make and that’s what they’ve done.
(NHS provider)

Another local authority in an area with plenty of self-funders described how 
nursing care providers were now in a strong negotiating position because they 
had alternatives to local authority funding. This had resulted in the local authority 
having to pay more for nursing home places. The interviewee understood why 
providers were shifting to a model built on self-funding but realised that this option 
was not available to providers elsewhere:

In our bit of [city] there’s a very buoyant, self-paid market, so providers are on a 
strategy of just saying: ‘We can just shift more and more towards self-pay and just 
get rid of these miserable local authorities who don’t pay us enough.’
(Local authority)



The impact on social care providers 35

Social care for older people

41 2 5 73 6 8

A large care provider in the same area described how it was working to diversify its 
income streams, including investing in specialist rehabilitation care, as well as self-
funders. This provider recognised that the instability in the provider market would 
eventually shift the balance of power, through a process of survival of the fittest, as 
providers both small and large dropped out:

I think what will happen is you will see a huge amount of ‘ma and pa’ type 
facilities going out, you’ll see a number of corporates falling over, and actually 
the only thing that will change the dynamic will be less places available, and at 
that point those that have got through the difficult times will have leverage and 
actually say, ‘We’re not having £600 a week, it’s now £800’. 
(Social care provider)

This social care provider had calculated that it would be impossible to survive 
without at least 25 to 33 per cent of fees coming from self-funders to cross-subsidise 
the business as a whole. This level of cross-subsidy brought with it some ethical 
dilemmas, in the view of the provider in question, who felt uneasy raising  
self-funder fees at well above the rate of inflation: 

We try and justify it, that unfortunately it’s government legislation; however, 
on the softer side, you get a paper, WiFi and some flowers every now and then, 
ultimately it’s the same service. I think what’s becoming increasingly difficult is 
in many instances I’m the one stood up at the front in residents and relatives 
meetings and people are asking me to justify and people are saying, ‘Can I have  
a breakdown of my fees?’. It’s an unanswerable question, what do we say?
(Social care provider)

What was clear from our case study sites was that the decision to focus on self-
funders was driven by the affluence (or lack of it) at a local level, and these sorts of 
strategies were very unevenly distributed. 

In one of the case study sites with much lower levels of personal wealth, the 
problems for the provider sector were more apparent. The home care market was 
described by the local authority as having ‘fallen over’:



The impact on social care providers 36

Social care for older people

41 2 5 73 6 8

The number of providers in the market has reduced, except for some of the bigger 
ones. And the bigger ones are, some of them, are considering whether to stay in 
the market, [these are] some of the messages we’re getting. 
(Local authority)

For residential and nursing care in our case study areas with more dependence 
on local authority fees and fewer self-funders, social care providers described 
the situation as heading for a crisis, with five or six homes in the area having 
already closed: 

And I think it’s quite a tragedy, really, that we all know that’s going to happen,  
it feels like we’re heading to that brick wall. And it almost feels like there needs  
to be a wall to collapse, in order to get some government action.
(Social care provider)

A provider in a local authority-dominated market confirmed this view:

Most of our residents are publicly funded, there aren’t many top-ups. So you know, 
you can’t expect all the bells and whistles. We have to operate very economically 
here. That is the reality.
(Social care provider)

In this case study site, also heavily dependent on local authority-funded business, 
survival often hinged on whether the care home was willing to charge a ‘top-up’ 
above the local authority rate:

So those homes have really struggled, especially if they’ve been homes that have 
never requested or been able to get a third party top-up as well, they’re really 
struggling and those have been the homes who have got into trouble really if  
I’m honest.
(Social care provider)

An NHS provider described how providers would try to maximise top-ups when a 
patient was ready to be discharged. In two of our sites, the local authority admitted 
it was aware that because it seeks out the lowest price, it means providers not only 
rely on cross-subsidisation to stay profitable, but maximise the amount they can 
make from top-up fees, often in an arbitrary way. 



The impact on social care providers 37

Social care for older people

41 2 5 73 6 8

One home care operator, however, suggested that providing for (or deliberately 
reorienting towards) only private payers could be counterproductive, and would 
result in no access to local authority markets and problems when people  
‘run out of money’. 

Reflecting the national data, all areas described the emergence of a ‘two-tier’ system 
as a result of the change in business strategy: one for those who can afford to pay for 
their own care, and one for those who rely on local authority-arranged care. 

As a result of a reduction in public sector funding, interviewees felt that the social 
care provider market was likely to undergo a number of changes over the next five 
years. One interviewee predicted a ‘large-scale collapse’ of the market, particularly 
affecting small providers in old stock that are unable to make the investments 
needed to sustain their buildings (care home provider), and that, without an 
increase in local authority rates, providers would be without an ‘adequate incentive’ 
to continue their businesses. As a care home provider in a different area put it:

If all I could take was local authority we’d be bankrupt, yeah, we wouldn’t survive.
(Social care provider)

Another interviewee agreed that the number of small providers would be reduced, 
alongside the possible failure of a number of large corporate providers. The 
suggestion was that there are some large providers, with ‘deep pockets’, taking a 
longer-term view about investing in this market (that is, waiting and strengthening 
their market share) that are therefore subsidising their activity in the social care 
market with other parts of their business (social care provider). 

Voluntary and community sector

Interviewees from the voluntary and community sector also spoke about the 
pressures created by local authority cuts. At the same time, they recognised that 
their services were more in demand than ever, and that their role in any ‘asset-based’ 
vision of care was a crucial one.

In some areas, voluntary sector organisations had come together to work 
collaboratively, often in response to local authorities wanting to streamline 
and simplify their contracts. Several participants discussed how voluntary and 



The impact on social care providers 38

Social care for older people

41 2 5 73 6 8

community sector organisations were coming together across local authorities to 
consolidate services, and look for grant funding at a national level. Others talked 
of diversifying income and fundraising streams, looking harder at national grants 
and charging. A few also talked about reorienting towards the NHS, which was 
perceived as having deeper pockets, offering preventive services and rapid response 
discharge assistance.

There was no doubt that the recent years have been painful, however. A common 
theme from the voluntary and community sector interviews was the determination 
to continue services even when contracts with the local authority had been curtailed: 

We fund our own information and advice services now, having not successfully 
gained a tender. We fund it through our trading programme, through our own 
resources, and a couple of small grants, and we just find the demand is growing 
and growing. Because of the complexity of the system, and older people, and their 
families and their carers, the complication of being able to access the services 
which they have an entitlement to.
(Voluntary and community sector provider)

Where the voluntary sector delivered services to older people directly, reductions 
in local authority grants were particularly difficult to manage, especially if the 
voluntary and community sector provider did not want to introduce payments.  
In one case study, a provider described the experience of negotiating with its  
cash-strapped local authority:

We spent a long time putting a case forward to say we couldn’t, because we’re 
delivering services, we literally pay staff to go out and deliver services so what do 
you want anyone to do, if I deliver less hours I’ve got to keep the same number of 
staff on, I can’t just sack the staff or pay them a lower salary, so I can’t give them 
less, so I’m just delivering less hours which means our unit costs are going up…  
So they listened to that, came back and said, ‘We don’t care’. 
(Voluntary and community sector provider)

Voluntary sector organisations were also looking to the NHS for funding, but in 
two case study areas voluntary and community sector providers observed that NHS 
funding could be even more short term, often funding pilots with no commitment 



The impact on social care providers 39

Social care for older people

41 2 5 73 6 8

to continue funding. A number of interviewees felt that the public sector tended to 
assume that volunteers were cost free: ‘They aren’t free… they need training, support 
and supervision’ (voluntary and community sector provider).

Descriptions of providers’ relationships with CCGs echoed this sentiment. In one 
area, a voluntary and community sector provider described the CCG as ‘faceless’, 
stating that its approach is similar ‘whether you’re buying bins or lightbulbs, 
or people’s services. It’s really worrying’. Another provider commented on the 
difficulties of working across multiple CCGs, each with varying priorities; in a 
different area, a voluntary and community sector provider described the CCG as 
being indecisive even in the face of contracts that were near their end and, therefore, 
involved possible staff redundancies. However, one voluntary and community sector 
organisation explained that the local CCG was more open than the local authority to 
exploring new models of care and other provider innovation, because the latter had 
severe internal capacity issues.

There were a number of examples of how voluntary sector organisations worked 
hard to maximise their income, from renting out office space in buildings that they 
owned to more familiar charitable activities such as raffles and generating income 
from their shops. One common theme was the need to charge users for services 
that might once have been free, for example a small charge for cutting toenails, 
which was set significantly below what it would cost for an older person to buy 
it privately.

Other organisations had bitten the bullet and introduced charging for their core 
services. One example was a day centre that had lost its funding: 

Our strategy is about selling services and people paying for them themselves on 
a full cost recovery basis. With effect from the 1st of April the people coming in 
downstairs pay £20 for half a day, £40 for a full day for day care.
(Voluntary and community sector provider)

But despite this perception of relative resilience in the sector, a few interviewees 
discussed the loss of a number of smaller organisations that had struggled to recruit 
good trustees or to adapt to a more flexible way of working which might ask service 
users to contribute more by way of volunteering and charging for services. 



The impact on social care providers 40

Social care for older people

41 2 5 73 6 8

Governance has been a vital part of our ability to adapt in this environment. 
Without it and without flexible trustees and leadership, we may have been in a 
much more difficult situation. 
(Voluntary and community sector provider)

Voluntary and community sector organisations were felt to be facing threats to their 
sustainability similar to those experienced by commercial providers: 

A lot of good charities have been lost and will continue to be lost. And once you 
lose those, they never come back.
(Voluntary and community sector provider)



The impact on older people, their families and carers 41

Social care for older people

51 42 73 6 8

5  The impact on older 
people, their families  
and carers

The national picture: what do we know?

Access to care and unmet need

As we have seen, the most striking feature of social care for older people is the 
dramatic reduction of at least 26 per cent in the numbers of people receiving 
publicly funded services over the past five years. Some of this reduction may reflect 
positive developments that have reduced the need for care and other approaches 
based on promoting independence and alternative community support (Bolton 

2016a). But the fact that there is an increasing number of older people with multiple 
health conditions and more acute levels of need suggests that more older people 
should be getting social care, not fewer. It should be noted also that access to care 
had been tightened considerably over the past decade, so that by 2010 90 per cent of 
local authorities were limiting help only to those with ‘substantial’ or ‘critical’ needs 
(Fernandez et al 2013).

Although defining, let alone measuring, the extent of unmet need is fraught with 
difficulty, by 2011 there was already strong evidence of significant levels of unmet 
need among older people (Vlachantoni et al 2011). A more recent assessment of 
official statistics and the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing for Age UK indicates 
that unmet need has grown. More than a million people who have difficulties with 
the basic activities of daily living, such as getting out of bed, washing and dressing, 
now receive no formal or informal help at all. That is an increase of 100,000 in one 
year alone (Marmot et al 2015). 

The Care Act 2014 introduced a new requirement on local authorities to consider 
how they can identify unmet needs (Department of Health 2016b). Monitoring 

https://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/Predicting_and_managing_demand.html
https://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/Predicting_and_managing_demand.html
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20160105160709/http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/population-trends-rd/population-trends/no--145--autumn-2011/index.html
http://dx.doi.org/10.5255/UKDA-SN-5050-10
http://www.gov.uk/guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance


The impact on older people, their families and carers 42

Social care for older people

51 42 73 6 8

arrangements are in place in 34 per cent of local authorities and in development in a 
further 31 per cent (Association of Directors of Adult Social Services 2016). As yet we do 
not have a clear and comprehensive national picture of what happens to people who 
are not eligible for publicly funded social care – those who are ‘lost to the system’ 
(Henwood and Hudson 2008).

Even if older people have needs that are high enough to be eligible for publicly 
funded care, they may have to pay for some or all of it themselves if they have 
resources that exceed £23,250. Some 41 per cent of care home funding is met by 
individuals from their own private resources and a further 12 per cent from ‘third 
parties’, usually relatives who top up the fees paid by local authorities in order to 
secure higher standards of accommodation (Laing 2015). The extent to which 
people pay for care in their own homes is much less understood but one estimate 
suggests it amounts to around £1 billion of private expenditure (LaingBuisson 
2016). Some will be using their own resources to pay for care without necessarily 
getting good advice or information (Institute of Public Care 2012). A further source 
of confusion and inequity for older people is the continuing division between 
health care free at the point of use and means-tested social care, exemplified by the 
continuing health care assessment process. Older people are not well served by our 
complex and fragmented health and social care system that is difficult to understand 
and navigate (Commission on the Future of Health and Social Care in England 2014; 
Independent Age 2016).

Quality and experience of care

For those older people who get publicly funded social care, 90 per cent are satisfied 
with the care and support they receive, slightly higher than working-age people at 
86 per cent. Only 4 per cent were dissatisfied (Health and Social Care Information Centre 

2015d). Changes to the methodology of the national social care user survey means 
it is no longer possible to compare current satisfaction levels with those of previous 
years. But considering the 2014/15 survey took place in the fourth consecutive 
year of real-term cuts in local authority social care budgets, it is interesting that 
satisfaction levels have stood up so well, emphasising that the survey does not 
capture the experience of people who fall outside the publicly funded system. This 
contrasts with rising levels of complaints to the ombudsman about adult social 
care – up by 18 per cent since 2013; 55 per cent of claims were upheld. In 2014/15, 

http://www.adass.org.uk/budget-survey-2016
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20061016092221/http://www.csci.org.uk/default.aspx?page=2355&key=
http://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/index.php?absid=646
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/new-settlement-health-and-social-care
http://www.independentage.org/policy-research/research-reports/information-and-advice-since-care-act-how-are-councils-performing
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB18642
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB18642


The impact on older people, their families and carers 43

Social care for older people

51 42 73 6 8

complaints about home care rose by 29 per cent (Local Government Ombudsman 2016). 
That a high proportion of these – 67 per cent – were upheld by the ombudsman is 
consistent with the concerns about the state of home care that have emerged from 
our research. The upward trend in complaints suggests that councils are finding it 
harder to meet people’s needs and expectations 

Another window into quality is the outcomes of inspections by the regulator. 
Changes in inspection regimes and standards make it hard to assess changes over 
the past five years, with a new approach introduced from 2014. Based on inspection 
up to May 2015, care in 1 per cent of locations was judged to be outstanding, in 
59 per cent it was good, 33 per cent required improvement and 7 per cent were 
judged to be inadequate (Care Quality Commission 2015). By 4 April 2016, this had 
changed to 1 per cent, 67 per cent, 29 per cent and 3 per cent respectively (Care 

Quality Commission 2016b). In part, this reflects the prioritisation by the CQC of 
higher-risk locations for inspection; the overall picture is likely to improve further 
as more lower-risk locations are inspected.

There are differences between services, with nursing homes less likely to offer good 
care. Smaller homes of all kinds provide better care than larger ones. Just under half 
(46 per cent) of nursing homes inspected up to 31 May 2015 were rated good or 
outstanding and 10 per cent were rated inadequate. Home care, residential homes 
and community social care (which includes Shared Lives schemes) were rated as 
being good or outstanding (68 per cent, 65 per cent and 68 per cent respectively).

This does not suggest that there has been a collapse in the quality of care as a 
result of spending reductions but, as discussed earlier, our case studies indicate 
that providers are finding it harder to maintain standards. The CQC has warned 
that the impact of budget pressures and expectations created by the Care Act 2014 
is likely to have significant implications for the ability of providers to improve or 
maintain their quality of care while trying to maintain financial viability (Care Quality 

Commission 2015).

http://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2016/jul/ombudsman-upholding-more-complaints-about-local-government
http://www.cqc.org.uk/content/state-of-care
http://www.cqc.org.uk/content/care-quality-commission-board-meeting-20-april-2016
http://www.cqc.org.uk/content/care-quality-commission-board-meeting-20-april-2016
http://www.cqc.org.uk/content/state-of-care
http://www.cqc.org.uk/content/state-of-care


The impact on older people, their families and carers 44

Social care for older people

51 42 73 6 8

The role of carers

The social care system is heavily reliant on unpaid informal carers, usually family 
members, whose numbers exceed the paid social care workforce by around two to 
one. There has been an increase in the number of unpaid carers, who have risen 
from 16.6 per cent of the population in 2011, peaking at 18.9 per cent in 2013, 
before falling slightly to 17.6 per cent by 2014. In 2014, 30.6 per cent of people 
providing care did so for 20 or more hours a week. Many older people are carers 
themselves (Mortimer and Green 2016). 

The Care Act 2014 offers important new rights for carers, including taking into 
consideration the carer’s health and wellbeing; their family relationships and the 
need to balance their home life with their education or work; their entitlement 
to support from their local authority, if eligible; and provision of advice and 
information to prevent their needs from getting worse. A year on, the potential 
benefits of the legislation appear to be outweighed by pressures in social care and 
changes in the benefits system. A recent assessment by the Carers Trust (2016) 
concluded that the Care Act had made ‘little or no difference’ to many carers. 

In another survey of more than 6,000 carers, one in three carers (34 per cent) 
reported a change in the amount of care and support services they or the person 
they care for receive. Of these, more than half (59 per cent) saw a reduction in care 
and support services due to cost or availability; this includes 13 per cent who said a 
service was closed with no replacement offered (Carers UK 2016). 

The annual national survey of more than 131,000 adult carers reveals much lower 
levels of satisfaction than expressed by older people who receive social care – 74 per 
cent of carers were satisfied with the support and services they received (3 per cent 
lower than the year before), compared with 90 per cent among older people. Some 
38 per cent of carers reported that they spend 100 hours or more a week looking 
after or helping the person they care for, up from 36 per cent in 2012/13 (Health 

and Social Care Information Centre 2015d). Demographic projections suggest that the 
availability of intensive unpaid care to older people by their children is unlikely to 
keep pace with demand in future years (Pickard 2015).

http://www.ageuk.org.uk/professional-resources-home/research/reports/care-and-support/the-health-and-care-of-older-people-in-england-2015/
https://carers.org/care-act-carers-one-year-commission
http://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/state-of-caring-2016
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB18642
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB18642


The impact on older people, their families and carers 45

Social care for older people

51 42 73 6 8

The local picture: what we learned from our case studies 

One of the main questions behind this research project was whether the reductions 
in services to older adults have had a negative impact on older people and their 
carers. This includes: people who might have received services of any sort when 
funding was more generous and who are now directed elsewhere, and those who 
still receive services but who might have fewer hours or experience a lower quality 
of service as fees have been reduced to providers. This section contains the views 
of the NHS, local authority officials, the voluntary and community sector and 
Healthwatch on what is happening to users. We present the experiences of users 
themselves in the boxes.

The local authority perspective

All the local authority staff we interviewed emphasised how savings had been 
designed with the aim of not harming service users and carers. All conceptualised 
their role as targeting scarce resources to support people with the highest and most 
complex needs, and all were confident that the savings they had implemented had 
not led directly to unmet need or harm among older people. The local authority 
officers backed up their views with reference to an array of sources, including 
hard data (from public health or user surveys) or soft data from the voluntary 
sector, Healthwatch, centres for independent living, elected council members and 
consultation exercises led by local government. One local authority felt that its close 
working arrangements with GPs, community nurses and locality social workers 
meant that it would know if someone had slipped through the net:

… because they just tell each other who they are worried about and get on with 
it, and I don’t think, you know, they work so closely with GPs, I think that if there 
was somebody there who needed, we’d know.
(Local authority)

Another local authority put it more precisely: there was ‘not an unmet, eligible need’. 
However, the same interviewees thought that some people who had had their care 
packages reduced were not happy. They cited an example brought to them by one of 



The impact on older people, their families and carers 46

Social care for older people

51 42 73 6 8

their elected members who had been knocking on doors, and who had reported to 
them an example of a reduced care package that meant the user had had to pay for 
her own cleaner: 

… they would interpret that as a decrease in quality, wouldn’t they… I think we 
would say it’s not an unmet eligible need. Of course, everyone’s got needs, but we 
don’t have the money to meet all needs, we just meet eligible needs in a very, very 
targeted way.
(Local authority)

A common theme across all the local authority interviews was that people with 
lower-level needs were not simply being turned away from services, but redirected 
towards other sources of support, such as voluntary organisations in the community. 
But it was striking that there were no obvious sources of information about what 
was happening to those no longer eligible for statutory services: ‘We just don’t 
have the resources to do follow-up studies on everyone that we signposted away’. 
Local authorities were relying instead on soft data from the voluntary sector 
and Healthwatch. 

For those still eligible to receive social care from local authorities, the view from 
local authority interviewees was that continuing high levels of satisfaction recorded 
in user surveys suggested that the quality of care was holding up. But there was an 
awareness that recruitment and retention problems, coupled with the retendering 
of home care contracts, may have disrupted continuity between older people 
and carers.



The impact on older people, their families and carers 47

Social care for older people

51 42 73 6 8

The view from outside local authorities

There was less confidence about the impact on people among interviewees who 
worked outside the local authorities. When asked whether the system could still 
completely miss people with high levels of need, a social care provider reported 
that they got calls ‘every now and again’ to assess people in their own homes and 
sometimes found people living in ‘appalling’ conditions. In the same area, an 
interviewee from the voluntary sector claimed that there had been a significant 
increase in the numbers of people being found dead in their own homes, but did not 
attribute this directly to a reduction in services. A social care provider in another 
authority felt that the safety net worked well nearly all of the time, and that complete 
failures were rare. 

The experience of an unstable home care market: Robert’s story

I had different care workers nearly every day. Sometimes they didn’t even… I mean, one day 

I was going to the hospital on the hospital patient transport and I had to be ready at nine 

o’clock and half past eight they hadn’t even turned up. And they sent up a manager who 

just hadn’t got a clue. They changed their names four times while I was with them. 

And anyway, it then changed… the new firm were just impossible to deal with. The 

management changed every three, six months and… And the, pardon me, the field care 

supervisors were, well, I was going to say a jobsworth, they just couldn’t care less, that 

was their attitude, because their jobs, I think, were on the line anyway and then all of a 

sudden, without any warning, they decided they wouldn’t deal with disabled people. So 

they sent us back to the council, yeah, social services. They then moved me to [another] 

firm… I thought, great, the manageress was a very nice person, and she’d had her own care 

company, but she was having difficulty getting staff, so she sold her business… Now, she 

was very nice, a very nice person, but unfortunately, she started in the July or August, was 

it, something like that and then in the October she’d gone. Well then one Sunday morning 

I had a visit, the… they call them CEOs, from [the new firm] and he brought with him a, 

I suppose, yes, area manager and he stood in the bedroom and he said to me, I couldn’t 

believe it, he said, ‘Mr […], you’re not cost effective’. So I looked, I said, ‘what do you mean?’ 

He said, ‘no, you’re not cost effective’, but I’m standing here doing nothing and I thought, 

well, my God, you are the chief executive, you should be leading by example. Within a week 

of him saying that, chop, out. That was 2013, [20]14. 



The impact on older people, their families and carers 48

Social care for older people

51 42 73 6 8

In both cases, the source of the information was anecdotal and it was anecdotal 
evidence that was put forward in our interviews with members of Healthwatch 
and voluntary and community sector organisations across the case study sites. The 
following examples come from a focus group of voluntary sector providers in one 
local authority. It is striking that the shortcomings in care relate to both social care 
and health services.

I’ve got a man with dementia that’s not eating or anything without being 
prompted. But that’s not seen as a need. He can look after himself because he 
can make a sandwich. It doesn’t matter that he doesn’t want to make himself a 
sandwich and eat. And he will just sit there and starve. But he has got a daughter, 
but they have quite a strained relationship. So that’s happened with a lot of them.  

There was a gentleman that had prostate cancer and he’s been out of hospital for 
four months. But we’re still waiting for the incontinence team to work with him. 
But he’s been incontinent since coming out of hospital from his operation. 

We’ve got a woman in sheltered housing and she’s set the flat on fire three times 
in the last three weeks. And there’s no managers there or anything if there’s an 
incident. Just the telecare. 

The absence of hard data on the impact of budget cuts was a concern for 
Healthwatch interviewees in all four case study sites. One Healthwatch organisation 
had conducted a consultation with service users to influence the local authority’s 
decision-making on whether to raise Council Tax – ‘it was actually talking to real 
people’, which included views from a group of older people: ‘… and one of them 
said, “I’ll just start practising to eat less from now”. It’s that sort of stuff ’. Healthwatch 
planned to go back and follow up to generate ‘evidence’. A Healthwatch officer in 
another authority was less confident about their ability to really understand what 
was happening in relation to older people in their homes, where more and more 
care is being delivered, because they have no right of entry. The third Healthwatch 
organisation felt that they had not had a particularly strong focus on adult social 
care, partly because the failing NHS trust had generated more pressing issues 
for patients. Their attempts to locate social care users had included outreach to 
supermarkets, market stalls, GP surgeries, community centres and outpatient 
departments, with limited success: 



The impact on older people, their families and carers 49

Social care for older people

51 42 73 6 8

… although we’ve done quite a lot of outreach in areas where we would expect 
people to be in receipt of adult social care or to be a relative of somebody in receipt 
of adult social care, we get almost no feedback about it from people.
(Healthwatch)

It was widely suggested that the next five years were unlikely to bring a solution to 
the funding pressures facing the health and social care system. The consequence of 
this for users was felt by some to be extremely serious: ‘People will be dying in their 
homes… alone. Or suffer’ (voluntary and community provider).

Pressure on hospitals – the human cost to older people

The experience of discharge: Ann’s story

They didn’t tell me when I went in, I’d have to be non-weight-bearing for a month. Nobody 

mentioned that to me. So therefore, I’d have to hop. But they came to see me to say, ‘well, 

we don’t think you’re ready to come home, so we’re going to send you to a nursing home 

or county hospital’. I said, ‘who’s going to look after my husband? Are you sending him as 

well?’ Oh no. They now wanted the bed, they wanted to get rid of me. I didn’t want to be in 

the hospital, I wanted to be home, but they said I couldn’t come home. So I said, ‘I thought 

I was entitled to a week’s care’. They said, ‘there isn’t any care at the moment’. They are 

in crisis. There is no care. They haven’t got enough trained-up people. They did nothing. 

Now, I didn’t know I could have asked for a social worker, nobody told me that. They said, 

‘well as you’re refusing to go to a nursing home or to a community hospital, we’ll have to 

consult your daughter’. Well I’m afraid that was the final straw, I blew my top and said, ‘my 

daughter doesn’t have power of attorney over me. I have all my faculties’. I said, ‘I’m looking 

after two other people, I make my own decisions’. And they said, ‘well we’ll just discharge 

you then’. Just like that. And by this time I was so fed up with them, I just thought, get on 

with it. Get on with it. 

So, ten o’clock, Saturday night, I’m sound asleep, the nurse comes in and wakes me up, 

she said, ‘we’re moving you’. I said, ‘you’re not, I’m going home tomorrow. There’s all this 

equipment, all my things’. She said, ‘oh we’ve got to move you, they’re bringing someone 

down from the [X hospital]…’ I said, ‘then you’ll have to drag me out of this bed, because I’m 

not moving. I’m going home tomorrow, that’s that’. She said, ‘well I better consult someone 

higher’. And off she went. She came back at half past eleven, and woke me up to tell me 

they’d decided not to move me. But the nurse was so… it wasn’t the nurses, it’s the people 

controlling the nurses, that is so sad. 



The impact on older people, their families and carers 50

Social care for older people

51 42 73 6 8

The most directly visible element of the health and care crisis lies in the difficulty in 
getting people out of hospital. As discussed in the next section on the NHS, cuts in 
local authority budgets are only one dimension of an extremely complex problem. In 
our interviews, there was a common theme that, regardless of the underlying cause, 
it was older people and their families who bore the brunt of the problem: 

It’s upsetting from most patients’ perspective… people are frustrated – the staff are 
frustrated for patients and patients are frustrated themselves if they are here when 
they know they could and should be elsewhere.
(NHS provider)  

In three case study sites, interviews from the NHS brought evidence – albeit soft 
evidence – of delays caused by families, possibly attempting to delay having to fund 
their own care, or worried about the quality of care homes, or disputing whether 
a person should be going home at all. A similar view was expressed by a local 
authority director who said they had experienced conflict with families who wanted 
their relatives to be ‘tucked up’ in residential care rather than returned home.

While there was no consensus that social care cuts were causing pressure on 
A&E departments, interviewees across all the case study sites offered examples 
of ‘something’ having failed, leading to older people turning to emergency 
departments as a last option. 

One of the GPs came to us and said, I have this elderly lady who lives by herself,  
I went to see her and she said, ‘Can you put me in hospital over Christmas just so 
at least I’ve got someone to talk to?’ 
(Local authority)

Two interviewees raised concerns about the national policy/narrative to prioritise 
home care above bed-based care (residential, nursing or intermediate). Although 
the description of home care being a cheaper option for commissioners was not 
disputed for short-term goals, it was felt that the increasing acuity of older people’s 
needs meant that this may not be suitable in the future, particularly for those social 
care users with ‘very limited input’ because of short visits from carers, who are at 
risk of isolation (voluntary and community sector provider). 



The impact on older people, their families and carers 51

Social care for older people

51 42 73 6 8

The way we’re going is not sustainable, I think we’ve closed so many homes and 
the emphasis has been on keeping people within their own home, and for me 
personally I’m not sure that that always works. There’s people with very, very,  
very heavy need… some of them suffer terribly from loneliness.
(NHS provider)

Not addressing these issues was expected to lead to a ‘repeating pattern’ of pressure 
on the NHS, with more people in hospital and more episodes of delayed discharge. 

Carers and families

If there was an area in which some of the local authorities felt standards had slipped, 
it was in relation to carers. Two of the local authorities reported this: one said it was 
a ‘more negative picture’ for carers, based on falling satisfaction levels in their carers’ 
survey; another also reported that carer satisfaction had fallen, conceding that they 
had sometimes ‘dropped the ball’ in relation to carer assessments. 

The experience of organising carers through direct payments: a carer 
whose mother has MS

We get all the admin to do. We’re in such a big package and a big need for care, we then 

have to employ enough carers to cover the hours and then do a rota – which my sister 

does – which you’ll see on the table up there. I’ll make sure that there’s carers here to come 

in when Mum needs them and that they can all cover… And then they’re all on holiday 

because they’re all then entitled to holidays and then we have to have… holiday sheets so 

they can write on when they’re on holiday… because we’re not experienced employers… 

I’m not experienced in employment law. And there isn’t a lot of back-up for you. There is 

supposed to be a third party – I can’t remember what they’re called now – charity. They’re 

a charitable institution that’s supposed to help with taking people on at first. But they 

haven’t helped us with any of that recently… And a few of them, we’ve taken on through 

word-of-mouth or ‘Someone’s got a carer that’s really good and she’s looking for some…’ 

That sort of thing. But there isn’t really… We’ve fallen lucky with our girls but it’s a bit 

difficult to know whether these girls are trained to do what they’re doing. 



The impact on older people, their families and carers 52

Social care for older people

51 42 73 6 8

The future 

I think the bigger question that we’ve got to ask ourselves is what the general 
public want, what do we want, what does the government want… if we had a 
better plan… we wouldn’t be at this point. 
(Social care provider)

In all areas interviewees spoke of the need for better self-management by users and 
greater involvement from families and the wider community in the provision of care 
for those in need. This was often talked about as a remedy to what was viewed as 
an almost paternalistic state provision: one interviewee stated, ‘We’ve made people 
dependent on services’ (NHS provider), and another said, at present we are ‘sucking 
people into the social care system’ (local authority). Others described this as being a 
direct result of reductions in public funding – ‘care will have to come from people’s 
pockets’ because services such as meals on wheels, which have recently been reduced, 
will not be replaced in the future (voluntary and community provider). In a different 
(more affluent) area, the local authority prediction was that, in the future, the role of 
the authority would be to provide information and guidance rather than support.

The experience of moving from self-funding to continuing care:  
Pat’s story, as told by her partner

We didn’t know anything about care or rights or anything like that. So, at the time the 

council provided the care and it was 40 hours per week. So, Pat had to put up… because Pat 

needed from the beginning 24-hour care, Pat had to put money from her pocket, to the point 

that she had to re-mortgage her house because there was no money to pay for the carers. 

But, the breakthrough was probably about three years ago when… I just thought, you 

know, the money is not going to last Pat, and I started to approach the council again, and 

it was when the financial crisis happened, so they told us you’re wasting your time, you 

know, what’s given is what it is. But, I don’t know why, I persevered, and I persevered for 

over a year… [and] managed to get the acknowledgement that she needed health care 

and not social care and that’s what transformed Pat’s life in terms of funding, suddenly 

she had money to pay the carers a good salary, there was money to pay for training, 

there was money to pay for holidays, for bank holidays. It is to do with the fact that they 

acknowledged Pat had health care needs.



The impact on older people, their families and carers 53

Social care for older people

51 42 73 6 8

‘Asset-based approaches’ and increasing individuals’ ‘social capital’ were frequently 
described as necessary solutions to the lack of capacity in social care. These were 
defined as building up local volunteering schemes, ‘encouraging neighbourliness’, 
community participation, ‘revitalising’ the VCS, more involvement from friends and 
family, and better self-management. However, it was recognised that this required 
a cultural shift in perceptions that would be difficult to achieve. One interviewee 
suggested: ‘I’m not sure the population are ready’. Another commented that the local 
authority itself needed to ‘articulate better our community offer’ in order to make 
this new approach a success. A Healthwatch interviewee welcomed the introduction 
of an asset-based approach but thought that while this was ‘accepted wisdom’ in 
the council, they had not brought the public with them. It was also suggested that 
individuals will need to better prepare for the financial cost of their care in later life.



The NHS 54

Social care for older people

61 42 5 73 8

6  The NHS

The national picture: what do we know?

Hospitals: rising admissions and delayed transfers of care 

Older people are the biggest users of hospital care, accounting for 62 per cent 
of total bed days in 2014/15; those with longer stays (of seven days or more) 
accounted for 52 per cent. As the bulk of ill health occurs at older ages, the presence 
of predominantly older people in hospital is unsurprising, but there is growing 
concern about the increase in delays over the past five years experienced by older 
people who are medically fit for discharge but unable to leave hospital (‘delayed 
transfers of care’). It has been estimated that the NHS spends around £820 million a 
year keeping older patients in hospital who no longer need to be there (National Audit 

Office 2016). 

It is not clear how far the cuts to publicly funded social care have driven this. The 
official dataset attributes delays to the NHS, social care or ‘both’. Although the 
number of delayed days due to social care reasons has risen sharply over the past 
12 months, over the past five years at least 60 per cent of delayed days every month 
have been attributable to the NHS (see Figure 9). 

http://www.nao.org.uk/report/discharging-older-patients-from-hospital/
http://www.nao.org.uk/report/discharging-older-patients-from-hospital/


The NHS 55

Social care for older people

61 42 5 73 8

Looking beyond organisational responsibility to the underlying causes of delays, 
there has been a rapid rise in waits for care packages at home (see Figure 10), up 
163 per cent over the past five years and by 40 per cent in the past year alone. In 
contrast, waits for public funding are now lower than they were five years ago and 
have never accounted for more than 4 per cent of all delayed days over the past 
two years. Escalating numbers of delayed transfers now appear to be symptoms not 
simply of insufficient money but also of problems of workforce and service capacity 
as well as poor co-ordination and information sharing between different parts of the 
system (National Audit Office 2016). They reinforce concerns about the fragile state of 
the home care provider market discussed earlier.

Figure 9 Who is responsible for delayed transfers of care? Delayed days by 
responsible organisation, 2010 to 2016

Source: NHS England 2016a

120,000

May
 2

011

Feb 2
011

Nov 2
010

Aug 2
010

Nov 2
011

Aug 2
011

May
 2

012

Feb 2
012

Nov 2
012

Aug 2
012

May
 2

013

Feb 2
013

Nov 2
013

Aug 2
013

May
 2

014

Feb 2
014

Nov 2
014

Aug 2
014

May
 2

015

Feb 2
015

Nov 2
015

Aug 2
015

May
 2

016

Feb 2
016

80,000

20,000

0

N
um

be
r 

of
 d

el
ay

ed
 d

ay
s

100,000

40,000

60,000

NHS Social care Both

http://www.nao.org.uk/report/discharging-older-patients-from-hospital/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/delayed-transfers-of-care/2016-17-data/


The NHS 56

Social care for older people

61 42 5 73 8

There have also been concerns about the impact of social care budget pressures on 
the ‘front door’ of hospitals. In the past five years, emergency hospital admissions 
of older people have risen by 18 per cent (for the general population it was 12 per 
cent). Some 50 per cent of older people attending A&E were admitted to hospital, 
compared with 16 per cent for those aged under 65 (Health and Social Care Information 

Centre 2015b). There are wide variations between hospitals in the proportions of 

Figure 10 Delayed transfers of care from hospitals, 2010 to 2016 (number of 
delayed days by reason for delay)

Source: NHS England 2016a

40,000

May
 2

011

Feb 2
011

Nov 2
010

Aug 2
010

Nov 2
011

Aug 2
011

May
 2

012

Feb 2
012

Nov 2
012

Aug 2
012

May
 2

013

Feb 2
013

Nov 2
013

Aug 2
013

May
 2

014

Feb 2
014

Nov 2
014

Aug 2
014

May
 2

015

Feb 2
015

Nov 2
015

Aug 2
015

May
 2

016

Feb 2
016

30,000

5,000

0

N
um

be
r 

of
 d

ay
s 

de
la

ye
d

35,000

15,000

25,000

10,000

20,000

Awaiting completion of assessment

Awaiting public funding

Awaiting further non-acute NHS care

Awaiting residential home placement or availability

Awaiting nursing home placement or availability

Awaiting care package in own home

Awaiting community equipment and adaptations

Patient or family choice

Disputes

Housing – patients not covered by NHS and Community Care Act

http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB19124
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB19124
http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/delayed-transfers-of-care/2016-17-data/


The NHS 57

Social care for older people

61 42 5 73 8

older people they admit, how long they stay and how quickly they are discharged 
(Public Health England et al 2015). Social care pressures could be a factor in 
rising rates of admissions of older people but so could shortfalls in primary and 
community health services, and the complex clinical needs of patients. 

Primary care has also been under pressure. Recent research by The King’s Fund 
found that the number of patient contacts taking place in general practice grew by 
more than 15 per cent between 2010/11 and 2014/15, with the greatest increase 
in activity seen among the oldest age groups. The total number of contacts with 
patients over 85 increased by 28 per cent over the same time period. (Baird et al 

2016). At the same time, primary care has been experiencing funding and workforce 
challenges. An overall increase in GP numbers has not kept pace with an ageing 
population, so the ratio of full-time equivalent GPs to the number of people in the 
general population aged over 85 has fallen steadily (see Figure 11).

Figure 11 Number of full-time equivalent GPs per person aged 85 and over

Source: Health and Social Care Information Centre 2015a

0.0305

2014
2013

2012
2011

2010

0.03

0.029

0.028

N
um

be
r 

of
 f

ul
l-t

im
e 

eq
ui

va
le

nt
 G

P
s

pe
r 

pe
rs

on
 a

ge
d 

8
5

 a
nd

 o
ve

r

0.0295

0.0285

http://www.rightcare.nhs.uk/index.php/atlas/nhs-atlas-of-variation-in-healthcare-2015/
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/pressures-in-general-practice
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/pressures-in-general-practice
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB16934


The NHS 58

Social care for older people

61 42 5 73 8

Over the same period, funding for primary care as a share of the overall NHS 
budget fell each year – from 8.3 per cent to just over 7.9 per cent (Baird et al 2016). 
In recognition of the pressures facing general practice, NHS England recently 
committed to increasing recurrent funding of primary care by an estimated 
£2.4 billion a year (NHS England 2016b). 

There is a lack of clarity about activity and demand in other community-based health 
services that are essential to keeping people with chronic, complex conditions well 
enough to live independently and stay out of hospital (Oliver et al 2014). For example, 
there is no robust national data regarding the activity undertaken by district nursing 
services, but available evidence points to an increase in the volume and complexity 
of caseloads over recent years (Maybin et al 2016). Yet despite increasing demand, 
there was a 28 per cent reduction in the total number of full-time equivalent district 
nurses between 2009 and 2014 (see Figure 12). Some of this reduction is likely to 

Figure 12 Number of full-time equivalent district nurses, 2009 to 2014

Source: Health and Social Care Information Centre 2015c

8,500

2014
2013

2012
2011

2010
2009

7,500

6,000

5,000

N
um

be
r 

of
 f

ul
l-t

im
e 

eq
ui

va
le

nt
 d

is
tr

ic
t 

nu
rs

es

6,500

8,000

7,000

5,500

http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/pressures-in-general-practice
http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/gpfv/
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/making-our-health-and-care-systems-fit-ageing-population
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/quality-district-nursing
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB16933


The NHS 59

Social care for older people

61 42 5 73 8

be accounted for by the transfer of staff to independent providers as part of the 
Transforming Community Services programme, but this is unlikely to be the sole 
cause as the decline pre-dates the implementation of the policy (Addicott et al 2015). 
Monthly workforce releases suggest this decline is continuing; the number of full-
time equivalent district nurses fell by 13.6 per cent between March 2014 and March 
2016 (Health and Social Care Information Centre 2016; Maybin et al 2016).

Intermediate care services are most often used by older people, and are designed to 
prevent unnecessary hospital admissions, support independence following a stay in 
hospital and prevent people having to move into a residential home where possible. 
Availability of these services varies widely across England, and has failed to keep 
pace with demand. The national audit of intermediate care suggests that the current 
level of spend on intermediate care is consistent with about a half of the capacity 
required to meet demand; and since 2013 it appears that capacity in health-based 
intermediate care has remained static while capacity in re-ablement services has 
reduced (NHS Benchmarking et al 2015).

The local picture: what we learned from our case studies

The picture painted in our case studies was of a health system under huge pressure, 
but one that was reluctant to attribute these pressures in any simplistic way to the 
budget reductions in social care. Factors contributing to this pressure, across all 
sites, as identified by those we interviewed were: the growing demand on NHS 
services in general, the lack of availability of temporary and permanent support 
packages and placements post-discharge (particularly in the home), and the 
reduction of NHS community services. 

Discharge from hospital

At a national level, delayed transfers of care have become emblematic of problems 
in social care, and it was the same story in all our case study areas. Although the 
national data captures ‘reasons’ for delay, and ascribes causation to either the NHS, 
social care or ‘both’ (see Figure 9, page 55), most interviewees described a complex 
and interdependent set of causes behind delays in discharging older people. 

Prominent among these factors was a lack of social care services, in particular 
nursing homes, beds for older people with social care and mental health needs, 

http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/workforce-planning-nhs
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB20913
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/quality-district-nursing
http://www.nhsbenchmarking.nhs.uk/projects/partnership-projects/National-Audit-of-Intermediate-Care/year-four.php


The NHS 60

Social care for older people

61 42 5 73 8

re-ablement places and, particularly, home care packages. These services were 
described as having a mutual dependency, which ultimately had consequences for 
acute hospitals. For example, if increased demand for home care was not matched 
with availability, the lack of access to services would then cause a slowdown in the 
flow of people through re-ablement, which then results in delays in discharging 
patients from hospital. 

As one local authority interviewee commented:

I think it is about… accessing home care… what has tended to happen is our 
enablement service has silted up: can’t get people off the other end and that 
washes back into the hospital situation.
(Local authority) 

Additionally, the complexity of need people had when leaving hospital or  
re-ablement-type services was described as an important part of the delays. Getting 
the right, specialist placement for those with high levels of need or behavioural 
problems was seen as difficult in two areas. 

A few interviewees were reluctant to attribute these challenges solely to reductions 
in local authority funding. For example, a CCG interviewee suggested that it was too 
simplistic to argue for a direct causality: ‘I don’t think you can say local authority 
budgets have been absolutely plundered, ergo health is now completely on its knees’. 
This was in part because some of the difficulties in sourcing suitable community-
based services were also felt to be in part the fault of NHS commissioners. One local 
authority interviewee criticised its local CCG for having focused too heavily on its 
acute trust and not on its community services. A CCG interviewee explained that, in 
district nurses alone, their local community nursing numbers were short of around 
20 staff members. Two areas talked about poor-quality primary care or a lack of 
capacity development training as the source of much of the pressure facing their 
local acute and social care services (local authority).

NHS payment mechanisms were seen as compounding the problem by driving 
negative/unco-operative behaviour in acute trusts. One CCG interviewee, 
describing the local hospital trust, said: ‘because they [the trust] are severely 



The NHS 61

Social care for older people

61 42 5 73 8

challenged, it also drives a lot of behaviours that make them try to balance the 
books’. Another interviewee gave an example of their trust’s behaviour – attempting 
to discharge patients without co-ordinating with the wider strategy:

We’ve got the hospital decanting people into a spot bed, which takes up a 
residential place that we could probably be better using… you do things because 
the person who’s got the whip isn’t interested in the knock-on impact.
(CCG)

A third area had commissioned an independent research report into the hospital’s 
discharge of older people, which found that it was creating ‘completely unnecessary’ 
bed-based discharges. In the same area, a discharge to assess scheme was set 
up, whereby patients were automatically discharged into a short-term bed and 
comprehensively assessed once out of the hospital. This was criticised for having 
benefited the hospital by shortening the length of stay but using up residential home 
capacity, in some cases inappropriately. The interviewee noted that the gains for the 
hospital were only temporary, as the capacity issues in social care meant that they 
were soon back to having delayed discharge. 

Another complicating factor in discharging patients, described by two interviewees, 
was the requirement of hospitals to consider the patient’s choice of post-discharge 
plans. One interviewee suggested that patients’ families feel as though their relative 
is ‘safe in hospital, so there’s no rush to find, you know, a home for their mum’ (NHS 
provider). Patients are given the opportunity to wait for a placement that they think 
better suits their needs, ‘And the issue drags on’ (local authority). At a national level, 
delays caused by patient or family choice accounted for 11 per cent of all delays in 
May 2016 (NHS England 2016a). 

From the patient perspective, there were concerns about people’s independence 
when they left hospital after an extended period of admission: ‘We have the effect 
of a lot of patients being here that don’t need to be. And it isn’t right for them to 
be here from a health perspective, let alone from an efficiency perspective’ (NHS 
provider). The consequences of this were seen as self-defeating: people waiting in 
hospital could often become less robust and subsequently require more intense 
health and social care support when they were eventually discharged. 

http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/delayed-transfers-of-care/2016-17-data/


The NHS 62

Social care for older people

61 42 5 73 8

Increased demand for NHS services

The problems facing the social care sector were also implicated in the rising 
admissions and pressure on the front door of the hospital, albeit they are harder  
to quantify: 

The most visible parts are the delayed transfers because it’s easier to count, it’s very 
obvious. But I would say the arrival of patients with a care package who, with an 
alternative set of options out in the community, never would need to come to the 
hospital is an equal problem, definitely.
(NHS provider) 

The increased acuity of need of A&E attendees and those being admitted to hospital 
was noted by a number of interviewees. One commented that older people were 
arriving in ‘genuine need of care and support’ (Healthwatch). This was explained in 
part by the ageing population. Others, however, suggested that it was as a result of 
a lack of suitable care in the community and a reduced focus on preventative care. 
One interviewee outlined the position from her perspective in her area, stating that 
more older people were becoming unable to cope living at home by themselves, 
causing an increase in demand in primary care, community services and the 
acute hospital:

It is not necessarily that there are more people that are being admitted: it is 
that there are people being admitted more times… there’s certain parts of the 
population that are just not getting the response that they need and, therefore,  
are knocking on many doors.
(CCG)

A Healthwatch interviewee summarised the situation as ‘talking to GPs I get a 
feeling that they think people are coming to them because they have a social need 
rather than a health need’. A social care provider in the same area stated that 
local authorities’ ambitions to care for people in their own homes had resulted in 
some older people becoming ‘expensive’, ‘revolving door cases’ in A&E. Another 
described the ‘vicious circle’ caused by focusing social care budgets on those most 
in need and not providing sufficient preventative, ‘downstream’ activities that could 



The NHS 63

Social care for older people

61 42 5 73 8

minimise falls and other issues that result in admissions to hospital where people 
‘decompensate’ and come out needing more nursing support. 

Perceptions of the fragility of support for older people in the community, and the 
risks facing people with little or no support, were also seen as affecting the decisions 
of admitting doctors in acute hospitals in two of our case studies. One interviewee 
described some of the doctors as ‘risk averse’ and the other suggested that, in some 
instances, doctors were admitting patients in the absence of alternative available 
care options.



7

Strategies to improve care and support for older people 64

Social care for older people

1 42 53 6 8

7  Strategies to improve 
care and support for 
older people 

The national picture: what do we know? 

Many aspects of the national policy framework through which social care for older 
people is delivered reflect long-standing policy objectives that pre-date the coalition 
government formed after the general election in 2010. This includes the policy of 
personalisation, based on the use of personal budgets and direct payments, renewed 
emphasis on promoting independence through prevention, re-ablement and the use 
technology, and the continuation of existing strategies for dementia, carers and the 
social care workforce. The most significant and substantial policy developments in 
the past five years have been major legislative reform and new initiatives to improve 
the co-ordination and integration of services.

The Care Act 2014

The Care Act 2014 came into force in in April 2015. The Act was the most significant 
reform of social care in more than 60 years, consolidating a complicated legal 
framework dating from the beginning of the welfare state and building in significant 
new rights and responsibilities. However, implementation of Part 2 of the Act – that 
would have introduced a cap on care costs and changes to means-testing – has been 
delayed until April 2020 (Hansard 2015).

The central change in the Act is a shift from defining social care as a set of 
interventions to the duty to promote wellbeing across a population. 

Councils are charged with refocusing their activities from narrow service provision 
to paying attention to personal and community strengths and preventing care needs, 
rather than waiting until crises take place to address them. The Act introduces 
significant new rights for carers, widens access to advocacy and puts good practice 

http://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Lords/2015-07-17/HLWS135/


7

Strategies to improve care and support for older people 65

Social care for older people

1 42 53 6 8

in information provision, co-operation, commissioning, adult safeguarding and 
integration into statute. It also introduces new national eligibility criteria, replacing 
the old, locally determined Fair Access to Care framework. 

The Act was introduced through a relatively co-operative and cross-party political 
process, and broadly reflects the aspirations of the sector. But there are real and 
growing doubts about the feasibility of its ambition in the financially squeezed 
environment we are now in.

Integration of health and social care

Since 2010, the government has introduced a number of measures to achieve this 
long-standing policy objective. The Better Care Fund is a national initiative set up to 
encourage CCGs and local authority commissioners to work together using a pooled 
budget, worth £5.3 billion in 2016/17 (Department of Health 2016a). The money is 
intended to be spent on social care services that have a health benefit. Successive 
payments of funding are predicated on local areas being able to demonstrate success. 

In 2013, the government selected 14 integration pioneer sites across England to trial 
different approaches to joint, integrated working. The process was then repeated 
when a further 11 pioneer sites joined the programme in January 2015. These 25 sites 
aim to draw on collective expertise, including from the voluntary and independent 
sector, to improve quality across health and social care (NHS England 2016c).

Social care is an important element of the new models of care announced in the NHS 
five year forward view published by NHS England and other national NHS bodies in 
2014 (NHS England et al 2014). A total of 50 ‘vanguard’ sites have been chosen to take 
a lead on the development of new care models. They will act as blueprints for the rest 
of the NHS and can be adapted to meet the needs of different local populations. The 
three types of vanguard model in which social care is most relevant are:

 • integrated primary and acute care systems – joining up GP, hospital, 
community and mental health services

 • multi-specialty community providers – moving specialist care out of hospitals 
into the community 

 • enhanced health in care homes – offering older people better, joined-up health, 
care and rehabilitation services.

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/better-care-fund-how-it-will-work-in-2016-to-2017
http://www.england.nhs.uk/pioneers/2016/01/21/two-years-on/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/futurenhs


7

Strategies to improve care and support for older people 66

Social care for older people

1 42 53 6 8

The November 2015 Spending Review and Autumn Statement announced that all 
areas would be required to submit plans for integration between social care and the 
NHS by 2017, to be implemented by 2020 (HM Treasury 2015).

The local picture: what we learned from our case studies 

Improved relationships?

Solutions to the challenges facing the health and social care sectors were seen by 
our four case study areas as emerging from improved relationships between the 
health and social care sectors. Co-ordinated, joint working was described as a vital 
step towards creating a culture in which the pressures caused by increased demand, 
reduced budgets and inefficient processes were seen as a shared problem. 

We’re finding ways of working together between health and social care and across 
the providers… because there’s no point the hospitals just going on and on about 
the fact that there isn’t enough residential home care capacity… there isn’t and 
you can’t knit it any time soon.
(CCG)

One of the case study sites was moving towards creating a single integrated care 
organisation with a single commissioning function. In addition to improving 
processes and the flow of people between sectors, the scheme was also trying to 
change cultural differences and silo working. One interviewee commented that the 
‘crisis’ situation had forced the services to work more closely together, more effectively, 
and others noted that the creation of the Better Care Fund had facilitated a new 
approach to tackling the issues that blurred traditional boundaries between sectors:

You had a whole range of offers from the practices, that started to blur… health 
and social care needs [… the Better Care Fund] has started to get GPs to think 
beyond the medical.
(CCG) 

In one of the case study areas, nearly all of the interviewees mentioned the beneficial 
impact of their System Resilience Group as a way of improving communication 
between providers and commissioners.

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/spending-review-and-autumn-statement-2015-documents


7

Strategies to improve care and support for older people 67

Social care for older people

1 42 53 6 8

Despite these strategies, some interviewees reported signs of frustration and a 
lack of understanding between the sectors. For example, one social care provider 
expressed resentment at local authority budgets being decreased more than NHS 
budgets, particularly when, in their view, the NHS was unable to manage its own 
budgets effectively. However, an NHS provider in a different area suggested that, 
for the local authority, ‘money is the driving force’ whereas in the NHS, money is 
important ‘but less important compared to the quality in health’. One interviewee 
suggested that it was ‘problematic’ having different accountabilities between the 
NHS and local government, with the director of adult social services as a single 
point of accountability in the local authority with a great deal of pressure on them 
not to overspend (CCG). Another CCG interviewee echoed this sentiment by 
stating that local authorities are held to account by their councillors and public 
whereas accountabilities are much more diffused in the NHS, spread across CCGs, 
providers and NHS England.

Similarly, many interviewees outlined the intense demand and cost pressures facing 
their local acute trusts, summarised by one interviewee as: ‘We are the only service 
around that still says yes to everything’ (NHS provider). However, two providers 
suggested that their acute trust ‘sucks’ resources and services into it. This was seen 
to cause tensions between local providers and act as a barrier to new models of 
care, with commissioners needing to ‘wrestle’ money out of the trust to spend it on 
community-based services (social care provider). 

Three interviewees described unco-operative and individualistic behaviours among 
health and social care commissioners. In one area, the local authority was accused 
of ‘cost shunting’ because it was reassessing its Continuing Health Care (CHC) 
files to see if the CCG could be retrospectively charged for some users (CCG). The 
local authority itself said it was supporting users who were ‘obviously’ eligible for 
CHC and that if the CCG tried to fund these additional cases as part of the Better 
Care Fund plans, it would be ‘counterintuitive’ and against the ‘spirit’ of the Better 
Care Fund. A local authority interviewee in a different area also said that they were 
supporting an increasing number of users with highly complex needs without 
receiving any additional funding from the NHS. One social care provider suggested 
that their care workers were filling the gap left by declining numbers of district 
nurses and were therefore performing tasks beyond their pay grade. 



7

Strategies to improve care and support for older people 68

Social care for older people

1 42 53 6 8

Integration and the Better Care Fund

Integration of services and funding was a continuing focal point and source of 
optimism across the four areas. Interviewees described integration as a way of 
redistributing resources between the sectors, creating more ‘equitable funding’. 
As one CCG interviewee commented, when thinking about the individual in 
need of care: ‘It goes back to the whole point of, “Who’s paying?” and “Why does 
that matter?”’.

In addition to collaboration over commissioning budgets, examples were given of 
plans to integrate provision over the next five years. One area described its ambition 
to create a co-designed, integrated pathway for older people, mental health and 
children’s services, to be commissioned through a pooled budget. Another was 
piloting a multidisciplinary, community care team. 

Outside health and social care, one area referenced its collaboration with the local 
fire service to undertake preventive work and joint assessments. Another talked 
about the value of working with the breadth of the voluntary and community sector 
including, for example, harnessing the value of local faith groups.

The pooled budget created by the Better Care Fund was used in our case study sites 
in a number of different ways, including:

 • discharge to assess services

 • early multidisciplinary team assessments

 • general funding for packages of social care, some specifically to meet unfunded 
increases in demand due to demographic growth 

 • seven-day working programmes

 • community and district nurses

 • hospital-based, salaried social workers

 • case management

 • therapies and re-ablement services

 • investment in improved relationships/communication between the local 
authority and CCG.



7

Strategies to improve care and support for older people 69

Social care for older people

1 42 53 6 8

Two areas described the Better Care Fund as being a useful mechanism for 
improving ways of working between the sectors and, in particular, for encouraging 
NHS colleagues to think about patient/user care in a more holistic way. 
Another described the process as being of benefit to the relationship between 
the commissioning bodies and that they were moving towards integrated 
commissioning rather than, for example, sharing the costs of salaries.

However, beyond that, opinions on the Better Care Fund were predominantly 
negative. The administrative process of submitting the plans was described as a 
‘disaster’; there were difficulties in getting it signed off from NHS England because 
the CCG’s original suggestions were ‘further ahead’ than what the Fund was trying 
to achieve (CCG). In one area, a Healthwatch interviewee suggested that, rather 
than being a shared or joint process, the plans had been dictated by the CCG 
without much space for collaboration with the local authority. 

Two areas made reference to the fact that collaborative working between their local 
authority and CCG pre-dated the Better Care Fund. In one area, the announcement 
of the Fund was perceived to have actually set integration plans back by a year and 
half while the CCG responded to the national policy. Another area echoed this 
sentiment, stating that their plans were not particularly innovative – ‘Frankly, we 
just took all the budgets we currently shared and bundled them up’ (CCG). The 
interviewee described the process as an ‘unnecessary reworking of stuff we’re already 
doing’ and, consequently, felt much more confident in the Vanguard new models of 
care work as a mechanism for innovation (CCG).

There were also some wider concerns about integration. With reference to their 
local integration initiatives and the need to involve the private and voluntary and 
community sectors, one social care provider said: ‘If we look at working together 
as a proper team then I think the future is looking quite good, but I’m not holding 
my breath to be honest’. Another interviewee expressed doubt about the vanguard 
programme’s ability to deliver change at the scale and pace needed (NHS provider). 

Improving community-based care to prevent admissions

Establishing better links between care homes and primary and secondary care, or 
up-skilling staff in care homes, were schemes that three of our areas had established 
in order to prevent unnecessary admissions to hospital. In two areas, social care 



7

Strategies to improve care and support for older people 70

Social care for older people

1 42 53 6 8

providers outlined their plans to set up NHS-funded support for people with 
complex health and care needs. One area talked about plans to create medically 
led rehabilitation or temporary beds with support that would be more intensive 
than is currently available in nursing homes; these would, therefore, require CQC 
registration. The ambition was two-fold: to create extra capacity in the care home 
sector and to support those who otherwise would be taken to A&E:

Our referrals ideally would come from GPs and paramedics, they’re going to  
find people who otherwise would be blue-lighted to the acute sector but may be 
blue-lighted to our ones [homes]. 
(Social care provider) 

The second example was that of a care home provider that had set up a re-ablement 
unit for patients being discharged from hospital. This pushed the provider beyond 
its normal nursing home provision into creating specific units with a gym and a 
physio to support people to return home.

Two areas had set up multidisciplinary community-based teams that were located 
in local GP centres. One of these involved a community navigator whose role was 
to promote social prescribing and other similar activities. The other included wider 
tasks to tackle social isolation such as befriending and home visits.

Assessment and discharge

All of the case study areas were refining their assessment and discharge models 
in acute hospitals. Interviewees outlined the complex process of discharging, 
particularly for hospitals dealing with multiple local authority areas, each with 
differing eligibility criteria and models of provision. One NHS acute provider 
was in the process of trying to get agreement among the local authorities in their 
area for a single, generic social work assessment that would, in their view, reduce 
length of stay. This would signal a return to when hospitals had an in-house social 
worker who did all the assessments, rather than waiting for a social worker from a 
local authority to do the assessment themselves. However, they were facing some 
resistance from the local authority, which was concerned about an ‘impact on their 
resources’ if someone other than its staff conducted the assessment (NHS provider). 



7

Strategies to improve care and support for older people 71

Social care for older people

1 42 53 6 8

In order to reduce the wait for social care funding, one hospital and local authority 
had changed the way in which funding assessments took place. Rather than 
having a set quota per week, with the funding board/panel meeting once a week, 
the local authority had agreed to accept individuals as needed. The result was: 
‘[We are] not having any delays now for local authority funding, which is positive’ 
(NHS provider). 

One area had tried to stimulate more efficient ways of managing assessment and 
discharge by co-locating hospital and social care staff members in order to improve 
communication. What was previously described as ‘quite fragmented and quite 
distant’ was now ‘much improved’ because of this change (NHS provider). 

As mentioned previously, one area set up a discharge-to-assess model. This was 
described as having improved the flow in hospitals temporarily but subsequently 
caused delays in accessing social care due to their reduced capacity. The local 
authority in this area outlined plans to create a single team of occupational 
therapists operating in local health and care services as well as, alongside that, 
designing an enablement service that was therapy-led.

Technology

Three areas suggested that the use of digital aids and technology was going to be an 
important part of improving care in the future. In one case study area, which has 
an affluent population, a social care provider interviewee described the investments 
they were making to increase capacity and make better use of technology. This 
company was building new homes aimed to be ‘attractive propositions’ to the 
self-funder market, though it also wanted to get a mix of publicly funded users 
and work collaboratively with local NHS providers. In this new development, the 
ambition was to give staff hand-held devices that would allow them to update care 
records instantaneously. Users and their families, where authorised, would also be 
able to view this information and be able to send messages via an online portal.



8

Discussion: the future of social care over the next five years 72

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6

8  Discussion: the future 
of social care over the 
next five years

Somebody in government, or somewhere, needs to look at whether they care  
about their old people or not.
(Voluntary and community sector provider)

In our conversations with local authorities, social care providers, the voluntary 
sector and the NHS, we heard an amplification of messages that will be familiar 
to those who have watched the social care sector over the past five years: social 
care providers under pressure, struggling to retain staff, maintain quality and 
stay in business; local authorities making unenviable choices about where next to 
wield cuts; NHS providers scrambling to get older people out of hospital before 
they deteriorate; and the voluntary sector keeping services going on a shoestring. 
Collaboration and innovation are taking place despite the odds, but no one was very 
optimistic about the future. 

We began our study with a question about what all this meant from the perspective 
of older people. Three things stand out from the interviews in our case studies.

First, no one has a full picture of what has been happening to older people and their 
carers as local authority-funded social care has taken a battering from austerity. 
Although it is clear that fewer people are now eligible for social care than in the past, 
we do not know how well they have managed to put in place support for themselves, 
or at what cost to their carers’ and family members’ health and wellbeing.

Second, the gap in experience between those people who happen to have their 
own resources, or live in an area with more social care, and those who do not has 
widened. As we have seen, the gap will be greatest in those places where local 



8

Discussion: the future of social care over the next five years 73

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6

authorities have been least able to sustain spending levels. In other words, an unfair 
situation has become worse. 

Third, local authorities’ vision of an enabled, independent older citizen, supported 
at home by family and community, turning to the state for care only in extremis, 
requires a vibrant voluntary and community sector, family members able and 
willing to play that role, and health and care services fully geared up to support 
people in their homes. We have not found evidence of these things being in place.  

Below, we offer an assessment of the choices ahead, informed by our research and 
the voices we have heard. 

The financial context

Looking ahead, spending on social care is likely to be broadly flat in real terms 
over this parliament, taking account of the additional Better Care Fund money that 
will be allocated directly to local authorities from next year, reaching £1.5 billion 
by 2019/20. The government’s current spending plans are based on a reduction in 
public spending from 40 per cent of gross domestic product (GDP) to 36 per cent 
by 2021 (noting that these figures will change as a result of the referendum vote to 
leave the European Union). If the government’s current assumptions about how 
much will be raised by the social care precept over the next five years are correct, 
spending would rise by an average of 0.6 per cent a year. Under an alternative, less 
optimistic estimate, spending would fall by an average of 0.4 per cent a year (see 
Figure 13). Local authorities in poorer areas with a low Council Tax base will be 
able to raise much less through the precept than richer areas – ranging from £5 per 
head of adult population to £13. These areas also happen to be places with relatively 
high levels of need for publicly funded social care (Humphries 2015). 

These scenarios are an improvement on the past five years, when spending on 
social care fell by an average of 2.2 per cent a year, but it will not be enough 
to meet projected cost pressures of 4 per cent a year (Wittenberg and Hu 2015). 
The funding gap by 2019/20 will be £2 billion or £2.7 billion, depending on 
how much the precept raises. On a conservative assessment, implementing the 
National Living Wage will add another £800 million to these estimates (Local 

Government Association et al 2015). Overall, the social care funding gap is likely to 

http://www.pssru.ac.uk/publication-details.php?id=4992
http://www.local.gov.uk/publications/-/journal_content/56/10180/7523718/PUBLICATION
http://www.local.gov.uk/publications/-/journal_content/56/10180/7523718/PUBLICATION


8

Discussion: the future of social care over the next five years 74

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6

be somewhere between £2.8 billion and £3.5 billion by the end of the parliament. 
Public spending on social care is set to fall to less than 1 per cent of GDP by 2020 
(The King’s Fund et al 2015).

It is no wonder that with the Care Act 2014 placing new expectations on local 
authorities, just 36 per cent of directors of adult social services are fully confident 
that they can meet their statutory duties this year, and only 2 per cent are confident 
they can do so in 2019/20 (Association of Directors of Adult Social Services 2016). 

The policy context

Efforts to place the funding of social care on a sustainable footing have eluded all 
governments since 1997, despite the work of four independent commissions (the 
Sutherland Royal Commission in 1999 (Royal Commission on Long Term Care 1999), 
Wanless in 2006, Dilnot in 2011 (Commission on Funding of Care and Support 2011) and 
Barker in 2014 (Commission on the Future of Health and Social Care in England 2014)). 
England remains one of the few major advanced countries that has not reformed 

Figure 13 Social care spending 2009/10 to 2019/20, real annual changes

Source: The King’s Fund et al 2015

6

2013/1
4

2012/1
3

2011/1
2

2010/1
1

2019/2
0

2017/1
8

2015/1
6

2018/1
9

2016/1
7

2014/1
5

2009/1
0

2

-2

-6

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

an
nu

al
 r

ea
l c

ha
ng

e

4

0

-4

Alternative estimate of precept revenue

Average change 
2014/15 to 2019/20 under 
government estimates

Average change 
2014/15 to 2019/20 under 
alternative estimates

Historic change 
2009/10 to 2014/15

Historical Government estimate

-2.2%

0.6%

-0.4%

http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/briefings-and-responses/spending-review-health-social-care
http://www.adass.org.uk/budget-survey-2016
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140131031506/http:/www.archive.official-documents.co.uk/document/cm41/4192/4192.htm
http://www.dilnotcommission.dh.gov.uk/our-report
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/new-settlement-health-and-social-care
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/briefings-and-responses/spending-review-health-social-care


8

Discussion: the future of social care over the next five years 75

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6

the way it funds long-term care in response to the needs of an ageing population – 
although it has introduced new legislation, the Care Act 2014, that has raised 
expectations of what the system should offer. 

At the local authority level, the government proposes to replace the central 
government grant so that councils will become wholly reliant on locally raised 
revenue through council tax and the retention of business rates (Department for 

Communities and Local Government 2016). It is not clear how this will affect individual 
local authorities but making the funding of essential care services dependent on 
the level of local property wealth and economic activity introduces a new set of 
uncertainties. This could increase the risk that access to care will depend on where 
people live rather than what they need. 

Uncertainty also arises on a far bigger scale from the referendum vote in favour 
of leaving the European Union (McKenna 2016). It seems inevitable that social 
care, along with many other domestic policy issues, may be sidelined while the 
government gives priority to negotiating the terms of the UK’s departure from 
the EU and new trade arrangements. If there is an economic downturn, this will 
affect public finances. A further concern is the potential impact on the social care 
workforce, 5.2 per cent of whom come from EU countries (Independent Age 2016).

So the prospect of any substantial change in the fortunes of social care is remote and 
it is now even less likely that the current government’s commitment to implement 
the postponed Part 2 of the Care Act (introducing the cap on care costs and 
improvements to means-testing) by 2020 will see the light of day (Hansard 2015).

The future of social care for older people 

The conclusions we draw from national data and evidence, our work with the four 
local authorities and their partners with very different circumstances, and the 
messages from older people and their carers are unequivocal. The social care system 
is on the brink. Although local authorities have absorbed a reduction of more than 
£5 billion in social care budgets over the past five years, at least 26 per cent fewer 
older people are getting help, unmet need appears to be increasing and more is 
being expected of unpaid carers. The needs and circumstances of older people who 
are no longer eligible for publicly funded care are poorly understood. 

http://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/self-sufficient-local-government-100-business-rates-retention
http://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/self-sufficient-local-government-100-business-rates-retention
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/articles/brexit-and-nhs
http://www.independentage.org/policy-research/research-reports/information-and-advice-since-care-act-how-are-councils-performing
http://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Lords/2015-07-17/HLWS135/


8

Discussion: the future of social care over the next five years 76

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6

Our case studies illustrate that the combined impact of under-investment in 
primary and community health services alongside inadequate social care will 
make it harder for older people to get the right care, in the right place, at the right 
time. This perpetuates a vicious cycle in which older people are more likely to end 
up in hospital or in long-term care, in turn creating further financial and service 
pressures. Future prospects for older people will depend as much on where they live 
and what they can afford as on what they need. Expectations on families and carers 
will continue to increase, and more people will find themselves paying for their care 
wholly or partly from their own financial resources. Although new money available 
to local authorities this year through the new social care precept has enabled them 
to increase fees to providers, it is unlikely to be sufficient to stabilise the market. 
The home care market in its current form is not sustainable.

It is clear also that the challenges facing social care are now as much about 
workforce as they are about money. The availability and quality of care is threatened 
by mounting problems in staff recruitment and retention, underpinned by a culture 
of low pay and under-investment in training, and by the reliance in many areas on 
migrant workers (Kingsmill 2014). 

Policy challenges 

Based on the national and local evidence we have considered in this report, there 
are three major strategic challenges facing policy-makers in shaping how the adult 
social care system could develop over the next five years. 

Achieving more with less

If there are no fundamental changes to the level and adequacy of social care funding 
in the foreseeable future, statutory responsibility for managing the pressures and 
challenges we have described will rest on the shoulders of local authorities and their 
partners. This will mean working within the grain of the existing policy framework 
to achieve better outcomes with existing resources in some of the ways described 
in our case study sites. These include better management of demand, promoting 
independence, better commissioning and procurement and implementing models 
of integrated care that give best outcomes, rather than shunting costs between each 
other (Bolton 2016b; Local Government Association 2016b). The NHS has a key role, 

http://www.yourbritain.org.uk/uploads/editor/files/The_Kingsmill_Review_-_Taking_Care_-_Final_2.pdf
https://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/publication_839.html
http://www.local.gov.uk/productivity/-/journal_content/56/10180/3371097?_56_INSTANCE_0000_templateId=ARTICLE


8

Discussion: the future of social care over the next five years 77

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6

too, avoiding commissioning practices such as poorly designed ‘discharge to assess’ 
schemes that increase costs. There is considerable scope for the NHS to achieve 
better value and release resources, but this will take time (Alderwick et al 2015).

These efforts will be helped by recent attempts to bend national policies towards 
supporting systems of care rather than the funding and performance of individual 
organisations (NHS England et al 2015). In our four case study sites we heard of 
the obstacles caused by organisational complexity, fragmented funding and 
transactional commissioner/provider relationships. A move towards a single 
pooled budget for the health and care needs of the whole local population will 
make it easier for local authorities and their NHS partners to agree on the best use 
of the public pound and to focus on services that can be shown to reduce the need 
for long-term health and social care, especially community-based services, and 
intermediate and asset-based approaches that promote independence and maximise 
the use of community resources. The creation of sustainability and transformation 
footprints, devolution deals and the emergence of combined authorities offer 
opportunities to develop approaches to the planning and funding of systems of care 
rather than individual organisations.

Many of the approaches to achieving savings through efficiency and transformation 
programmes described in our case study sites are being widely used by local 
authorities and have been assessed through the Local Government Association’s 
Adult Social Care Efficiency Programme. This concluded that: 

The challenges over the next few years are immense. Indeed, some councils are 
beginning to believe that they cannot make the level of savings required without 
putting their basic services for vulnerable people at risk. They would argue that a 
combination of increasing demographic pressures (which they can manage down 
no further) and rising costs (which have been held down for too long), added 
to the fact that they have undertaken all of the efficiency actions they believe 
possible, means they can cut no further. Some councils have already afforded a 
level of protection to social care services (adults’ and children’s) at the expense of 
other public services, such as buses, libraries and leisure centres.
(Local Government Association 2016a)   

This encapsulates the experience and views of all our case study sites. Working 
within the grain of existing policies and best practice in the way we have described 

http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/better-value-nhs
http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/futurenhs/deliver-forward-view/
http://www.local.gov.uk/productivity/-/journal_content/56/10180/3371097?_56_INSTANCE_0000_templateId=ARTICLE


8

Discussion: the future of social care over the next five years 78

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6

to achieve ‘more with less’ is important and necessary but our conclusion is that 
these efforts will not in themselves be sufficient to meet immediate funding needs. 
In the words of NHS England Chief Executive, Simon Stevens, ‘There is a strong 
argument that were extra funding to be available, frankly we should be arguing 
that it should be going to social care.’ (Stevens 2016). The forthcoming Autumn 
Statement should recognise the likelihood of major provider failure over the next 
two years by bringing forward the additional Better Care Fund money planned from 
2018/19 and accelerate progress towards establishing a single pooled budget for 
health and social care in all areas by 2020. 

A major gap in the current policy framework is the lack of a coherent strategy to 
improve workforce capacity in the social care system. Quite apparent from the 
immediate pressures, modelling suggests that if the workforce grows in line with 
demographic trends, 275,000 additional jobs will be needed by 2025 – an increase 
of 18 per cent (Skills for Care 2016b). More multi-skilled staff will be needed to 
work across NHS and social care boundaries. The need to develop a fresh strategy 
for workforce development by the Department of Health, in partnership with 
independent sector organisations, local authorities and NHS England is now urgent.

Although this did not arise as a significant issue in our case study sites, there is 
good evidence about the importance of housing in reducing the need for health 
and social care services and offering care options that achieve better outcomes at 
lower cost. However, as with integrated care, housing-with-care schemes are not 
straightforward to design and take time to deliver (Holland 2015; DEMOS 2014). 
Moreover, proposed changes to how supported housing is funded through the 
benefits system have created uncertainty about the future of existing schemes and 
new developments (Wilson 2016).

A different offer

At a local level, our case study sites, like many local authorities, are redesigning 
their ‘offer’ to the public to reflect the limits of their resources; this involves greater 
reliance on individuals, families and communities. There has been little dialogue 
nationally – or, sometimes, locally – about this fundamental change. 

At the national level, no government has ever made it clear to the public that 
responsibility for paying for care, and for arranging it, rests largely with individuals 

http://www.england.nhs.uk/2016/06/simon-stevens-confed-speech/
http://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/NMDS-SC-intelligence/NMDS-SC/Workforce-data-and-publications/Size-and-structure-of-the-adult-social-care-sector.aspx
http://www.aston.ac.uk/lhs/research/centres-facilities/archa/extracare-project/
http://www.demos.co.uk/project/the-commission-on-residential-care/
http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN06080


8

Discussion: the future of social care over the next five years 79

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6

and families, with public funding available only for those with the very highest 
needs and lowest means. Unless there is a major change to the upper means-tested 
threshold of £23,250, this is now the default trajectory of the adult social care 
system. Yet, while members of the general public are clear that NHS services are 
generally free at the point of use, their understanding of who pays for social care 
is much less clear (IPSOS Mori 2011). Lack of public awareness results in people 
having inappropriate expectations of the NHS and local authorities, and this creates 
distress for individuals and their families, distorts the efficiency and effectiveness 
of services and makes it harder for people to get the help they need. Unless the 
government is prepared to introduce a different system, it should establish a fresh 
policy framework that explicitly promotes a clearer public understanding of how 
the system works and encourages individuals to financially plan ahead for their care 
needs in the same way as they would for pensions. 

This could see, for example, the creation of new financial incentives for individuals 
to make provision for care costs through the taxation, pension and benefits systems, 
such as ‘care ISAs’, and tax relief for spending on care costs; fresh discussions with the 
financial services industry to stimulate the development of better financial products, 
such as the promotion of immediate needs annuities; and the strengthening of 
advice, information and advocacy, possibly by linking it to pensions advice and 
planning (Association of British Insurers 2014). 

An explicit re-casting of the social care system based on individual and family 
responsibility would have profound consequences for local authorities, the NHS 
and the social care market. For local authorities, it would confirm their role as 
operators of a basic safety net for the poorest people with the highest needs and 
as a system leader and market shaper working strategically with partners, rather 
than as a direct provider of services. For the NHS, and especially NHS providers, 
it raises some difficult issues about how care is co-ordinated with thousands of 
self-funding individuals rather than one local authority, for example at the point 
of hospital discharge. It will sharpen the division between health care that is free 
at the point of use and social care that is means-tested, with a risk of more conflict 
between individuals, professionals and organisations about who should pay. Social 
care providers, too, face similar challenges in understanding a market in which 
individuals – not local authorities – are their primary customers; in places with high 
levels of self-funding, independent providers may find collaborating with each other 

http://dilnotcommission.dh.gov.uk/our-report/
http://www.abi.org.uk/~/media/Files/Documents/Publications/Public/2014/Social%20care/Developing%20Products%20for%20Social%20Care%20Report.pdf


8

Discussion: the future of social care over the next five years 80

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6

in understanding market trends a more attractive proposition than competition. 
Providers in areas with low levels of self-funding, who are therefore reliant on local 
authority contracts, face an uncertain future. 

While a new and clearer offer could lead to improvements for those who will have 
to pay for their own care, it will confirm beyond doubt the emergence of a two-tier 
system of care in which access to care will depend increasingly on where people live 
– and on their private wealth – not on what they need. As we have described earlier 
in this report, this is already being reflected in the polarisation of the social care 
provider market that will increasingly favour the relatively well off and well informed 
at the expense of the poorest people reliant on an increasingly threadbare local 
authority safety net and at a higher risk of declining quality and provider failure. 

A more open and transparent approach to the respective responsibilities of the 
individual and the state may involve revisiting some of the new rights and duties 
created by the Care Act 2014 so that expectations are aligned more realistically with 
what the government is prepared to fund. 

For many, this will be an unpalatable and unacceptable scenario but it is one that 
is already upon us. Without a coherent national policy framework to support it, 
social care will continue its unplanned drift by default into a poorly understood, 
dysfunctional and ineffective system. 

Long-term reform of funding

International evidence shows that spending rises on health and social care as the 
population grows and ages has been reflected in the spending profiles of almost all 
advanced countries since the end of the Second World War (Organisation for Economic 

Cooperation and Development 2014). The question is not whether these costs will arise 
but to what extent they fall on the public purse or the private individual. As we have 
seen, efforts to achieve more with less and delivering better value will not release 
resources at the pace and scale required to close the widening funding gap. 

The Barker Commission questioned whether additional private funding would be 
sufficient or equitable and recommended that public spending on health and social 
care should increase to between 11 and 12 per cent of GDP by 2025 (Commission on 

the Future of Health and Social Care in England 2014). Every independent review in the 

http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/social-issues-migration-health/health-at-a-glance-europe-2014_health_glance_eur-2014-en
http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/social-issues-migration-health/health-at-a-glance-europe-2014_health_glance_eur-2014-en
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/new-settlement-health-and-social-care
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/new-settlement-health-and-social-care


8

Discussion: the future of social care over the next five years 81

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6

last 18 years has recommended that the future funding of social care needs as well 
as health needs should come from public rather than private finance. It is impossible 
for individuals to predict whether they will need care, how much, for how long and 
how much it will cost. As the Dilnot Commission put it:

The system, conceived in 1948, is not fit for purpose. People are exposed to very 
high costs, which they are unable to protect themselves against. The system is 
confusing, unfair and unsustainable. People are unable to plan ahead to meet 
their care needs.
(Commission on Funding of Care and Support 2011) 

As more of us develop a mixture of health and social care needs, this will expose 
further the dissonance between some kinds of care that are free at the point of need 
and others that are met wholly or in part by individuals and families. 

A frank and open debate is needed on how to fund health and social care on a 
sustainable basis into the future, recognising that a long-term strategy will exceed 
the lifetime of a single parliament. A mechanism is needed to secure cross-party 
consensus on some shared principles of reform, building on the work of recent 
independent commissions including the Barker Commission and the House 
of Lords Select Committee on Public Service and Demographic Change (House of 

Lords 2013). In an earlier review commissioned by The King’s Fund, the late Derek 
Wanless observed:

At the heart of the [funding] issue should be a debate about what social care will 
do in the future. How will it help people? What outcomes should it aim to achieve? 
Who should it help? Once its purpose is understood and specified, important 
decisions can then be made about the range and type of services, the size and 
composition of the workforce, the implications for housing, the use of technology 
to assist people to live with more control, and the extent of preventative action 
required to avoid or delay need.
(Wanless 2006) 

Ten years on, the need for that debate has never been more necessary or urgent.

http://www.dilnotcommission.dh.gov.uk/our-report
http://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/public-services-committee/report-ready-for-ageing/
http://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/public-services-committee/report-ready-for-ageing/
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/securing-good-care-older-people


Appendix: Methodology 82

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6 8

Appendix: Methodology 

The research for this report took place between September 2015 and June 2016 and 
comprised a literature review; analysis of national data; semi-structured interviews 
with representatives from health and social care in four case study sites (including 
commissioners, providers and patient representatives); and narrative interviews 
with older people who have used social care services in recent years. The research 
was guided by an external reference group, which included members from ADASS, 
LGA, CQC, the Department of Health and representatives from health and social 
care provider organisations and patient advocacy groups.

National data analysis

We conducted a comprehensive analysis of national trends in adult social care 
expenditure and activity for older people since 2009/10 using two datasets:

1. Personal social services: expenditure and unit costs, England (Health and Social 

Care Information Centre 2015e) 
This provides information about the money spent on adult social care 
by the social services departments of councils with adult social services 
responsibilities (CASSRs) in England. Prior to 2014/15, this data was sourced 
from the Personal social services: expenditure and unit costs return (PSS-EX1). 
In 2014/15, this finance return was replaced with a new collection, the Adult 
social care finance return (ASC-FR). There are some differences between these 
datasets, but councils were also required to submit a limited amount of data on 
the previous form in 2014/15, enabling ongoing trend analysis. 

2. Community care statistics: social services activity, England (Health and Social Care 

Information Centre 2014)  
This provides information about the social care activity of CASSRs in England. 
It contains information taken from council administrative systems used 
to record the process of assessing eligibility to state-funded social care and 

http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB19165
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB19165
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB16133
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB16133


Appendix: Methodology 83

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6 8

providing services to eligible individuals. Prior to 2014/15, this data was 
sourced from the Referrals, assessments and packages of care return (RAP) 
and the Adult social care combined activity return (ASC-CAR). In 2014/15, 
these were replaced with the Short and long term services collection (SALT). 
It is therefore not possible to make direct comparisons between 2014/15 and 
previous years for most data items. 

We also examined related NHS data and trends in independent sector care provision 
to form a view across the whole system of health and social care.

Case studies

We conducted semi-structured interviews and focus groups with stakeholders 
from four local authority areas. Sites were selected to represent variations in local 
authority type; geographical area; rurality; and the deprivation and ethnic mix of the 
local population. The anonymity of sites is protected.

We asked participants about changes to the funding of social care for older people 
in their area over the past five years; the impact these have had on social care 
providers, service users and other services; strategies that commissioners and 
providers are using to mitigate current pressures; and what they feel this means for 
the future of adult social care. 

Participants included key representatives from local authorities (n=17); clinical 
commissioning groups (CCGs) (n=5); NHS providers (n=6); independent sector 
social care providers (n=25); voluntary organisations (n=8); and Healthwatch and 
other local groups representing people who use services (n=4). 

Interviews were audio-recorded and transcribed for thematic analysis. Emerging 
findings were discussed and further developed in conversation with national 
stakeholders and the external reference group. The findings were supplemented 
with analysis of available local and national data for each case study area in order to 
contextualise our interview findings.



Appendix: Methodology 84

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6 8

User interviews

Our researchers were commissioned by the Richmond Group of Charities to conduct 
a small number of narrative interviews to capture the experiences of older people who 
use social care services. Participants were identified and recruited by the Richmond 
Group according to agreed recruitment criteria, and interviews were conducted  
by researchers from The King’s Fund and the Nuffield Trust. Audio-recordings of  
the interviews were transcribed and edited by the researchers. A full account of these 
interviews has been published by the Richmond Group (Hall and Holder 2016).

https://richmondgroupofcharities.org.uk


References 85

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6 8

References

Addicott R, Maguire D, Honeyman M, Jabbal J (2015). Workforce planning in the NHS. London:  
The King’s Fund. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/workforce-planning-nhs (accessed 
on 21 July 2016). 

Alderwick H, Robertson R, Appleby J, Dunn P, Maguire D (2015). Better value in the NHS: the 
role of changes in clinical practice. London: The King’s Fund. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/

publications/better-value-nhs (accessed on 28 July 2016).

Allan S, Forder J (2015). ‘The determinants of care home closures’. Health Economics, vol 24, suppl 1, 
pp 132–45. Available at: http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/61287/ (accessed on 20 July 2016).

Association of British Insurers (2014). Developing products for social care [online]. ABI website. 
Available at: www.abi.org.uk/~/media/Files/Documents/Publications/Public/2014/Social%20care/

Developing%20Products%20for%20Social%20Care%20Report.pdf (accessed on 22 July 2016).

Association of Directors of Adult Social Services (2016). ADASS budget survey 2016 [online]. 
ADASS website. Available at: www.adass.org.uk/budget-survey-2016 (accessed on 21 July 2016).

Association of Directors of Adult Social Services (2015). Distinctive, valued, personal: why social 
care matters: the next five years [online]. ADASS website. Available at: www.adass.org.uk/distinctive-

valued-personal-why-social-care-matters (accessed on 14 July 2016).

Baird B, Charles A, Honeyman M, Maguire D, Das P (2016). Understanding pressures in general 
practice. London: The King’s Fund. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/pressures-in-

general-practice (accessed on 20 July 2016).

Baxter K, Glendinning C (2014). People who fund their own social care [online]. SSCR scoping 
review. SPRU, University of York website. Available at: http://php.york.ac.uk/inst/spru/pubs/2871/ 
(accessed on 2 August 2016).

BBC Radio 4 (2016). You and yours: care in crisis, late night levy, mortgages. Broadcast, 4 May 2016. 
Available at: www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/b078w8rp (accessed on 28 July 2016).

Bolton J (2016a). Predicting and managing demand in social care [online]. Discussion paper. 
Institute of Public Care, Oxford Brookes University website. Available at: https://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/

publications/Predicting_and_managing_demand.html (accessed on 21 July 2016).

Bolton J (2016b). What are the opportunities and threats for further savings in adult social care? 
[online]. Institute of Public Care, Oxford Brookes University website. Available at:  
https://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/publication_839.html (accessed on 21 July 2016).

http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/workforce-planning-nhs
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/better-value-nhs
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/better-value-nhs
http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/61287/
http://www.abi.org.uk/~/media/Files/Documents/Publications/Public/2014/Social%20care/Developing%20Products%20for%20Social%20Care%20Report.pdf
http://www.abi.org.uk/~/media/Files/Documents/Publications/Public/2014/Social%20care/Developing%20Products%20for%20Social%20Care%20Report.pdf
http://www.adass.org.uk/budget-survey-2016
http://www.adass.org.uk/distinctive-valued-personal-why-social-care-matters
http://www.adass.org.uk/distinctive-valued-personal-why-social-care-matters
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/pressures-in-general-practice
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/pressures-in-general-practice
http://php.york.ac.uk/inst/spru/pubs/2871/
http://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/b078w8rp
https://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/Predicting_and_managing_demand.html
https://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/Predicting_and_managing_demand.html
https://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/publication_839.html


References 86

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6 8

Burns D, Cowie L, Earle J, Folkman P, Froud J, Hyde P, Johal S, Rees Jones I, Killett A, Williams K 
(2016). Where does the money go? Financialised chains and the crisis in residential care [online]. 
Centre for Research on Socio-Cultural Change website. Available at: www.cresc.ac.uk/news-and-

events/headline-443494-en.htm (accessed on 31 August 2016).

Care England (2016). Social care and the National Living Wage – briefing for the Home Care 
Parliamentary Network [online]. Care England website. Available at: www.careengland.org.uk/sites/

careengland/files/4.%20Social%20Care%20and%20the%20National%20Living%20Wage%20CHPN%20

-%202016.pdf (accessed on 26 July 2016).

Care Quality Commission (2016a). Building bridges, breaking barriers: how care is integrated across 
health and social care and the impact on older people who use services, and their families and carers 
[online]. Care Quality Commission website. Available at: www.cqc.org.uk/content/building-bridges-

breaking-barriers-integrated-care-older-people (accessed on 27 July 2016).

Care Quality Commission (2016b). Chief Executive’s report to the board [online]. Report to the CQC 
board meeting, 20 April 2016. Care Quality Commission website. Available at: www.cqc.org.uk/

content/care-quality-commission-board-meeting-20-april-2016 (accessed on 26 July 2016). 

Care Quality Commission (2015). The state of health care and adult social care in England 2014/15. 
HC 483. Newcastle upon Tyne: CQC. Available at: www.cqc.org.uk/content/state-of-care (accessed on 
26 July 2016).

Carers Trust (2016). Care Act for carers: one year: lessons learned, next steps [online]. Carers Trust 
website: https://carers.org/care-act-carers-one-year-commission (accessed on 26 July 2016).

Carers UK (2016). State of caring 2016 [online]. Carers UK website. Available at: www.carersuk.org/

for-professionals/policy/policy-library/state-of-caring-2016 (accessed on 26 July 2016).

Commission on Funding of Care and Support (2011). Fairer care funding: the report of the 
Commission on Funding of Care and Support [online]. Chair: Andrew Dilnot. Department of Health 
website. Available at: www.dilnotcommission.dh.gov.uk/our-report (accessed on 27 July 2016). 

Commission on the Future of Health and Social Care in England (2014). A new settlement for  
health and social care: final report. Chair: Kate Barker. London: The King’s Fund. Available at:  
www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/new-settlement-health-and-social-care (accessed on 27 July 2016). 

County Councils Network, LaingBuisson (2015). County care markets: market sustainability & the 
Care Act [online]. County Councils Network website. Available at: www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/ 

library/july-2013/file104/ (accessed on 26 July 2016). 

DEMOS (2014). A vision for care fit for the twenty-first century: The Commission on Residential Care. 
Chair: Paul Burstow MP. London: DEMOS. Available at: www.demos.co.uk/project/the-commission-

on-residential-care/ (accessed on 31 August 2016)

http://www.cresc.ac.uk/news-and-events/headline-443494-en.htm
http://www.cresc.ac.uk/news-and-events/headline-443494-en.htm
http://www.careengland.org.uk/sites/careengland/files/4.%20Social%20Care%20and%20the%20National%20Living%20Wage%20CHPN%20-%202016.pdf
http://www.careengland.org.uk/sites/careengland/files/4.%20Social%20Care%20and%20the%20National%20Living%20Wage%20CHPN%20-%202016.pdf
http://www.careengland.org.uk/sites/careengland/files/4.%20Social%20Care%20and%20the%20National%20Living%20Wage%20CHPN%20-%202016.pdf
http://www.cqc.org.uk/content/building-bridges-breaking-barriers-integrated-care-older-people
http://www.cqc.org.uk/content/building-bridges-breaking-barriers-integrated-care-older-people
http://www.cqc.org.uk/content/care-quality-commission-board-meeting-20-april-2016
http://www.cqc.org.uk/content/care-quality-commission-board-meeting-20-april-2016
http://www.cqc.org.uk/content/state-of-care
https://carers.org/care-act-carers-one-year-commission
http://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/state-of-caring-2016
http://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/state-of-caring-2016
http://www.dilnotcommission.dh.gov.uk/our-report
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/new-settlement-health-and-social-care
http://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/library/july-2013/file104/
http://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/library/july-2013/file104/
http://www.demos.co.uk/project/the-commission-on-residential-care/
http://www.demos.co.uk/project/the-commission-on-residential-care/


References 87

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6 8

Department for Communities and Local Government (2016). Self-sufficient local government: 100% 
business rates retention: consultation document. London: Department of Communities and Local 
Government. Available at: www.gov.uk/government/consultations/self-sufficient-local-government-

100-business-rates-retention (accessed on 27 July 2016).

Department for Work and Pensions (2016). ‘Benefit expenditure and caseload tables 2016’. GOV.UK 
website. Available at: www.gov.uk/government/statistics/benefit-expenditure-and-caseload-tables-2016 
(accessed on 28 July 2016).

Department of Health (2016a). 2016/17 Better Care Fund: policy framework [online]. Department of 
Health website. Available at: www.gov.uk/government/publications/better-care-fund-how-it-will-work-

in-2016-to-2017 (accessed on 23 July 2016)

Department of Health (2016b). Care and support statutory guidance [online]. Department of Health 
website. Available at: www.gov.uk/guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance (accessed on 20 July 
2016).

Fernandez JL, Snell T, Forder J, Wittenburg R (2013). Implications of setting eligibility criteria for 
adult social care services in England at the moderate needs level. PSSRU Discussion Paper 2851. 
London: Personal Social Services Research Unit. 

Gardiner L (2015). Care to pay? Meeting the challenge of paying the National Living Wage in 
social care [online]. Resolution Foundation website. Available at: www.resolutionfoundation.org/

publications/care-to-pay-meeting-the-challenge-of-paying-the-national-living-wage-in-social-care/ 
(accessed on 28 July 2016). 

Hall P, Holder H (2016). Real lives: listening to the voices of people who use social care [online]. The 
Richmond Group of Charities website. Available at: https://richmondgroupofcharities.org.uk (accessed 
on 1 September 2016).

Hansard (House of Lords written statement) (2014–2015) 17 July 2015 col HLWS135. Available at: 
www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/

Lords/2015-07-17/HLWS135/ (accessed on 23 July 2016).

Health and Social Care Information Centre (2016). NHS workforce statistics – March 2016, 
provisional statistics [online]. NHS Digital website. Available at: http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/

PUB20913 (accessed on 8 August 2016).

Health and Social Care Information Centre (2015a). General and personal medical services, England, 
2004–14, as at 30 September [online]. NHS Digital website. Available at: http://digital.nhs.uk/

catalogue/PUB16934 (accessed on 7 July 2016).

Health and Social Care Information Centre (2015b). Hospital episode statistics, admitted patient 
care – England, 2014–15 [online]. NHS Digital website. Available at http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/

PUB19124 (accessed on 8 August 2016).

http://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/self-sufficient-local-government-100-business-rates-retention
http://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/self-sufficient-local-government-100-business-rates-retention
http://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/benefit-expenditure-and-caseload-tables-2016
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/better-care-fund-how-it-will-work-in-2016-to-2017
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/better-care-fund-how-it-will-work-in-2016-to-2017
http://www.gov.uk/guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance
http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/publications/care-to-pay-meeting-the-challenge-of-paying-the-national-living-wage-in-social-care/
http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/publications/care-to-pay-meeting-the-challenge-of-paying-the-national-living-wage-in-social-care/
https://richmondgroupofcharities.org.uk
http://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Lords/2015-07-17/HLWS135/
http://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Lords/2015-07-17/HLWS135/
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB20913
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB20913
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB16934
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB16934
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB19124
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB19124


References 88

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6 8

Health and Social Care Information Centre (2015c). NHS workforce statistics in England,  
non-medical staff, 2004–14, as at 30 September [online]. NHS Digital website. Available at:  
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB16933 (accessed on 30 June 2016).

Health and Social Care Information Centre (2015d). Personal social services adult social care survey, 
England, 2014–15 [online]. NHS Digital website. Available at: http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/

PUB18642 (accessed on 28 July 2016).

Health and Social Care Information Centre (2015e). Personal social services: expenditure and unit 
costs, England 2014–15, Final release [online]. NHS Digital website. Available at: http://digital.nhs.uk/

catalogue/PUB19165 (accessed on 28 July 2016).

Health and Social Care Information Centre (2014). Community care statistics, social services activity, 
England, 2013–14, final release [online]. HSCIC website. Available at: http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/

PUB16133 (accessed on 28 July 2016).

Henwood M, Hudson B (2008). Lost to the system? The impact of fair access to care [online]. 
Commission for Social Care Inspection website. Available at: http://webarchive.nationalarchives. 

gov.uk/20061016092221/http://www.csci.org.uk/default.aspx?page=2355&key= (accessed on  
21 July 2016)

HM Revenue and Customs (2013). National minimum wage compliance in the social care sector 
[online]. HMRC website. Available at: www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-minimum-wage-

compliance-in-the-social-care-sector (accessed on 20 July 2016).

HM Treasury (2015). Spending Review and Autumn Statement 2015. London: HM Treasury. 
Available at: www.gov.uk/government/publications/spending-review-and-autumn-statement-2015-

documents (accessed on 12 May 2016).

Holland C (2015). ExtraCare Project: final report [online]. Aston University website. Available at: 
www.aston.ac.uk/lhs/research/centres-facilities/archa/extracare-project/ (accessed on 23 July 2016).

House of Lords Select Committee on Public Service and Demographic Change (2013). Ready for 
ageing? Report of session 2012–13. London: The Stationery Office. Available at: www.parliament.uk/

business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/public-services-committee/report-ready-for-ageing/ 
(accessed on 21 July 2016).

Humphries R (2015). ‘Where does the spending review leave social care?’. Health Service Journal,  
14 December.

Independent Age (2016). Information and advice since the Care Act – how are councils performing? 
[online]. Independent Age website. Available at www.independentage.org/policy-research/research-

reports/information-and-advice-since-care-act-how-are-councils-performing (accessed on 22 July 2016).

http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB16933
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB18642
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB18642
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB19165
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB19165
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB16133
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB16133
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20061016092221/http://www.csci.org.uk/default.aspx?page=2355&key=
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20061016092221/http://www.csci.org.uk/default.aspx?page=2355&key=
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-minimum-wage-compliance-in-the-social-care-sector
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-minimum-wage-compliance-in-the-social-care-sector
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/spending-review-and-autumn-statement-2015-documents
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/spending-review-and-autumn-statement-2015-documents
http://www.aston.ac.uk/lhs/research/centres-facilities/archa/extracare-project/
http://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/public-services-committee/report-ready-for-ageing/
http://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/public-services-committee/report-ready-for-ageing/
http://www.independentage.org/policy-research/research-reports/information-and-advice-since-care-act-how-are-councils-performing
http://www.independentage.org/policy-research/research-reports/information-and-advice-since-care-act-how-are-councils-performing


References 89

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6 8

Independent Age (2015). Moved to care: the impact of migration on the adult social care workforce 
[online]. Independent Age website. Available at: www.independentage.org/policy-research/research-

reports/moved-to-care-impact-of-migration-on-adult-social-care-workforce (accessed on 20 July 2016).

Institute of Public Care (2014). The stability of the care market and market oversight in England 
[online]. Institute of Public Care, Oxford Brookes University website. Available at:  
https://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/publication_823.html (accessed on 21 July 2016).

Institute of Public Care (2012). People who pay for care: an analysis of self-funders in the social care 
market [online]. Institute of Public Care, Oxford Brookes University website. Available at:  
http://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/index.php?absid=646 (accessed on 22 July 2016).

Ipsos MORI (2011). ‘Public opinion research on social care funding: a literature review on behalf 
of the Commission on the Funding of Care and Support’ in Commission on Funding of Care and 
Support fairer care funding: volume III, supporting documents [online]. Department of Health 
website. Available at: http://dilnotcommission.dh.gov.uk/our-report/ (accessed on 28 June 2016).

Kingsmill D (2014). The Kingsmill Review: Taking care – an independent report into working 
conditions in the care sector. Available at: www.yourbritain.org.uk/uploads/editor/files/The_Kingsmill_

Review_-_Taking_Care_-_Final_2.pdf (accessed on 30 July 2016).

Laing W (2015). Care of older people: UK market report, 27th ed. London: LaingBuisson. 

LaingBuisson (2016). Homecare, supported living and allied services: UK market report. London: 
LaingBuisson.

Local Government Association (2016a). Adult social care efficiency programme: the final report. 
London: Local Government Association. Available at: www.local.gov.uk/productivity/-/journal_

content/56/10180/3371097?_56_INSTANCE_0000_templateId=ARTICLE (accessed on 26 July 2016).

Local Government Association (2016b). Efficiency opportunities through health and social care 
integration: delivering more sustainable health and care, final report. London: Local Government 
Association. Available at: www.local.gov.uk/productivity/-/journal_content/56/10180/3371097?_56_

INSTANCE_0000_templateId=ARTICLE (accessed on 20 July 2016).

Local Government Association, Association of Directors of Adult Social Services, Future Funding 
(2015). Adult social care, health and wellbeing spending review submission: a shared commitment, 
2015 Spending Review submission. Available at: www.local.gov.uk/publications/-/journal_content/ 

56/10180/7523718/PUBLICATION (accessed on 26 July 2016).

Local Government Ombudsman (2016). Review of local government complaints 2015–16. Coventry: 
Local Government Ombudsman. Available at: www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2016/jul/

ombudsman-upholding-more-complaints-about-local-government (accessed on 1 August 2016).

http://www.independentage.org/policy-research/research-reports/moved-to-care-impact-of-migration-on-adult-social-care-workforce
http://www.independentage.org/policy-research/research-reports/moved-to-care-impact-of-migration-on-adult-social-care-workforce
https://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/publication_823.html
http://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/index.php?absid=646
http://dilnotcommission.dh.gov.uk/our-report/
http://www.yourbritain.org.uk/uploads/editor/files/The_Kingsmill_Review_-_Taking_Care_-_Final_2.pdf
http://www.yourbritain.org.uk/uploads/editor/files/The_Kingsmill_Review_-_Taking_Care_-_Final_2.pdf
http://www.local.gov.uk/productivity/-/journal_content/56/10180/3371097?_56_INSTANCE_0000_templateId=ARTICLE
http://www.local.gov.uk/productivity/-/journal_content/56/10180/3371097?_56_INSTANCE_0000_templateId=ARTICLE
http://www.local.gov.uk/productivity/-/journal_content/56/10180/3371097?_56_INSTANCE_0000_templateId=ARTICLE
http://www.local.gov.uk/productivity/-/journal_content/56/10180/3371097?_56_INSTANCE_0000_templateId=ARTICLE
http://www.local.gov.uk/publications/-/journal_content/56/10180/7523718/PUBLICATION
http://www.local.gov.uk/publications/-/journal_content/56/10180/7523718/PUBLICATION
http://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2016/jul/ombudsman-upholding-more-complaints-about-local-government
http://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2016/jul/ombudsman-upholding-more-complaints-about-local-government


References 90

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6 8

Marmot M, Oldfield Z, Clemens S, Blake M, Phelps A, Nazroo J, Steptoe A, Rogers N, Banks J 
(2015). English longitudinal study of ageing: waves 0–6, 1998–2013 (data collection), 23rd ed [online]. 
UK Data Service website. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.5255/UKDA-SN-5050-10 (accessed on 
27 July 2016).

Maybin J, Charles A, Honeyman M (2016). Understanding quality in district nursing: learning from 
the experiences of patients, carers and staff. London: The King’s Fund. Available at: www.kingsfund.

org.uk/publications/quality-district-nursing (accessed on 31 August 2016).

McKenna H (2016). ‘Five big issues for health and social care after the Brexit vote’. The King’s Fund 
website. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/articles/brexit-and-nhs (accessed on 20 July 
2016). 

Mortimer J, Green M (2016). The health and care of older people in England 2015. Briefing. London: 
Age UK. Available at: www.ageuk.org.uk/professional-resources-home/research/reports/care-and-

support/the-health-and-care-of-older-people-in-england-2015/ (accessed on 26 July 2016).

National Audit Office (2016). Discharging older patients from hospital. HC 18. London: The 
Stationery Office. Available at: www.nao.org.uk/report/discharging-older-patients-from-hospital/ 
(accessed on 26 July 2016). 

National Audit Office (2014a). Adult social care in England: overview. HC 1102. London: The 
Stationery Office. Available at: www.nao.org.uk/report/adult-social-care-england-overview-2/ 
(accessed on 26 July 2016). 

National Audit Office (2014b). Financial sustainability of local authorities 2014. HC 783. London: 
The Stationery Office. Available at: www.nao.org.uk/report/financial-sustainability-of-local-

authorities-2014/ (accessed on 26 July 2016). 

National Audit Office (2011). Oversight of user choice and provider competition in care markets.  
HC 1458. London: The Stationery Office. Available at: www.nao.org.uk/report/oversight-of-user-

choice-and-provider-competition-in-care-markets/ (accessed on 26 July 2016).

NHS Benchmarking, British Geriatrics Society, Association of Directors of Adult Social Services, 
College of Occupational Therapists Specialist Section for Older People, Royal College of Physicians, 
Royal College of Nursing, AGILE, Patients Association, Royal College of Speech and Language 
Therapists (2015). National audit of intermediate care summary report 2015 [online]. NHS 
Benchmarking Network website. Available at: www.nhsbenchmarking.nhs.uk/projects/partnership-

projects/National-Audit-of-Intermediate-Care/year-four.php (accessed on 26 July 2016).

NHS England (2016a). ‘Delayed transfers of care data 2016–17’. NHS England website. Available at: 
www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/delayed-transfers-of-care/2016-17-data/ 
(accessed on 26 July 2016).

http://dx.doi.org/10.5255/UKDA-SN-5050-10
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/quality-district-nursing
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/quality-district-nursing
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/articles/brexit-and-nhs
http://www.ageuk.org.uk/professional-resources-home/research/reports/care-and-support/the-health-and-care-of-older-people-in-england-2015/
http://www.ageuk.org.uk/professional-resources-home/research/reports/care-and-support/the-health-and-care-of-older-people-in-england-2015/
http://www.nao.org.uk/report/discharging-older-patients-from-hospital/
http://www.nao.org.uk/report/adult-social-care-england-overview-2/
http://www.nao.org.uk/report/financial-sustainability-of-local-authorities-2014/
http://www.nao.org.uk/report/financial-sustainability-of-local-authorities-2014/
http://www.nao.org.uk/report/oversight-of-user-choice-and-provider-competition-in-care-markets/
http://www.nao.org.uk/report/oversight-of-user-choice-and-provider-competition-in-care-markets/
http://www.nhsbenchmarking.nhs.uk/projects/partnership-projects/National-Audit-of-Intermediate-Care/year-four.php
http://www.nhsbenchmarking.nhs.uk/projects/partnership-projects/National-Audit-of-Intermediate-Care/year-four.php
http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/delayed-transfers-of-care/2016-17-data/


References 91

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6 8

NHS England (2016b). General practice forward view [online]. NHS England website. Available at: 
www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/gpfv/ (accessed on 27 July 2016).

NHS England (2016c). People helping people: year two of the pioneer programme [online]. NHS 
England website. Available at: www.england.nhs.uk/pioneers/2016/01/21/two-years-on/ (accessed on 
27 July 2016).

NHS England, NHS Improvement, Care Quality Commission, Health Education England, Public 
Health England, National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (2015). Delivering the Forward 
View: NHS planning guidance 2016/17 – 2020/21 [online]. NHS England website. Available at:  
www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/futurenhs/deliver-forward-view/ (accessed on 8 August 2016).

NHS England, Care Quality Commission, Health Education England, Monitor, NHS Trust 
Development Authority, Public Health England (2014). NHS five year forward view [online].  
NHS England website. Available at: www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/futurenhs (accessed on  
26 July 2016).

Oliver D, Foot C, Humphries R (2014). Making our health and care systems fit for an ageing 
population. London: The King’s Fund. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/making-our-

health-and-care-systems-fit-ageing-population (accessed on 27 July 2016).

Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (2014). ‘Health at a glance: Europe’. 
OECD Library website. Available at: www.oecd-ilibrary.org/social-issues-migration-health/health-at-a-

glance-europe-2014_health_glance_eur-2014-en (accessed on 27 July 2016).

Pickard L (2015). ‘A growing care gap? The supply of unpaid care for older people by their adult 
children in England to 2032’. Ageing and Society, vol 35, pp 96–123. 

Public Health England, Rightcare, NHS England (2015). The NHS atlas of variation in health care 
[online]. Rightcare website. Available at: www.rightcare.nhs.uk/index.php/atlas/nhs-atlas-of-variation-

in-healthcare-2015/ (accessed on 27 July 2016).

Robineau D (2016). ‘Ageing Britain: two-fifths of NHS budget is spent on over-65s’ [online]. 
Guardian website, 1 February. Available at: www.theguardian.com/society/2016/feb/01/ageing-

britain-two-fifths-nhs-budget-spent-over-65s (accessed on 27 July 2016).

Royal Commission on Long Term Care (1999). With respect to old age: long term care rights and 
responsibilities [online]. Cm 4192-I. Chair: Professor Sir Stewart Sutherland. London: The Stationery 
Office. Available at: http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140131031506/http:/www.archive.

official-documents.co.uk/document/cm41/4192/4192.htm (accessed on 21 July 2016).

Skills for Care (2016a). Registered nurses in adult social care. NMDS-SC briefing 27. Available at: 
www.skillsforcare.org.uk/NMDS-SC-intelligence/NMDS-SC/Workforce-data-and-publications/Nurses-in-

social-care.aspx (accessed on 27 July 2016). 

http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/gpfv/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/pioneers/2016/01/21/two-years-on/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/futurenhs/deliver-forward-view/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/futurenhs
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/making-our-health-and-care-systems-fit-ageing-population
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/making-our-health-and-care-systems-fit-ageing-population
http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/social-issues-migration-health/health-at-a-glance-europe-2014_health_glance_eur-2014-en
http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/social-issues-migration-health/health-at-a-glance-europe-2014_health_glance_eur-2014-en
http://www.rightcare.nhs.uk/index.php/atlas/nhs-atlas-of-variation-in-healthcare-2015/
http://www.rightcare.nhs.uk/index.php/atlas/nhs-atlas-of-variation-in-healthcare-2015/
http://www.theguardian.com/society/2016/feb/01/ageing-britain-two-fifths-nhs-budget-spent-over-65s
http://www.theguardian.com/society/2016/feb/01/ageing-britain-two-fifths-nhs-budget-spent-over-65s
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140131031506/http:/www.archive.official-documents.co.uk/document/cm41/4192/4192.htm
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140131031506/http:/www.archive.official-documents.co.uk/document/cm41/4192/4192.htm
http://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/NMDS-SC-intelligence/NMDS-SC/Workforce-data-and-publications/Nurses-in-social-care.aspx
http://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/NMDS-SC-intelligence/NMDS-SC/Workforce-data-and-publications/Nurses-in-social-care.aspx


References 92

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6 8

Skills for Care (2016b). The size and structure of the adult social care sector and workforce in England, 
2016. Leeds: Skills for Care. Available at: www.skillsforcare.org.uk/NMDS-SC-intelligence/NMDS-SC/

Workforce-data-and-publications/Size-and-structure-of-the-adult-social-care-sector.aspx (accessed on 
27 July 2016).

Stevens S (2016). ‘Simon Stevens’ speech to NHS Confederation Conference 2016’. Speech at NHS 
Confederation, Manchester, 17 June. Available at: www.england.nhs.uk/2016/06/simon-stevens-

confed-speech/ (accessed on 10 August 2016).

The King’s Fund, Nuffield Trust, Health Foundation (2015). The Spending Review – what does  
it mean for health and social care? [online]. The King’s Fund website. Available at: www.kingsfund.

org.uk/publications/briefings-and-responses/spending-review-health-social-care (accessed on  
27 July 2016). 

United Kingdom Home Care Association (2015a). A minimum price for homecare. Briefing 
(version 3.1, November 2015). London: UKHCA. Available at: www.ukhca.co.uk/rates/ (accessed  
on 27 July 2016). 

United Kingdom Home Care Association (2015b). The homecare deficit: a report on the funding of 
older people’s homecare across the United Kingdom. London: UKHCA. Available at: www.ukhca.co.uk/

rates/ (accessed on 27 July 2016).

Vlachantoni A, Shaw R, Willis R, Evandrou M, Falkingham J, Luff R (2011). ‘Measuring unmet need 
for social care amongst older people’. Population Trends, vol 145, no 1, pp 60–76. Available at:  
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20160105160709/http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/

population-trends-rd/population-trends/no--145--autumn-2011/index.html (accessed on 27 July 2016).

Wanless D (2006). Securing good care for older people: taking a long-term view. London: The King’s 
Fund. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/securing-good-care-older-people (accessed on 
27 July 2016).

Wilson W (2016). Paying for supported housing. House of Commons Library Briefing Paper 
Number 6080. www.parliament.uk website. Available at: http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/

ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN06080 (accessed on 30 July 2016). 

Wittenberg R, Hu B (2015). Projections of demand for and costs of social care for older people and 
younger adults in England, 2015 to 2035 [online]. Personal Social Services Research Unit website. 
Available at: www.pssru.ac.uk/publication-details.php?id=4992 (accessed on 22 July 2016).

http://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/NMDS-SC-intelligence/NMDS-SC/Workforce-data-and-publications/Size-and-structure-of-the-adult-social-care-sector.aspx
http://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/NMDS-SC-intelligence/NMDS-SC/Workforce-data-and-publications/Size-and-structure-of-the-adult-social-care-sector.aspx
http://www.england.nhs.uk/2016/06/simon-stevens-confed-speech/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/2016/06/simon-stevens-confed-speech/
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/briefings-and-responses/spending-review-health-social-care
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/briefings-and-responses/spending-review-health-social-care
http://www.ukhca.co.uk/rates/
http://www.ukhca.co.uk/rates/
http://www.ukhca.co.uk/rates/
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20160105160709/http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/population-trends-rd/population-trends/no--145--autumn-2011/index.html
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20160105160709/http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/population-trends-rd/population-trends/no--145--autumn-2011/index.html
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/securing-good-care-older-people
http://www.parliament.uk
http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN06080
http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN06080
http://www.pssru.ac.uk/publication-details.php?id=4992


About the authors 93

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6 8

About the authors

Richard Humphries is assistant director of policy and leads The King’s Fund’s 
work on social care, and its work across the NHS and local government. He is a 
recognised national commentator and writer on social care reform, the funding of 
long-term care and the integration of health and social care. He led the Fund’s work 
in supporting the Barker Commission on the future of health and social care.

A graduate of the LSE, his professional background is social work, and over the past 
35 years he has worked in a variety of roles, including as a director of social services 
and health authority chief executive (the first combined post in England) and in 
senior roles in the Department of Health. Richard is a non-executive director of 
Wye Valley NHS Trust and Housing & Care 21, a national provider of housing and 
care services. He is also a columnist for the Local Government Chronicle and a fellow 
of the RSA.

Ruth Thorlby is the deputy director of policy at the Nuffield Trust. Her research 
interests include NHS reform, GP commissioning, accountability, international 
comparisons and health inequalities. Before joining the Nuffield Trust she was a 
senior fellow at The King’s Fund, where her publications included two major reviews 
of NHS performance as well as a range of briefing and research papers.

She was a 2008–9 Harkness Fellow, based at Harvard Medical School, where she 
researched how US physicians and health care organisations understood and tackled 
racial inequalities in the quality of health services.

Ruth has an MSc in social policy from the LSE. Before moving into health policy 
research, Ruth was a broadcast journalist, working for the BBC World Service and 
BBC News and Current Affairs, including Panorama.

Holly Holder is a fellow in health policy at the Nuffield Trust. Since joining the 
Trust four years ago, she has conducted research into the future of primary care, 
international health and social care systems, and the impact on older people and 
the NHS of funding reductions in social care, and been involved in evaluations of 
integrated care initiatives.



About the authors 94

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6 8

Previously, Holly worked for the Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion at the LSE. 
Her work there focused on the measurement of equality and human rights in the 
UK, including inequalities in the outcomes, provision and receipt of health and 
social care. She also worked on a project exploring how issues related to choice, 
control and empowerment can be better measured. Before this, Holly worked as a 
researcher for a social housing management consultancy.

Patrick Hall is a fellow in social care policy at The King’s Fund. Before joining 
the Fund, Patrick was Practice Development Manager (Policy) at the Social Care 
Institute for Excellence (SCIE), where he led on Care Act implementation and wrote 
the SCIE’s guide to commissioning advocacy under the legislation. Most recently 
he led the SCIE’s Policy Challenge Fund work in collaboration with the Health 
Foundation, the Institute for Government and PPL. Previously, Patrick worked as 
a health and social care commissioner in Newham.

Anna Charles is a researcher in the policy team at The King’s Fund. Her current 
projects include qualitative research into patient and staff experiences of community 
health services for older people, an evaluation of the sustainability of social care 
services and a study exploring changes to activity and demand in general practice.

Anna is also interested in prison health care and related policy, and has published 
a number of research papers exploring contemporary issues in prison health care. 
Before joining the Fund, Anna worked as a doctor at Imperial College Healthcare 
NHS Trust. She holds a medical degree and a BMedSc in health care ethics and law 
from the University of Birmingham.



Acknowledgements 95

Social care for older people

1 42 5 73 6 8

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank everyone in the four local authority areas who took part 
in our interviews and members of the external reference group whose views 
and feedback helped us to develop and test our thinking and approach. We are 
grateful to Nick Seddon, former special adviser to the Prime Minister, for hosting 
a discussion at No 10 Downing Street about early findings. 

Rachel Ayling provided invaluable help in analysing local authority expenditure  
and activity statistics. 

We would also like to thank Jo Moriarty and Dwayne Johnson for their help in 
reviewing the draft report and colleagues at The King’s Fund and Nuffield Trust, 
especially Matthew Honeyman for his help with some of the interviews and Nigel 
Edwards, Chris Ham, Candace Imison and Richard Murray for their helpful 
comments and guidance.



1 42 5 73 6 8

The King’s Fund is an independent charity working to improve 
health and care in England. We help to shape policy and 
practice through research and analysis; develop individuals, 
teams and organisations; promote understanding of the health 
and social care system; and bring people together to learn, 
share knowledge and debate. Our vision is that the best 
possible care is available to all.

www.kingsfund.org.uk   @thekingsfund

Social care for older people

1 2 3

Published by
The King’s Fund

11–13 Cavendish Square

London W1G 0AN

Tel: 020 7307 2568

Fax: 020 7307 2801

Email:  

publications@kingsfund.org.uk

www.kingsfund.org.uk

© The King’s Fund 2016

First published 2016 by 

The King’s Fund

Charity registration number: 

1126980

All rights reserved, including 

the right of reproduction in 

whole or in part in any form

ISBN: 978 1 909029 66 8

A catalogue record for this 

publication is available from 

the British Library

Edited by Accuracy Matters

Typeset by  

Grasshopper Design Company

Printed in the UK by 

The King’s Fund

The Nuffield Trust is an independent health charity. We aim 
to improve the quality of health care in the UK by providing 
evidence-based research and policy analysis and informing and 
generating debate.

www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk   @nuffieldtrust

http://www.kingsfund.org.uk
mailto:publications@kingsfund.org.uk
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk
http://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk


The need for a clearer understanding of the care available for older people has 

never been greater. Years of financial constraint and increasing levels of demand 

mean that the social care system in England is under severe pressure, yet evidence 

about the relationship between changes in public spending on social care, the 

quality and quantity of services and the impact on the health and wellbeing of 

people who use them is extremely limited.

Social care for older people looks at the effect of changes in local authority 

spending on care for older people, based on an assessment of national data and 

interviews with representatives from local authorities, clinical commissioning 

groups, the NHS and independent sector providers, voluntary organisations, 

Healthwatch and other local groups. Alongside this work, we were commissioned 

by the Richmond Group of Charities to interview older people about their 

experiences of social care.

Based on the evidence in the report, the authors recommend that policy-makers 

address three major challenges in shaping the development of social care for 

older people over the next five years: 

 • achieving more with fewer resources – for example, through better 

commissioning and integrated care – recognising that these initiatives will 

not be enough to close the funding gap 

 • establishing a more explicit policy framework, which makes it clear that 

primary responsibility for funding care sits with individuals and families

 • undertaking long-term reform of funding because reliance on additional 

private funding is unlikely to be sufficient or equitable.

The report concludes that the human and financial costs of social care for older 

people and their carers are mounting and warns that the potential for most 

local authorities to achieve more within existing resources is very limited.

The King’s Fund

11–13 Cavendish Square

London W1G 0AN

Tel: 020 7307 2400 

Charity registration number: 1126980

www.kingsfund.org.uk

http://www.kingsfund.org.uk


Healthier Communities Select Committee

Title Lewisham hospital update (system resilience)

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 4

Class Part 1 (open) 18 October 2016

1. Purpose 

University Hospital Lewisham’s System Resilience Plans 2016/17 are attached.

3. Recommendations

The Committee is asked to note this information.
If you have any questions, please contact John Bardens (Scrutiny Manager) on 
02083149976.





1

U
n

iv
e

rs
it

y
 H

o
sp

it
a

l 
 L

e
w

is
h

a
m

 

S
y

st
e

m
 R

e
si

li
e

n
ce

 P
la

n
s 

1
6

/1
7

R
e

p
o

rt
 t

o
 H

C
S

C
 O

ct
o

b
e

r 
1

6



2

C
o

n
te

x
t

•
C

e
n

tr
a

l 
fu

n
d

in
g

 f
o

r 
sy

st
e

m
 r

e
si

li
e

n
ce

 a
ll

o
ca

te
d

 t
o

 C
C

G
s 

a
n

d
 i
n

cl
u

d
e

d
 in

 

1
6

/1
7

 b
a

se
li

n
e

•
Le

w
is

h
a

m
 C

C
G

 f
ig

u
re

 a
g

re
e

d
 a

t 
£

1
.4

M
il

li
o

n
 t

o
 b

e
 s

p
e

n
t 

a
t 

U
n

iv
e

rs
it

y
 

H
o

sp
it

a
l 

Le
w

is
h

a
m

•
In

it
ia

l 
su

b
m

is
si

o
n

 a
n

d
 im

p
a

ct
 o

n
 t

ra
je

ct
o

ry
 a

g
re

e
d

 w
it

h
 C

C
G

s 
a

s 
p

a
rt

 o
f 

w
id

e
r 

S
y

st
e

m
 R

e
si

li
e

n
ce

 a
n

d
 T

ra
je

ct
o

ry
 P

la
n

 i
n

 e
a

rl
y

 J
u

ly

•
S

ch
e

m
e

s 
in

it
ia

ll
y

 i
d

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

 b
a

se
d

 o
n

 t
h

o
se

 t
h

a
t 

h
a

d
 s

h
o

w
n

 im
p

a
ct

 i
n

 1
5

/1
6

 

•
C

o
m

p
le

m
e

n
te

d
 w

o
rk

 o
n

g
o

in
g

 w
it

h
in

 M
e

d
ic

a
l 

R
e

d
e

si
g

n
 a

n
d

 E
n

h
a

n
ce

d
 C

a
re

 

a
n

d
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

s

•
T

o
ta

l 
re

si
li

e
n

ce
 s

ch
e

m
e

 i
m

p
a

ct
 o

n
 4

 h
o

u
r 

st
a

n
d

a
rd

 p
re

d
ic

te
d

 t
o

 b
e

 2
.4

2
%

•
D

e
ta

il
 o

f 
in

it
ia

l 
sc

h
e

m
e

s,
 i

m
p

a
ct

 o
f 

th
o

se
 i
n

 p
la

ce
 a

n
d

 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

p
la

n
s 

fo
r 

sc
h

e
m

e
s 

to
 a

d
d

re
ss

 s
li

p
p

a
g

e
 i

n
 o

th
e

r 
im

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
ts

 p
ro

v
id

e
d

 i
n

 f
o

ll
o

w
in

g
 

sl
id

e
s:

2



3

In
it

ia
ll

y
 A

g
re

e
d

 S
ch

e
m

e
s

3

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
ce

 

Im
p

ro
ve

m
e

n
t

C
o

st
S

ta
rt

 m
o

n
th

E
n

d
 m

o
n

th
 

Le
a

d
 i
n

 a
t 

5
0

%
 

im
p

a
ct

A
d

d
it

io
n

a
l E

D
 S

p
R

S
a

tu
rd

a
y

 e
ve

n
in

g
s

0
.0

1
%

£
1

1
,7

0
0

.0
0

 
O

ct
o

b
e

r
M

a
rc

h
 

0

A
d

d
it

io
n

a
l m

e
d

ic
 i

n
 E

D
 o

ve
rn

ig
h

t
0

.5
0

%
£

1
2

0
,0

0
0

.0
0

 
O

ct
o

b
e

r
M

a
rc

h
0

A
d

d
it

io
n

a
l G

P
 7

 d
a

ys
 p

e
r 

w
e

e
k
 i

n
 

U
C

C
0

.8
0

%
£

4
0

0
,0

0
0

.0
0

 
Ju

ly
M

a
rc

h
0

E
N

P
 S

tr
e

a
m

in
g

 1
2

 h
o

u
rs

 p
e

r 
d

a
y

0
.3

0
%

£
2

2
7

,0
0

0
.0

0
 

Ju
ly

M
a

rc
h

1

R
A

T
 i

n
 p

la
ce

0
.5

0
%

£
5

6
6

,8
0

0
.0

0
 

A
u

g
u

st
M

a
rc

h
1

P
a

th
w

a
y

 N
a

v
ig

a
to

rs
0

.3
0

%
£

1
2

0
,0

0
0

.0
0

 
M

a
y

M
a

rc
h

1

Im
p

ro
ve

d
 D

is
ch

a
rg

e
 I

n
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
0

.0
1

%
£

1
5

,0
0

0
.0

0
 

Ju
n

e
M

a
rc

h
0

To
ta

l
2

.4
2

%
£

1
,4

6
0

,5
0

0
.0

0
 



4

C
u

rr
e

n
t 

S
to

ck
 T

a
k

e

4

U
H

L 
R

e
si

li
e

n
ce

 S
ch

e
m

e
s

Im
p

a
ct

S
ta

rt
 D

a
te

In
 p

la
ce

?

A
d

d
it

io
n

a
l E

D
 S

p
R

S
a

tu
rd

a
y

 e
v

e
n

in
g

s
0

.0
1

%
O

ct
o

b
e

r
W

il
l b

e
in

 p
la

ce

A
d

d
it

io
n

a
l m

e
d

ic
 in

 E
D

 o
v

e
rn

ig
h

t
0

.5
0

%
O

ct
o

b
e

r
W

il
l b

e
 i
n

 p
la

ce

A
d

d
it

io
n

a
l G

P
 7

 d
a

y
s 

p
e

r 
w

e
e

k
 in

 U
C

C
0

.8
0

%
Ju

ly
T

ri
a

ll
e

d
in

 J
u

ly
, 

fu
ll

 m
o

d
e

l f
ro

m
 O

ct
o

b
e

r

E
N

P
 S

tr
e

a
m

in
g

 1
2

 h
o

u
rs

 p
e

r 
d

a
y

0
.3

0
%

Ju
ly

T
ri

a
ll

e
d

 in
 J

u
ly

,
fu

ll
 m

o
d

e
l f

ro
m

 O
ct

o
b

e
r

R
A

T
 i

n
 p

la
ce

0
.5

0
%

A
u

g
u

st
D

e
la

y
e

d
st

a
rt

 d
u

e
 t

o
 r

e
cr

u
it

m
e

n
t,

 in
 p

la
ce

 f
ro

m
 O

ct
o

b
e

r

P
a

th
w

a
y

 N
a

v
ig

a
to

rs
0

.3
0

%
M

a
y

Y
e

s

Im
p

ro
v

e
d

 D
is

ch
a

rg
e

 I
n

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

0
.0

1
%

Ju
n

e
Y

e
s

T
o

ta
l

2
.4

2
%

A
 r

e
v

ie
w

 o
f 

th
e

 r
e

si
li

e
n

ce
 s

ch
e

m
e

s 
a

s 
w

e
ll

 a
s 

w
id

e
r 

im
p

ro
ve

m
e

n
t 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
s 

h
a

s 

ju
st

 b
e

e
n

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 a

n
d

 i
d

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

  
so

m
e

 d
e

la
y

 i
n

 t
h

re
e

 o
f 

th
e

 s
ch

e
m

e
s:

-
G

P
 s

tr
e

a
m

in
g

 (
co

m
m

e
n

ce
d

 t
h

is
 w

e
e

k
)

-
E

N
P

 s
tr

e
a

m
in

g
 (

 p
la

n
 t

o
 c

o
m

m
e

n
ce

 i
n

 O
ct

o
b

e
r 

b
u

t 
d

if
fi

cu
lt

y
 i

n
 r

e
cr

u
it

in
g

-
R

A
T

 (
co

m
m

e
n

ce
d

 t
h

is
 w

e
e

k
)

In
 a

d
d

it
io

n
 i

t 
h

a
s 

b
e

e
n

 i
d

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

 t
h

a
t 

th
e

 E
n

h
a

n
ce

d
 C

a
re

 a
n

d
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

 i
s 

li
ke

ly
 t

o
 b

e
 d

e
la

ye
d

 i
n

 d
e

li
ve

ri
n

g
 o

n
e

 o
f 

it
s 

ke
y

 e
le

m
e

n
ts

 –
H

o
m

e
 W

a
rd

 d
u

e
 t

o
 

re
cr

u
it

m
e

n
t 

d
if

fi
cu

lt
ie

s.
  

T
h

e
re

 i
s 

th
e

re
fo

re
 a

n
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
y

 t
o

 c
o

n
si

d
e

r 
h

o
w

 a
n

y
 

sl
ip

p
a

g
e

 w
it

h
in

 c
u

rr
e

n
t 

re
si

li
e

n
ce

 s
p

e
n

d
in

g
 s

h
o

u
ld

 b
e

 u
se

d
 t

o
 b

ri
d

g
e

 i
m

p
a

ct
 o

n
 

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
ce

 u
n

ti
l 

th
e

 H
o

m
e

 W
a

rd
 i

s 
in

 p
la

ce
.



5

S
ch

e
m

e
s

5

T
h

e
 t

w
o

 s
ch

e
m

e
s 

a
lr

e
a

d
y

 i
n

 p
la

ce
 a

re
 t

h
e

 N
a

v
ig

a
to

rs
 a

n
d

 I
m

p
ro

ve
d

 D
is

ch
a

rg
e

 I
n

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

N
a

v
ig

a
to

rs

4
 B

a
n

d
 4

 W
T

E
 N

a
v

ig
a

to
rs

 s
ta

rt
e

d
 o

n
 a

 3
 m

o
n

th
 t

ri
a

l 
b

a
si

s 
in

 M
a

y,
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 p

u
rp

o
se

 o
f 

su
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 

th
e

 w
a

rd
s 

in
 e

n
su

ri
n

g
 a

ll
 t

h
e

 n
e

ce
ss

a
ry

 p
a

p
e

rw
o

rk
 f

o
r 

a
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
e

d
 d

is
ch

a
rg

e
 w

a
s 

co
m

p
le

te
d

 i
n

 a
 

ti
m

e
ly

 m
a

n
n

e
r.

  
T

h
e

y
 w

e
re

 a
ss

ig
n

e
d

 t
o

 w
a

rd
s 

a
n

d
 e

n
a

b
le

 t
h

e
 D

is
ch

a
rg

e
 C

o
o

rd
in

a
to

rs
 t

o
 

co
n

ce
n

tr
a

te
 o

n
 t

h
e

 m
o

re
 c

o
m

p
le

x 
p

a
ti

e
n

ts
.

T
h

e
y

 m
a

d
e

 a
 s

ig
n

if
ic

a
n

t 
im

p
a

ct
 o

n
 t

h
e

 n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

d
a

ys
 f

o
r 

C
H

C
 p

a
p

e
r 

w
o

rk
 t

o
 b

e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d

  

(r
e

d
u

ce
d

 f
ro

m
 a

n
 a

ve
ra

g
e

 o
f 

1
2

 d
a

ys
 t

o
 l

e
ss

 t
h

a
n

 4
) 

a
n

d
 h

a
ve

 b
e

e
n

 w
e

ll
 r

e
ce

iv
e

d
 b

y
 w

a
rd

s 
a

n
d

 

cl
in

ic
a

l t
e

a
m

s.
  T

h
e

ir
 a

p
p

o
in

tm
e

n
ts

 h
a

ve
 b

e
e

n
 e

xt
e

n
d

e
d

 t
o

 e
n

d
 o

f 
M

a
rc

h
 2

0
1

7

Im
p

ro
v

e
d

 D
is

ch
a

rg
e

 I
n

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

T
h

e
 T

ru
st

 i
s 

n
o

w
 u

si
n

g
 a

 s
p

e
ci

a
ll

y
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
e

d
 d

a
ta

b
a

se
 t

o
 t

ra
ck

 a
ll

 c
o

m
p

le
x 

d
is

ch
a

rg
e

s,
 t

h
is

 

li
n

ks
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 I

ca
re

sy
st

e
m

 a
n

d
 e

n
a

b
le

s 
a

ll
 t

h
o

se
 i

n
vo

lv
e

d
 i

n
 a

 p
a

ti
e

n
ts

 d
is

ch
a

rg
e

 t
o

 u
p

d
a

te
 w

h
a

t 

is
 h

a
p

p
e

n
in

g
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 p

a
ti

e
n

t 
a

n
d

 s
h

a
re

 t
h

is
 w

it
h

 c
o

ll
e

a
g

u
e

s.
  W

e
 a

re
 c

u
rr

e
n

tl
y

 r
o

ll
in

g
 o

u
t 

a
cc

e
ss

 

to
 o

th
e

r 
a

g
e

n
ci

e
s 

o
n

 s
it

e
 t

o
 e

n
a

b
le

 t
h

e
m

 t
o

 i
n

p
u

t 
u

p
d

a
te

s 
d

ir
e

ct
ly

 a
n

d
 r

e
d

u
ce

 t
im

e
 l

o
st

 w
h

il
st

 

a
w

a
it

in
g

 p
ro

g
re

ss
 u

p
d

a
te

s 
fr

o
m

 p
a

n
e

l 
e

tc
. 



6

F
u

rt
h

e
r 

S
ch

e
m

e
s

6

D
is

cu
ss

io
n

 w
it

h
in

 t
h

e
 T

ru
st

 h
a

s 
su

g
g

e
st

e
d

 t
h

a
t 

th
e

re
 i

s 
b

e
n

e
fi

t 
in

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

 t
h

e
 

fo
ll

o
w

in
g

 s
ch

e
m

e
s 

to
 i

n
cr

e
a

se
 r

e
si

li
e

n
ce

 i
n

te
rn

a
ll

y.
  

E
xa

ct
 c

o
st

in
g

s 
a

re
 c

u
rr

e
n

tl
y

 b
e

in
g

 

a
g

re
e

d
 w

it
h

 f
in

a
n

ce
 t

o
 e

n
a

b
le

 t
h

is
:

•
A

d
d

it
io

n
a

l 
n

u
rs

e
 i

n
 E

D
 2

4
/7

 t
o

 i
n

cr
e

a
se

 s
a

fe
ty

 le
ve

ls
 d

u
e

 t
o

 d
e

m
a

n
d

 o
n

 t
h

e
 

d
e

p
a

rt
m

e
n

t

•
A

d
d

it
io

n
a

l 
p

h
a

rm
a

ci
st

 a
n

d
 p

h
a

rm
a

cy
 t

e
ch

n
ic

ia
n

 t
o

 r
e

d
u

ce
 d

e
la

ys
 i

n
 T

T
O

s 
a

n
d

 

su
p

p
o

rt
 d

is
ch

a
rg

e
s 

b
e

fo
re

 1
p

m
. 

In
 a

d
d

it
io

n
 O

p
e

ra
ti

o
n

 B
ri

d
g

e
, 

a
 p

ro
je

ct
 t

o
 r

e
d

u
ce

 t
h

e
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
R

e
a

d
y

 F
o

r 
D

is
ch

a
rg

e
 

p
a

ti
e

n
ts

 f
ro

m
 L

e
w

is
h

a
m

 C
C

G
 w

it
h

in
 a

cu
te

 b
e

d
s,

 w
h

ic
h

 h
a

s 
b

e
e

n
 r

u
n

n
in

g
 s

in
ce

 A
u

g
u

st
 

a
n

d
 i

s 
sh

o
w

in
g

 s
ig

n
fi

ca
n

t
im

p
a

ct
, 

is
 l

ik
e

ly
 t

o
 b

e
 e

xt
e

n
d

e
d

 t
o

 c
o

ve
r 

th
e

 g
a

p
 u

n
ti

l 
H

o
m

e
 

W
a

rd
 i

s 
in

 p
la

ce
.



7

O
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
 B

ri
d

g
e

7

O
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
 B

ri
d

g
e

 i
s 

fu
n

d
e

d
 f

ro
m

 C
C

G
 h

e
ld

 r
e

si
li

e
n

ce
 m

o
n

ie
s 

(s
e

p
a

ra
te

 t
o

 t
h

e
 

£
1

.4
M

il
li

o
n

) 
a

n
d

 c
o

n
si

st
s 

o
f 

th
e

 f
o

ll
o

w
in

g
:

•
In

cr
e

a
si

n
g

 R
e

so
u

rc
e

 f
o

r 
C

H
C

 N
u

rs
e

 A
ss

e
ss

m
e

n
t

•
Fa

m
il

y
 C

a
se

w
o

rk
e

rs

•
S

o
ci

a
l 

W
o

rk
e

r 
C

o
m

p
le

x 
C

a
se

 M
a

n
a

g
e

r

•
A

d
v

o
ca

cy

•
F

le
xi

b
le

 f
u

n
d

in
g

It
 h

a
s 

b
e

e
n

 r
u

n
n

in
g

 s
in

ce
 m

id
 A

u
g

u
st

 a
n

d
 h

a
s 

im
p

ro
ve

d
 t

h
e

 n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

Le
w

is
h

a
m

 

C
C

G
 p

a
ti

e
n

ts
 o

n
 t

h
e

 R
e

a
d

y
 f

o
r 

D
is

ch
a

rg
e

 l
is

t 
to

 b
e

lo
w

 4
0

, 
it

 h
a

s 
m

a
d

e
 s

ig
n

if
ic

a
n

t 

im
p

a
ct

 o
n

 w
a

it
s 

fo
r 

C
H

C
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
, 

IM
C

A
 (

In
d

e
p

e
n

d
e

n
t 

M
e

n
ta

l 
C

a
p

a
ci

ty
 A

ss
e

ss
m

e
n

t)
 

S
o

ci
a

l 
w

o
rk

 a
ss

e
ss

m
e

n
t 

a
n

d
 e

q
u

ip
m

e
n

t.
 

T
h

e
re

 i
s 

fu
rt

h
e

r 
w

o
rk

 o
n

g
o

in
g

 t
o

 p
ro

v
id

e
 i

n
cr

e
a

se
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 a

t 
e

ve
n

in
g

s 
a

n
d

 w
e

e
ke

n
d

s 

fo
r 

fa
m

il
ie

s 
id

e
n

ti
fy

in
g

 c
a

re
 h

o
m

e
s 

a
s 

th
e

re
 a

re
 a

 n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

p
a

ti
e

n
ts

 d
e

la
ye

d
 w

h
il

e
 

fa
m

il
ie

s 
m

a
ke

 t
h

e
se

 c
h

o
ic

e
s.

 





1. Summary

1.1 This year’s Annual Public Health Report (APHR) is themed on tackling 
obesity. It focuses on the Whole System Approach to Obesity, of which 
Lewisham is working alongside Leeds Beckett University as one of four 
national pilot sites and the only pilot site in London. The report also profiles 
the Jamie Oliver / Sustain Sugar Smart initiative which Lewisham is launching 
in October 2016; the first London borough to launch.

1.2 The report outlines the current state of obesity in the borough and the health 
consequences that obesity contributes to. This is followed by a selection of 
case studies which detail some of the excellent practice currently taking place 
across the borough in order to tackle obesity. The case studies have been 
themed as below:

 Breastfeeding
 Early Years
 Primary Schools
 Secondary Schools
 University Hospital Lewisham
 Leisure Centres and Sport
 Trinity Laban
 Parks
 Planning
 The Food Environment
 Transport

2. Purpose

2.1     This report provides members of the Healthier Communities Select Committee 
with the 2016 APHR, which is themed on The Whole System Approach to 
Obesity. Wider information on the entire population is also provided through 
the Public Health Performance Dashboards, which are provided as 
appendices to the main report.

HEALTHIER COMMUNITIES SELECT COMMITTEE
 
Title
 

Lewisham Annual Public Health Report 2016

Key Decision
 

No Item No.  5

Ward
 

Borough Wide

Contributors
 

Danny Ruta – Director of Public Health

Class
 

Part 1 Date: 18 October 2016



3. Recommendations

3.1      Members of the Healthier Communities Select Committee are asked to note, 
and to comment as they wish on the content of the report.

4. Policy context

4.1      The Health and Social Care Act 2012 states that the production of an APHR 
is a statutory duty of the Director of Public Health, which the local authority is 
responsible for publishing. The report aims to inform partners, professionals, 
and other decision makers, as well as the community about the health of the 
local population.

4.2 The publication of a themed report on The Whole System Approach to 
Obesity is to complement the work the council is currently undertaking as a 
pilot alongside Leeds Beckett University. The report also supports the Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy Priority of ‘Achieving a Healthy Weight’ and achieving 
the Sustainable Communities priority for Lewisham of healthy, active and 
enjoyable - where people can actively participate in maintaining and improving 
their health and well-being.

4.3 This report will also be submitted to the Health and Wellbeing Board, for 
information at its meeting on 15/11/2016.

5. The Whole System Approach to Obesity

5.1 Nationally obesity and its consequences cost the NHS £6.1bn per year, with the 
wider cost to the economy estimated at £27bn. In the UK, the contribution of 
diet-related risk factors to the burden of illness and disease, including high body 
mass index (BMI), is second only to tobacco use. The issue is particularly 
crucial for Lewisham as the borough has a high proportion of adults and children 
who are overweight or obese. Nearly two thirds of adults (137,000 people) and 
40% of 10-11 year-olds are overweight or obese.

5.2 The overarching aims of the Lewisham Whole System Obesity Action Plan are:

o To promote an environment that supports healthy weight and wellbeing 
as the norm, making it easier for our residents to choose healthier diets 
and active lifestyles;

o Supporting our communities and families to become healthier and 
more resilient, which will include addressing the wider determinants of 
health.

o at a strategic level, we will achieve these aims by engaging the wider 
Lewisham Partnership to ensure a better co-ordinated approach 
around the wider determinants of obesity, by forming a Lewisham 
Obesity Alliance. The alliance will continue to build on progress in 
delivering actions across four priority areas: Children and Young 
People; Increased Public Awareness and Engagement; Health and 
Public Services and the Environment.



6. Financial implications

6.1     There are no specific financial implications. However the committee may want 
to consider future resources and spend on tackling obesity in Lewisham 
following the report’s recommendations. 

7. Legal implications

7.1      The requirement to produce an APHR is set out above.

8. Crime and disorder implications

8.1      There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this report.

9. Equalities implications

9.1     Equalities Implications and the impact they have on health outcomes have 
been highlighted throughout the body of the report.

10. Environmental implications

10.1    As mentioned in point 5.2 above the Environment is a priority area for the 
Lewisham Whole System Obesity Action Plan. Therefore the aim is to 
positively impact the environment in relation to tackling obesity.

11. Conclusion

11.1 The report outlines the current issues around excess weight in Lewisham and 
demonstrates some of the excellent practice that is currently happening in 
order to reduce this. It highlights that it is not the sole responsibility of any one 
sector but that a joint, borough wide approach is needed to gain ground and 
stem the tide of obesity. By sharing details of best practice and initiatives in 
this report we aim to engage and recruit stakeholders across the whole 
community.

Background documents and originator

Lewisham’s Annual Public Health Report 2016
Public Health Performance Dashboards 
The 2015 Annual Public Health Report focussed on Children and Young People and 
is available here.

If there are any queries on this report please contact Dr Danny Ruta, Director of 
Public Health, Community Services Directorate, Lewisham Council, on 020 8314 
8637 or by email danny.ruta@lewisham.gov.uk

http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/aboutthecouncil/strategies/Documents/LewishamAnnualPublicHealthReport2015.pdf
mailto:danny.ruta@lewisham.gov.uk




Ta
ck

lin
g
 o

b
es

it
y 

in
 L

ew
is

h
am

:  
a 

w
h
o
le

 s
ys

te
m

 a
p
p
ro

ac
h

A
n
n
u
al

 P
u
b
lic

 H
ea

lt
h
 R

ep
o
rt

 f
o
r 

Le
w

is
h
am

 2
0
1
6

20
16

20
17

Ob
es

it
y

20
18

20
19

20
20

He
al

th
C
ar

e

C
hi

ld
ca

re
se

tt
in

gs
Pl

an
n
in

g

C
yc

li
ng

an
d

w
al

k
in

g

R
es

ta
ur

an
ts

an
d

ta
k
e 

aw
ay

s

Pa
rk

s

Le
is
ur

e
ce

nt
re

s

Br
ea

st
fe

ed
in

g 
Fr

ie
nd

ly

Sc
ho

o
ls

an
d

co
ll
eg

es



2

“T
h

e 
re

tu
rn

 o
f 

p
u

b
lic

 h
ea

lt
h

 f
u

n
ct

io
n

s 
to

 t
h

e 
co

n
tr

o
l 
o

f 
lo

ca
l 

co
u

n
ci

ls
 b

ro
u

g
h

t 
g

re
at

 o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

ie
s.

 H
o

w
ev

er
, 
G

o
ve

rn
m

en
t 

cu
ts

 t
o

 o
u

r 
fu

n
d

in
g

 m
ea

n
 w

e 
h

av
e 

to
u

g
h

 d
ec

is
io

n
s 

to
 m

ak
e,

 

so
 t

h
at

 o
u

r 
re

m
ai

n
in

g
 r

es
o

u
rc

es
 h

av
e 

th
e 

m
o

st
 i
m

p
ac

t 
o

n
 

th
e 

m
o

st
 v

u
ln

er
ab

le
 a

n
d

 n
ee

d
y 

in
 L

ew
is

h
am

’s
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it

ie
s.

In
 y

ea
rs

 g
o

n
e 

b
y,

 p
u

b
lic

 h
ea

lt
h

 w
o

rk
 f

o
cu

ss
ed

 o
n

 

p
ro

vi
d

in
g

 c
le

an
 d

ri
n

ki
n

g
 w

at
er

, 
im

p
ro

vi
n

g
 p

o
o

r 
sa

n
it

at
io

n
 

an
d

 e
lim

in
at

in
g

 e
p

id
em

ic
 d

is
ea

se
s.

 I
n

 t
h

e 
tw

en
ty

 fi
rs

t 

ce
n

tu
ry

, 
p

u
b

lic
 h

ea
lt

h
 i
n

te
rv

en
ti

o
n

s 
h

av
e 

b
ec

o
m

e 
m

o
re

 

so
p

h
is

ti
ca

te
d

, 
ta

ck
lin

g
 h

ea
lt

h
 i
n

eq
u

al
it

ie
s,

 a
d

d
re

ss
in

g
 i
ss

u
es

 

su
ch

 a
s 

sm
o

ki
n

g
, 
ex

ce
ss

 a
lc

o
h

o
l 
u

se
 a

n
d

 o
b

es
it

y,
  

al
l 
p

re
cu

rs
o

rs
 o

f 
p

re
m

at
u

re
 m

o
rt

al
it

y.

T
h

er
e 

is
 c

ru
el

 i
ro

n
y 

in
 t

h
e 

fa
ct

 t
h

at
, 
w

h
ils

t,
 i
n

 m
an

y 

re
g

io
n

s 
o

f 
o

u
r 

w
o

rl
d

, 
p

eo
p

le
 a

re
 s

ta
rv

in
g

, 
in

 L
ew

is
h

am
 a

n
d

 

el
se

w
h

er
e 

in
 t

h
e 

U
K

, 
o

b
es

it
y 

is
 o

n
 t

h
e 

in
cr

ea
se

. 
O

b
es

it
y 

is
 a

 m
aj

o
r 

co
n

tr
ib

u
to

r 
to

 h
ea

lt
h

 i
n

eq
u

al
it

ie
s,

 a
n

d
 w

e 
ca

n
 

al
l 
co

n
tr

ib
u

te
 t

o
 i
ts

 r
em

ed
y.

 T
h

e 
to

ta
l 
am

o
u

n
t 

o
f 

su
g

ar
 w

e 

F
o

re
w

o
rd

 

co
n

su
m

e 
is

 a
 s

ig
n

ifi
ca

n
t 

fa
ct

o
r 

in
 e

xc
es

s 
ca

lo
ri

e 
in

ta
ke

. 
 

W
e 

ar
e 

p
le

as
ed

 t
o

 b
e 

w
o

rk
in

g
 t

o
w

ar
d

s 
b

ec
o

m
in

g
 t

h
e 

fi
rs

t 

S
u

g
ar

 S
m

ar
t 

b
o

ro
u

g
h

 i
n

 L
o

n
d

o
n

.

T
h

is
 A

n
n

u
al

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

lt
h

 R
ep

o
rt

 h
ig

h
lig

h
ts

 t
h

at
 i
t 

is
 n

o
t 

ju
st

 o
u

r 
h

ea
lt

h
 c

o
lle

ag
u

es
 w

h
o

 w
ill

 d
el

iv
er

 t
h

is
 s

tr
at

eg
y,

 

b
u

t 
ev

er
y 

Le
w

is
h

am
 C

o
u

n
ci

l 
D

ir
ec

to
ra

te
 h

as
 a

 p
ar

t 
to

 

p
la

y.
 B

ey
o

n
d

 t
h

e 
C

o
u

n
ci

l,
 w

e 
m

u
st

 e
n

g
ag

e 
em

p
lo

ye
rs

 

an
d

 b
u

si
n

es
se

s 
so

 o
u

r 
ap

p
ro

ac
h

 i
s 

em
b

ed
d

ed
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
o

u
t 

Le
w

is
h

am
 B

o
ro

u
g

h
.

W
e 

w
el

co
m

e 
th

e 
A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 o
f 

th
e 

D
ir

ec
to

r 
o

f 
P

u
b

lic
 

H
ea

lt
h

 a
n

d
 c

o
m

m
en

d
 i
t 

to
 o

u
r 

re
ad

er
s.

”

 T
h

e
 M

a
y
o

r,
 S

ir
 S

te
ve

 B
u

ll
o

ck
 

C
o

u
n

ci
ll

o
r 

Jo
h

n
 M

u
ld

o
o

n



3

T
h

e 
w

o
rl

d
 i
s 

h
it

ti
n

g
 t

h
e 

p
ea

k 
o

f 
a 

tr
u

ly
 g

lo
b

al
 e

p
id

em
ic

 o
f 

o
b

es
it

y…
 a

n
d

 t
h

at
 m

ak
es

 i
t 

a 
p

an
d

em
ic

. 
M

o
st

 p
eo

p
le

 d
o

n
’t

 

th
in

k 
o

f 
it

 t
h

at
 w

ay
, 
b

ec
au

se
 u

n
lik

e 
sw

in
e 

fl
u

, 
th

e 
o

b
es

it
y 

p
an

d
em

ic
 i
s 

ta
ki

n
g

 y
ea

rs
 t

o
 s

p
re

ad
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
e 

h
u

m
an

 r
ac

e,
 

n
o

t 
m

o
n

th
s.

 I
t 

m
ay

 b
e 

a 
sl

o
w

 b
u

rn
, 
b

u
t 

th
e 

d
ea

th
 t

o
ll 

is
 w

ay
 

h
ig

h
er

 t
h

an
 a

n
y 

in
fe

ct
io

u
s 

p
an

d
em

ic
 w

e’
ve

 e
ve

r 
se

en
. 
It

’s
 

af
fe

ct
in

g
 g

lo
b

al
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
s 

in
 d

if
fe

re
n

t 
w

ay
s;

 in
 lo

w
 in

co
m

e 

co
u

n
tr

ie
s 

fo
r 

ex
am

p
le

 t
h

e 
h

ig
h

es
t 

o
b

es
it

y 
ra

te
s 

ar
e 

se
en

 

am
o

n
g

st
 t

h
e 

w
ea

lt
h

ie
st

, 
w

h
ils

t 
in

 h
ig

h
 i
n

co
m

e 
co

u
n

tr
ie

s 
lik

e 

th
e 

U
K

 o
b

es
it

y 
ra

te
s 

ar
e 

tw
ic

e 
as

 h
ig

h
 a

m
o

n
g

st
 t

h
e 

p
o

o
re

st
 

co
m

p
ar

ed
 w

it
h

 t
h

e 
w

el
l 
o

ff
.

T
h

e 
w

o
rl

d
’s

 s
ci

en
ti

st
s 

ag
re

e 
th

at
 h

o
w

ev
er

 t
h

e 
o

b
es

it
y 

p
an

d
em

ic
 i
s 

p
la

yi
n

g
 o

u
t 

ac
ro

ss
 t

h
e 

g
lo

b
e,

 t
h

e 
u

n
d

er
ly

in
g

 

ca
u

se
 i
s 

th
e 

sa
m

e…
 i
t 

is
 a

 n
o

rm
al

 r
es

p
o

n
se

, 
o

f 
n

o
rm

al
 

h
u

m
an

 b
ei

n
g

s,
 t

o
 a

n
 e

n
vi

ro
n

m
en

t 
th

at
 h

as
 b

ec
o

m
e 

ve
ry

, 

ve
ry

 a
b

n
o

rm
al

. 
W

e 
h

av
en

’t
 b

ec
o

m
e 

la
zi

er
, 
o

r 
g

re
ed

ie
r,
 s

in
ce

 

th
e 

1
9
8
0
s.

 W
h

at
 h

as
 c

h
an

g
ed

 t
o

 s
o

m
e 

ex
te

n
t 

is
 t

h
e 

am
o

u
n

t 

o
f 

en
er

g
y 

w
e 

n
ee

d
 t

o
 b

u
rn

 t
o

 g
et

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

e 
d

ay
, 
b

u
t 

w
h

at
 

h
as

 c
h

an
g

ed
 d

ra
m

at
ic

al
ly

 i
s 

th
e 

am
o

u
n

t 
o

f 
h

ig
h

 e
n

er
g

y,
 

h
ig

h
 f

at
, 
an

d
 v

er
y 

h
ig

h
 s

u
g

ar
 f

o
o

d
 t

h
at

 s
u

rr
o

u
n

d
s 

u
s.

W
h

en
 i
t 

co
m

es
 t

o
 s

im
ila

r 
g

lo
b

al
 c

it
ie

s 
–
 P

ar
is

, 
N

ew
 Y

o
rk

, 

Sy
d

n
ey

, 
M

ad
ri

d
 –

 L
o

n
d

o
n

 t
o

p
s 

th
e 

o
b

es
it

y 
le

ag
u

e 
ta

b
le

. 

Lo
n

d
o

n
’s

 c
h

ild
h

o
o

d
 o

b
es

it
y 

ra
te

s 
ar

e 
w

o
rs

e 
th

an
 t

h
e 

re
st

  

o
f 

E
n

g
la

n
d

, 
w

it
h

 o
ve

r 
2
2
%

 o
f 

1
0
–
1
1
 y

ea
r 

o
ld

s 
cl

as
si

fi
ed

  

as
 o

b
es

e.
 O

b
es

it
y 

w
ill

 k
ill

 m
o

re
 o

f 
o

u
r 

ch
ild

re
n

 t
h

an
 

sm
o

ki
n

g
, 
al

co
h

o
l 
an

d
 d

ru
g

s,
 a

n
d

 i
f 

w
e 

d
o

n
’t

 r
ev

er
se

 t
h

e 

ep
id

em
ic

, 
th

en
 f

o
r 

th
e 

fi
rs

t 
ti

m
e 

in
 h

u
n

d
re

d
s 

o
f 

ye
ar

s,
 o

u
r 

ch
ild

re
n

 m
ig

h
t 

ex
p

er
ie

n
ce

 a
 s

h
o

rt
er

 l
if

e 
ex

p
ec

ta
n

cy
 t

h
an

 

th
ei

r 
p

ar
en

ts
.

In
 2

0
1
6
 L

ew
is

h
am

 C
o

u
n

ci
l 
w

as
 a

w
ar

d
ed

 N
at

io
n

al
 P

ilo
t 

st
at

u
s 

fo
r 

a 
w

h
o

le
 s

ys
te

m
 a

p
p

ro
ac

h
 t

o
 t

ac
kl

in
g

 o
b

es
it

y,
  

o
n

e 
o

f 
o

n
ly

 f
o

u
r 

lo
ca

l 
au

th
o

ri
ti

es
 i
n

 t
h

e 
co

u
n

tr
y 

an
d

 t
h

e 

o
n

ly
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 B

o
ro

u
g

h
. 
A

 w
h

o
le

 s
ys

te
m

s 
ap

p
ro

ac
h

 n
o

t 
 

o
n

ly
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
s 

in
d

iv
id

u
al

 b
eh

av
io

u
r 

ch
an

g
e,

 b
u

t 
it

 b
ri

n
g

s 

ab
o

u
t 

h
ea

lt
h

y 
ea

ti
n

g
 a

n
d

 i
n

cr
ea

se
d

 p
h

ys
ic

al
 a

ct
iv

it
y 

in
d

ir
ec

tl
y 

b
y 

cr
ea

ti
n

g
 a

 l
es

s 
‘o

b
es

o
g

en
ic

’ 
en

vi
ro

n
m

en
t 

 

in
 w

h
ic

h
 p

eo
p

le
 l
iv

e.
 T

h
is

 i
n

vo
lv

es
 a

n
d

 e
n

g
ag

es
  

st
ak

eh
o

ld
er

s 
ac

ro
ss

 s
o

ci
et

y 
an

d
 i
n

cl
u

d
es

 s
ch

o
o

ls
, 
th

e 
N

H
S
, 

fo
o

d
 r

et
ai

le
rs

, 
fo

o
d

 m
an

u
fa

ct
u

re
rs

 a
n

d
 s

u
p

p
lie

rs
, 
to

w
n

 

p
la

n
n

in
g

, 
tr

an
sp

o
rt

, 
sp

o
rt

 a
n

d
 l
ei

su
re

, 
th

e 
vo

lu
n

ta
ry

 s
ec

to
r,
 

an
d

 m
an

y 
o

th
er

 s
ec

to
rs

.

O
u

r 
w

h
o

le
 s

ys
te

m
 a

p
p

ro
ac

h
 t

o
 r

ed
u

ce
 t

h
e 

im
p

ac
t 

o
f 

th
e 

‘o
b

es
o

g
en

ic
’ 
en

vi
ro

n
m

en
t 

in
cl

u
d

es
 e

n
g

ag
in

g
 t

h
e 

w
id

er
 

Le
w

is
h

am
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 t

o
 f

o
rm

 a
 L

ew
is

h
am

 O
b

es
it

y 
 

A
lli

an
ce

. T
h

er
e 

is
 a

lr
ea

d
y 

a 
h

u
g

e 
am

o
u

n
t 

o
f 

g
o

o
d

 w
o

rk
 

ta
ki

n
g

 p
la

ce
 i
n

 L
ew

is
h

am
, 
w

e 
h

av
e 

m
ad

e 
so

m
e 

p
ro

g
re

ss
 b

u
t 

w
e 

n
ee

d
 t

o
 d

o
 e

ve
n

 m
o

re
. T

h
e 

A
lli

an
ce

 w
ill

 i
n

it
ia

lly
 f

o
cu

s 

o
n

 t
h

re
e 

ke
y 

ac
ti

o
n

s 
to

 c
re

at
e 

h
ea

lt
h

y 
en

vi
ro

n
m

en
ts

: 
S
u

g
ar

 

S
m

ar
t 

Le
w

is
h

am
; 
th

e 
Le

w
is

h
am

 D
ai

ly
 M

ile
; 
an

d
 U

se
 o

f 

Le
w

is
h

am
’s

 P
ar

ks
.

In
tr

o
d

u
ct

io
n

 f
ro

m
 D

ir
e
ct

o
r 

o
f 

P
u

b
li

c 
H

e
a
lt

h
 –

 D
r 

D
a
n

n
y
 R

u
ta

 



4

L
e
w

is
h

a
m

’s
 w

h
o

le
 s

y
st

e
m

s 
a
p

p
ro

a
ch

  
to

 o
b

e
si

ty
 a

ct
io

n
 p

la
n

 T
h

e
 L

e
w

is
h

a
m

 O
b

e
si

ty
 A

ct
io

n
 P

la
n

 h
a
s 

it
s 

o
ve

ra
rc

h
in

g
 a

im
s 

a
s:

 

  P
ro

m
o

te
 a

n
 e

n
vi

ro
n

m
en

t 
th

at
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
s 

h
ea

lt
h

y 
w

ei
g

h
t 

an
d

 w
el

lb
ei

n
g

 a
s 

th
e 

n
o

rm
, 
m

ak
in

g
 i
t 

ea
si

er
 f

o
r 

o
u

r 

re
si

d
en

ts
 t

o
 c

h
o

o
se

 h
ea

lt
h

ie
r 

d
ie

ts
 a

n
d

 a
ct

iv
e 

lif
es

ty
le

s

   S
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

 o
u

r 
co

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s 
an

d
 f

am
ili

es
 t

o
 b

ec
o

m
e 

h
ea

lt
h

ie
r 

an
d

 m
o

re
 r

es
ili

en
t,

 w
h

ic
h

 w
ill

 i
n

cl
u

d
e 

ad
d

re
ss

in
g

 t
h

e 
w

id
er

 d
et

er
m

in
an

ts
 o

f 
h

ea
lt

h

  T
ac

kl
e 

th
e 

w
ei

g
h

t 
is

su
es

 o
f 

th
o

se
 w

h
o

 a
re

 a
lr

ea
d

y 

o
ve

rw
ei

g
h

t 
an

d
 o

b
es

e

W
e
 w

il
l 

st
ri

ve
 t

o
 d

o
 t

h
is

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 w
o

rk
 o

ve
r 

fo
u

r 
 

p
ri

o
ri

ty
 a

re
a
s:

 C
h

il
d

re
n

 a
n

d
 Y

o
u

n
g

 P
e
o

p
le

  
 

 
B

re
as

tf
ee

d
in

g

 
In

tr
o

d
u

ci
n

g
 S

o
lid

 F
o

o
d

 
S
ch

o
o

ls

 I
n

cr
e
a
se

d
 P

u
b

li
c 

A
w

a
re

n
e
ss

 a
n

d
 E

n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n

t

 
Jo

u
rn

ey
s 

o
n

 f
o

o
t 

o
r 

b
ik

e

 
S
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

 a
ct

iv
e 

p
eo

p
le

 

 
K

n
o

w
le

d
g

e

 H
e
a
lt

h
 a

n
d

 P
u

b
li

c 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

 
H

ea
lt

h
 S

er
vi

ce
s

 
E

n
g

ag
em

en
t 

an
d

 C
o

m
m

it
m

en
t 

 
W

o
rk

p
la

ce
s

 E
n

vi
ro

n
m

e
n

t 

 
A

cc
es

s 
to

 h
ea

lt
h

y 
fo

o
d

s 

 
P

h
ys

ic
al

 e
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
t 

 
P

u
b

lic
 a

n
d

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

se
tt

in
g

s

W
o

rk
 h

as
 a

lr
ea

d
y 

st
ar

te
d

 o
n

 t
h

re
e 

ke
y 

ac
ti

o
n

s 
to

 c
re

at
e 

h
ea

lt
h

ie
r 

en
vi

ro
n

m
en

ts
, 
w

h
ic

h
 a

re
 d

is
cu

ss
ed

 i
n

 m
o

re
 d

et
ai

l 

in
 t

h
is

 r
ep

o
rt

:

F
o

o
d

 B
ec

o
m

e 
a 

S
u

g
ar

 S
m

ar
t 

B
o

ro
u

g
h

P
h

y
si

ca
l 

a
ct

iv
it

y
 I
m

p
le

m
en

t 
th

e 
D

ai
ly

 M
ile

 i
n

  

p
ri

m
ar

y 
sc

h
o

o
ls

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s 
Im

p
ro

ve
 a

cc
es

s 
an

d
 a

p
p

ea
l 
o

f 
p

ar
ks

  

fo
r 

re
cr

ea
ti

o
n

W
id

e
r 

O
b

e
si

ty
 A

ll
ia

n
ce

 E
n

g
ag

e 
th

e 
w

id
er

 L
ew

is
h

am
 

p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 i
n

to
 t

h
e 

w
h

o
le

 s
ys

te
m

 a
p

p
ro

ac
h

O
u

r 
G

o
a

ls
 

C
h

a
n

g
e

 t
h

e
 

im
p

a
c

t 
o

f 
th

e
 

o
b

e
s

o
g

e
n

ic
 

e
n

vi
ro

n
m

e
n

t 

 & In
c

re
a

s
e

 t
h

e
 

p
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 

re
s

id
e

n
ts

 w
it

h
 a

 

h
e

a
lt

h
y 

w
e

ig
h

t



5

W
h

e
re

 L
e
w

is
h

a
m

 i
s 

n
o

w
 o

n
 t

a
ck

li
n

g
 o

b
e
si

ty
 –

 t
h

e
 c

u
rr

e
n

t 
p

ic
tu

re

K
e
y
: 

  
  
 U

n
d

er
w

ei
g

h
t 

H
ea

lt
h

y 
W

ei
g

h
t

  
  

  
O

ve
rw

ei
g

h
t 

O
b

es
e

C
h

il
d

h
o

o
d

 O
b

e
si

ty
 –

 R
e
ce

p
ti

o
n

L
at

es
t 

fi
g

u
re

s 
fr

o
m

 t
h

e 
N

at
io

n
al

 C
h

ild
 M

ea
su

re
m

en
t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
sh

o
w

 t
h

at
 i
n

 2
0

1
4

/
1

5
, 

2
3

.7
%

 o
f 

ch
ild

re
n

 

in
 R

ec
ep

ti
o

n
 h

ad
 e

xc
es

s 
w

ei
g

h
t 

(1
1

.2
%

 o
f 

w
h

ic
h

 w
er

e 

o
b

es
e)

. 
Le

ve
ls

 c
o

n
ti

n
u

e 
to

 b
e 

si
g

n
ifi

ca
n

tl
y 

h
ig

h
er

 t
h

an
 

th
e 

n
at

io
n

al
 a

ve
ra

g
e.

 

C
h

il
d

h
o

o
d

 O
b

e
si

ty
 –

 Y
e
a
r 

6
3

9
.3

%
 o

f 
ch

ild
re

n
 i
n

 Y
ea

r 
6

 h
av

e 
ex

ce
ss

  

w
ei

g
h

t 
(i

n
cl

u
d

in
g

 2
4

.8
%

 w
h

o
 a

re
 o

b
es

e)
.

A
d

u
lt

 O
b

e
si

ty
A

 m
o
d
el

le
d
 e

st
im

at
e 

o
f 

ad
u
lt

 o
b
es

it
y 

p
re

va
le

n
ce

 in
 

Le
w

is
h
am

 is
 2

3
.7

%
, 
(2

0
1
2
) 

th
is

 is
 n

o
t 

si
g
n
ifi

ca
n
tl

y 

d
if

fe
re

n
t 

to
 t

h
e 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 a

ve
ra

g
e,

 a
n
d
 in

d
ic

at
es

 t
h
at

 

ar
o
u
n
d
 5

3
,0

0
0
 r

es
id

en
ts

 a
re

 o
b
es

e.
 R

ec
en

tl
y 

p
u
b
lis

h
ed

 

d
at

a 
fo

r 
Le

w
is

h
am

 o
n
 t

h
e 

p
re

va
le

n
ce

 o
f 

ex
ce

ss
 w

ei
g
h
t 

(o
ve

rw
ei

g
h
t 

an
d
 o

b
es

e)
 in

 a
d
u
lt

s 
is

 6
1
.2

%
, 
si

m
ila

r 
to

 t
h
e 

n
at

io
n
al

 a
ve

ra
g
e 

b
u
t 

h
ig

h
er

 t
h
an

 t
h
e 

Lo
n
d
o
n
 a

ve
ra

g
e 

(5
7
.3

%
).

 A
 s

im
ila

r 
le

ve
l o

f 
ex

ce
ss

 w
ei

g
h
t 

(5
7
.9

%
) 

is
 s

ee
n

 

in
 a

d
u
lt

s 
ag

ed
 4

0
-7

4
 y

ea
rs

 -
 m

o
n
it
o
re

d
 a

s 
p
ar

t 
o
f 

th
e 

N
H

S
 

h
ea

lt
h
 c

h
ec

ks
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e.
 A

 c
o
n
ce

rn
 is

 t
h
at

 G
P

 P
ra

ct
ic

es
 

in
 L

ew
is

h
am

 a
re

 n
o
ta

b
ly

 u
n
d
er

-r
ep

o
rt

in
g
 o

b
es

it
y.

C
h

il
d

re
n

 l
iv

in
g

 i
n

 t
h

e
 m

o
st

 d
e
p

ri
ve

d
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it

ie
s 

a
re

 t
w

ic
e
 a

s 
li

k
e
ly

 t
o

 b
e
 o

b
e
se

 o
r 

o
ve

rw
e
ig

h
t 

a
s 

th
o

se
 i

n
 t

h
e
 l

e
a
st

 d
e
p

ri
ve

d
 f

o
r 

b
o

th
 a

g
e
 g

ro
u

p
s 

m
e
a
su

re
d

.



6

M
a
te

rn
a
l 
o

b
e
si

ty
M

at
er

n
al

 o
b
es

it
y 

in
cr

ea
se

s 
th

e 
ri
sk

 o
f 

p
o
o
r 

p
re

g
n
an

cy
 

o
u
tc

o
m

es
 a

n
d
 is

 a
 r

is
k 

fa
ct

o
r 

fo
r 

ch
ild

h
o
o
d
 o

b
es

it
y.

 D
at

a 
fr

o
m

 

Le
w

is
h
am

 H
o
sp

it
al

 f
o
r 

2
0
1
5
 in

d
ic

at
es

 t
h
at

 4
5
.9

%
 o

f 
w

o
m

en
 

b
o
o
ki

n
g
 a

t 
th

e 
h
o
sp

it
al

 in
 2

0
1
5
 h

ad
 e

xc
es

s 
w

ei
g
h
t,

 a
 s

lig
h
t 

in
cr

ea
se

 f
ro

m
 2

0
1
4
. 
1
6
.1

%
 o

f 
th

is
 g

ro
u
p
 w

er
e 

o
b
es

e.

B
re

a
st

fe
e
d

in
g

 
B

re
as

tf
ee

d
in

g
 h

as
 m

an
y 

b
en

efi
ts

 w
h

ic
h

 i
n

cl
u

d
e 

re
d

u
ci

n
g

 

th
e 

ri
sk

 o
f 

o
b

es
it

y 
an

d
 t

yp
e 

2
 d

ia
b

et
es

. 
It

 a
ls

o
 r

ed
u

ce
s 

th
e 

ri
sk

 t
o

 t
h

e 
m

o
th

er
 o

f 
o

b
es

it
y.

 I
n

 L
ew

is
h

am
 o

ve
r 

8
5
%

 

o
f 

w
o

m
en

 i
n

it
ia

te
 b

re
as

tf
ee

d
in

g
, 
th

is
 i
s 

n
o

ta
b

ly
 h

ig
h

er
 

th
an

 t
h

e 
n

at
io

n
al

 a
ve

ra
g

e 
o

f 
7
4
%

. 
F
u

rt
h

er
m

o
re

 w
o

m
en

 i
n

 

Le
w

is
h

am
 a

re
 m

u
ch

 m
o

re
 l
ik

el
y 

to
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
e 

b
re

as
tf

ee
d

in
g

 

as
 a

t 
6
-8

 w
ee

ks
 f

o
llo

w
in

g
 b

ir
th

 7
4
%

 o
f 

b
ab

ie
s 

ar
e 

b
re

as
t 

fe
d

, 
co

m
p

ar
ed

 t
o

 4
4
%

 a
cr

o
ss

 E
n

g
la

n
d

. 
Le

w
is

h
am

 n
o

w
 h

as
 

U
N

IC
E

F
 B

ab
y 

F
ri

en
d

ly
 a

cc
re

d
it

at
io

n
 f

o
r 

th
e 

co
m

m
u

n
it

y 
w

it
h

 

th
e 

m
at

er
n

it
y 

se
rv

ic
es

 w
o

rk
in

g
 t

o
w

ar
d

s 
st

ag
e 

3
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t.
 

In
tr

o
d

u
ci

n
g

 s
o

li
d

 f
o

o
d

s
It

 i
s 

re
co

m
m

en
d

ed
 t

h
at

 s
o

lid
 f

o
o

d
s 

sh
o

u
ld

 b
e 

in
tr

o
d

u
ce

d
 

w
h

en
 b

ab
ie

s 
ar

e 
ar

o
u

n
d

 6
 m

o
n

th
s 

o
ld

. 
N

at
io

n
al

 s
u

rv
ey

s 

sh
o

w
 t

h
at

 m
o

st
 f

am
ili

es
 i
n

tr
o

d
u

ce
d

 s
o

lid
s 

at
 a

n
 e

ar
lie

r 
ag

e,
 

th
re

e 
q

u
ar

te
rs

 (
7
5
%

) 
h

ad
 i
n

tr
o

d
u

ce
d

 s
o

lid
s 

b
y 

th
e 

ti
m

e 
th

ei
r 

b
ab

ie
s 

w
er

e 
5
 m

o
n

th
s 

o
ld

. 
B

ab
ie

s 
th

at
 a

re
 n

o
t 

in
tr

o
d

u
ce

d
 

to
 s

o
lid

 f
o

o
d

 b
ef

o
re

 t
h

ey
 a

re
 r

ea
d

y 
an

d
 i
n

tr
o

d
u

ce
d

 t
o

 a
 

ra
n

g
e 

o
f 

h
ea

lt
h

y 
fo

o
d

s 
ar

e 
at

 r
ed

u
ce

d
 r

is
k 

o
f 

b
ec

o
m

in
g

 

o
ve

rw
ei

g
h

t.
 E

n
co

u
ra

g
in

g
 t

h
e 

in
ta

ke
 o

f 
a 

w
id

e 
va

ri
et

y 
o

f 

h
ea

lt
h

y 
fo

o
d

s 
al

so
 h

el
p

s 
d

ev
el

o
p

 g
o

o
d

 f
o

o
d

 h
ab

it
s 

in
 

ch
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 t

h
ei

r 
fa

m
ili

es
. 



7

P
h

y
si

ca
l 
a
ct

iv
it

y
Ju

st
 o

ve
r 

h
al

f 
(5

7
%

) 
o

f 
Le

w
is

h
am

 a
d

u
lt

s 
ar

e 
cl

as
se

d
 a

s 

P
h

ys
ic

al
ly

 A
ct

iv
e,

 (
ac

h
ie

vi
n

g
 a

t 
le

as
t 

1
5
0
 m

in
u

te
s 

o
f 

ex
er

ci
se

 a
 w

ee
k)

. T
h

is
 i
s 

in
 l
in

e 
w

it
h

 t
h

e 
E

n
g

la
n

d
 a

ve
ra

g
e.

 

In
ac

ti
vi

ty
 l
ev

el
s 

ar
e 

al
so

 c
o

m
p

ar
ab

le
 w

it
h

 o
ve

r 
a 

q
u

ar
te

r 
o

f 

ad
u

lt
s 

ac
h

ie
vi

n
g

 l
es

s 
th

an
 3

0
 m

in
u

te
s 

ac
ti

vi
ty

 p
er

 w
ee

k.
 

M
en

 a
re

 m
o

re
 l
ik

el
y 

to
 t

ak
e 

p
ar

t 
in

 s
p

o
rt

 a
n

d
 r

ec
re

at
io

n
 

th
an

 w
o

m
en

. 
F
o

r 
th

o
se

 a
g

ed
 1

5
, 
o

n
ly

 1
1
.3

%
 w

er
e 

p
h

ys
ic

al
ly

 

ac
ti

ve
 f

o
r 

at
 l
ea

st
 o

n
e 

h
o

u
r 

p
er

 d
ay

 s
ev

en
 d

ay
s 

a 
w

ee
k.



8

D
ie

t
N

at
io

n
al

 s
u

rv
ey

s 
sh

o
w

 t
h

at
 o

ve
ra

ll 
th

e 
p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
 i
s 

 

st
ill

 c
o

n
su

m
in

g
 t

o
o

 m
u

ch
 s

at
u

ra
te

d
 f

at
, 
ad

d
ed

 s
u

g
ar

s 
an

d
 

sa
lt

 a
n

d
 n

o
t 

en
o

u
g

h
 f

ru
it

, 
ve

g
et

ab
le

s,
 o

ily
 fi

sh
 a

n
d

 fi
b

re
. 

O
n

ly
 4

4
%

 o
f 

Le
w

is
h

am
 a

d
u

lt
s 

m
ee

t 
th

e 
re

co
m

m
en

d
ed

  

5
 a

 d
ay

 f
o

r 
fr

u
it

 a
n

d
 v

eg
et

ab
le

s 
w

h
ic

h
 i
s 

lo
w

er
 t

h
an

 t
h

e 

n
at

io
n

al
 a

ve
ra

g
e.

 

D
e
p

ri
va

ti
o

n
T

h
o

u
g

h
 i
m

p
ro

vi
n

g
 L

ew
is

h
am

 c
o
n
ti

n
u
es

 t
o
 b

e 
am

o
n
g
st

 t
h
e 

2
0
%

 m
o
st

 d
ep

ri
ve

d
 lo

ca
l a

u
th

o
ri
ti

es
 in

 E
n
g
la

n
d
. 
P

eo
p
le

 li
vi

n
g

 

in
 t

h
e 

m
o
st

 d
ep

ri
ve

d
 a

re
as

 h
av

e 
p
o
o
re

r 
h
ea

lt
h
 o

u
tc

o
m

es
 a

n
d

 

lo
w

er
 li

fe
 e

xp
ec

ta
n
cy

 c
o
m

p
ar

ed
 t

o
 t

h
e 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 a

ve
ra

g
e.

 C
h
ild

 

p
o

ve
rt

y 
th

o
u

g
h

 i
m

p
ro

vi
n

g
 r

em
ai

n
s 

si
g

n
ifi

ca
n

tl
y 

h
ig

h
er

 t
h

an
 

E
n

g
la

n
d

 a
t 

2
6
.7

%
. 
F
o

o
d

 p
o

ve
rt

y 
h

as
 a

ls
o

 b
ee

n
 i
d

en
ti

fi
ed

 

as
 a

 k
ey

 i
ss

u
e.

 T
h

e 
G

re
at

er
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 A

u
th

o
ri

ty
 r

ep
o

rt
, 
C

h
ild

 

H
u

n
g

er
 i
n

 L
o

n
d

o
n

 r
ep

o
rt

ed
 t

h
at

 2
1
%

 o
f 

p
ar

en
ts

 s
u

rv
ey

ed
 

re
p

o
rt

ed
 s

ki
p

p
in

g
 m

ea
ls

 s
o

 t
h

at
 t

h
ei

r 
ch

ild
re

n
 c

o
u

ld
 e

at
 a

n
d

 

9
%

 o
f 

ch
ild

re
n

 i
n

 L
o

n
d

o
n

 s
ai

d
 t

h
ey

 s
o

m
et

im
es

 o
r 

o
ft

en
 g

o
 

to
 b

ed
 h

u
n

g
ry

. 
If

 t
h

es
e 

fi
g

u
re

s 
w

er
e 

ap
p

lie
d

 t
o

 L
ew

is
h

am
 

it
 i
s 

es
ti

m
at

ed
 t

h
at

 1
9
,0

0
0
 p

ar
en

ts
 i
n

 L
ew

is
h

am
 s

ki
p

 m
ea

ls
 

so
 t

h
ei

r 
ch

ild
re

n
 c

an
 e

at
 a

n
d

 6
,0

0
0
 c

h
ild

re
n

 i
n

 L
ew

is
h

am
 

so
m

et
im

es
 o

r 
o

ft
en

 g
o

 t
o

 b
ed

 h
u

n
g

ry
. T

h
e 

in
ab

ili
ty

 f
o

r 

fa
m

ili
es

 t
o

 a
ff

o
rd

 h
ea

lt
h

y 
d

ie
ts

 f
o

r 
th

ei
r 

ch
ild

re
n

 i
s 

lik
el

y 
to

 

h
av

e 
an

 i
m

p
ac

t 
o

n
 o

u
r 

ch
ild

h
o

o
d

 o
b

es
it

y 
ra

te
s.

 A
ct

io
n

s 
to

 

ta
ck

le
 f

o
o

d
 p

o
ve

rt
y 

ar
e 

in
co

rp
o

ra
te

d
 i
n

 t
h

e 
ac

ti
o

n
 p

la
n

s 
o

f 

th
e 

Le
w

is
h

am
 F

o
o

d
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
.



9

Im
p

a
ct

 o
f 

o
b

e
si

ty
O

b
es

it
y 

is
 l
in

ke
d

 t
o

 m
an

y 
se

ri
o

u
s 

h
ea

lt
h

 r
is

ks
 i
n

 b
o

th
 

ch
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 a

d
u

lt
s.

 T
h

es
e 

in
cl

u
d

e 
ty

p
e 

2
 d

ia
b

et
es

, 

ca
rd

io
va

sc
u

la
r 

d
is

ea
se

, 
re

sp
ir

at
o

ry
 i
lln

es
se

s,
 j
o

in
t 

an
d

 

m
o

ve
m

en
t 

p
ro

b
le

m
s 

an
d

 b
re

as
t 

an
d

 c
o

lo
n

 c
an

ce
r.
 N

o
t 

o
n

ly
 

ar
e 

o
b

es
e 

p
eo

p
le

 m
o

re
 l
ik

el
y 

to
 d

ev
el

o
p

 p
h

ys
ic

al
 p

ro
b

le
m

s 

th
ey

 a
re

 a
ls

o
 m

o
re

 l
ik

el
y 

to
 d

ev
el

o
p

 p
sy

ch
o

lo
g

ic
al

 p
ro

b
le

m
s 

su
ch

 a
s 

d
ep

re
ss

io
n

 a
n

d
 l
o

w
 s

el
f-

es
te

em
.

O
b

es
e 

ad
u

lt
s 

ar
e 

se
ve

n
 t

im
es

 m
o

re
 l
ik

el
y 

to
 b

ec
o

m
e 

ty
p

e 

2
 d

ia
b

et
ic

 t
h

an
 a

d
u

lt
s 

o
f 

a 
h

ea
lt

h
y 

w
ei

g
h

t.
 O

b
es

it
y 

al
so

 

d
o

u
b

le
s 

th
e 

ri
sk

 o
f 

d
yi

n
g

 p
re

m
at

u
re

ly
. 

T
h

e 
d

is
p

ro
p

o
rt

io
n

at
e 

im
p

ac
t 

o
f 

o
b

es
it

y 
is

 c
ri

ti
ca

l 
to

 

Le
w

is
h

am
. 
A

s 
th

e 
4
8
th

 m
o

st
 d

ep
ri

ve
d

 l
o

ca
l 
au

th
o

ri
ty

 

in
 E

n
g

la
n

d
, 
Le

w
is

h
am

 r
es

id
en

ts
 a

re
 m

o
re

 v
u

ln
er

ab
le

 

to
 b

ec
o

m
in

g
 o

b
es

e.
 L

ew
is

h
am

 i
s 

al
so

 o
n

e 
o

f 
th

e 
m

o
st

 

et
h

n
ic

al
ly

 d
iv

er
se

 a
re

as
 o

f 
th

e 
co

u
n

tr
y 

w
h

ic
h

 a
ls

o
 a

m
p

lifi
es

 

th
e 

is
su

e 
as

 a
 n

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

b
la

ck
 a

n
d

 m
in

o
ri

ty
 e

th
n

ic
 g

ro
u

p
s 

ar
e 

at
 h

ig
h

er
 r

is
k 

o
f 

co
m

p
lic

at
io

n
s 

re
la

te
d

 t
o

 o
b

es
it

y 
su

ch
  

as
 T

yp
e 

2
 D

ia
b

et
es

.

H
e
a
rt

d
is

e
a
se

S
le

e
p

a
p

n
o

e
a

D
e
p

re
ss

io
n

a
n

d
a
n

xi
e
ty

T
y
p

e
 2

d
ia

b
e
te

s
L

iv
e
r

d
is

e
a
se

In
fe

rt
il

it
y

O
st

e
o

a
rt

h
ri

ti
s

B
a
ck

 p
a
in

S
tr

o
k
e

C
a
n

ce
r

A
st

h
m

a



1
0

T
h

is
 m

ea
n

s 
th

at
 o

n
e 

3
3
0
m

l 
ca

n
 o

f 
so

ft
 d

ri
n

k 
w

it
h

 

ad
d

ed
 s

u
g

ar
 c

an
 c

o
n

ta
in

 m
o

re
 s

u
g

ar
 t

h
an

 t
h

e 
d

ai
ly

 

re
co

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
.

In
 g

en
er

al
 t

h
e 

m
ai

n
 s

o
u

rc
es

 o
f 

su
g

ar
 i
n

 t
h

e 
d

ie
t 

ar
e 

si
m

ila
r 

fo
r 

b
o

th
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 a

d
u

lt
s 

an
d

 t
h

e 
ch

ar
t 

sh
o

w
s 

th
e 

m
ai

n
 

so
u

rc
es

 o
f 

su
g

ar
 i
n

 t
h

e 
d

ie
t 

fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n

 a
g

ed
 4

-1
8
. 
A

ro
u

n
d

 

3
0
%

 o
f 

th
e 

su
g

ar
 i
n

 a
 c

h
ild

’s
 d

ie
t 

co
m

es
 f

ro
m

 s
u

g
ar

y 
d

ri
n

ks
, 

su
ch

 a
s 

fi
zz

y 
p

o
p

, 
ju

ic
e 

d
ri

n
ks

, 
sq

u
as

h
es

, 
co

rd
ia

ls
, 
en

er
g

y 

d
ri

n
ks

 a
n

d
 j
u

ic
e.

C
a
u

se
s 

o
f 

o
b

e
si

ty
In

 s
im

p
le

 t
er

m
s 

o
b

es
it

y 
is

 c
au

se
d

 w
h

en
 e

n
er

g
y 

in
ta

ke
 f

ro
m

 

fo
o

d
 a

n
d

 d
ri

n
k 

is
 g

re
at

er
 t

h
an

 t
h

e 
en

er
g

y 
u

se
d

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 

ac
ti

vi
ty

. 
H

o
w

ev
er

, 
th

e 
re

as
o

n
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

re
ce

n
t 

w
o

rl
d

w
id

e 

in
cr

ea
se

 i
n

 o
b

es
it

y 
ar

e 
m

u
ch

 m
o

re
 c

o
m

p
le

x 
an

d
 i
n

cl
u

d
e 

a 
w

id
e 

ra
n

g
e 

o
f 

fa
ct

o
rs

 i
n

cl
u

d
in

g
 b

eh
av

io
u

r,
 c

u
lt

u
re

 a
n

d
 

th
e 

en
vi

ro
n

m
en

t 
th

at
 i
m

p
ac

ts
 o

n
 t

h
e 

ch
o

ic
es

 m
ad

e 
o

ve
r 

w
h

ic
h

 a
n

 i
n

d
iv

id
u

al
 h

as
 l
it

tl
e 

co
n

tr
o

l.
 L

o
n

g
 t

er
m

 s
u

st
ai

n
ed

 

re
d

u
ct

io
n

 i
n

 o
b

es
it

y 
le

ve
ls

 w
ill

 o
n

ly
 b

e 
p

o
ss

ib
le

 b
y 

a 
w

h
o

le
 

sy
st

em
s 

ap
p

ro
ac

h
 a

im
ed

 a
t 

ch
an

g
in

g
 t

h
e 

o
b

es
o

g
en

ic
 

en
vi

ro
n

m
en

t 
th

at
 w

e 
liv

e 
in

. 

O
b

e
si

ty
 a

n
d

 s
u

g
a
r

C
o

n
su

m
in

g
 t

o
o

 m
u

ch
 s

u
g

ar
 a

n
d

 t
o

o
 m

an
y 

fo
o

d
s 

an
d

 

d
ri

n
ks

 h
ig

h
 i
n

 s
u

g
ar

 c
an

 l
ea

d
 t

o
 w

ei
g

h
t 

g
ai

n
, 
w

h
ic

h
 i
n

 t
u

rn
 

in
cr

ea
se

s 
th

e 
ri

sk
 o

f 
h

ea
rt

 d
is

ea
se

, 
ty

p
e 

2
 d

ia
b

et
es

, 
st

ro
ke

 

an
d

 s
o

m
e 

ca
n

ce
rs

. 
It

 i
s 

al
so

 l
in

ke
d

 t
o

 t
o

o
th

 d
ec

ay
.

C
u

rr
en

t 
su

g
ar

 i
n

ta
ke

s 
ar

e 
ab

o
ve

 t
h

e 
re

co
m

m
en

d
at

io
n

s 
an

d
 

is
 p

ar
ti

cu
la

rl
y 

h
ig

h
 i
n

 s
ch

o
o

l 
ag

ed
 c

h
ild

re
n

, 
(t

ee
n

ag
er

s 
in

 

E
n

g
la

n
d

 a
re

 t
h

e 
b

ig
g

es
t 

co
n

su
m

er
s 

o
f 

su
g

ar
 s

w
ee

te
n

ed
 

d
ri

n
ks

 i
n

 E
u

ro
p

e)
. 
S
u

g
ar

 c
o

n
su

m
p

ti
o

n
 a

ls
o

 t
en

d
s 

to
 

b
e 

h
ig

h
es

t 
am

o
n

g
st

 t
h

e 
m

o
st

 d
is

ad
va

n
ta

g
ed

 w
h

o
 a

ls
o

 

ex
p

er
ie

n
ce

 h
ig

h
er

 p
re

va
le

n
ce

 o
f 

o
b

es
it

y 
an

d
 i
ts

 h
ea

lt
h

 

co
n

se
q

u
en

ce
s.

 I
n

 2
0
1
5
 i
t 

w
as

 r
ec

o
m

m
en

d
ed

 t
h

at
 t

h
e 

av
er

ag
e 

p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 m
ax

im
u

m
 i
n

ta
ke

 o
f 

su
g

ar
 s

h
o

u
ld

 b
e 

h
al

ve
d

 a
n

d
 t

h
at

 c
o

n
su

m
p

ti
o

n
 o

f 
su

g
ar

 s
w

ee
te

n
ed

 d
ri

n
ks

 

sh
o

u
ld

 b
e 

m
in

im
is

ed
 b

y 
b

o
th

 a
d

u
lt

s 
an

d
 c

h
ild

re
n

.

T
h

e
 n

e
w

 m
a
xi

m
u

m
 r

e
co

m
m

e
n

d
e
d

 d
a
il

y
 i

n
ta

k
e
 o

f 
su

g
a
r 

is
 

A
g

e
R

e
co

m
m

e
n

d
e
d

 m
a
xi

m
u

m
  

a
d

d
e
d

 s
u

g
a
r 

in
ta

k
e

S
u

g
a
r 

cu
b

e
s

4
-6

 y
e
a
rs

N
o

 m
o

re
 t

h
an

 1
9

g
 d

ay
5

 c
u

b
es

 

7
-1

0
 y

e
a
rs

N
o

 m
o

re
 t

h
an

 2
4

g
 d

ay
6

 c
u

b
es

 

F
ro

m
 1

1
 y

e
a
rs

N
o

 m
o

re
 t

h
an

 3
0

g
 d

ay
7

 c
u

b
es

 



1
1

S
o

ft
 d

ri
n

ks
 (

ex
cl

u
d

in
g

 f
ru

it
 j
u

ic
e)

 a
re

 t
h

e 
la

rg
es

t 
si

n
g

le
 

so
u

rc
e 

o
f 

su
g

ar
 f

o
r 

ch
ild

re
n

 a
g

ed
 1

1
 t

o
 1

8
 y

ea
rs

 a
n

d
, 
o

n
 

av
er

ag
e,

 t
h

o
se

 w
h

o
 c

o
n

su
m

e 
th

em
 d

ri
n

k 
ar

o
u

n
d

 3
3
6
m

l 
p

er
 

d
ay

 (
ro

u
g

h
ly

 e
q

u
iv

al
en

t 
to

 o
n

e 
ca

n
 o

f 
a 

su
g

ar
y 

d
ri

n
k)

. 
S
o

ft
 

d
ri

n
ks

 p
ro

vi
d

e 
2
9
%

 o
f 

d
ai

ly
 s

u
g

ar
 i
n

ta
ke

, 
o

n
 a

ve
ra

g
e,

 f
o

r 

th
is

 a
g

e 
g

ro
u

p
 a

s 
a 

w
h

o
le

. T
ab

le
 s

u
g

ar
 a

n
d

 c
o

n
fe

ct
io

n
er

y 

(2
1
%

) 
an

d
 f

ru
it

 j
u

ic
e 

(1
0
%

) 
ar

e 
al

so
 l
ar

g
e 

co
n

tr
ib

u
to

rs
 t

o
 

th
e 

su
g

ar
 i
n

ta
ke

 o
f 

1
1
 t

o
 1

8
 y

ea
r 

o
ld

s.

F
o

r 
yo

u
n

g
er

 c
h

ild
re

n
 (

ag
ed

 4
 t

o
 1

0
 y

ea
rs

) 
so

ft
 d

ri
n

ks
; 

b
is

cu
it

s,
 b

u
n

s,
 c

ak
es

, 
p

as
tr

ie
s 

an
d

 p
u

d
d

in
g

s;
 b

re
ak

fa
st

 

ce
re

al
s;

 c
o

n
fe

ct
io

n
er

y;
 a

n
d

 f
ru

it
 j
u

ic
e 

ar
e 

th
e 

m
aj

o
r 

so
u

rc
es

. 

In
 a

d
u

lt
s 

(a
g

ed
 1

9
 t

o
 6

4
 y

ea
rs

) 
ta

b
le

 s
u

g
ar

; 
b

is
cu

it
s,

  

b
u

n
s,

 c
ak

es
, 
p

as
tr

ie
s 

an
d

 p
u

d
d

in
g

s;
 a

n
d

 s
o

ft
 d

ri
n

ks
  

ar
e 

th
e 

m
ai

n
 s

o
u

rc
es

.

P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

lt
h

 E
n

g
la

n
d

 s
ta

te
d

 t
h

at
 n

o
 s

in
g

le
 a

ct
io

n
 w

ill
 

b
e 

ef
fe

ct
iv

e 
in

 r
ed

u
ci

n
g

 s
u

g
ar

 i
n

ta
ke

. T
h

er
e 

is
 a

 n
ee

d
 

fo
r 

a 
b

ro
ad

 s
tr

u
ct

u
re

d
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

o
f 

m
ea

su
re

s 
th

at
 

in
fl

u
en

ce
 c

o
n

su
m

p
ti

o
n

, 
re

d
u

ce
 t

h
e 

su
g

ar
 c

o
n

te
n

t 
as

 w
el

l 

as
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 p

eo
p

le
 t

o
 m

ak
e 

h
ea

lt
h

ie
r 

ch
o

ic
es

. T
h

e 

G
o

ve
rn

m
en

ts
 c

h
ild

h
o

o
d

 o
b

es
it

y 
- 

a 
p

la
n

 f
o

r 
ac

ti
o

n
 i
n

cl
u

d
ed

 

th
e 

in
tr

o
d

u
ct

io
n

 o
f 

a 
so

ft
 d

ri
n

ks
 i
n

d
u

st
ry

 l
ev

y 
to

 c
o

m
e 

in
to

 

fo
rc

e 
in

 2
0
1
8
 a

n
d

 a
 c

h
al

le
n

g
e 

to
 t

h
e 

in
d

u
st

ry
 t

o
 r

ed
u

ce
 

o
ve

ra
ll 

su
g

ar
 a

cr
o

ss
 a

 r
an

g
e 

o
f 

p
ro

d
u

ct
s 

th
at

 m
ak

e 
th

e 

la
rg

es
t 

co
n

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

s 
to

 c
h

ild
re

n
’s

 s
u

g
ar

 i
n

ta
ke

 b
y 

at
 l
ea

st
 

2
0
%

 b
y 

2
0
2
0
. 

O
th

er

Yo
g

u
rt

, 
fr

o
m

ag
e 

fr
ia

s,
 

ic
e 

cr
ea

m
 a

n
d

 o
th

er
 

d
ai

ry
 d

es
se

rt
s 

9
%

S
o

ft
 d

ri
n

ks

F
ru

it
 j
u

ic
e

S
u

g
ar

 a
n

d
 c

h
o

co
la

te
 

co
n

fe
ct

io
n

ar
y

Ta
b

le
 s

u
g

ar
, 

p
re

se
rv

es
 a

n
d

 

sw
ee

t 
sp

re
ad

s 

B
is

cu
it

s,
 b

u
n

s,
 

ca
ke

s,
 p

as
tr

ie
s 

an
d

 p
u

d
d

in
g

s

B
re

ak
fa

st
 c

er
ea

ls

1
2
%

1
0
%

2
1
%

1
4
%

9
%

7
%

1
9
%

8
%

W
h

e
re

 4
–
1
8
 y

e
a
r 

o
ld

s 
g

e
t 

th
e
ir

 s
u

g
a
r 

in
ta

k
e
 f

ro
m

O
th

er
 m

ea
su

re
s 

th
at

 i
n

fl
u

en
ce

 c
o

n
su

m
p

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

 

p
eo

p
le

 t
o

 m
ak

e 
h

ea
lt

h
ie

r 
ch

o
ic

es
 c

an
 b

e 
ta

ck
le

d
 i
n

 o
u

r 

co
m

m
u

n
it

ie
s 

b
y 

w
o

rk
in

g
 t

o
g

et
h

er
 t

o
 b

ec
o

m
e 

a 
S
U

G
A

R
 

S
M

A
R

T
 b

o
ro

u
g

h
. 

P
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

’s
 s

u
g

a
r 

in
ta

k
e



1
2

S
u

g
a
r 

S
m

a
rt

 
 

L
E

W
IS

H
A

M

Le
w

is
h

am
 t

o
g

et
h

er
 w

it
h

 G
re

en
w

ic
h

 p
la

n
 t

o
 b

ec
o

m
e 

th
e 

 

fi
rs

t 
‘S

U
G

A
R

 S
M

A
R

T
’ 
b

o
ro

u
g

h
s 

in
 L

o
n

d
o

n
.

S
U

G
A

R
 S

M
A

R
T

 i
s 

an
 e

xc
it

in
g

 c
am

p
ai

g
n

 t
o

 r
ed

u
ce

 t
h

e 

am
o

u
n

t 
o

f 
su

g
ar

 i
n

 o
u

r 
d

ie
ts

 b
y 

ra
is

in
g

 a
w

ar
en

es
s 

o
f 

th
e 

h
ea

lt
h

 i
m

p
ac

t 
o

f 
th

e 
h

ig
h

 l
ev

el
s 

o
f 

su
g

ar
 i
n

 f
o

o
d

s 
an

d
  

d
ri

n
ks

 a
n

d
 e

n
co

u
ra

g
in

g
 a

ct
io

n
 t

o
 r

ed
u

ce
 s

u
g

ar
 i
n

ta
ke

. 

Lo
ca

l 
o

rg
an

is
at

io
n

s,
 b

u
si

n
es

se
s 

an
d

 s
et

ti
n

g
s 

th
at

 j
o

in
 

S
U

G
A

R
 S

M
A

R
T

 w
ill

 p
le

d
g

e 
to

 m
ak

e 
si

m
p

le
 c

h
an

g
es

 t
o

 

p
ro

m
o

te
 h

ea
lt

h
ie

r,
 l
o

w
er

 s
u

g
ar

 a
lt

er
n

at
iv

es
 a

n
d

 l
im

it
 l
es

s 

h
ea

lt
h

y 
ch

o
ic

es
. T

h
is

 w
ill

 m
o

ti
va

te
 c

h
an

g
e 

b
y 

h
el

p
in

g
 

lo
ca

l 
p

eo
p

le
 t

o
 g

et
 ‘
su

g
ar

 s
m

ar
t’

 a
n

d
 t

ak
e 

co
n

tr
o

l 
o

f 
th

ei
r 

fa
m

ili
es

’ 
su

g
ar

 i
n

ta
ke

.

w
w

w
.l

e
w

is
h

a
m

.g
o

v.
u

k
/
su

g
a
rs

m
a
rt

O
u

r 
vi

s
io

n
 

T
o

 b
e

 a
 S

u
g

a
r 

S
m

a
rt

 b
o

ro
u

g
h

 

w
h

e
re

 o
u

r 

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

is
 

s
u

p
p

o
rt

e
d

 t
o

 

m
a

k
e

 h
e

a
lt

h
ie

r, 

lo
w

e
r 

s
u

g
a

r 

c
h

o
ic

e
s



1
3

P
ro

vi
d

e 
m

o
re

 h
ea

lt
h

y 
fo

o
d

 a
n

d
 d

ri
n

k 
o

p
ti

o
n

s

R
em

o
ve

 u
n

h
ea

lt
h

y 
ve

n
d

in
g

 m
ac

h
in

es
 f

ro
m

 y
o

u
r 

p
re

m
is

es
, 
o

r 
w

o
rk

 w
it

h
 v

en
d

in
g

 s
u

p
p

lie
rs

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 

m
ai

n
ly

 o
r 

o
n

ly
 h

ea
lt

h
y 

p
ro

d
u

ce
 i
s 

so
ld

E
xa

m
p

le
s 

o
f 

o
rg

an
is

at
io

n
s 

an
d

 s
et

ti
n

g
s 

th
at

 a
re

 a
lr

ea
d

y 
 

o
n

 t
h

e 
w

ay
 t

o
 b

e 
S
u

g
ar

 S
m

ar
t 

ar
e 

p
ro

vi
d

ed
 i
n

 t
h

e 
 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 s

ec
ti

o
n

s.

Jo
in

 u
s 

in
 o

u
r 

jo
u

rn
ey

 t
o

 b
ec

o
m

e 
a 

S
u

g
ar

 S
m

ar
t 

b
o

ro
u

g
h

  

b
y 

si
g

n
in

g
 a

 c
o

m
m

it
m

en
t 

to
 b

e 
S
u

g
ar

 S
m

ar
t 

b
y 

se
n

d
in

g
 

yo
u

r 
d

et
ai

ls
 t

o
 A

le
x.

A
lle

n
@

le
w

is
h

am
.g

o
v.

u
k.

w
w

w
.l

e
w

is
h

a
m

.g
o

v.
u

k
/
su

g
a
rs

m
a
rt

Jo
in

 O
u

r 
S

u
g

a
r 

S
m

a
rt

 C
a
m

p
a
ig

n
 

W
h

at
ev

er
 k

in
d

 o
f 

o
rg

an
is

at
io

n
 y

o
u

 a
re

, 
w

h
y 

n
o

t 
jo

in
 o

u
r 

S
u

g
ar

 S
m

ar
t 

ca
m

p
ai

g
n

B
y 

jo
in

in
g

 t
h

e 
ca

m
p

ai
g

n
 a

n
d

 b
e 

p
ro

m
o

te
d

 o
n

 t
h

e 
w

eb
si

te
 

yo
u

r 
o

rg
an

is
at

io
n

 w
ill

 n
ee

d
 t

o
 a

g
re

e 
to

:

1
. 
 S

ta
te

 y
o

u
r 

co
m

m
it

m
e
n

t:
 T

el
l 
yo

u
r 

em
p

lo
ye

es
 a

n
d

  

th
e 

p
u

b
lic

 t
h

at
 y

o
u

 a
re

 d
ev

el
o

p
in

g
 a

n
d

 i
m

p
le

m
en

ti
n

g
  

a 
S
u

g
ar

 S
m

ar
t 

p
o

lic
y 

in
 y

o
u

r 
o

rg
an

is
at

io
n

. 

2
.  M

ak
e
 3

 s
im

p
le

 p
le

d
g

e
s 

to
 m

ak
e
 h

e
al

th
y 

fo
o

d
 a

n
d

  

d
ri

n
k
 m

o
re

 a
ff

o
rd

ab
le

, a
cc

e
ss

ib
le

 a
n

d
 p

ro
m

o
te

d
  

th
an

 le
ss

 h
e
al

th
y 

fo
o

d
.

3
. 
 S

p
re

a
d

 t
h

e
 w

o
rd

: 
S
p

re
ad

 t
h

e 
m

es
sa

g
e 

ab
o

u
t 

 

re
d

u
ci

n
g

 t
h

e 
am

o
u

n
t 

an
d

 p
ro

fi
le

 o
f 

p
ro

d
u

ct
s 

h
ig

h
  

in
 f

at
, 
sa

lt
 a

n
d

 s
u

g
ar

, 
to

 y
o

u
r 

cu
st

o
m

er
s,

 e
m

p
lo

ye
es

, 

su
p

p
lie

rs
 a

n
d

 o
th

er
 k

ey
 s

ta
ke

h
o

ld
er

s 
an

d
 p

u
b

lic
is

e 
 

yo
u

r 
in

vo
lv

em
en

t 
in

 S
u

g
ar

 S
m

ar
t.

 

E
xa

m
p

le
 p

le
d

g
e
s 

in
cl

u
d

e
:

R
ed

u
ce

 t
h

e 
am

o
u

n
t 

o
f 

fi
zz

y 
an

d
 h

ig
h

 s
u

g
ar

 d
ri

n
ks

  

yo
u

 s
el

l 
an

d
 o

ff
er

 h
ea

lt
h

ie
r 

o
p

ti
o

n
s 

A
ct

iv
el

y 
p

ro
m

o
te

 f
re

e 
d

ri
n

ki
n

g
 w

at
er

 e
.g

. 
p

u
t 

in
 a

 

d
ri

n
ki

n
g

 f
o

u
n

ta
in

 

In
cr

ea
se

 t
h

e 
p

ri
ce

 o
f 

fi
zz

y 
d

ri
n

ks
 a

n
d

 s
ig

n
 u

p
 t

o
  

g
iv

e 
th

e 
p

ro
ce

ed
s 

to
 t

h
e 

C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 H
ea

lt
h

 F
u

n
d

  

o
r 

a 
lo

ca
l 
ch

ar
it

y

P
ro

vi
d

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n
 o

n
 h

ea
lt

h
y 

fo
o

d
 e

.g
. 
p

o
st

er
s,

 

fl
ye

rs
, 
tr

ai
n

in
g

R
u

n
 p

ro
m

o
ti

o
n

s 
o

n
 h

ea
lt

h
ie

r 
fo

o
d

 a
n

d
 d

ri
n

k 
o

p
ti

o
n

s



1
4

Q
1
. 

 

H
o

w
 c

o
n

ce
rn

e
d

 a
re

 y
o

u
  

a
b

o
u

t 
th

e
 a

m
o

u
n

t 
o

f 
su

g
a
r 

 

in
 f

o
o

d
 a

n
d

 d
ri

n
k

?

9
3

%
  

(2
1
3
9
) 

re
sp

o
n

d
ed

 t
h

ey
 w

er
e 

 

ve
ry

/
fa

ir
ly

 c
o

n
ce

rn
ed

. 

Q
2
. 

 

S
h

o
u

ld
 a

ct
io

n
 b

e
 t

a
k
e
n

 t
o

  

h
e
lp

 p
e
o

p
le

 i
n

 L
e
w

is
h

a
m

 c
u

t 
 

d
o

w
n

 t
h

e
ir

 s
u

g
a
r 

in
ta

k
e
?

8
8

%
  

(2
0
2
5
) 

ag
re

ed
 w

it
h

  

th
is

 s
ta

te
m

en
t.

Q
3
. 

 

D
o

 y
o

u
 a

g
re

e
 t

h
a
t 

fe
w

e
r 

 

su
g

a
ry

 d
ri

n
k

s 
a
n

d
 s

n
a
ck

s 
sh

o
u

ld
 b

e
 

a
va

il
a
b

le
 i

n
 p

la
ce

s 
li

k
e
 l

e
is

u
re

 c
e
n

tr
e
s,

 

sh
o

p
p

in
g

 c
e
n

tr
e
s 

a
n

d
 h

o
sp

it
a
ls

?

8
8

%
 

(2
0
2
2
) 

st
ro

n
g

ly
 a

g
re

ed
  

o
r 

ag
re

ed
.

Q
4
. 

 

D
o

 y
o

u
 a

g
re

e
 t

h
a
t 

 

su
p

e
rm

a
rk

e
ts

 s
h

o
u

ld
 d

o
 m

o
re

  

to
 p

ro
m

o
te

 h
e
a
lt

h
ie

r 
fo

o
d

 a
n

d
  

d
ri

n
k

 a
n

d
 n

o
t 

g
iv

e
 p

ri
ce

 p
ro

m
o

ti
o

n
s 

o
n

 s
u

g
a
ry

 d
ri

n
k

s 
a
n

d
 s

n
a
ck

s?

8
7

%
  

(1
9
9
9
) 

st
ro

n
g

ly
  

ag
re

ed
/
ag

re
ed

.

Q
5
. 

 

D
o

 y
o

u
 a

g
re

e
 t

h
a
t 

lo
ca

l 
 

re
st

a
u

ra
n

ts
 a

n
d

 f
o

o
d

 o
u

tl
e
ts

  

sh
o

u
ld

 c
h

a
rg

e
 a

 l
e
v
y
 o

f 
7
p

 o
n

 a
 c

a
n

  

o
f 

su
g

a
ry

 d
ri

n
k

 (
2
0
p

 o
n

 a
 l

it
re

 b
o

tt
le

) 
 

a
n

d
 g

iv
e
 t

h
e
 m

o
n

e
y
 t

o
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 w

o
rk

  

in
 s

ch
o

o
ls

 o
n

 t
a
ck

li
n

g
 o

b
e
si

ty
?

7
0

%
  

(1
6
0
3
) 

st
ro

n
g

ly
 a

g
re

ed
/
ag

re
ed

  

b
u

t 
1
6
%

 (
3
8
1
) 

 

d
is

ag
re

ed
/
st

ro
n

g
ly

 d
is

ag
re

ed
.

R
e
sp

o
n

se
s 

fr
o

m
 L

e
w

is
h

a
m

 L
if

e
 s

u
rv

e
y

A
 s

u
rv

ey
 t

o
o
k 

p
la

ce
 in

 t
h
e 

2
0
1
6
 s

u
m

m
er

 is
su

e 
o
f 

th
e 

C
o
u
n
ci

l’s
 r

es
id

en
t 

m
ag

az
in

e,
 L

ew
is

h
am

 L
if
e,

 w
h
ic

h
 o

ve
r 

2
,6

0
0
 

p
eo

p
le

 r
es

p
o
n
d
ed

 t
o
. T

h
e 

su
rv

ey
 a

sk
ed

 a
b

o
u

t 
p

eo
p

le
’s

 v
ie

w
s 

o
n

 t
h

e 
am

o
u

n
t 

o
f 

su
g

ar
 i
n

 f
o

o
d

 a
n

d
 d

ri
n

k 
an

d
 w

h
at

 a
ct

io
n

s 

sh
o

u
ld

 b
e 

ta
ke

n
 t

o
 h

el
p

 r
ed

u
ce

 s
u

g
ar

 i
n

 o
u

r 
en

vi
ro

n
m

en
t.

R
es

p
o

n
d

en
ts

 w
er

e 
st

ro
n

g
ly

 i
n

 f
av

o
u

r 
o

f 
m

ea
su

re
s 

su
ch

  

as
 s

u
p

er
m

ar
ke

ts
 s

to
p

p
in

g
 p

ri
ce

 p
ro

m
o

ti
o

n
s 

o
n

 s
u

g
ar

y 
 

d
ri

n
ks

 a
n

d
 s

n
ac

ks
 a

n
d

 r
ed

u
ci

n
g

 t
h

e 
av

ai
la

b
ili

ty
  

o
f 

h
ig

h
 s

u
g

ar
 p

ro
d

u
ct

s 
in

 p
u

b
lic

 p
la

ce
s.



1
5

C
a
se

 s
tu

d
y
 s

e
ct

io
n

s

T
h

e
 f

o
ll

o
w

in
g

 p
a
g

e
s 

o
u

tl
in

e
 s

o
m

e
 o

f 
th

e
  

k
e
y
 w

o
rk

 w
h

ic
h

 f
o

cu
s 

o
n

 c
re

a
ti

n
g

 h
e
a
lt

h
ie

r 
e
n

vi
ro

n
m

e
n

ts
 t

h
a
t 

is
 h

a
p

p
e
n

in
g

 a
cr

o
ss

  
L
e
w

is
h

a
m

, 
p

re
se

n
te

d
 a

s 
ca

se
 s

tu
d

ie
s.

 
 C

o
n

ta
ct

 d
e
ta

il
s 

h
a
ve

 b
e
e
n

 p
ro

vi
d

e
d

 i
f 

y
o

u
  

w
o

u
ld

 l
ik

e
 t

o
 fi

n
d

 o
u

t 
m

o
re

, 
o

r 
g

e
t 

in
vo

lv
e
d

.



1
6

S
ta

n
d

ar
d

s 
h

av
e 

b
ee

n
 d

ev
el

o
p

ed
 f

o
r 

m
at

er
n

it
y,

 n
eo

n
at

al
, 

h
ea

lt
h

 v
is

it
in

g
 a

n
d

 c
h

ild
re

n
’s

 c
en

tr
es

.

L
e
w

is
h

a
m

 H
e
a
lt

h
 V

is
it

in
g

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 a

ch
ie

ve
d

 t
h

e
ir

  

S
ta

g
e
 3

 a
w

a
rd

 i
n

 J
u

ly
 2

0
1
6
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 o

f 

L
e
w

is
h

a
m

 C
h

il
d

re
n

’s
 C

e
n

tr
e
s 

a
n

d
 L

e
w

is
h

a
m

 C
o

u
n

ci
l’s

 

P
u

b
li

c 
H

e
a
lt

h
 T

e
a
m

. 
 

L
e
w

is
h

a
m

 M
a
te

rn
it

y
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s 

a
re

 p
re

p
a
ri

n
g

 f
o

r 
th

e
ir

 

S
ta

g
e
 3

 a
ss

e
ss

m
e
n

t 
in

 D
e
ce

m
b

e
r 

2
0
1
6

To
 fi

n
d

 o
u

t 
m

o
re

 a
b

o
u

t 
b

re
as

tf
ee

d
in

g
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 i
n

 L
ew

is
h

am
 

g
o

 t
o

 w
w

w
.l
ew

is
h

am
.g

o
v.

u
k/

b
re

as
tf

ee
d

in
g

B
a
b

y
 F

ri
e
n

d
ly

 I
n

it
ia

ti
v
e

B
re

as
tf

ee
d

in
g

 i
m

p
ro

ve
s 

th
e 

h
ea

lt
h

 a
n

d
 w

el
lb

ei
n

g
 o

f 
b

o
th

 

m
o

th
er

s 
an

d
 b

ab
ie

s.
 E

vi
d

en
ce

 s
h

o
w

s 
th

at
 f

o
r 

b
o

th
 m

o
th

er
 

an
d

 b
ab

y,
 i
n

 t
h

e 
lo

n
g

er
 t

er
m

, 
b

re
as

tf
ee

d
in

g
 r

ed
u

ce
s 

th
e 

ri
sk

 

o
f 

o
b

es
it

y.
 

O
n

e 
o

f 
th

e 
ke

y 
ac

ti
o

n
s 

to
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 m

o
re

 w
o

m
en

 t
o

 

b
re

as
tf

ee
d

 i
n

 L
ew

is
h

am
 i
s 

w
o

rk
in

g
 t

o
w

ar
d

s 
ac

h
ie

vi
n

g
 

U
N

IC
E

F
 U

K
 B

ab
y 

F
ri

en
d

ly
 a

cc
re

d
it

at
io

n
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
e 

im
p

le
m

en
ta

ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e 
B

ab
y 

F
ri

en
d

ly
 p

ra
ct

ic
e 

st
an

d
ar

d
s.

 

A
s 

w
el

l 
as

 w
o

rk
in

g
 t

o
 p

ro
te

ct
, 
p

ro
m

o
te

, 
an

d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 

b
re

as
tf

ee
d

in
g

, 
th

e 
U

N
IC

E
F
 B

ab
y 

F
ri

en
d

ly
 r

ev
is

ed
 p

ra
ct

ic
e 

st
an

d
ar

d
s 

in
tr

o
d

u
ce

d
 i
n

 2
0
1
2
 a

ls
o

 a
im

 t
o

 s
tr

en
g

th
en

 

m
o

th
er

-b
ab

y 
an

d
 f

am
ily

 r
el

at
io

n
sh

ip
s 

fo
r 

al
l 
b

ab
ie

s,
 n

o
t 

 

o
n

ly
 t

h
o

se
 w

h
o

 a
re

 b
re

as
tf

ed
. 

T
h

e 
U

N
IC

E
F
 U

K
 B

ab
y 

F
ri

en
d

ly
 I
n

it
ia

ti
ve

 i
s 

an
 e

xt
er

n
al

ly
 

ev
al

u
at

ed
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

re
co

g
n

iz
ed

 t
o

 i
m

p
ro

ve
 b

re
as

tf
ee

d
in

g
 

ra
te

s 
an

d
 t

h
e 

h
ea

lt
h

 a
n

d
 w

el
lb

ei
n

g
 o

u
tc

o
m

es
 o

f 
al

l 
in

fa
n

ts
. 

T
h

e 
p

ro
ce

ss
 c

o
n

si
st

s 
o

f 
im

p
le

m
en

ti
n

g
 t

h
e 

st
an

d
ar

d
s 

in
 

st
ag

es
 o

ve
r 

a 
n

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

ye
ar

s.

S
ta

g
e
 1

: 
 A

ss
es

se
s 

th
e 

p
la

n
s 

an
d

 p
ro

ce
ss

es
  

to
 i
m

p
le

m
en

t 
th

e 
st

an
d

ar
d

s

S
ta

g
e
 2

: 
 A

ss
es

se
s 

st
af

f 
kn

o
w

le
d

g
e 

an
d

 s
ki

lls

S
ta

g
e
 3

: 
 A

ss
es

se
s 

p
ar

en
ts

 e
xp

er
ie

n
ce

s 
w

h
en

  

th
e 

st
an

d
ar

d
s 

h
av

e 
b

ee
n

 i
m

p
le

m
en

te
d



1
7

B
re

a
st

fe
e
d

in
g

 f
ri

e
n

d
ly

T
h
e 

B
re

as
tf

ee
d
in

g
 F

ri
en

d
ly

 s
ch

em
e 

is
 d

es
ig

n
ed

 t
o
 m

ak
e 

it
 

ea
si

er
 f

o
r 

m
o
th

er
s 

to
 fi

n
d
 p

la
ce

s 
th

at
 t

h
ey

 a
re

 w
el

co
m

ed
 

to
 b

re
as

tf
ee

d
 w

h
en

 t
h
ey

 a
re

 o
u
t 

an
d
 a

b
o
u
t 

in
 L

ew
is

h
am

. 

A
lt

h
o
u
g
h
 m

o
th

er
s 

h
av

e 
th

e 
ri
g
h
t 

to
 f

ee
d
 a

n
yw

h
er

e,
 s

o
m

e 

fi
n
d
 g

o
in

g
 o

u
t 

w
it

h
 a

 n
ew

 b
ab

y 
a 

d
au

n
ti

n
g
 e

xp
er

ie
n
ce

 a
n
d
 it

 

ca
n
 b

e 
h
el

p
fu

l t
o
 k

n
o
w

 w
h
ic

h
 p

re
m

is
es

 s
u
p
p
o
rt

 b
re

as
tf

ee
d
in

g
 

m
o
th

er
s 

if
 t

h
ey

 n
ee

d
 t

o
 f

ee
d
 t

h
ei

r 
b
ab

y 
in

 p
u
b
lic

. A
ll 

Le
w

is
h
am

 li
b
ra

ri
es

, 
le

is
u
re

 c
en

tr
es

 a
s 

w
el

l a
s 

lo
ts

 o
f 

ca
fe

s,
 

re
st

au
ra

n
ts

 a
n
d
 b

u
si

n
es

se
s 

ar
e 

al
re

ad
y 

p
ar

t 
o
f 

th
e 

sc
h
em

e.

B
re

a
st

fe
e
d

in
g

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

A
 r

an
g

e 
o

f 
b

re
as

tf
ee

d
in

g
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

ar
e 

av
ai

la
b

le
 

ac
ro

ss
 t

h
e 

b
o

ro
u

g
h

 t
o

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 w
o

m
en

. T
h

is
 h

as
 b

ee
n

 

ac
h

ie
ve

d
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 c

o
lla

b
o

ra
ti

ve
, 
in

te
g

ra
te

d
 w

o
rk

in
g

 a
cr

o
ss

 

th
e 

p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 o
rg

an
is

at
io

n
s 

th
at

 m
ak

e 
u

p
 t

h
e 

Le
w

is
h

am
 

B
re

as
tf

ee
d

in
g

 w
o

rk
in

g
 g

ro
u

p
.

B
re

a
st

fe
e
d

in
g

 d
ro

p
-i

n
s.

 T
h

e 
in

fo
rm

al
 d

ro
p

-i
n

s 
ar

e 
h

el
d

 i
n

 

a 
va

ri
et

y 
o

f 
lo

ca
ti

o
n

s 
in

 L
ew

is
h

am
. T

ra
in

ed
 v

o
lu

n
te

er
s 

an
d

 

q
u

al
ifi

ed
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

n
al

s 
ar

e 
o

n
 h

an
d

 t
o

 a
n

sw
er

 a
n

y 
q

u
es

ti
o

n
s 

an
d

 g
iv

e 
ex

tr
a 

su
p

p
o

rt
. 

B
re

a
st

fe
e
d

in
g

 p
e
e
r 

su
p

p
o

rt
. 
 

O
n

e 
o

f 
th

e 
ke

y 
su

cc
es

se
s 

h
as

 b
ee

n
 t

h
e 

p
ee

r 
su

p
p

o
rt

 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e;
 1

0
4
 l
o

ca
l 

m
o

th
er

s 
h

av
e 

at
te

n
d

ed
 

in
fa

n
t 

fe
ed

in
g

 e
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
 

an
d

 t
ra

in
in

g
 s

in
ce

 2
0
1
0
  

an
d

 t
h

er
e 

ar
e 

cu
rr

en
tl

y 
 

3
3
 v

o
lu

n
te

er
 p

ee
r 

su
p

p
o

rt
er

s 
ac

ti
ve

ly
 

su
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 m

o
th

er
s 

in
 b

re
as

tf
ee

d
in

g
 d

ro
p

-i
n

s 
an

d
  

o
n

 t
h

e 
p

o
st

n
at

al
 w

ar
d

. 
S
o

m
e 

vo
lu

n
te

er
s 

h
av

e 
b

ee
n

 

su
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 w

o
m

en
 f

o
r 

se
ve

ra
l 
ye

ar
s 

al
o

n
g

si
d

e 
h

ea
lt

h
  

vi
si

to
rs

 a
n

d
 m

id
w

iv
es

.

Lo
o

k 
o

u
t 

fo
r 

th
es

e 
si

g
n

s



1
8

E
a
rl

y
 Y

e
a
rs

 S
e
tt

in
g

s

E
ar

ly
 Y

ea
rs

 s
et

ti
n

g
s 

p
la

y 
a 

vi
ta

l 
ro

le
 i
n

 l
ay

in
g

 f
o

u
n

d
at

io
n

s 

fo
r 

lif
el

o
n

g
 h

ea
lt

h
 a

n
d

 w
el

lb
ei

n
g

 a
n

d
 p

ro
vi

d
e 

th
e 

id
ea

l 

en
vi

ro
n

m
en

t 
to

 e
st

ab
lis

h
 h

ea
lt

h
y 

ea
ti

n
g

 h
ab

it
s 

an
d

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 s

af
e 

an
d

 s
ti

m
u

la
ti

n
g

 p
h

ys
ic

al
 a

ct
iv

it
y 

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

ie
s.

 T
h

e 

m
o

st
 e

ff
ec

ti
ve

 w
ay

 t
o

 i
m

p
ro

ve
 h

ea
lt

h
 i
n

 E
ar

ly
 Y

ea
rs

 s
et

ti
n

g
s 

is
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 a

 w
h

o
le

 s
et

ti
n

g
 a

p
p

ro
ac

h
 t

h
at

 e
n

g
ag

es
 c

h
ild

re
n

, 

p
ar

en
ts

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

w
id

er
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it

y.

S
et

ti
n

g
s 

ar
e 

en
co

u
ra

g
ed

 t
o

 a
d

o
p

t 
th

e 
‘E

at
 B

et
te

r,
 S

ta
rt

 

B
et

te
r’

 f
o

o
d

 b
as

ed
 g

u
id

el
in

es
 f

o
r 

ea
rl

y 
ye

ar
s 

se
tt

in
g

s 
an

d
 

‘M
o

ve
 M

o
re

’ 
p

h
ys

ic
al

 a
ct

iv
it

y 
g

u
id

an
ce

. 
E

xa
m

p
le

s 
o

f 
th

e 

ex
ce

lle
n

t 
w

o
rk

 t
h

at
 i
s 

al
re

ad
y 

in
 p

la
ce

 p
ro

m
o

ti
n

g
 h

ea
lt

h
ie

r 

en
vi

ro
n

m
en

ts
 t

o
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 h

ea
lt

h
y 

ea
ti

n
g

 h
ab

it
s 

an
d

 a
ct

iv
it

y 

ar
e 

sh
o

w
ca

se
d

 i
n

 t
h

is
 s

ec
ti

o
n

.



1
9

B
lo

ss
o

m
 Y

e
a
rs

 N
u

rs
e
ry

, 
D

o
w

n
h

a
m

Is
su

e
: 

C
h

ild
re

n
 w

er
e 

o
b

se
rv

ed
 d

ri
n

ki
n

g
 fi

zz
y 

su
g

ar
y 

d
ri

n
ks

 

o
n

 t
h

ei
r 

w
ay

 i
n

to
 t

h
e 

n
u

rs
er

y.

A
ct

io
n

: 
In

fo
rm

at
io

n
 a

b
o

u
t 

th
e 

ef
fe

ct
s 

o
f 

su
g

ar
 a

n
d

 t
h

e 

w
id

er
 i
m

p
ac

t 
o

f 
fi

zz
y 

d
ri

n
ks

 e
tc

 w
as

 s
h

ar
ed

 w
it

h
 p

ar
en

ts
  

vi
a 

o
u

r 
n

ew
sl

et
te

r.
 W

at
er

 a
n

d
 m

ilk
 a

re
 t

h
e 

o
n

ly
 d

ri
n

ks
 

p
ro

vi
d

ed
 a

t 
sn

ac
k 

ti
m

es
 a

n
d

 m
ea

l 
ti

m
es

.

R
e
su

lt
: T

h
e 

ch
ild

re
n

’s
 b

eh
av

io
u

r 
h

as
 i
m

p
ro

ve
d

 a
n

d
 a

s 
a 

re
su

lt
 t

h
ey

 a
re

 e
n

jo
yi

n
g

 t
h

e 
ac

ti
vi

ti
es

 o
n

 o
ff

er
 m

u
ch

 m
o

re
. 

 S
tr

o
n

g
 T

o
w

e
r 

N
u

rs
e
ry

, 
D

e
p

tf
o

rd
Is

su
e

: 
C

h
ild

re
n

 w
er

e 
o

b
se

rv
ed

 c
o

m
in

g
 i
n

to
 t

h
e 

se
tt

in
g

 

h
u

n
g

ry
 a

n
d

 w
er

e 
co

n
se

q
u

en
tl

y 
ve

ry
 d

is
tr

ac
te

d
 f

ro
m

 s
et

tl
in

g
 

to
 a

ct
iv

it
ie

s;
 P

ar
en

ts
 g

en
er

al
ly

 n
o

t 
w

el
l 
in

fo
rm

ed
 a

b
o

u
t 

h
ea

lt
h

y 
ea

ti
n

g
; 
M

o
st

 c
h

ild
re

n
 s

ti
ll 

in
 n

ap
p

ie
s 

as
 i
t 

w
as

 f
el

t 

ea
si

er
 t

h
an

 g
o

in
g

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 p
o

tt
y 

tr
ai

n
in

g
.

A
ct

io
n

: 
P

ro
vi

d
e 

fo
o

d
 w

h
en

ev
er

 n
ec

es
sa

ry
, 
ra

th
er

 t
h

an
 

ex
p

ec
ti

n
g

 t
h

em
 t

o
 w

ai
t 

u
n

ti
l 
th

e 
n

ex
t 

sn
ac

k 
o

r 
m

ea
l 
 

ti
m

e;
 E

n
su

ri
n

g
 f

re
sh

 f
ru

it
 a

n
d

 v
eg

et
ab

le
s 

th
at

 a
re

 c
o

o
ke

d
  

o
n

 s
it

e 
is

 a
lw

ay
s 

av
ai

la
b

le
; 
p

ar
en

ts
 i
n

cl
u

d
ed

 i
n

 m
en

u
 

p
la

n
n

in
g

; 
re

d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

o
f 

th
e 

o
u

td
o

o
r 

ar
e 

to
 i
n

cr
ea

se
 

p
h

ys
ic

al
 p

ar
ti

ci
p

at
io

n
.

R
e
su

lt
: 

C
h

ild
re

n
 a

re
 m

u
ch

 m
o

re
 a

b
le

 t
o

 f
o

cu
s 

an
d

 s
et

tl
e 

 

an
d

 t
h

ei
r 

w
el

lb
ei

n
g

 h
as

 i
m

p
ro

ve
d

 a
s 

w
el

l 
as

 d
ev

el
o

p
in

g
  

th
ei

r 
p

h
ys

ic
al

 s
ki

lls
 a

n
d

 r
em

ai
n

 a
ct

iv
e.

S
tr

o
n

g
 T

o
w

er
 N

u
rs

er
y



2
0

th
em

 t
o

 t
ry

 o
u

t 
n

ew
 a

n
d

 d
if

fe
re

n
t 

ta
st

es
; 
C

h
ild

re
n

 g
o

t 
to

 e
at

 

w
h

at
 t

h
ey

 h
ad

 m
ad

e;
 A

 w
id

er
 v

ar
ie

ty
 o

f 
fo

o
d

s 
w

er
e 

p
ro

vi
d

ed
 

in
 t

h
e 

ro
le

 p
la

y 
ar

ea
s 

an
d

 c
h

ild
re

n
 u

se
d

 t
h

e 
fa

m
ili

ar
it

y 
th

ey
 

h
ad

 g
ai

n
ed

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

e 
st

o
ri

es
 t

o
 d

ev
el

o
p

 t
h

ei
r 

kn
o

w
le

d
g

e 

an
d

 u
n

d
er

st
an

d
in

g
.

R
e
su

lt
: 

C
h

ild
re

n
 h

av
e 

b
ee

n
 m

u
ch

 m
o

re
 w

ill
in

g
 t

o
 t

ry
 o

u
t 

n
ew

 f
o

o
d

s.
 T

h
ey

 h
av

e 
en

jo
ye

d
 a

n
d

 t
ak

en
 p

ri
d

e 
in

 p
re

p
ar

in
g

 

an
d

 e
at

in
g

 t
h

ei
r 

o
w

n
 f

o
o

d
s.

Z
e
e
b

a
 D

a
y
ca

re
 N

u
rs

e
ry

, 
D

e
p

tf
o

rd
Is

su
e
: 

C
h

ild
re

n
 w

er
e 

o
b

se
rv

ed
 b

ri
n

g
in

g
 u

n
h

ea
lt

h
y 

fo
o

d
s 

in
to

 t
h

e 
se

tt
in

g
; 
P

ar
en

ts
 g

en
er

al
ly

 n
o

t 
w

el
l 
in

fo
rm

ed
 

ab
o

u
t 

h
ea

lt
h

y 
ea

ti
n

g
; 

C
h

ild
re

n
 w

er
e 

u
n

d
er

ac
h

ie
vi

n
g

 i
n

 

P
er

so
n

al
, 
S
o

ci
al

 a
n

d
 E

co
n

o
m

ic
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t;
 S

o
m

e 
ch

ild
re

n
 

o
ve

rw
ei

g
h

t 
an

d
 u

n
fi

t;
 S

o
m

e 
ch

ild
re

n
 s

ti
ll 

in
 n

ap
p

ie
s 

as
 it

 w
as

 

fe
lt

 e
as

ie
r 

th
an

 g
o

in
g

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 p
o

tt
y 

tr
ai

n
in

g
.

A
ct

io
n

: 
E

at
 b

et
te

r,
 s

ta
rt

 b
et

te
r 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
im

p
le

m
en

te
d

; 

P
ar

en
ts

 i
n

cl
u

d
ed

 i
n

 m
en

u
 p

la
n

n
in

g
; 
H

ea
lt

h
y 

ea
ti

n
g

 

en
co

u
ra

g
ed

, 
st

af
f 

ea
ti

n
g

 w
it

h
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
t 

m
ea

l 
ti

m
es

; 

In
ve

st
m

en
t 

in
 p

h
ys

ic
al

 e
q

u
ip

m
en

t;
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 w

it
h

 o
u

ts
id

e 

ag
en

ci
es

; 
P

ro
vi

d
e 

p
ar

en
ts

 w
it

h
 g

u
id

an
ce

 a
n

d
 t

o
o

ls
 t

o
 

su
p

p
o

rt
 p

o
tt

y 
tr

ai
n

in
g

 –
 W

e 
p

ro
d

u
ce

d
 a

 h
an

d
b

o
o

k.

R
e
su

lt
: 

C
h

ild
re

n
 h

av
e 

a 
b

et
te

r 
u

n
d

er
st

an
d

in
g

 o
f 

h
ea

lt
h

y 

fo
o

d
s;

 C
h

ild
re

n
 a

re
 m

o
re

 a
ct

iv
e 

an
d

 t
ak

in
g

 p
ar

t 
in

 a
ct

iv
it

ie
s;

 

M
o

st
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
re

 p
o

tt
y 

tr
ai

n
ed

 i
n

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 w
it

h
 p

ar
en

ts
.

F
o

r 
m

o
re

 i
n

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

 p
le

a
se

 c
o

n
ta

ct
 Z

e
e
b

a
 D

a
y
ca

re
 o

n
 

0
2
0
 8

6
9
4
 6

9
8
0
 o

r 
li

e
sl

h
@

ze
e
b

a
d

a
y
ca

re
.c

o
.u

k

 F
a
it

h
 M

o
n

te
ss

o
ri

 N
u

rs
e
ry

, 
F

o
re

st
 H

il
l

Is
su

e
: 

C
h

ild
re

n
 w

er
e 

o
b

se
rv

ed
 n

o
t 

ea
ti

n
g

 t
h

ei
r 

ve
g

et
ab

le
s.

 

T
h

ey
 w

er
e 

p
ic

ki
n

g
 t

h
em

 o
u

t 
o

f 
th

ei
r 

fo
o

d
 a

n
d

 l
ea

vi
n

g
  

th
em

 o
n

 t
h

e 
si

d
e 

o
f 

th
ei

r 
p

la
te

s.
 S

ta
ff

 s
p

o
ke

 t
o

 t
h

e 
 

ch
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 f

o
u

n
d

 o
u

t 
th

ey
 h

ad
n

’t
 e

ve
r 

ta
st

ed
 t

h
em

  

b
u

t 
ju

st
 ‘
d

id
n

’t
 l
ik

e 
th

em
!’

A
ct

io
n

: 
S
ta

ff
 s

h
ar

ed
 s

to
ri

es
 l
ik

e 
O

liv
er

’s
 V

eg
et

ab
le

s 
an

d
 

O
liv

er
’s

 F
ru

it
 S

al
ad

 a
n

d
 p

ro
vi

d
ed

 o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

ie
s 

fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n

 

to
 e

n
g

ag
e 

in
 m

es
sy

 p
la

y 
an

d
 i
n

ve
st

ig
at

e 
d

if
fe

re
n

t 
fo

o
d

s;
 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

ed
 c

h
ild

re
n

 t
o

 p
re

p
ar

e 
a 

va
ri

et
y 

o
f 

fo
o

d
s,

 e
n

ab
lin

g
 



2
1

F
o

llo
w

-u
p

 w
o

rk
 is

 d
o

n
e 

to
o

 –
 p

h
o

n
e 

ca
lls

 t
o

 p
ar

en
ts

 a
b

o
u

t 
3
 

m
o

n
th

s 
af

te
r 

o
n

e 
co

u
rs

e 
en

d
ed

 h
ig

h
lig

h
te

d
 t

h
at

 q
u

it
e 

a 
fe

w
 

p
ar

en
ts

 w
er

e 
st

ru
g

g
lin

g
 w

it
h

 u
n

d
er

st
an

d
in

g
 a

b
o

u
t 

h
id

d
en

 

sa
lt

s,
 s

o
 t

h
ey

 w
er

e 
al

l 
in

vi
te

d
 b

ac
k 

to
 a

 o
n

e-
o

ff
 s

es
si

o
n

 j
u

st
 

lo
o

ki
n

g
 a

t 
th

is
 a

sp
ec

t.
 A

t 
th

e 
en

d
 o

f 
th

is
 s

es
si

o
n

, 
1
0
0
%

 

o
f 

at
te

n
d

ee
s 

st
at

ed
 t

h
ey

 n
o

w
 u

n
d

er
st

o
o

d
 h

o
w

 t
o

 i
d

en
ti

fy
 

h
id

d
en

 s
al

ts
 a

n
d

 w
h

at
 c

o
m

m
o

n
 f

o
o

d
s 

co
n

ta
in

ed
 t

h
em

.

C
h

il
d

re
n

’s
 C

e
n

tr
e
s

Le
w

is
h

am
 h

as
 a

 n
et

w
o

rk
 o

f 
C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 C

en
tr

es
, 
lo

ca
te

d
 

ac
ro

ss
 t

h
e 

b
o

ro
u

g
h

 w
h

o
 a

ll 
p

la
y 

a 
vi

ta
l 
ro

le
 i
n

 i
m

p
ro

vi
n

g
 

th
e 

h
ea

lt
h

 o
u

tc
o

m
es

 o
f 

fa
m

ili
es

 w
it

h
 y

o
u

n
g

 c
h

ild
re

n
, 

d
is

tr
ib

u
ti

n
g

 V
it

am
in

 D
 d

ro
p

s,
 p

ro
m

o
ti

n
g

 i
m

m
u

n
is

at
io

n
s 

an
d

 

en
su

ri
n

g
 p

ar
ti

ci
p

at
io

n
 i
n

 p
la

y 
se

ss
io

n
s.

 C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 C
en

tr
es

 

ar
e 

p
ar

ti
cu

la
rl

y 
co

m
m

it
te

d
 t

o
 e

n
co

u
ra

g
in

g
 h

ea
lt

h
y 

ea
ti

n
g

 

an
d

 p
re

ve
n

ti
n

g
 o

b
es

it
y 

as
 p

ar
t 

o
f 

a 
g

en
er

al
 f

o
cu

s 
o

n
 h

ea
lt

h
y 

lif
es

ty
le

s.
 B

re
as

tf
ee

d
in

g
 i
s 

en
co

u
ra

g
ed

 a
t 

al
l 
ti

m
es

, 
an

d
 

m
an

y 
o

f 
th

e 
ce

n
tr

es
 h

av
e 

a 
B

re
as

tf
ee

d
in

g
 C

af
é 

o
n

 s
it

e.

P
re

-S
ch

o
o

l 
L
e
a
rn

in
g

 A
ll

ia
n

ce
 ‘

F
o

o
d

 E
xp

lo
re

rs
’ 

T
h

is
 c

o
u

rs
e 

en
co

u
ra

g
es

 c
h

ild
re

n
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e 
yo

u
n

g
es

t 
p

o
ss

ib
le

 

ag
e 

to
 h

an
d

le
, 
sm

el
l 
an

d
 t

as
te

 n
ew

 f
o

o
d

s,
 t

ea
ch

es
 t

h
e 

fa
m

ili
es

 a
b

o
u

t 
al

l 
as

p
ec

ts
 o

f 
n

u
tr

it
io

n
, 
an

d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
s 

p
ar

en
ts

 

an
d

 c
ar

er
s 

to
 t

h
in

k 
ab

o
u

t 
w

ay
s 

h
ea

lt
h

y 
ea

ti
n

g
 p

ri
n

ci
p

le
s 

ca
n

 

b
e 

p
ar

t 
o

f 
th

ei
r 

ev
er

yd
ay

 l
iv

es
.

A
 w

id
e 

ra
n

g
e 

o
f 

fo
o

d
 i
s 

ex
p

lo
re

d
, 
fo

cu
si

n
g

 o
n

 d
if

fe
re

n
t 

fo
o

d
 

g
ro

u
p

s 
ea

ch
 w

ee
k,

 e
n

co
u

ra
g

in
g

 c
h

ild
re

n
 t

o
 l
o

o
k 

at
 t

h
e 

fo
o

d
 

cl
o

se
ly

, 
an

ti
ci

p
at

e 
th

e 
ta

st
e 

an
d

 t
h

en
 t

ry
 i
t 

an
d

 t
al

k 
ab

o
u

t 

it
. 
B

ei
n

g
 w

it
h

 t
h

ei
r 

p
ee

rs
 h

el
p

s 
ch

ild
re

n
 d

ec
id

e 
to

 t
ry

 t
h

in
g

s 

th
ey

 m
ig

h
t 

n
ev

er
 t

ry
 a

t 
h

o
m

e.

T
h

e 
co

u
rs

e 
al

so
 h

el
p

s 
p

ar
en

ts
 a

n
d

 c
ar

er
s 

u
n

d
er

st
an

d
 

ab
o

u
t 

fo
o

d
 l
ab

el
s,

 h
id

d
en

 s
al

ts
 a

n
d

 s
u

g
ar

s,
 e

at
in

g
 w

el
l 
o

n
 

a 
b

u
d

g
et

 a
n

d
 p

o
rt

io
n

 s
iz

e.
 E

va
lu

at
io

n
s 

o
f 

th
e 

co
u

rs
e 

ar
e 

h
ig

h
ly

 p
o

si
ti

ve
, 
w

it
h

 9
0
%

 o
f 

p
ar

en
ts

 s
ta

ti
n

g
 t

h
ey

 g
ai

n
ed

 a
 

m
u

ch
 b

et
te

r 
u

n
d

er
st

an
d

in
g

 o
f 

h
o

w
 t

o
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 t

h
ei

r 
ch

ild
’s

 

h
ea

lt
h

y 
ea

ti
n

g
. 



2
2

P
re

-S
ch

o
o

l 
L
e
a
rn

in
g

 A
ll

ia
n

ce
 O

u
td

o
o

r 
L
e
a
rn

in
g

P
S
L
A

 a
ls

o
 h

av
e 

an
 e

xt
en

si
ve

 f
o

cu
s 

o
n

 o
u

td
o

o
r 

le
ar

n
in

g
 

as
 a

 m
ea

n
s 

o
f 

p
ro

m
o

ti
n

g
 p

h
ys

ic
al

 a
n

d
 m

en
ta

l 
h

ea
lt

h
 a

n
d

 

w
el

lb
ei

n
g

 i
n

 c
h

ild
re

n
 o

f 
al

l 
ag

es
 a

n
d

 t
h

ei
r 

fa
m

ili
es

. 

M
an

y 
o
f 

th
e 

se
ss

io
n
s 

in
 P

S
L
A

 C
h
ild

re
n
’s

 C
en

tr
es

 t
h
er

ef
o
re

 

en
co

u
ra

g
e 

ch
ild

re
n
 t

o
 b

e 
ac

ti
ve

 a
n
d
 im

m
er

se
d
 in

 p
h
ys

ic
al

 p
la

y 

o
u
td

o
o
rs

, 
an

d
 s

o
m

e 
se

ss
io

n
s 

fo
cu

s 
o
n
 t

h
is

 s
p
ec

ifi
ca

lly
 s

u
ch

 

as
 M

u
d
, 
M

es
s 

an
d
 M

ag
ic

 a
t 

B
el

lin
g
h
am

 C
en

tr
e.

 A
 n

ew
 c

o
u
rs

e 

ca
lle

d
 O

W
L
 B

A
B

IE
S
 w

as
 d

ev
is

ed
 d

u
ri
n
g
 t

h
is

 y
ea

r 
an

d
 r

u
n
 a

t 

M
an

o
r 

H
o
u
se

 C
h
ild

re
n
’s

 C
en

tr
e 

–
 t

h
is

 f
o
cu

se
s 

o
n
 e

n
co

u
ra

g
in

g
 

th
e 

yo
u
n
g
es

t 
b
ab

ie
s 

to
 b

e 
ac

ti
ve

 in
 t

h
e 

o
p
en

 a
ir.

In
 m

an
y 

o
f 

th
e 

P
S
L
A

 p
re

-s
ch

o
o

ls
 O

W
L
 (

o
u

td
o

o
rs

 w
h

ile
 

le
ar

n
in

g
) 

is
 a

ls
o

 a
 f

o
cu

s.
 A

t 
C

h
er

ry
 B

lo
ss

o
m

 P
re

-s
ch

o
o

l 
in

 

B
ec

ke
n

h
am

 P
la

ce
 P

ar
k,

 c
h

ild
re

n
 a

re
 o

u
td

o
o

rs
 a

ll 
d

ay
, 
u

si
n

g
 

th
e 

in
d

o
o

r 
ar

ea
 a

s 
a 

re
so

u
rc

e 
fo

r 
th

ei
r 

p
la

y 
o

n
ly

. 
A

 h
u

g
e 

m
u

d
 

ki
tc

h
en

 e
n

co
u

ra
g

es
 c

h
ild

re
n

 t
o

 u
se

 t
h

ei
r 

m
u

sc
le

s 
to

 l
if

t 
p

o
ts

 

fu
ll 

o
f 

m
u

d
, 
la

d
le

 ‘
d

in
n

er
’ 
an

d
 t

ra
n

sp
o

rt
 m

u
d

 a
ro

u
n

d
, 
an

d
 a

 

ro
p

e 
sw

in
g

 s
u

sp
en

d
ed

 f
ro

m
 a

 l
ar

g
e 

tr
ee

 e
n

co
u

ra
g

es
 c

h
ild

re
n

 

to
 f

ee
l 
th

e 
jo

y 
o

f 
m

o
vi

n
g

 a
n

d
 b

ei
n

g
 a

ct
iv

e 
o

u
td

o
o

rs
.

w
w

w
.l
ew

is
h

am
.g

o
v.

u
k/

m
ys

er
vi

ce
s/

ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

/
ea

rl
yy

ea
rs

/

ch
ild

re
n

s-
ce

n
tr

es
/



2
3

S
t 

G
eo

rg
e’

s 
C

E
 P

ri
m

ar
y 

S
ch

o
o

l 
in

 F
o

re
st

 H
ill

 w
as

 o
n

e 
o

f 
th

e 

fi
rs

t 
sc

h
o

o
ls

 i
n

 L
ew

is
h

am
 t

o
 i
n

tr
o

d
u

ce
 t

h
e 

d
ai

ly
 m

ile
 a

s 
p

ar
t 

o
f 

re
g

u
la

r 
sc

h
o

o
l 
ac

ti
vi

ti
es

. T
h

e 
w

h
o

le
 s

ch
o

o
l 
ta

ke
s 

it
 i
n

 

tu
rn

 t
o

 r
u

n
 o

r 
w

al
k 

fo
r 

1
5
 m

in
u

te
s 

ev
er

y 
d

ay
. T

h
e 

D
ai

ly
 M

ile
 

h
as

 g
o

n
e 

d
o

w
n

 a
 s

to
rm

, 
w

it
h

 p
u

p
ils

 c
o

lle
ct

iv
el

y 
cl

o
ck

in
g

 u
p

 

en
o

u
g

h
 m

ile
s 

to
 r

ea
ch

 A
u

st
ra

lia
 s

in
ce

 i
t 

w
as

 i
n

tr
o

d
u

ce
d

 i
n

 

S
ep

te
m

b
er

 2
0
1
5
. 

P
ri

m
a
ry

 s
ch

o
o

ls
 

T
h

e 
sc

h
o

o
l 
en

vi
ro

n
m

en
t 

is
 h

u
g

el
y 

in
fl

u
en

ti
al

 o
n

 c
h

ild
re

n
’s

 

b
eh

av
io

u
r,
 b

o
th

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

e 
in

fl
u

en
ce

 o
f 

th
e 

cu
rr

ic
u

lu
m

, 

an
d

 t
h

e 
cu

lt
u

re
 o

f 
th

e 
sc

h
o

o
l.
 T

h
er

e 
is

 a
 g

ro
w

in
g

 e
vi

d
en

ce
 

b
as

e 
o

n
 t

h
e 

ef
fe

ct
iv

en
es

s 
o

f 
sc

h
o

o
l-

b
as

ed
 i
n

te
rv

en
ti

o
n

 

to
 p

ro
m

o
te

 h
ea

lt
h

, 
d

ie
t 

an
d

 p
h

ys
ic

al
 a

ct
iv

it
y.

 S
ch

o
o

ls
 a

ls
o

 

p
ro

vi
d

e 
a 

ra
n

g
e 

o
f 

va
lu

ab
le

 o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

ie
s 

fo
r 

en
g

ag
in

g
 

fa
m

ili
es

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

w
id

er
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it

y.
 

T
h

is
 s

ec
ti

o
n

 p
ro

vi
d

es
 i
n

fo
rm

at
io

n
 o

n
 t

h
re

e 
w

h
o

le
 s

ch
o

o
l 

ap
p

ro
ac

h
es

 t
h

at
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 h

ea
lt

h
ie

r 
lif

es
ty

le
s 

fo
r 

o
u

r 
ch

ild
re

n
 

to
g

et
h

er
 w

it
h

 c
as

e 
st

u
d

ie
s 

o
n

 t
h

e 
b

en
efi

ts
 f

o
r 

sc
h

o
o

ls
. 

D
a
il

y
 M

il
e
 

O
ri

g
in

al
ly

 c
re

at
ed

 b
y 

a 
p

ri
m

ar
y 

h
ea

d
 t

ea
ch

er
 i
n

 S
ti

rl
in

g
, 
th

is
 

si
m

p
le

, 
‘n

o
 c

o
st

’ 
in

it
ia

ti
ve

 h
as

 s
w

ep
t 

th
e 

U
K

. T
w

o
 L

ew
is

h
am

 

sc
h

o
o

ls
 h

av
e 

al
re

ad
y 

st
ar

te
d

 r
u

n
n

in
g

 t
h

e 
d

ai
ly

 m
ile

 a
s 

a 

w
h

o
le

 s
ch

o
o

l 
ap

p
ro

ac
h

, 
an

d
 s

ev
er

al
 m

o
re

 a
re

 p
la

n
n

in
g

 t
o

 

st
ar

t 
in

 S
ep

te
m

b
er

 2
0
1
6
. 

T
h

e 
sc

h
em

e 
w

as
 c

re
at

ed
 b

y 
E

la
in

e 
W

yl
lie

, 
a 

p
ri

m
ar

y 
 

sc
h

o
o

l 
h

ea
d

te
ac

h
er

 i
n

 S
co

tl
an

d
, 
w

h
o

 w
an

te
d

 t
o

 t
ac

kl
e 

 

p
o

o
r 

le
ve

ls
 o

f 
fi

tn
es

s 
in

 h
er

 s
ch

o
o

l.
 C

h
ild

re
n

 a
re

 e
n

co
u

ra
g

ed
 

to
 r

u
n

 o
r 

w
al

k 
a 

m
ile

 e
ve

ry
 d

ay
 i
n

 t
h

ei
r 

p
la

yg
ro

u
n

d
 w

it
h

 

th
ei

r 
cl

as
sm

at
es

 a
n

d
 t

ea
ch

er
s.

 A
n

 i
n

it
ia

l 
S
co

tt
is

h
 e

va
lu

at
io

n
 

h
as

 d
em

o
n

st
ra

te
d

 i
m

p
re

ss
iv

e 
o

u
tc

o
m

es
 i
n

 t
er

m
s 

o
f 

 

re
d

u
ce

d
 p

re
va

le
n

ce
 o

f 
ch

ild
h

o
o

d
 o

b
es

it
y 

an
d

 i
m

p
ro

ve
d

 

le
ve

ls
 o

f 
ca

rd
io

 r
es

p
ir

at
o

ry
 fi

tn
es

s.
 A

n
ec

d
o

ta
l 
ev

id
en

ce
 

su
g

g
es

ts
 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

en
ts

 i
n

 a
tt

en
d

an
ce

, 
b

eh
av

io
u

r 
an

d
 

ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

al
 a

tt
ai

n
m

en
t.

O
u

r 
vi

s
io

n
 

A
ll

 L
e

w
is

h
a

m
 

p
ri

m
a

ry
 

s
c

h
o

o
ls

 w
il

l b
e

 

e
n

c
o

u
ra

g
e

d
 t

o
 

a
ll

o
w

 a
ll

 c
h

il
d

re
n

 

in
 t

h
e

 s
c

h
o

o
l t

o
 

ru
n

 o
u

td
o

o
rs

 f
o

r 
 

12
 m

in
u

te
s

 e
a

c
h

 

d
a

y,
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e

 D
a

il
y 

M
il

e
 

in
it

ia
ti

ve
.

S
t 

G
eo

rg
e’

s 
C

E
 P

ri
m

ar
y 

S
ch

o
o

l



2
4

S
u

g
a
r 

S
m

a
rt

S
t 

W
ill

ia
m

 o
f 

Yo
rk

 h
av

e 
ag

re
ed

 t
o
 b

e 
Le

w
is

h
am

’s
 fi

rs
t 

S
u
g
ar

 S
m

ar
t 

P
ri
m

ar
y 

S
ch

o
o
l. 

T
h
ey

 w
ill

 h
el

p
 p

ro
d
u
ce

 

re
so

u
rc

es
 a

n
d
 p

le
d
g
es

 t
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 o
th

er
 s

ch
o
o
ls

 t
o
 s

ig
n
 u

p
 

to
 t

h
e 

ca
m

p
ai

g
n
. T

h
e 

sc
h
o
o
l h

as
 a

lr
ea

d
y 

b
ee

n
 p

ro
ac

ti
ve

 

in
 h

ig
h
lig

h
ti

n
g
 t

h
e 

am
o
u
n
t 

o
f 

su
g
ar

 in
 t

h
e 

d
ie

t 
an

d
 m

ak
es

 

su
re

 t
h
at

 h
ea

lt
h
y 

ea
ti

n
g
 is

 e
m

b
ed

d
ed

 in
 t

h
e 

cu
rr

ic
u
lu

m
.

S
h

ar
o

n
 L

yn
ch

 t
h

e 
h

ea
d

te
ac

h
er

 a
t 

S
t 

W
ill

ia
m

 o
f 

Yo
rk

 

sa
id

 w
h

en
 s

h
e 

h
ea

rd
 a

b
o

u
t 

th
e 

S
u

g
ar

 S
m

ar
t 

ca
m

p
ai

g
n

 

“T
h

is
 s

o
u

n
d

s 
ve

ry
 e

xc
it

in
g

! 
 W

e 
w

o
u

ld
 b

e 
m

o
re

 t
h

an
 

h
ap

p
y 

to
 b

e 
in

vo
lv

ed
’.
 I
n

 a
 p

ri
m

ar
y 

sc
h

o
o

l,
 w

e 
d

o
n

’t
 

‘s
el

l’
 m

u
ch

 s
w

ee
t 

fo
o

d
, 
b

u
t 

w
e 

d
o

 h
av

e 
a 

‘h
ea

lt
h

y 
tu

ck
 

sh
o

p
’ 
so

 w
e 

co
u

ld
 c

er
ta

in
ly

 d
o

 a
 b

it
 m

o
re

 a
n

al
ys

is
 o

f 
th

e 

su
g

ar
 c

o
n

te
n

t.
 O

u
r 

Ye
ar

 6
 r

ec
en

tl
y 

h
ad

 a
 g

re
at

 d
is

p
la

y 

h
ig

h
lig

h
ti

n
g

 h
o

w
 m

u
ch

 s
u

g
ar

 i
s 

in
 v

ar
io

u
s 

d
ri

n
ks

 w
h

ic
h

 

w
as

 o
n

 t
h

e 
m

ai
n

 t
h

o
ro

u
g

h
fa

re
 i
n

to
 s

ch
o

o
l.
 I
t 

w
as

 r
ea

lly
 

ey
e 

ca
tc

h
in

g
, 
an

d
 s

h
o

ck
in

g
, 
an

d
 g

en
er

at
ed

 a
 l
o

t 
o

f 

d
is

cu
ss

io
n

. 
It

 w
as

 j
u

st
 a

ft
er

 J
am

ie
 g

o
t 

th
e 

‘s
u

g
ar

 t
ax

’ 

an
n

o
u

n
ce

d
 i
n

 t
h

e 
b

u
d

g
et

.”
 

 w
w

w
.l

e
w

is
h

a
m

.g
o

v.
u

k
/
su

g
a
rs

m
a
rt

G
er

al
d

in
e 

C
o

n
st

ab
le

, 
S
t 

G
eo

rg
e’

s 
C

E
 P

ri
m

ar
y 

S
ch

o
o

l 

h
ea

d
te

ac
h

er
, 
in

tr
o

d
u

ce
d

 t
h

e 
ac

ti
vi

ty
 i
n

 h
er

 s
ch

o
o

l 
af

te
r 

se
ei

n
g

 t
h

e 
im

p
ac

t 
o

f 
th

e 
sc

h
em

e.
 S

h
e 

sa
id

: 
“W

e 
d

ec
id

ed
 t

o
 

ad
o

p
t 

th
e 

M
ile

 a
 D

ay
 h

av
in

g
 s

ee
n

 a
 B

B
C

 r
ep

o
rt

 o
n

 a
 s

ch
o

o
l 

in
 S

co
tl

an
d

. T
o

 m
e 

it
 s

ee
m

ed
 t

h
e 

id
ea

l 
w

ay
 t

o
 a

llo
w

 o
u

r 

ch
ild

re
n

 t
o

 h
av

e 
an

 o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

y 
to

 e
n

g
ag

e 
in

 d
ai

ly
 e

xe
rc

is
e 

ad
d

it
io

n
al

 t
o

 t
h

ei
r 

P
E

 l
es

so
n

s 
an

d
 p

la
yt

im
es

. 
W

e 
h

av
e 

fo
u

n
d

 

th
at

 d
o

in
g

 t
h

e 
m

ile
 d

u
ri

n
g

 t
h

e 
sc

h
o

o
l 
d

ay
 a

ct
u

al
ly

 h
el

p
s 

re
-e

n
er

g
is

e 
ch

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 i
m

p
ro

ve
 t

h
ei

r 
fo

cu
s 

b
ac

k 
in

 t
h

e 

cl
as

sr
o

o
m

. 
 T

h
is

 i
n

it
ia

ti
ve

 h
as

 b
ee

n
 s

o
 p

o
p

u
la

r 
w

it
h

 c
h

ild
re

n
 

an
d

 s
ta

ff
 t

h
at

 w
e 

ar
e 

n
o

w
 l
o

o
ki

n
g

 t
o

 d
ev

el
o

p
 a

 p
ar

en
ts

’ 

‘M
ile

 a
 D

ay
’ 
g

ro
u

p
 i
n

 t
h

e 
lo

ca
l 
p

ar
k!

”

C
o

u
n

ci
llo

r 
P

au
l 
M

as
lin

, 
C

ab
in

et
 M

em
b

er
 f

o
r 

C
h

ild
re

n
 

an
d

 Y
o

u
n

g
 P

eo
p

le
, 
re

ce
n

tl
y 

jo
in

ed
 p

u
p

ils
 f

o
r 

th
ei

r 
d

ai
ly

 

ru
n

 a
lo

n
g

 w
it

h
 P

er
ry

 V
al

e 
w

ar
d

 c
o

u
n

ci
llo

r 
an

d
 D

ai
ly

 M
ile

 

ch
am

p
io

n
, 
S
u

sa
n

 W
is

e.
 H

e 
sa

id
: 
“T

h
e 

b
en

efi
ts

 o
f 

re
g

u
la

r 

ex
er

ci
se

 o
n

 i
m

p
ro

vi
n

g
 t

h
e 

h
ea

lt
h

 a
n

d
 w

el
lb

ei
n

g
 o

f 
ch

ild
re

n
 

ar
e 

w
el

l 
d

o
cu

m
en

te
d

 a
n

d
 t

h
is

 i
s 

a 
fa

n
ta

st
ic

 w
ay

 o
f 

g
et

ti
n

g
 

ch
ild

re
n

 p
h

ys
ic

al
ly

 a
ct

iv
e.

 I
 c

an
 c

le
ar

ly
 s

ee
 h

o
w

 m
u

ch
 S

t 

G
eo

rg
e’

s 
p

u
p

ils
 a

re
 e

n
jo

yi
n

g
 t

h
is

 a
n

d
 t

h
at

 c
an

 o
n

ly
 b

e 
a 

g
o

o
d

 t
h

in
g

. 
I 
kn

o
w

 t
h

at
 t

h
er

e 
ar

e 
m

an
y 

sc
h

o
o

ls
 i
n

 L
ew

is
h

am
 

th
at

 a
re

 i
n

te
re

st
ed

 i
n

 t
ak

in
g

 u
p

 t
h

is
 i
n

it
ia

ti
ve

 a
n

d
 I
 h

ea
rt

ily
 

en
co

u
ra

g
e 

th
em

 t
o

 d
o

 s
o

.”
 

F
o

r 
m

o
re

 i
n

fo
rm

at
io

n
 a

n
d

 r
es

o
u

rc
es

 o
n

 T
h

e 
D

ai
ly

 M
ile

 s
ee

 

w
w

w
.t

h
ed

ai
ly

m
ile

.c
o

.u
k

Jo
in

 u
s 

in
 b

ec
o

m
in

g
 a

 D
ai

ly
 M

ile
 s

ch
o

o
ls

, 
co

n
ta

ct
  

A
le

x.
A

lle
n

@
le

w
is

h
am

.g
o

v.
u

k 



2
5

in
 D

o
w

n
h

am
 h

as
 a

ch
ie

ve
d

 t
h

e 
H

ea
lt

h
y 

S
ch

o
o

ls
 B

ro
n

ze
 

A
w

ar
d

 f
o

llo
w

in
g

 o
u

r 
re

vi
ew

 o
f 

p
ra

ct
ic

es
 i
n

 p
ro

m
o

ti
n

g
 h

ea
lt

h
 

an
d

 w
el

lb
ei

n
g

. T
h

is
 a

w
ar

d
 r

ec
o

g
n

is
es

 h
o

w
 a

s 
a 

sc
h

o
o

l 
w

e 

su
p

p
o

rt
 t

h
e 

h
ea

lt
h

 a
n

d
 w

el
lb

ei
n

g
 o

f 
th

e 
sc

h
o

o
l 
co

m
m

u
n

it
y.

 

T
h

e 
ar

ea
s 

in
cl

u
d

ed
 i
n

 t
h

e 
sc

h
em

e 
ar

e 
th

o
se

 o
f 

H
ea

lt
h

y 

ea
ti

n
g

, 
P

h
ys

ic
al

 a
ct

iv
it

y,
 E

m
o

ti
o

n
al

 h
ea

lt
h

 a
n

d
 w

el
l-

b
ei

n
g

, 

an
d

 P
er

so
n

al
, 
S
o

ci
al

 H
ea

lt
h

 E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
 (

P
S
H

E
).

O
u

r 
m

ai
n

 a
im

 i
s 

to
 h

el
p

 o
u

r 
ch

ild
re

n
 s

ta
y 

h
ea

lt
h

y 
an

d
  

h
ap

p
y 

as
 t

h
ey

 g
ro

w
 u

p
: 
to

 l
ea

d
 a

 h
ea

lt
h

y 
lif

es
ty

le
, 
to

 m
ak

e 

h
ea

lt
h

y 
fo

o
d

 c
h

o
ic

es
 a

t 
lu

n
ch

ti
m

e 
an

d
 t

o
 b

e 
ac

ti
ve

 a
t 

an
d

 

o
n

 t
h

e 
w

ay
 t

o
 s

ch
o

o
l.
 W

e 
al

so
 w

an
t 

to
 h

el
p

 t
h

em
 l
ea

rn
 

ab
o

u
t 

th
ei

r 
h

ea
lt

h
, 
an

d
 d

ev
el

o
p

 t
h

ei
r 

m
o

ti
va

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

  

se
lf

-r
es

p
ec

t 
to

 m
ak

e 
h

ea
lt

h
y 

ch
o

ic
es

. T
h

e 
sc

h
o

o
l 
w

ill
 

co
n

ti
n

u
e 

to
 w

o
rk

 t
o

w
ar

d
s 

ac
h

ie
vi

n
g

 a
 S

ilv
er

 A
w

ar
d

 a
n

d
 

ev
en

tu
al

ly
 a

 G
o

ld
 A

w
ar

d
.”

F
o

r 
m

o
re

 i
n

fo
rm

at
io

n
 o

n
 t

h
e 

H
ea

lt
h

y 
S
ch

o
o

l 
P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

vi
si

t 
w

w
w

.h
ea

lt
h

ys
ch

o
o

ls
.l
o

n
d

o
n

.g
o

v.
u

k

H
e
a
lt

h
y
 S

ch
o

o
ls

 P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
H

ea
lt

h
y 

S
ch

o
o

ls
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 i
s 

an
 A

w
ar

d
s 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
th

at
 

su
p

p
o

rt
s 

sc
h

o
o

ls
 t

h
at

 a
re

 w
o

rk
in

g
 t

o
 i
m

p
ro

ve
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 

yo
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

’s
 w

el
l-

b
ei

n
g

. 
It

 i
s 

b
as

ed
 o

n
 a

 w
h

o
le

 s
ch

o
o

l 

ap
p

ro
ac

h
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 5

 t
h

em
es

:

  P
er

so
n

al
, 
S
o

ci
al

, 
H

ea
lt

h
 a

n
d

 E
co

n
o

m
ic

 E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
 

  H
ea

lt
h

y 
E

at
in

g

  P
h

ys
ic

al
 A

ct
iv

it
y 

  E
m

o
ti

o
n

al
 H

ea
lt

h
 &

 W
el

lb
ei

n
g

 

  E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
t

E
va

lu
at

io
n

 o
f 

th
e 

n
at

io
n

al
 H

ea
lt

h
y 

S
ch

o
o

ls
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

sh
o

w
ed

 p
o

si
ti

ve
 o

u
tc

o
m

es
 o

n
 p

h
ys

ic
al

 a
ct

iv
it

y 
an

d
 h

ea
lt

h
y 

ea
ti

n
g

. 
P

ar
ti

ci
p

at
in

g
 s

ch
o

o
ls

 a
ls

o
 r

ep
o

rt
ed

 r
ed

u
ce

d
 

in
ci

d
en

ce
 o

f 
b

u
lly

in
g

, 
im

p
ro

ve
d

 b
eh

av
io

u
r 

an
d

 i
m

p
ro

ve
d

 

at
te

n
d

an
ce

.

M
an

y 
Le

w
is

h
am

 s
ch

o
o

ls
 a

re
 a

lr
ea

d
y 

p
ro

m
o

ti
n

g
 a

n
d

 

su
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 h

ea
lt

h
 p

ro
m

o
ti

o
n

 i
n

te
rv

en
ti

o
n

s 
at

 t
h

ei
r 

sc
h

o
o

ls
 

to
 e

n
co

u
ra

g
e 

h
ea

lt
h

 a
n

d
 w

el
lb

ei
n

g
, 
lik

e 
A

ct
iv

e 
Tr

av
el

, 

co
o

ke
ry

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

es
 a

n
d

 o
th

er
 h

ea
lt

h
y 

lif
es

ty
le

 i
n

it
ia

ti
ve

s.
 

T
h

e 
aw

ar
d

s 
ar

e 
fo

r 
sc

h
o

o
ls

 t
o

 r
ec

o
g

n
is

e 
th

ei
r 

ac
h

ie
ve

m
en

ts
 

in
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 t

h
e 

h
ea

lt
h

 a
n

d
 w

el
lb

ei
n

g
 o

f 
th

ei
r 

p
u

p
ils

 a
n

d
 

o
ve

r 
3
0
 s

ch
o

o
ls

 i
n

 t
h

e 
b

o
ro

u
g

h
 h

av
e 

al
re

ad
y 

si
g

n
ed

 u
p

 

to
 t

h
e 

aw
ar

d
. 
F
o

u
r 

sc
h

o
o

ls
 h

av
e 

al
re

ad
y 

ac
h

ie
ve

d
 b

ro
n

ze
 

aw
ar

d
, 
th

es
e 

ar
e 

S
ir

 F
ra

n
ci

s 
D

ra
ke

, 
G

re
en

va
le

, 
D

o
w

n
d

er
ry

 

an
d

 S
ti

lln
es

s 
In

fa
n

t.

H
ea

d
te

ac
h

er
 o

f 
D

o
w

n
d

er
ry

, T
ra

ce
y 

Le
w

is
 c

o
m

m
en

ts
: 
“W

e 

ar
e 

d
el

ig
h

te
d

 t
o

 a
n

n
o

u
n

ce
 t

h
at

 D
o

w
n

d
er

ry
 P

ri
m

ar
y 

S
ch

o
o

l 



2
6

S
e
co

n
d

a
ry

 s
ch

o
o

ls
B

o
n

u
s 

P
as

to
r 

C
at

h
o

lic
 C

o
lle

g
e 

in
 D

o
w

n
h

am
 i
s 

se
t 

to
 b

ec
o

m
e 

th
e 

fi
rs

t 
Le

w
is

h
am

 S
u

g
ar

 S
m

ar
t 

S
ec

o
n

d
ar

y 
S
ch

o
o

l.

H
ea

d
te

ac
h

er
 R

u
th

 H
o

ld
en

 s
ta

te
s,

 “
I 
am

 e
xc

it
ed

 a
b

o
u

t 

b
ec

o
m

in
g
 L

ew
is

h
am

’s
 fi

rs
t 

S
u
g
ar

 S
m

ar
t 

S
ch

o
o
l b

ec
au

se
 t

h
er

e 

is
 a

 c
le

ar
 a

n
d
 v

is
ib

le
 c

o
rr

el
at

io
n
 b

et
w

ee
n
 u

n
h
ea

lt
h
y 

ea
ti

n
g
 a

n
d

 

h
ig

h
 s

u
g
ar

 f
o
o
d
s 

an
d
 d

ri
n
ks

, 
an

d
 g

en
er

al
 u

n
d
er

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

. 

Fo
o
d
s 

th
at

 a
re

 h
ig

h
 in

 s
u
g
ar

 d
o
 m

ak
e 

ch
ild

re
n
 b

eh
av

e 
in

 a
 

n
eg

at
iv

e 
w

ay
; 
th

ey
 a

re
 e

it
h
er

 c
o
m

p
le

te
ly

 h
yp

er
 a

ct
iv

e 
an

d
 

ca
n
n
o
t 

b
eh

av
e 

ap
p
ro

p
ri
at

el
y,

 o
r 

th
ey

 a
re

 t
ir
ed

 a
n
d
 le

th
ar

g
ic

 

an
d
 c

an
n
o
t 

w
o
rk

.

P
ay

in
g
 a

tt
en

ti
o
n
 t

o
 t

h
is

 m
at

te
r 

an
d
 a

im
in

g
 t

o
 k

ee
p
 t

h
e 

sc
h
o
o
l 

an
d

 s
tu

d
en

ts
 s

u
g

ar
 s

m
ar

t,
 w

ill
 h

el
p

 b
at

tl
e 

w
it

h
 t

h
is

 p
ro

b
le

m
 

an
d
 I 

am
 s

u
re

 w
ill

 im
p
ac

t 
p
o
si

ti
ve

ly
 o

n
 s

tu
d
en

ts
’ a

ch
ie

ve
m

en
t.
”

S
u

g
a
r 

S
m

a
rt

 P
le

d
g

e
s 

w
h

ic
h

 t
h

e
 s

ch
o

o
l 

a
re

  

co
n

si
d

e
ri

n
g

 i
n

cl
u

d
e
:

  I
n

cr
ea

si
n

g
 t

h
e 

u
se

 o
f 

p
ar

en
t 

m
ai

l 
ra

th
er

 t
h

an
 s

tu
d

en
ts

 

h
av

in
g

 m
o

n
ey

 t
o

 p
ay

 f
o

r 
fo

o
d

.

  E
n

su
ri

n
g

 t
h

at
 C

h
ar

tw
el

ls
 o

u
r 

ca
te

re
r 

d
o

 n
o

t 
se

rv
e 

an
y 

su
g

ar
y 

d
ri

n
ks

  D
eb

at
in

g
 t

h
e 

su
g

ar
 t

ax
 l
aw

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 o
u

r 
st

u
d

en
t 

vo
ic

e 

an
d

 B
ri

ti
sh

 V
al

u
es

 a
g

en
d

a

  U
si

n
g

 o
u

r 
C

it
iz

en
sh

ip
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

to
 e

d
u

ca
te

 f
u

rt
h

er
 

o
n

 n
u

tr
it

io
n

al
 a

d
vi

ce
 a

n
d

 h
ea

lt
h

y 
ch

o
ic

es
 w

o
rk

sh
o

p
s

  A
ll 

st
u

d
en

ts
 t

o
 r

ec
ei

ve
 N

u
tr

it
io

n
al

 w
o

rk
sh

o
p

s 
th

ro
u

g
h

 

th
ei

r 
co

re
 P

h
ys

ic
al

 E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
 l
es

so
n

s 
–
 s

ta
rt

er
 a

ct
iv

it
ie

s 

fo
r 

ev
er

y 
co

re
 P

E
 l
es

so
n

  I
n

 F
o

o
d

 T
ec

h
n

o
lo

g
y 

le
ss

o
n

s 
fo

r 
Ye

ar
 7

 a
n

d
 8

 s
tu

d
en

ts
, 

w
e 

co
u

ld
 a

d
ap

t 
sc

h
em

es
 o

f 
w

o
rk

 t
o

 p
ro

m
o

te
 t

h
e 

b
en

efi
ts

 o
f 

h
ea

lt
h

y 
ch

o
ic

es

  B
ri

n
g

 i
n

 o
u

ts
id

e 
ex

p
er

ts
 t

o
 m

o
d

el
 h

ea
lt

h
y 

co
o

ki
n

g
 a

n
d

 

m
en

u
s 

an
d

 d
ev

el
o

p
 a

 b
u

zz
 a

ro
u

n
d

 h
ea

lt
h

  I
n

tr
o

d
u

ce
 a

 h
ea

lt
h

y 
sc

h
o

o
ls

 w
ee

k

  S
tu

d
en

t 
vo

ic
e 

an
d

 s
tu

d
en

t 
co

u
n

ci
l 
–
 t

ak
in

g
 o

n
 a

n
d

 

le
ad

in
g

 o
n

 h
ea

lt
h

y 
ea

ti
n

g
 a

n
d

 d
ri

n
ki

n
g

 f
o

llo
w

in
g

 t
h

ei
r 

o
w

n
 p

ro
d

u
ce

d
 a

u
d

it
 a

n
d

 s
u

rv
ey

 

  U
se

 o
f 

p
ro

fe
ss

io
n

al
 r

o
le

 m
o

d
el

s 
to

 a
d

vi
se

 o
n

 t
h

ei
r 

o
w

n
 

ex
p

er
ie

n
ce

s 

  D
is

p
la

y 
an

d
 p

ro
m

o
ti

o
n

 a
ro

u
n

d
 t

h
e 

sc
h

o
o

l 
o

f 
h

ea
lt

h
y 

fo
o

d
s 

an
d

 d
ri

n
ks

  H
av

e 
ac

ce
ss

 t
o

 d
ri

n
ki

n
g

 f
o

u
n

ta
in

s

  R
u

n
 c

o
m

p
et

it
io

n
s 

o
f 

h
ea

lt
h

 f
o

o
d

s 
th

ro
u

g
h

 o
u

r 
 

H
o

u
se

 s
ys

te
m

 

w
w

w
.l

e
w

is
h

a
m

.g
o

v.
u

k
/
su

g
a
rs

m
a
rt



2
7

H
e
a
lt

h
y
 s

tr
e
e
t 

fo
o

d
 o

ff
e
r

C
h

ar
tw

el
ls

 w
h

o
 d

el
iv

er
 t

h
e 

co
u

n
ci

l 
sc

h
o

o
l 
m

ea
l 
co

n
tr

ac
t 

h
av

e 
b

ee
n

 u
n

d
er

ta
ki

n
g

 e
xc

it
in

g
 n

ew
 w

o
rk

 o
n

 t
h

e 
sc

h
o

o
l 

m
en

u
s’

 o
ff

er
 f

o
r 

se
co

n
d

ar
y 

sc
h

o
o

ls
. 
B

o
n

u
s 

P
as

to
r 

w
as

 o
n

e 

o
f 

a 
sm

al
l 
g

ro
u

p
 o

f 
p

io
n

ee
r 

n
at

io
n

al
 s

ch
o

o
ls

 t
o

 t
ri

al
 o

u
t 

a 

n
ew

 h
ea

lt
h

y 
st

re
et

 f
o

o
d

 s
ty

le
 o

ff
er

. T
h

e 
p

ro
ce

ss
 i
n

vo
lv

ed
 

st
u

d
en

t 
an

d
 s

ta
ff

 i
n

si
g

h
t 

an
d

 f
ee

d
b

ac
k,

 p
ar

en
t 

/
 g

o
ve

rn
o

r 

ta
st

in
g

s 
an

d
 k

it
ch

en
 s

ta
ff

 d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

tr
ai

n
in

g
.

T
h

e 
in

si
g

h
ts

 g
av

e 
so

m
e 

cl
ea

r 
th

em
es

 t
h

at
 w

o
u

ld
 n

ee
d

 

to
 b

e 
co

n
si

d
er

ed
 w

h
en

 b
u

ild
in

g
 t

h
e 

fo
o

d
 o

ff
er

. 
S
tu

d
en

ts
 

ar
e 

in
cr

ea
si

n
g

ly
 i
n

fl
u

en
ce

d
 b

y 
th

e 
h

ig
h

 s
tr

ee
t 

an
d

 a
re

 

ea
ti

n
g

 a
 w

id
er

 v
ar

ie
ty

 t
h

an
 t

h
ey

 h
av

e 
d

o
n

e 
in

 t
h

e 
p

as
t.

 

C
u

st
o

m
is

at
io

n
 a

n
d

 c
h

o
ic

e 
in

 w
h

at
 t

h
ei

r 
m

ea
l 
is

 m
ad

e 
u

p
 

o
f 

w
as

 i
m

p
o

rt
an

t 
w

it
h

 p
u

p
ils

 p
re

fe
rr

in
g

 g
ra

b
 a

n
d

 g
o

 t
o

 a
 

tr
ad

it
io

n
al

 p
la

te
d

 m
ea

l.
 T

h
ey

 e
xp

ec
te

d
 a

 v
ar

ie
ty

 o
f 

cu
is

in
e 

b
u

t 
al

so
 t

h
e 

n
ee

d
 t

o
 f

ea
tu

re
 t

h
e 

fa
vo

u
ri

te
 I
ta

lia
n

 a
n

d
 

A
m

er
ic

an
 d

is
h

es
.

T
h

e 
n

ew
 o

ff
er

 i
n

cl
u

d
es

 a
 r

an
g

e 
o

f 
g

lo
b

al
 d

is
h

es
, 
h

ig
h

  

st
re

et
 i
n

sp
ir

ed
 f

o
o

d
 o

ff
er

s 
(A

m
er

ic
an

/
Te

x 
M

ex
, 
W

in
g

s 
 

an
d

 t
h

in
g

s,
 S

p
ee

d
y 

It
al

ia
n

) 
an

d
 L

ig
h

t 
an

d
 S

im
p

le
 c

o
ld

  

g
ra

b
 a

n
d

 g
o

 m
ea

ls
.

T
h

e 
tr

ia
l 
o

f 
th

e 
n

ew
 f

o
o

d
 o

ff
er

 h
as

 b
ee

n
 a

 s
u

cc
es

s 
w

it
h

 a
 

m
ar

ke
d

 i
n

cr
ea

se
 i
n

 e
n

g
ag

em
en

t 
an

d
 u

p
ta

ke
 l
ev

el
s 

w
it

h
 t

h
e 

st
u

d
en

t 
p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
. T

h
e 

n
ex

t 
p

h
as

e 
w

ill
 s

ee
 t

h
is

 h
ea

lt
h

y 

st
re

et
 f

o
o

d
 o

ff
er

 l
au

n
ch

ed
 i
n

 a
ll 

Le
w

is
h

am
 s

ec
o

n
d

ar
y 

sc
h

o
o

ls
 t

h
is

 a
ca

d
em

ic
 y

ea
r.
 

   
   

 S
tu

d
e

n
ts

 

a
tt

it
u

d
e

s
 a

n
d

 

e
xp

e
c

ta
ti

o
n

s
 

a
ro

u
n

d
 f

o
o

d
 a

re
 

c
h

a
n

g
in

g

”

“



2
8

U
n

iv
e
rs

it
y
 H

o
sp

it
a
l 

L
e
w

is
h

a
m

Le
w

is
h

am
 a

n
d

 G
re

en
w

ic
h

 N
H

S
 T

ru
st

 (
LG

T
) 

is
 a

n
 a

cu
te

 

an
d

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

h
ea

lt
h

ca
re

 p
ro

vi
d

er
, 
em

p
lo

yi
n

g
 o

ve
r 

5
7
0
0
 

m
em

b
er

s 
o

f 
st

af
f.

 T
h

e 
Tr

u
st

 d
el

iv
er

s 
se

rv
ic

es
 a

cr
o

ss
 t

w
o

 

la
rg

e 
ac

u
te

 h
o

sp
it

al
 s

it
es

, 
U

n
iv

er
si

ty
 H

o
sp

it
al

 L
ew

is
h

am
  

an
d

 Q
u

ee
n

 E
liz

ab
et

h
 H

o
sp

it
al

, 
G

re
en

w
ic

h
 a

n
d

 w
it

h
in

 

co
m

m
u

n
it

y 
se

tt
in

g
s.

 

T
h

is
 y

ea
r 

th
e 

N
H

S
 i
n

cl
u

d
ed

 a
 n

at
io

n
al

 s
ch

em
e 

to
 i
m

p
ro

ve
 

th
e 

h
ea

lt
h

 a
n

d
 w

el
lb

ei
n

g
 o

f 
th

ei
r 

w
o

rk
fo

rc
e.

 N
o

t 
o

n
ly

 w
ill

 

st
af

f 
b

en
efi

t 
fr

o
m

 t
h

e 
sc

h
em

e 
b

u
t 

ev
id

en
ce

 o
u

tl
in

es
 a

 l
in

k 

b
et

w
ee

n
 b

et
te

r 
st

af
f 

h
ea

lt
h

 a
n

d
 i
m

p
ac

t 
o

n
 p

at
ie

n
t 

ca
re

. 

A
n

 a
re

a 
o

f 
ac

ti
o

n
 i
n

 t
h

e 
n

at
io

n
al

 s
ch

em
e 

is
 p

ro
vi

d
in

g
 

h
ea

lt
h

ie
r 

fo
o

d
 f

o
r 

st
af

f,
 v

is
it

o
rs

 a
n

d
 p

at
ie

n
ts

. 
O

n
e 

re
as

o
n

 

fo
r 

ch
an

g
in

g
 t

h
e 

fo
o

d
 e

n
vi

ro
n

m
en

t 
in

 N
H

S
 p

re
m

is
es

 i
s 

th
at

 

it
 h

as
 p

re
vi

o
u

sl
y 

b
ee

n
 e

st
im

at
ed

 t
h

at
 m

an
y 

(o
ve

r 
5
0
%

) 

o
f 

N
H

S
 w

o
rk

fo
rc

e 
ar

e 
o

ve
rw

ei
g

h
t 

o
r 

o
b

es
e.

 D
ie

t 
p

la
ys

 a
n

 

im
p

o
rt

an
t 

ro
le

 a
n

d
 o

n
 a

ve
ra

g
e 

w
e 

co
n

su
m

e 
to

o
 m

u
ch

 s
u

g
ar

 

w
h

ic
h

 i
s 

le
ad

in
g

 t
o

 h
ig

h
 r

at
es

 o
f 

to
o

th
 d

ec
ay

, 
o

b
es

it
y 

an
d

 

ty
p

e 
2
 d

ia
b

et
es

.

K
ei

th
 H

o
w

ar
d

, 
D

ir
ec

to
r 

o
f 

E
st

at
es

 &
 F

ac
ili

ti
es

 f
o

r 
Le

w
is

h
am

 

an
d

 G
re

en
w

ic
h

 N
H

S
 T

ru
st

 h
as

 s
ig

n
ed

 t
h

e 
Tr

u
st

 u
p

 t
o

 S
U

G
A

R
 

S
M

A
R

T
 a

n
d

 h
as

 p
le

d
g

ed
 t

o
 p

ro
vi

d
e 

m
o

re
 h

ea
lt

h
y 

fo
o

d
 a

n
d

 

d
ri

n
ks

 o
p

ti
o

n
s 

an
d

 t
o

 w
o

rk
 t

o
w

ar
d

s 
h

ea
lt

h
y 

fo
o

d
 s

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

an
d

 t
o

 e
n

co
u

ra
g

e 
th

e 
Tr

u
st

s’
 r

et
ai

le
r 

p
ar

tn
er

s 
to

 d
o

 t
h

e 

sa
m

e 
fo

r 
st

af
f,

 v
is

it
o

rs
 a

n
d

 p
at

ie
n

ts
 v

is
it

in
g

 t
h

e 
Tr

u
st

.

L
E

W
IS

H
A

M



2
9

T
h

e 
Tr

u
st

 i
s 

w
o

rk
in

g
 i
n

 c
o

lla
b

o
ra

ti
o

n
 w

it
h

 o
u

r 
re

ta
ils

 

p
ar

tn
er

s 
to

 u
n

d
er

ta
ke

 r
eg

u
la

r 
m

o
n

th
ly

 a
u

d
it

s 
to

 r
ev

ie
w

 

p
ro

g
re

ss
 o

n
 h

ea
lt

h
y 

ea
ti

n
g

 a
n

d
 i
d

en
ti

fy
 a

n
y 

ar
ea

s 
o

f 

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

y.
 O

u
r 

re
ta

ile
rs

 a
re

 i
n

cl
u

d
ed

 i
n

 t
h

e 
Tr

u
st

’s
 c

at
er

in
g

 

w
o

rk
in

g
 g

ro
u

p
 m

ee
ti

n
g

s 
w

h
er

e 
h

ea
lt

h
y 

ea
ti

n
g

 i
n

it
ia

ti
ve

s 

an
d

 t
h

e 
C

Q
U

IN
 t

ar
g

et
s 

ar
e 

d
is

cu
ss

ed
 w

it
h

 c
lin

ic
al

 s
ta

ff
 

an
d

 o
u

r 
d

ie
ti

ci
an

 a
lo

n
g

 w
it

h
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s 
fo

r 
ad

ve
rt

is
in

g
 

h
ea

lt
h

y 
ea

ti
n

g
 p

ro
d

u
ct

s.

w
w

w
.l

e
w

is
h

a
m

.g
o

v.
u

k
/
su

g
a
rs

m
a
rt

K
ei

th
 H

o
w

ar
d
 s

ai
d
: “

I a
m

 d
el

ig
h
te

d
 t

o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 t
h
e 

Su
g
ar

 S
m

ar
t 

In
it

ia
ti

ve
 a

n
d
 f
o
r 

th
e 

Tr
u
st

 t
o
 b

e 
p
la

yi
n
g
 it

s 
p
ar

t 
in

 t
h
e 

re
d
u
ct

io
n

 

in
 t

h
e 

co
n

su
m

p
ti

o
n

 o
f 

su
g

ar
 t

h
at

 h
as

 l
ed

 t
o

 i
n

cr
ea

si
n

g
 

o
b

es
it

y 
an

d
 T

yp
e 

2
 d

ia
b

et
es

 w
it

h
in

 o
u

r 
lo

ca
l 
co

m
m

u
n

it
y”

.

T
h

e
 T

ru
st

 i
s 

w
o

rk
in

g
 o

n
 a

 n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

in
it

ia
ti

ve
s 

 

w
h

ic
h

 i
n

cl
u

d
e
:

  R
em

o
vi

n
g

 c
h

o
co

la
te

 a
n

d
 c

ri
sp

s 
fr

o
m

 t
ill

 p
o

in
ts

.

  P
u

b
lis

h
in

g
 n

u
tr

it
io

n
al

 i
n

fo
rm

at
io

n
 o

n
 t

h
e 

co
ff

ee
  

sh
o

p
 m

en
u

 b
o

ar
d

, 
th

is
 w

ill
 i
n

cl
u

d
e 

th
e 

fa
t 

co
n

te
n

t 
 

an
d

 s
u

g
ar

 c
o

n
te

n
t.

  I
m

p
ro

vi
n

g
 t

h
e 

ve
n

d
in

g
 m

ac
h

in
e 

o
p

ti
o

n
s 

b
y 

 

o
ff

er
in

g
 h

ea
lt

h
ie

r 
ea

ti
n

g
 f

o
o

d
 a

n
d

 d
ri

n
k 

it
em

s 
fo

r 

ex
am

p
le

 l
o

w
 c

al
o

ri
e 

d
ri

n
ks

, 
sm

al
l 
p

o
rt

io
n

 s
iz

es
 o

f 

ch
o

co
la

te
 b

ar
s 

an
d

 h
ea

lt
h

ie
r 

ea
ti

n
g

 s
n

ac
k 

b
ar

s.

  A
d

ve
rt

is
in

g
 t

h
e 

n
u

tr
it

io
n

al
 c

o
n

te
n

t 
o

f 
fo

o
d

 a
n

d
  

d
ri

n
k 

it
em

s 
o

n
 v

en
d

in
g

 m
ac

h
in

es
 a

cr
o

ss
 s

it
e.

  P
ro

m
o

ti
n

g
 h

ea
lt

h
y 

‘m
ea

l 
d

ea
l 
o

p
ti

o
n

s’
. 
In

 t
h

e 

re
st

au
ra

n
t 

at
 U

n
iv

er
si

ty
 H

o
sp

it
al

 L
ew

is
h

am
 t

h
e 

 

m
ea

l 
d

ea
l 
w

ill
 i
n

cl
u

d
e 

a 
ja

ck
et

 p
o

ta
to

, 
fr

es
h

 f
ru

it
  

an
d

 l
o

w
 c

al
o

ri
e 

d
ri

n
k.

  I
n

 t
h

e 
re

ta
il 

o
u

tl
et

s 
ch

o
co

la
te

 b
ar

 a
n

d
 c

ri
sp

 p
ro

m
o

ti
o

n
s 

h
av

e 
b

ee
n

 m
o

ve
d

 a
w

ay
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e 
ti

ll 
p

o
in

ts
 a

n
d

 h
ea

lt
h

y 

al
te

rn
at

iv
es

 a
re

 b
ei

n
g

 o
ff

er
ed

 i
n

 p
ro

m
in

en
t 

p
o

si
ti

o
n

s.



3
0

  L
ad

yw
el

l A
re

n
a 

h
o

st
ed

 t
h

e 
an

n
u

al
 d

is
ab

ili
ty

 s
p

o
rt

s 
d

ay
 

at
 t

h
e 

ce
n

tr
e.

 T
h

e 
ev

en
t 

at
tr

ac
te

d
 u

se
rs

 f
ro

m
 a

cr
o

ss
 

S
o

u
th

 e
as

t 
Lo

n
d

o
n

, 
w

it
h

 o
ve

r 
1
5
0
 p

ar
ti

ci
p

an
ts

  G
la

ss
 M

ill
 h

av
e 

h
o

st
ed

 w
ei

g
h

t 
m

an
ag

em
en

t 
cl

as
se

s 

fo
r 

yo
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

 i
n

 t
h

e 
b

o
ro

u
g

h
 i
n

 c
o

n
ju

n
ct

io
n

 w
it

h
 

M
yT

im
e 

A
ct

iv
e

  T
h

e 
B

ri
d

g
e 

Le
is

u
re

 C
en

tr
e 

h
o

st
ed

 a
 G

re
at

 B
ri

ti
sh

 T
en

n
is

 

W
ee

ke
n

d
 i
n

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 w
it

h
 t

h
e 

LT
A

S
p

o
rt

s 
a
n

d
 L

e
is

u
re

 C
e
n

tr
e
s

O
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

ie
s 

to
 g

et
 fi

t 
an

d
 k

ee
p

 a
ct

iv
e 

ar
e 

av
ai

la
b

le
  

ri
g

h
t 

ac
ro

ss
 t

h
e 

b
o

ro
u

g
h

 i
n

 n
in

e 
le

is
u

re
 c

en
tr

es
 a

n
d

  

b
ey

o
n

d
. T

h
e 

co
u

n
ci

l 
w

o
rk

s 
in

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 w
it

h
 t

w
o

  

le
is

u
re

 m
an

ag
em

en
t 

co
m

p
an

ie
s 

to
 r

u
n

 t
h

es
e 

ce
n

tr
es

.

w
w

w
.l
ew

is
h

am
.g

o
v.

u
k/

in
m

ya
re

a/
sp

o
rt

/
fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

F
u

si
o

n
 L

e
is

u
re

 C
e
n

tr
e
s

In
 2

0
1
5
/
1
6
 t

h
er

e 
w

er
e 

1
.2

6
 m

ill
io

n
 v

is
it

s 
ac

ro
ss

 t
h

e 
 

F
u

si
o

n
 s

it
es

, 
an

 i
n

cr
ea

se
 o

f 
8
%

 o
n

 t
h

e 
p

re
vi

o
u

s 
ye

ar
.

V
ar

io
u

s 
h

ea
lt

h
y 

lif
es

ty
le

 e
ve

n
ts

 a
n

d
 i
n

it
ia

ti
ve

s 
th

at
 h

av
e 

re
ce

n
tl

y 
b

ee
n

 r
u

n
 a

t 
F
u

si
o

n
 c

en
tr

es
 i
n

cl
u

d
e:

  8
 w

ee
ks

 f
re

e 
g

ir
ls

 f
o

o
tb

al
l 
se

ss
io

n
s 

at
 B

el
lin

g
h

am
 

Le
is

u
re

 &
 L

if
es

ty
le

 C
en

tr
e,

 d
el

iv
er

ed
 b

y 
D

al
m

ai
n

 

A
th

le
ti

c 
G

ir
ls

 F
o

o
tb

al
l 
C

lu
b

; 
p

lu
s 

tw
o

 t
o

u
rn

am
en

ts
  

fo
r 

lo
ca

l 
sc

h
o

o
ls

. 

  G
la

ss
 M

ill
 i
s 

d
el

iv
er

y 
an

d
 c

o
lle

ct
io

n
 h

u
b

  

fo
r 

Le
e 

G
re

en
s 

co
m

m
u

n
it

y 
ve

g
 s

ch
em

e

  B
re

as
tf

ee
d

in
g

 W
el

co
m

e

  F
u

si
o

n
 h

av
e 

w
o

rk
ed

 w
it

h
 C

o
n

ta
ct

 a
 F

am
ily

, 
(a

 c
h

ar
it

y 

fo
r 

fa
m

ili
es

 o
f 

d
is

ab
le

d
 c

h
ild

re
n

) 
to

 p
ro

m
o

te
 w

h
at

 t
h

e 

ve
n

u
es

 o
ff

er
 f

o
r 

d
is

ab
le

d
 r

es
id

en
ts



3
1

D
o

w
n

h
a
m

 1
L

if
e
 L

e
is

u
re

 C
e
n

tr
e

In
 2

0
1
5
/
1
6
 t

h
er

e 
w

er
e 

4
8
4
,7

5
0
 v

is
it

s 
to

 t
h

e 
ce

n
tr

e,
  

an
 i
n

cr
ea

se
 o

f 
7
%

 o
n

 t
h

e 
p

re
vi

o
u

s 
ye

ar
. 

V
ar

io
u

s 
h

ea
lt

h
y 

lif
es

ty
le

 e
ve

n
ts

 a
n

d
 i
n

it
ia

ti
ve

s 
ar

e 
 

co
n

st
an

tl
y 

ru
n

n
in

g
 a

t 
D

o
w

n
h

am
 i
n

cl
u

d
in

g
:

  H
ea

lt
h

y 
W

al
ks

 a
re

 r
u

n
 i
n

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 w
it

h
 L

ew
is

h
am

  

&
 G

re
en

w
ic

h
 N

H
S
 T

ru
st

  F
am

ily
 o

p
en

 d
ay

s 
w

it
h

 f
re

e 
g

ym
 a

n
d

 s
w

im
m

in
g

  H
ea

lt
h

y 
lif

es
ty

le
 a

d
vi

ce
 s

es
si

o
n

s 
an

d
 s

ta
n

d
  

in
 t

h
e 

ce
n

tr
e 

  B
re

as
tf

ee
d

in
g

 W
el

co
m

e

  T
h

e 
p

er
so

n
al

 t
ra

in
in

g
 o

ff
er

 h
as

 b
ee

n
 r

e-
la

u
n

ch
ed

 t
o

 

m
ak

e 
it

 m
o

re
 a

tt
ra

ct
iv

e 
fo

r 
th

e 
cu

st
o

m
er

s 
an

d
 s

ta
ff

 

al
ik

e.
 T

h
er

e 
ar

e 
n

o
w

 n
ew

 p
er

so
n

al
 t

ra
in

er
s 

o
n

 b
o

ar
d

, 

w
h

o
 a

re
 a

d
d

it
io

n
al

 t
o

 t
h

e 
fi

tn
es

s 
in

st
ru

ct
o

r 
te

am
 a

n
d

 

ar
e 

n
o

w
 d

el
iv

er
in

g
 a

n
 a

ve
ra

g
e 

o
f 

2
0
 p

er
 w

ee
k.

 T
h

e 

Le
is

u
re

 C
en

tr
e 

al
so

 h
o

st
ed

 i
ts

 fi
rs

t 
b

ig
g

es
t 

lo
se

r 
co

u
rs

e.

  T
h

e 
1
lif

e 
ac

ti
vi

ty
 c

am
p

 r
u

n
s 

d
u

ri
n

g
 t

h
e 

sc
h

o
o

l 
h

o
lid

ay
s,

 

in
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 w

it
h

 F
it

 f
o

r 
S
p

o
rt

. T
h

e 
ca

m
p

 r
eg

u
la

rl
y 

sa
w

 o
ve

r 
4
0
 c

h
ild

re
n

 p
er

 d
ay

  A
w

ar
d

ed
 e

xt
er

n
al

 f
u

n
d

in
g

 t
o

 r
u

n
 s

es
si

o
n

s 
fo

r 
yo

u
n

g
 

p
eo

p
le

, 
w

h
ic

h
 h

av
e 

in
cl

u
d

ed
 c

ir
cu

it
s,

 b
o
xi

n
g

, 
g

ir
l’s

 

fo
o

tb
al

l 
an

d
 g

ro
u

p
 r

id
e.

 

  T
h

e 
em

b
ed

d
ed

 s
es

si
o

n
s 

fo
r 

o
ld

er
 p

eo
p

le
 a

t 
th

e 
ce

n
tr

e 

co
n

ti
n

u
e 

to
 r

u
n

 s
u

cc
es

sf
u

lly
, 
fo

r 
ex

am
p

le
 l
in

e 
d

an
ci

n
g

, 

w
h

o
 a

re
 s

ti
ll 

at
tr

ac
ti

n
g

 o
ve

r 
5
0
 p

ar
ti

ci
p

an
ts

 p
er

 w
ee

k 

an
d

 r
eg

u
la

r 
6
0
+
 c

la
ss

es
 o

f 
6
0
+
 A

q
u

a 
an

d
 Z

u
m

b
a 

G
o

ld
.



3
2

T
h

e 
cl

u
b

 a
ls

o
 o

ff
er

s 
th

e 
ch

an
ce

 t
o

 t
ra

in
 a

s 
a 

co
ac

h
 a

n
d

 a
 

w
h

ee
lc

h
ai

r 
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e.

A
d

d
it

io
n

al
ly

 L
o

n
d

o
n

 T
h

u
n

d
er

 r
u

n
s 

B
as

ke
tb

al
l 
C

lu
b

s 
in

 

se
co

n
d

ar
y 

sc
h

o
o

l 
si

te
s 

ac
ro

ss
 t

h
e 

B
o

ro
u

g
h

. T
h

e 
cl

u
b

s 
ru

n
 f

o
r 

3
0
 w

ee
ks

 a
t 

ea
ch

 s
ch

o
o

l 
o

n
 s

el
ec

te
d

 d
ay

s 
ta

rg
et

in
g

 1
1
–
1
8
 

ye
ar

 o
ld

s,
 b

u
t 

ar
e 

al
so

 o
p

en
 t

o
 l
in

ke
d

 l
o

ca
l 
p

ri
m

ar
y 

sc
h

o
o

l 

p
u

p
ils

 a
n

d
 N

o
t 

in
 E

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

 E
m

p
lo

ym
en

t 
o

r 
Tr

ai
n

in
g

 (
N

E
E

T
) 

1
8
–
2
4
yr

 o
ld

s.
 

w
w

w
.t

h
u

n
d

er
b

as
ke

tb
al

l.
n

et

Te
n

n
is

  
W

e 
h

av
e 

al
so

 r
ec

en
tl

y 
en

te
re

d
 i
n

to
 a

 l
o

n
g

 t
er

m
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 

w
it

h
 t

h
e 

L
aw

n
 T

en
n

is
 A

ss
o

ci
at

io
n

 w
h

ic
h

 h
as

 r
es

u
lt

ed
 

in
 a

 d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

p
la

n
 t

o
 r

ef
u

rb
is

h
 t

en
n

is
 c

o
u

rt
s 

in
 t

h
e 

b
o

ro
u

g
h

’s
 p

ar
ks

. 
S
p

o
rt

 E
n

g
la

n
d

 h
as

 r
ec

en
tl

y 
p

ro
vi

d
ed

 s
o

m
e 

fu
n

d
in

g
 t

h
at

 w
ill

 h
el

p
 u

s 
to

 d
ev

el
o

p
 a

 P
la

yi
n

g
 P

it
ch

 S
tr

at
eg

y 

to
 m

ak
e 

b
et

te
r 

u
se

 o
f 

o
u

r 
cu

rr
en

t 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s.

H
o

w
 w

e
’r

e
 d

o
in

g
:

  S
w

im
 s

ch
o

o
l 
ta

ke
-u

p
 i
s 

at
 i
ts

 h
ig

h
es

t 
le

ve
l 
to

 d
at

e 
in

 

b
o

th
 F

u
si

o
n

 a
n

d
 1

L
if

e 
le

is
u

re
 c

en
tr

es

  S
ch

o
o

l 
sw

im
m

in
g

 a
n

d
 g

al
as

 c
o

n
ti

n
u

e 
to

 b
e 

d
el

iv
er

ed

  F
re

e 
sw

im
m

in
g

 a
va

ila
b

le
 f

o
r 

re
si

d
en

ts
 o

ve
r 

6
0
s

  B
e 

A
ct

iv
e 

p
ro

vi
d

es
 c

o
n

ce
ss

io
n

s 
an

d
 f

re
e 

ac
ce

ss
  

to
 l
ei

su
re

 a
ct

iv
it

ie
s 

ac
ro

ss
 t

h
e 

b
o

ro
u

g
h

. 
A

cr
o

ss
 

Le
w

is
h

am
 t

h
er

e 
w

er
e 

al
m

o
st

 4
,0

0
0
 B

e 
A

ct
iv

e 
m

em
b

er
s 

in
 2

0
1
5
–
1
6
.

F
o

r 
m

o
re

 i
n

fo
rm

at
io

n
 o

n
 t

h
e 

B
e 

A
ct

iv
e 

sc
h

em
e 

in
cl

u
d

in
g

 

w
h

o
 i
s 

el
ig

ib
le

 p
le

as
e 

se
e 

w
w

w
.l
ew

is
h

am
.g

o
v.

u
k/

in
m

ya
re

a/

sp
o

rt
/
b

e-
ac

ti
ve

-d
is

co
u

n
ts

 

S
p

o
rt

 i
n

 t
h

e
 b

o
ro

u
g

h
A

 n
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
sp

o
rt

s 
re

ce
iv

e 
g

ra
n

t 
fu

n
d

in
g

 t
o

 i
n

cr
ea

se
 

p
ar

ti
ci

p
at

io
n

 i
n

cl
u

d
in

g
 B

as
ke

tb
al

l,
 B

o
xi

n
g

, 
F
o

o
tb

al
l 
 

an
d

 T
en

n
is

.

B
a
sk

e
tb

a
ll

Lo
n

d
o

n
 T

h
u

n
d

er
 i
s 

an
 a

ffi
lia

te
d

 b
as

ke
tb

al
l 
cl

u
b

 b
as

ed
 i
n

 

Le
w

is
h

am
. T

h
e 

cl
u

b
 e

xi
st

s 
fo

r 
th

e 
b

en
efi

t 
o

f 
th

o
se

 w
h

o
 

w
is

h
 t

o
 d

ev
el

o
p

 t
h

ei
r 

sk
ill

s 
in

 t
h

e 
sp

o
rt

 o
f 

b
as

ke
tb

al
l.
 T

h
e 

et
h

o
s 

o
f 

th
e 

cl
u

b
 i
s 

th
ro

u
g

h
 b

as
ke

tb
al

l 
to

 o
ff

er
 p

ar
ti

ci
p

an
ts

 

th
e 

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

y 
to

 b
e 

h
ea

lt
h

y,
 e

n
jo

y,
 a

ch
ie

ve
 a

n
d

 h
av

e 
fu

n
 

in
 a

 s
af

e 
an

d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
iv

e 
en

vi
ro

n
m

en
t.

 T
h

er
e 

ar
e 

va
ri

o
u

s 

b
as

ke
tb

al
l 
sc

h
em

es
 r

u
n

n
in

g
 a

cr
o

ss
 t

h
e 

b
o

ro
u

g
h

 a
im

ed
 a

t 
a 

va
ri

et
y 

o
f 

ag
es

, 
m

an
y 

o
f 

w
h

ic
h

 a
re

 b
as

ed
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e 
p

u
rp

o
se

 

b
u

ilt
 f

ac
ili

ty
 ‘
T

h
e 

T
h

u
n

d
er

d
o

m
e’

 i
n

 S
o

u
th

 B
er

m
o

n
d

se
y.



3
3

W
h

e
e
ls

 f
o

r 
W

e
ll
b

e
in

g
 –

 D
is

a
b

il
it

y
 C

y
cl

in
g

W
h

ee
ls

 f
o

r 
W

el
lb

ei
n

g
 (

W
fW

) 
is

 a
n

 a
w

ar
d

-w
in

n
in

g
 c

h
ar

it
y 

su
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 d

is
ab

le
d

 p
eo

p
le

 o
f 

al
l 
ag

es
 a

n
d

 a
b

ili
ti

es
 t

o
 e

n
jo

y 

th
e 

b
en

efi
ts

 o
f 

cy
cl

in
g

. 
C

yc
lin

g
 c

an
 b

e 
ea

si
er

 t
h

an
 w

al
ki

n
g

, 

a 
w

ay
 t

o
 k

ee
p

 i
n

d
ep

en
d

en
t,

 fi
t 

an
d

 h
ea

lt
h

y,
 a

 m
o

b
ili

ty
 a

id
, 

an
d

 a
 u

se
fu

l 
fo

rm
 o

f 
ev

er
yd

ay
 t

ra
n

sp
o

rt
.

T
h

e
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e
 i

n
cl

u
d

e
s:

  w
ee

kl
y 

in
cl

u
si

ve
 c

yc
lin

g
 ‘
d

ro
p

-i
n

’ 
se

ss
io

n
s

  l
ed

 r
id

es
 a

ro
u

n
d

 L
ad

yw
el

l 
F
ie

ld
s 

d
u

ri
n

g
 t

h
e 

 

su
m

m
er

 m
o

n
th

s

  c
h

ild
re

n
/
yo

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 s

es
si

o
n

s 
in

 s
ch

o
o

l 
h

o
lid

ay
s

  c
re

at
in

g
 c

yc
lin

g
 ‘
m

in
i-

h
u

b
s’

 a
t 

lo
ca

l 
ve

n
u

es
 s

o
 t

h
at

 

th
ey

 c
an

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 c

yc
lin

g
 a

s 
fl

ex
ib

ly
 a

s 

p
o

ss
ib

le
, 
fo

r 
th

ei
r 

o
w

n
 u

se
rs

 

T
h

e 
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

al
so

 c
am

e 
in

 r
es

p
o

n
se

 t
o

 p
ar

en
ts

 a
n

d
 

ca
re

rs
 o

f 
d

is
ab

le
d

 c
h

ild
re

n
 e

xp
re

ss
in

g
 a

 d
es

ir
e 

fo
r 

in
cr

ea
se

d
 

p
h

ys
ic

al
 a

n
d

 s
o

ci
al

 a
ct

iv
it

ie
s 

fo
r 

th
ei

r 
ch

ild
re

n
, 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 

ac
ti

vi
ti

es
 w

h
er

e 
th

ei
r 

ch
ild

re
n

 c
an

 l
ea

rn
 s

p
ec

ifi
c 

sk
ill

s.

O
ve

r 
1
0
0
 p

ar
ti

ci
p

an
ts

 a
 y

ea
r 

ta
ke

 p
ar

t 
in

 L
ew

is
h

am
.

w
w

w
.w

h
ee

ls
fo

rw
el

lb
ei

n
g

.o
rg

.u
k

G
o

o
d

G
y
m

G
o

o
d

G
ym

 L
ew

is
h

am
 l
au

n
ch

ed
 i
n

 J
an

u
ar

y 
2
0
1
6
 a

n
d

 m
ee

ts
 

w
ee

kl
y 

at
 t

h
e 

G
la

ss
 M

ill
 L

ei
su

re
 C

en
tr

e 
w

h
en

 t
h

e 
g

ro
u

p
 

ru
n

s 
to

 c
o

m
p

le
te

 t
as

ks
 f

o
r 

th
e 

lo
ca

l 
co

m
m

u
n

it
y.

 T
h

er
e 

h
av

e 

b
ee

n
 o

ve
r 

1
,3

0
0
 s

ig
n

 u
p

s 
si

n
ce

 t
h

e 
sc

h
em

e 
b

eg
an

. 
P

ro
je

ct
s 

w
o

rk
ed

 o
n

 i
n

cl
u

d
e 

th
e 

u
p

ke
ep

 o
f 

co
m

m
u

n
it

y 
g

ar
d

en
s 

an
d

 

p
ar

ks
 i
n

 L
ew

is
h

am
 w

it
h

 v
is

it
s 

to
 H

o
n

o
r 

O
ak

 A
d

ve
n

tu
re

 

P
la

yg
ro

u
n

d
, 
G

o
ld

sm
it

h
’s

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

C
en

tr
e 

an
d

 t
h

e 

W
o

o
d

p
ec

ke
r 

Yo
u

th
 C

lu
b

.

W
h

a
t 

is
 G

o
o

d
G

y
m

?
G

o
o

d
G

ym
 i
s 

a 
co

m
m

u
n

it
y 

o
f 

ru
n

n
er

s 
th

at
 g

et
 fi

t 
b

y 
d

o
in

g
 

g
o

o
d

. 
W

e 
su

p
p

o
rt

 i
so

la
te

d
 o

ld
er

 p
eo

p
le

 a
n

d
 d

o
 m

an
u

al
 

la
b

o
u

r 
fo

r 
co

m
m

u
n

it
y 

o
rg

an
is

at
io

n
s 

as
 p

ar
t 

o
f 

o
u

r 
w

o
rk

o
u

ts
. 

A
s 

a 
re

su
lt

, 
w

e 
re

d
u

ce
 s

o
ci

al
 i
so

la
ti

o
n

, 
b

ri
n

g
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it

ie
s 

to
g

et
h

er
 a

n
d

 m
o

ti
va

te
 p

eo
p

le
 t

o
 g

et
 fi

t.

w
w

w
.g

o
o

d
g

ym
.o

rg
/
ar

ea
s/

le
w

is
h

am



3
4

  D
an

ce
 f

o
r 

H
ea

lt
h

 –
 a

 g
ro

u
p

 c
o

m
b

in
in

g
 m

o
ve

m
en

t 
 

w
it

h
 P

ila
te

s 
b

as
ed

 a
t 

th
e 

L
ab

an
 C

en
tr

e,
 D

ep
tf

o
rd

;

  A
rt

s 
B

ef
ri

en
d

in
g

 G
ro

u
p

 –
 s

o
ci

al
 a

rt
s 

g
ro

u
p

 b
as

ed
 i
n

 

Sy
d

en
h

am
 p

ar
tn

er
ed

 w
it

h
 A

g
ei

n
g

 W
el

l,
 L

ew
is

h
am

;

  B
el

lin
g

h
am

 ‘
Yo

u
n

g
 a

t 
H

ea
rt

’ 
C

lu
b

 –
 a

 s
o

ci
al

 a
n

d
 

cr
ea

ti
ve

 g
ro

u
p

 b
as

ed
 i
n

 B
el

lin
g

h
am

 G
re

en
.

R
es

ea
rc

h
 s

u
g

g
es

ts
 t

h
e 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
h

as
 a

 p
o

w
er

fu
l 
so

ci
al

 

im
p

ac
t 

o
n

 p
ar

ti
ci

p
an

ts
. 
S
u

rv
ey

 r
es

p
o

n
se

s 
fr

o
m

 ‘
D

an
ce

 f
o

r 

H
ea

lt
h

’ 
an

d
 ‘A

ll 
S
in

g
in

g
 A

ll 
D

an
ci

n
g

’ 
al

so
 s

u
g

g
es

te
d

 h
ig

h
 

le
ve

ls
 o

f 
p

er
ce

iv
ed

 h
ea

lt
h

 b
en

efi
ts

. T
h

is
 w

as
 r

ec
o

rd
ed

 

in
 g

en
er

al
 t

er
m

s 
(>

9
0
%

 s
ta

te
 a

 “
si

g
n

ifi
ca

n
t”

 o
r 

“h
u

g
e”

 

im
p

ac
t 

o
n

 t
h

ei
r 

h
ea

lt
h

) 
an

d
 a

cr
o

ss
 s

p
ec

ifi
c 

d
o

m
ai

n
s,

 w
it

h
 

p
ar

ti
ci

p
an

ts
 n

o
ti

n
g

 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

in
 p

o
st

u
ra

l 
aw

ar
en

es
s,

 

b
al

an
ce

 c
o

n
fi

d
en

ce
 a

n
d

 fl
ex

ib
ili

ty
.

Tr
in

it
y
 L

a
b

a
n

Tr
in

it
y 

L
ab

an
 C

o
n
se

rv
at

o
ir
e 

o
f 

M
u
si

c 
an

d
 D

an
ce

 is
 t

h
e 

U
K

’s
 

o
n
ly

 c
o
n
se

rv
at

o
ir
e 

o
f 

m
u
si

c 
an

d
 c

o
n
te

m
p
o
ra

ry
 d

an
ce

. 
Le

ad
er

s 

in
 m

u
si

c 
an

d
 c

o
n
te

m
p
o
ra

ry
 d

an
ce

 e
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
, 
th

ey
 a

ls
o

 

p
ro

vi
d
e 

ex
ci

ti
n
g
 o

p
p
o
rt

u
n
it

ie
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

p
u
b
lic

 t
o
 e

n
co

u
n
te

r 

d
an

ce
 a

n
d
 m

u
si

c,
 a

n
d
 a

cc
es

s 
ar

ts
 h

ea
lt

h
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

es
.

T
h

e 
‘R

e
ti

re
d

 n
o

t 
T

ir
e
d

’ 
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

o
f 

w
o

rk
 h

as
 b

ee
n

 

ru
n

n
in

g
 s

in
ce

 2
0
1
1
. T

h
e 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
is

 s
p

ec
ifi

ca
lly

 t
ar

g
et

ed
 

at
 o

ld
er

 p
eo

p
le

 a
g

ed
 6

0
 a

n
d

 a
b

o
ve

 f
ro

m
 L

ew
is

h
am

 a
n

d
 

in
cl

u
d

es
 a

 m
ix

tu
re

 o
f 

m
u

si
c,

 d
an

ce
 a

n
d

 c
o

m
b

in
ed

 m
u

si
c 

an
d

 d
an

ce
 g

ro
u

p
s,

 p
ro

vi
d

in
g

 r
eg

u
la

r 
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s 
fo

r 

p
ar

ti
ci

p
an

ts
 t

o
 t

ak
e 

p
ar

t 
in

 c
re

at
iv

e 
ac

ti
vi

ty
, 
in

te
ra

ct
  

so
ci

al
ly

 a
n

d
 d

ev
el

o
p

 n
ew

 s
ki

lls
. 
S
es

si
o

n
s 

ar
e 

le
d

 b
y 

ex
p

er
ie

n
ce

d
 p

ra
ct

it
io

n
er

s 
fr

o
m

 t
h

e 
Tr

in
it

y 
L
ab

an
’s

  

Le
ar

n
in

g
 a

n
d

 P
ar

ti
ci

p
at

io
n

 d
ep

ar
tm

en
t,

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

ed
 b

y 
 

it
s 

te
am

 o
f 

p
ro

je
ct

 m
an

ag
er

s.

E
ac

h
 g

ro
u

p
 h

as
 a

 c
re

at
iv

e 
fo

cu
s:

 p
ra

ct
it

io
n

er
s 

w
o

rk
 w

it
h

 

p
ar

ti
ci

p
an

ts
’ 
id

ea
s,

 s
ki

lls
 a

n
d

 c
re

at
iv

e 
ta

le
n

ts
 t

o
 p

ro
d

u
ce

 

th
ei

r 
o

w
n

 c
re

at
iv

e 
o

u
tp

u
ts

. 
G

ro
u

p
s 

h
av

e 
b

ee
n

 s
p

ec
ifi

ca
lly

 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

ed
 i
n

 d
if

fe
re

n
t 

g
eo

g
ra

p
h

ic
al

 l
o

ca
ti

o
n

s 
ar

o
u

n
d

 

th
e 

b
o

ro
u

g
h

 a
n

d
 r

ea
ch

 a
 r

an
g

e 
o

f 
d

if
fe

re
n

t 
su

b
-g

ro
u

p
s 

o
f 

o
ld

er
 p

eo
p

le
, 
in

 t
er

m
s 

o
f 

ag
e,

 e
th

n
ic

 a
n

d
 s

o
ci

o
-e

co
n

o
m

ic
 

b
ac

kg
ro

u
n

d
s.

 T
h

e 
fo

u
r 

g
ro

u
p

s 
co

m
p

ri
se

:

  A
ll 

S
in

g
in

g
 A

ll 
D

an
ci

n
g

 –
 a

 j
o

in
t 

m
u

si
c 

an
d

 d
an

ce
 

g
ro

u
p

 o
ri

g
in

al
ly

 b
as

ed
 i
n

 C
at

fo
rd

 a
n

d
 n

o
w

 m
ee

ti
n

g
  

in
 B

el
lin

g
h

am
;



3
5

P
U

L
S

E
 i
s 

a 
w

ee
k 

in
te

n
si

ve
 d

an
ce

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
fo

r 
7
-1

3
 y

ea
r 

o
ld

s,
 a

im
ed

 a
t 

yo
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

 i
n

 L
ew

is
h

am
 w

h
o

 d
o

 n
o

t 
ac

ce
ss

 

d
an

ce
/
p

h
ys

ic
al

 a
ct

iv
it

y 
an

d
/
o

r 
ar

e 
ab

o
ve

 a
 h

ea
lt

h
y 

w
ei

g
h

t.
 

P
u

ls
e 

to
o

k 
p

la
ce

 f
o

r 
th

e 
fi

rs
t 

ti
m

e 
in

 A
u

g
u

st
 2

0
1
3
. 
D

u
ri

n
g

 

th
e 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
p

ar
ti

ci
p

an
ts

 w
er

e 
ab

le
 t

o
 l
ea

rn
 d

if
fe

re
n

t 

d
an

ce
 s

ty
le

s,
 l
ea

rn
 a

b
o

u
t 

h
ea

lt
h

y 
w

ay
s 

to
 f

u
el

 t
h

e 
b

o
d

y,
 

w
at

ch
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

n
al

 d
an

ce
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
s,

 a
n

d
 c

re
at

e 
d

an
ce

s 

to
 s

h
o

w
 t

o
 f

am
ily

 a
n

d
 f

ri
en

d
s.

P
U

L
S
E

 n
o

t 
o

n
ly

 e
m

b
ra

ce
s 

th
e 

N
at

io
n

al
 O

b
es

it
y 

O
b

se
rv

at
o

ry
 

ad
vi

ce
 o

f 
in

tr
o

d
u

ci
n

g
 c

h
ild

re
n

 t
o

 i
m

p
ro

ve
d

 n
u

tr
it

io
n

 a
n

d
 

in
cr

ea
se

d
 l
ev

el
s 

o
f 

p
h

ys
ic

al
 a

ct
iv

it
y,

 t
h

e 
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

al
so

 

ta
ck

le
s 

th
e 

is
su

es
 o

f 
d

ep
ri

va
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 d

iv
er

si
ty

 b
y 

p
ro

vi
d

in
g

 

th
e 

fr
ee

 c
la

ss
es

 v
ia

 t
h

e 
in

cl
u

si
ve

, 
te

am
-b

u
ild

in
g

, 
m

ed
iu

m
  

o
f 

d
an

ce
.

F
o

r 
m

o
re

 i
n

fo
rm

at
io

n
 a

b
o

u
t 

Tr
in

it
y 

L
ab

an
’s

  

D
an

ce
 a

n
d

 H
ea

lt
h

 P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e,
 p

le
as

e 
co

n
ta

ct
  

Lo
u

is
a 

B
o

rg
-C

o
st

an
zi

 P
o

tt
s,

 L
ea

rn
in

g
 a

n
d

  

P
ar

ti
ci

p
at

io
n

 (
D

an
ce

) 
P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

M
an

ag
er

. 

T:
 0

2
0
 8

3
0
5
 3

9
6
4
 

E
: 
l.
p

o
tt

s@
tr

in
it

yl
ab

an
.a

c.
u

k 
 



3
6

W
o

rk
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d

 b
y
 v

o
lu

n
te

e
rs

 t
h

is
 y

e
a
r

  p
la

n
te

d
 h

u
n

d
re

d
s 

o
f 

m
et

re
s 

o
f 

h
ed

g
er

o
w

 h
ab

it
at

  

fo
r 

n
es

ti
n

g
 b

ir
d

s 
an

d
 i
n

ve
rt

eb
ra

te
s,

 p
la

n
te

d
 t

re
es

, 

b
u

lb
s 

an
d

 fl
o

w
er

s.
 

  r
em

o
ve

d
 h

u
n

d
re

d
s 

o
f 

in
va

si
ve

 p
la

n
ts

 f
ro

m
  

Le
w

is
h

am
 r

iv
er

s.
 

  c
le

an
ed

 u
p

 l
it

te
r,
 c

re
at

ed
 p

at
h

w
ay

s 
an

d
 n

at
u

ra
l 
 

fe
n

ce
s 

fo
r 

im
p

ro
ve

d
 a

cc
es

si
b

ili
ty

 a
n

d
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n
  

o
f 

w
o

o
d

la
n

d
 fl

o
ra

; 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 h

u
g

e 
sw

at
h

es
 o

f 
 

b
lu

eb
el

ls
 i
n

 B
ec

ke
n

h
am

 P
la

ce
 P

ar
k 

cr
ea

ti
n

g
 a

  

b
ea

u
ti

fu
l 
p

u
b

lic
 d

is
p

la
y.

 

  c
re

at
ed

 n
ew

 m
ea

d
o

w
 h

ab
it

at
s 

(t
h

e 
ra

re
st

 h
ab

it
at

 

in
 L

ew
is

h
am

 i
m

p
o

rt
an

t 
fo

r 
d

ec
lin

in
g

 b
ee

s 
an

d
 

b
u

tt
er

fl
ie

s)
. 

  m
ai

n
ta

in
ed

 s
ev

er
al

 p
o

n
d

s 
to

 e
n

co
u

ra
g

e 
am

p
h

ib
ia

n
s,

 

b
u

ilt
 s

ev
er

al
 s

ta
g

 b
ee

tl
e 

lo
g

 p
ile

s,
 p

la
n

te
d

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

o
rc

h
ar

d
s 

an
d

 w
o

rk
ed

 w
it

h
 p

ar
k 

fr
ie

n
d

s 
g

ro
u

p
s 

to
 h

el
p

 

th
em

 m
ai

n
ta

in
 t

h
ei

r 
lo

ca
l 
p

ar
ks

 a
n

d
 n

at
u

re
 r

es
er

ve
s.

  I
n

 2
0
1
5
 N

at
u

re
’s

 G
ym

 p
ro

vi
d

ed
 2

6
8
5
 v

o
lu

n
te

er
 h

o
u

rs
 

to
 h

el
p

 G
le

n
d

al
e 

m
ai

n
ta

in
 t

h
e 

p
ar

ks
.

F
o

r 
m

o
re

 i
n

fo
rm

at
io

n
 o

n
 N

at
u

re
’s

 G
ym

 p
le

as
e 

se
e 

th
ei

r 
b

lo
g

: 

w
w

w
.n

at
u

re
co

n
se

rv
at

io
n

le
w

is
h

am
.c

o
.u

k

If
 y

o
u

’d
 l
ik

e 
to

 j
o

in
 a

 s
es

si
o

n
 o

f 
N

at
u

re
’s

 G
ym

 p
le

as
e 

co
n

ta
ct

: 
n

at
u

re
sg

ym
@

le
w

is
h

am
.g

o
v.

u
k.

P
a
rk

s 

Le
w

is
h

am
 h

as
 a

 w
ea

lt
h

 o
f 

g
re

en
 s

p
ac

es
 h

o
w

ev
er

 c
u

rr
en

tl
y 

o
n

ly
 1

3
.2

%
 o

f 
Le

w
is

h
am

 a
d

u
lt

s 
m

ak
e 

u
se

 o
f 

o
u

td
o

o
r 

sp
ac

e 

fo
r 

ex
er

ci
se

 o
r 

h
ea

lt
h

 r
ea

so
n

s.

N
a
tu

re
’s

 G
y
m

 i
s 

a 
g

re
at

 w
ay

 t
o

 i
m

p
ro

ve
 fi

tn
es

s 
an

d
 h

el
p

 

th
e 

en
vi

ro
n

m
en

t 
b

y 
ta

ki
n

g
 p

ar
t 

in
 c

o
n

se
rv

at
io

n
 a

ct
iv

it
ie

s 

in
 L

ew
is

h
am

 p
ar

ks
 a

n
d

 n
at

u
re

 r
es

er
ve

s.
 I
t 

is
 f

re
e 

o
f 

ch
ar

g
e 

an
d

 a
ll 

eq
u

ip
m

en
t 

is
 p

ro
vi

d
ed

. 
It

 i
s 

a 
jo

in
t 

in
it

ia
ti

ve
 r

u
n

 

b
y 

Le
w

is
h

am
 C

o
u

n
ci

l 
an

d
 G

le
n

d
al

e,
 t

h
e 

co
u

n
ci

l’s
 p

ar
ks

’ 

m
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
 o

rg
an

is
at

io
n

, 
to

 i
n

cr
ea

se
 p

h
ys

ic
al

 a
ct

iv
it

y 
an

d
 

en
co

u
ra

g
e 

p
eo

p
le

 t
o

 c
o

m
e 

an
d

 v
o

lu
n

te
er

 i
n

 a
n

 o
u

td
o

o
r 

en
vi

ro
n

m
en

t.
 I
t 

h
el

p
s 

p
eo

p
le

 t
o

 g
et

 c
lo

se
r 

to
 n

at
u

re
 a

n
d

 

b
en

efi
ts

 m
en

ta
l 
w

el
l 
b

ei
n

g
 a

s 
w

el
l 
as

 p
h

ys
ic

al
 h

ea
lt

h
.

T
h

e 
se

ss
io

n
s 

ta
ke

 p
la

ce
 e

ve
ry

 T
h

u
rs

d
ay

 a
n

d
 o

n
ce

 a
 m

o
n

th
 

o
n

 a
 S

at
u

rd
ay

 f
ro

m
 1

1
am

–
2
p

m
. 
N

at
u

re
’s

 G
ym

 c
at

er
 f

o
r 

a 

ra
n

g
e 

o
f 

ab
ili

ti
es

 a
n

d
 t

h
er

e 
ar

e 
u

su
al

ly
 a

 v
ar

ie
ty

 o
f 

ta
sk

s 
to

 

ca
rr

y 
o

u
t.

 T
o

o
ls

 a
n

d
 r

ef
re

sh
m

en
ts

 a
re

 p
ro

vi
d

ed
 a

n
d

 t
h

er
e 

is
 a

 m
id

-s
es

si
o

n
 t

ea
 b

re
ak

. 
N

at
u

re
’s

 G
ym

 p
ro

vi
d

es
 a

 g
re

at
 

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

y 
to

 m
ee

t 
p

eo
p

le
, 
fi

n
d

 o
u

t 
ab

o
u

t 
th

e 
lo

ca
l 
ar

ea
, 

le
ar

n
 n

ew
 p

ra
ct

ic
al

 s
ki

lls
 a

n
d

 m
ak

e 
a 

p
o

si
ti

ve
 c

o
n

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

  

to
 t

h
e 

lo
ca

l 
en

vi
ro

n
m

en
t.

A
 r

ec
en

t 
su

rv
ey

 h
as

 s
h

o
w

n
 m

an
y 

vo
lu

n
te

er
s 

co
m

e 
to

 g
et

 

fi
t 

in
 a

n
 o

u
td

o
o

r 
en

vi
ro

n
m

en
t 

. 
E

ar
lie

r 
th

is
 y

ea
r,
 v

o
lu

n
te

er
s 

w
er

e 
as

ke
d

 w
h

y 
th

ey
 c

o
m

e 
to

 N
at

u
re

’s
 G

ym
 w

it
h

 r
es

p
o

n
se

s 

su
ch

 a
s 

‘w
an

ti
n

g
 t

o
 g

et
 s

o
m

e 
ex

er
ci

se
’ 
an

d
 “

ke
ep

in
g

 fi
t 

b
y 

w
o

rk
in

g
 i
n

 t
h

e 
o

u
td

o
o

rs
”.



3
7

O
u

td
o

o
r 

G
y
m

W
h

a
t 

a
re

 O
u

td
o

o
r 

G
y
m

s?
O

u
td

o
o

r 
g

ym
s 

in
cl

u
d

e 
m

u
ch

 o
f 

th
e 

sa
m

e 
eq

u
ip

m
en

t 

fo
u

n
d

 i
n

 a
n

 i
n

d
o

o
r 

g
ym

, 
b

u
t 

th
e 

d
if

fe
re

n
ce

 i
s 

th
at

 t
h

ey
 a

re
 

sp
ec

ifi
ca

lly
 d

es
ig

n
ed

 f
o

r 
o

u
td

o
o

r 
u

se
.

O
u

td
o

o
r 

g
ym

s 
ar

e 
su

it
ab

le
 f

o
r 

p
eo

p
le

 o
f 

al
l 
ag

es
 a

n
d

 fi
tn

es
s 

le
ve

ls
, 
an

d
 y

o
u

 d
o

n
’t

 n
ee

d
 a

n
y 

ex
p

er
ie

n
ce

 t
o

 u
se

 t
h

em
. 
Lo

w
 

im
p

ac
t 

an
d

 i
n

tu
it

iv
e 

to
 u

se
 –

 a
n

d
 i
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
s 

ar
e 

in
cl

u
d

ed
. 

B
es

t 
o

f 
al

l,
 t

h
er

e 
ar

e 
n

o
 e

xp
en

si
ve

 m
em

b
er

sh
ip

 f
ee

s 
to

 p
ay

 

so
 i
t 

is
 p

er
fe

ct
 f

o
r 

th
o

se
 w

h
o

 c
an

n
o

t 
af

fo
rd

 t
o

 u
se

 a
 g

ym
.

T
h

es
e 

g
ym

s 
h

av
e 

n
o

w
 b

ec
o

m
e 

a 
re

g
u

la
r 

si
g

h
t 

in
 o

p
en

 

sp
ac

es
 a

cr
o

ss
 t

h
e 

U
K

, 
o

ft
en

 n
ea

r 
ch

ild
re

n
’s

 p
la

yg
ro

u
n

d
s,

 

w
h

ic
h

 e
n

co
u

ra
g

es
 p

ar
en

ts
 t

o
 u

se
 t

h
em

 w
h

ile
 t

h
ei

r 
ki

d
s 

p
la

y.

T
h

es
e 

sp
ac

es
 h

av
e 

b
ee

n
 d

es
ig

n
ed

 t
o

 p
ro

vi
d

e 
lo

w
-i

m
p

ac
t 

tr
ai

n
in

g
 i
n

 a
n

 i
n

tu
it

iv
e 

an
d

 e
as

y 
w

ay
. T

h
e 

va
ri

o
u

s 
m

ac
h

in
es

 

ta
rg

et
 t

h
e 

lo
w

er
 b

o
d

y,
 u

p
p

er
 b

o
d

y 
an

d
 c

o
re

, 
n

o
t 

to
 m

en
ti

o
n

 

ca
rd

io
va

sc
u

la
r 

an
d

 w
ei

g
h

t-
b

as
ed

 s
tr

en
g

th
 e

xe
rc

is
es

.

T
h

e 
sp

ac
es

 a
p

p
ea

r 
to

 a
p

p
ea

l 
to

 i
n

d
iv

id
u

al
s 

w
h

o
 n

o
rm

al
ly

 

st
ru

g
g

le
 t

o
 fi

n
d

 t
h

e 
ti

m
e 

o
r 

m
o

n
ey

 t
o

 a
tt

en
d

 a
 r

eg
u

la
r 

g
ym

, 

an
d

 2
6
%

 o
f 

u
se

rs
 a

re
 n

ew
 t

o
 e

xe
rc

is
e.

O
u

td
o

o
r 

G
ym

s 
ar

e 
al

so
 l
o

ca
te

d
 i
n

 H
o

m
e 

P
ar

k,
 B

el
l 
G

re
en

 

an
d

 N
o

rt
h

b
ro

o
k 

P
ar

k 
in

 L
ee

.

H
o

m
e 

P
ar

k 
o

u
td

o
o

r 
g

ym

F
o

r 
m

o
re

 i
n

fo
rm

at
io

n
 o

n
 O

u
td

o
o

r 
G

ym
’s

 a
n

d
 o

th
er

 e
xe

rc
is

e 

an
d

 fi
tn

es
s 

ac
ti

vi
ti

es
 i
n

 L
ew

is
h

am
 P

ar
ks

: 

w
w

w
.l
ew

is
h

am
.g

o
v.

u
k/

in
m

ya
re

a/
o

p
en

sp
ac

es
/
ac

ti
vi

ti
es

/

O
r 

co
n

ta
ct

 G
le

n
d

al
e 

 

Te
l:
 0

2
0
 8

3
1
8
 3

9
8
6
 

w
w

w
.g

le
n

d
al

e-
se

rv
ic

es
.c

o
.u

k 



3
8

M
a
y
o

w
 P

a
rk

, 
S

y
d

e
n

h
a
m

A
 p

u
b

lic
 c

o
n

su
lt

at
io

n
 w

as
 u

n
d

er
ta

ke
n

 i
n

 O
ct

o
b

er
 2

0
1
4
 

as
ki

n
g

 p
ar

k 
u

se
rs

 w
h

at
 p

re
fe

re
n

ce
 t

h
ey

 h
ad

 w
it

h
 r

eg
ar

d
s 

ei
th

er
 o

u
td

o
o

r 
g

ym
 e

q
u

ip
m

en
t 

o
r 

tr
im

 t
ra

il 
eq

u
ip

m
en

t,
 

to
g

et
h

er
 w

it
h

 a
n

y 
co

m
m

en
ts

 o
r 

su
g

g
es

ti
o

n
s 

th
ey

 h
ad

. T
h

e 

re
su

lt
s 

w
er

e 
th

at
 b

o
th

 t
yp

es
 o

f 
eq

u
ip

m
en

t 
w

er
e 

w
el

co
m

ed
.

T
h

e 
w

o
rk

s 
w

er
e 

co
m

p
le

te
d

 F
eb

ru
ar

y 
2
0
1
5
.

O
n

 2
5
 M

ar
ch

 2
0
1
5
 l
o

ca
l 
co

u
n

ci
llo

rs
, 
Le

w
is

h
am

 G
re

en
sc

en
e 

o
ffi

ce
rs

 a
n

d
 G

le
n

d
al

e 
o

ffi
ce

rs
 a

tt
en

d
ed

 t
h

e 
o

ffi
ci

al
 o

p
en

in
g

 

o
f 

th
e 

g
ym

 f
ac

ili
ti

es
 i
n

 t
h

e 
p

ar
k,

 w
h

ic
h

 h
ad

 b
ee

n
 p

ro
vi

d
ed

 

an
d

 i
n

st
al

le
d

 b
y 

H
A

G
-S

M
P.

C
llr

s 
B

es
t 

an
d

 O
n

ik
o

si
 s

p
o

ke
 a

b
o

u
t 

th
e 

va
lu

e 
o

f 
th

is
 

eq
u

ip
m

en
t 

as
 a

 w
ay

 o
f 

d
ev

el
o

p
in

g
 p

er
so

n
al

 h
ea

lt
h

 a
n

d
 h

o
w

 

it
 w

o
u

ld
 e

n
h

an
ce

 t
h

e 
p

ar
k 

ex
p

er
ie

n
ce

. T
h

ey
 t

h
an

ke
d

 t
h

e 

o
ffi

ce
rs

 w
h

o
 h

ad
 b

ee
n

 i
n

vo
lv

ed
 i
n

 b
id

d
in

g
 f

o
r 

fu
n

d
s 

an
d

 

ch
o

o
si

n
g

 t
h

e 
eq

u
ip

m
en

t 
an

d
 t

h
ey

 c
u

t 
th

e 
ri

b
b

o
n

. 
M

ar
ti

n
  

a 
P

er
so

n
al

 T
ra

in
er

 f
ro

m
 H

A
G

-S
M

P
 w

as
 o

n
 h

an
d

 a
n

d
 a

b
le

  

to
 s

h
o

w
 p

eo
p

le
 h

o
w

 t
o

 g
et

 t
h

e 
b

es
t 

fr
o

m
 t

h
e 

eq
u

ip
m

en
t.

o
f 

re
sp

o
n

d
en

ts
 s

ai
d

  

th
ey

 h
ad

 u
se

d
 t

h
e 

o
u

td
o

o
r 

g
ym

, 
w

it
h

in
 

th
is

 g
ro

u
p

, 
al

m
o

st
 h

al
f 

sa
id

 t
h

ey
 u

se
d

 i
t 

at
 l
ea

st
 

o
n

ce
 a

 w
ee

k.

7
0

%



3
9

A
cc

o
rd

in
g

 t
o

 t
h

e 
N

at
io

n
al

 O
b

es
it

y 
O

b
se

rv
at

o
ry

, 
Le

w
is

h
am

 

h
as

 t
h

e 
1
3
th

 h
ig

h
es

t 
d

en
si

ty
 o

f 
h

o
t 

fo
o

d
 t

ak
ea

w
ay

s 
p

er
 

h
ea

d
 o

f 
p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
 i
n

 E
n

g
la

n
d

. 
C

o
n

ce
rn

ed
 a

b
o

u
t 

h
ig

h
  

le
ve

ls
 o

f 
o

b
es

it
y 

an
d

 c
o

m
p

ar
at

iv
el

y 
h

ig
h

 l
ev

el
s 

o
f 

d
ep

ri
va

ti
o

n
, 
P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
lt

h
 a

n
d

 P
la

n
n

in
g

 c
o

lle
ag

u
es

 b
eg

an
 

to
 i
n

ve
st

ig
at

e 
a 

lo
ca

lly
 s

p
ec

ifi
c 

p
o

lic
y 

th
at

 c
o

u
ld

 r
ed

u
ce

  

th
e 

n
u

m
b

er
 a

n
d

 l
o

ca
ti

o
n

 o
f 

ta
ke

aw
ay

s 
as

 p
ar

t 
o

f 
it

s 
ex

is
ti

n
g

 

h
ea

lt
h

y 
w

ei
g

h
t 

st
ra

te
g

y.
 T

h
e 

te
am

s 
w

o
rk

ed
 c

lo
se

ly
 o

ve
r 

 

tw
o

 y
ea

rs
 t

o
 p

re
p

ar
e 

an
 e

vi
d

en
ce

 b
as

e 
d

o
cu

m
en

t 
se

tt
in

g
 

o
u

t 
th

e 
lo

ca
l 
is

su
es

 a
n

d
 r

at
io

n
al

e 
fo

r 
a 

p
la

n
n

in
g

 p
o

lic
y 

th
at

 

co
u

ld
 r

es
tr

ic
t 

ta
ke

aw
ay

s.
 T

h
is

 j
o

in
t 

ap
p

ro
ac

h
 p

ro
ve

d
 p

iv
o

ta
l 

to
 l
at

er
 s

u
cc

es
s.

l 
O

b
it

O
b

at
 L

is
h

a

P
la

n
n

in
g

T
h

ro
u

g
h

 i
ts

 P
la

n
n

in
g

 C
o

re
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

Le
w

is
h

am
 i
s 

co
m

m
it

te
d

 

to
 i
m

p
ro

vi
n

g
 h

ea
lt

h
 a

n
d

 w
el

l-
b

ei
n

g
 a

n
d

 t
o

 r
ed

u
ce

 h
ea

lt
h

 

in
eq

u
al

it
ie

s 
ac

ro
ss

 L
ew

is
h

am
 b

y 
p

ro
vi

d
in

g
 d

ec
en

t 
q

u
al

it
y 

h
o

u
si

n
g

, 
ac

ce
ss

 t
o

 e
m

p
lo

ym
en

t 
an

d
 t

ra
in

in
g

, 
an

d
 e

n
co

u
ra

g
e 

h
ea

lt
h

y 
lif

es
ty

le
s 

an
d

 o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

ie
s 

fo
r 

in
cr

ea
si

n
g

 p
h

ys
ic

al
 

ac
ti

vi
ty

 (
su

ch
 a

s 
w

al
ki

n
g

, 
cy

cl
in

g
 a

n
d

 r
u

n
n

in
g

).
 B

y 
b

ei
n

g
 

d
ed

ic
at

ed
 t

o
 B

u
il

d
in

g
 a

 s
u

st
a
in

a
b

le
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it

y
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 

p
la

y 
a 

vi
ta

l 
ro

le
 i
n

 p
ro

vi
d

in
g

 o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

ie
s 

fo
r 

p
eo

p
le

 t
o

 

liv
e 

h
ea

lt
h

y 
lif

es
ty

le
s 

an
d

 i
m

p
ro

ve
 w

el
l-

b
ei

n
g

. T
h

is
 i
s 

as
 

im
p

o
rt

an
t 

to
 o

ld
er

 p
eo

p
le

 a
s 

it
 i
s 

to
 t

h
e 

yo
u

n
g

. 
H

ea
lt

h
 i
s 

fa
r 

m
o

re
 t

h
an

 t
h

e 
ab

se
n

ce
 o

f 
ill

n
es

s,
 r

at
h

er
 i
t 

is
 a

 s
ta

te
 o

f 

p
h

ys
ic

al
, 
m

en
ta

l 
an

d
 s

o
ci

al
 w

el
l-

b
ei

n
g

. 
A

 p
er

so
n

’s
 h

ea
lt

h
 

is
 t

h
er

ef
o

re
 l
in

ke
d

 n
o

t 
o

n
ly

 t
o

 a
g

e 
an

d
 g

en
d

er
 b

u
t 

al
so

 t
o

 

w
id

er
 f

ac
to

rs
 s

u
ch

 a
s 

ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

, 
em

p
lo

ym
en

t,
 h

o
u

si
n

g
, 

so
ci

al
 n

et
w

o
rk

s,
 a

ir
 a

n
d

 w
at

er
 q

u
al

it
y,

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 a

ff
o

rd
ab

le
 

n
u

tr
it

io
u

s 
fo

o
d

, 
an

d
 a

cc
es

s 
to

 s
o

ci
al

 a
n

d
 p

u
b

lic
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

in
 a

d
d

it
io

n
 t

o
 h

ea
lt

h
 c

ar
e.

 I
t 

is
 a

b
o

u
t 

lif
es

ty
le

: 
p

h
ys

ic
al

 

ex
er

ci
se

, 
im

p
ro

ve
d

 d
ie

t,
 c

le
an

er
 a

ir,
 a

n
d

 m
en

ta
l 
w

el
l-

b
ei

n
g

 

th
ro

u
g

h
 s

tr
es

s 
re

d
u

ct
io

n
, 
en

g
ag

em
en

t 
an

d
 s

o
ci

al
is

at
io

n
 

(i
n

cl
u

d
in

g
 e

m
p

lo
ym

en
t)

.

   
   

   
T

h
a

n
k

s
 t

o
 

th
is

, f
a

s
t 

fo
o

d
 

s
h

o
p

s
 b

y 
th

e
 

s
c

h
o

o
l g

a
te

  

in
 L

e
w

is
h

a
m

  

h
a

ve
 h

a
d

  

th
e

ir
 c

h
ip

s

C
o

u
n

c
il

lo
r 

 
A

la
n

 S
m

it
h
”

“



4
0

T
h

e 
C

o
u

n
ci

l 
ad

o
p

te
d

 a
 r

es
tr

ic
ti

ve
 p

la
n

n
in

g
 p

o
lic

y 
in

 r
el

at
io

n
 

to
 h

o
t 

fo
o

d
 t

ak
ea

w
ay

 u
se

s 
as

 p
ar

t 
o

f 
it

s 
D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Lo
ca

l 
P

la
n

 i
n

 N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
0
1
4
. T

h
e 

p
o

lic
y 

se
ek

s 
to

 p
re

ve
n

t 
th

e 
es

ta
b

lis
h

m
en

t 
o

f 
n

ew
 h

o
t 

fo
o

d
 

ta
ke

aw
ay

s 
w

it
h

in
 4

0
0
 m

et
re

s 
o

f 
an

y 
p

ri
m

ar
y 

o
r 

se
co

n
d

ar
y 

sc
h

o
o

l.
 I
n

 a
re

as
 f

u
rt

h
er

 a
w

ay
 f

ro
m

 s
ch

o
o

ls
, 
th

e 
p

o
lic

y 
se

ek
s 

to
 l
im

it
 t

h
e 

n
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
ta

ke
aw

ay
s 

b
y 

ap
p

ly
in

g
 a

 m
ax

im
u

m
 

p
er

ce
n

ta
g

e 
in

 t
o

w
n

 c
en

tr
es

 a
n

d
 p

ar
ad

es
. 
A

s 
th

e 
Lo

ca
l 

P
la

n
 p

ro
g

re
ss

ed
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
e 

d
ec

is
io

n
-m

ak
in

g
 p

ro
ce

ss
, 
th

e 

p
o

lic
y 

g
ai

n
ed

 l
ev

er
ag

e 
in

 p
la

n
n

in
g

 d
ec

is
io

n
s.

 I
n

 t
h

e 
la

tt
er

 

st
ag

es
 o

f 
p

re
p

ar
at

io
n

 a
n

d
 f

o
llo

w
in

g
 a

d
o

p
ti

o
n

 t
h

e
 p

o
li

cy
 

w
a
s 

u
se

d
 s

u
cc

e
ss

fu
ll

y
 t

o
 r

e
fu

se
 fi

ve
 a

p
p

li
ca

ti
o

n
s 

in
 

2
0
1
5
/
1
6
 a

lo
n

e
. T

h
e 

p
o

lic
y 

h
as

 b
ee

n
 u

se
d

 i
n

 d
is

cu
ss

io
n

 w
it

h
 

ap
p

lic
an

ts
 r

es
u

lt
in

g
 i
n

 a
 n

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

w
it

h
d

ra
w

n
 a

p
p

lic
at

io
n

s.
 

”T
h

is
 i
s 

a 
su

cc
es

s 
st

o
ry

 i
n

 m
ak

in
g

 c
o

n
n

ec
ti

o
n

s,
 j
o

in
in

g
 

u
p

 o
u

r 
h

ea
lt

h
 a

sp
ir

at
io

n
s 

an
d

 o
u

r 
p

o
w

er
s 

as
 a

 p
la

n
n

in
g

 

au
th

o
ri

ty
. T

h
an

ks
 t

o
 t

h
is

, 
fa

st
 f

o
o

d
 s

h
o

p
s 

b
y 

th
e 

sc
h

o
o

l 
 

g
at

e 
in

 L
ew

is
h

am
 h

av
e 

h
ad

 t
h

ei
r 

ch
ip

s.
” 

C
o
u
n
ci

llo
r 

A
la

n
 S

m
it

h
, 
Le

w
is

h
a
m

 C
o
u
n
ci

l’s
 

C
a
b

in
et

 M
em

b
er

 f
o
r 

G
ro

w
th

 a
n
d
 R

eg
en

er
a
ti

o
n

N
ew

 r
es

id
en

ti
al

 d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
ts

 w
it

h
in

 t
h

e 
b

o
ro

u
g

h
 t

ak
e 

p
h

ys
ic

al
 a

ct
iv

it
y 

in
to

 c
o

n
si

d
er

at
io

n
 w

it
h

in
 t

h
e 

p
la

n
n

in
g

 

p
ro

ce
ss

. T
h

e 
C

at
fo

rd
 G

re
en

 d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

b
y 

C
at

fo
rd

  

st
at

io
n

s 
h

as
 o

p
en

ed
 u

p
 a

 n
ew

 c
yc

lin
g

 a
n

d
 w

al
ki

n
g

 l
in

k 
 

to
 L

ad
yw

el
l 
F
ie

ld
s.

 

N
ew

 c
yc

lin
g

 a
n

d
 w

al
ki

n
g

 l
in

k 
to

 L
ad

yw
el

l 
F
ie

ld
s



4
1

T
h

e
 F

o
o

d
 E

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

t

L
e
w

is
h

a
m

 F
o

o
d

 P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

Le
w

is
h

am
 h

as
 e

st
ab

lis
h

ed
 a

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 o
f 

co
m

m
u

n
it

y 

m
em

b
er

s,
 p

u
b

lic
 a

n
d

 v
o

lu
n

ta
ry

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
to

 h
el

p
 s

ec
u

re
 a

 

h
ea

lt
h

ie
r 

an
d

 s
u

st
ai

n
ab

le
 f

o
o

d
 f

u
tu

re
 f

o
r 

th
e 

b
o

ro
u

g
h

. 

T
h

e 
ai

m
 o

f 
th

e 
fo

o
d

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 i
s 

to
 t

ra
n

sf
o

rm
 t

h
e 

fo
o

d
 

en
vi

ro
n

m
en

t 
as

 p
ar

t 
o

f 
th

e 
w

h
o

le
 s

ys
te

m
 a

p
p

ro
ac

h
 t

o
 

o
b

es
it

y,
 r

ed
u

ci
n

g
 h

ea
lt

h
 i
n

eq
u

al
it

ie
s 

an
d

 i
m

p
ro

vi
n

g
 t

h
e 

h
ea

lt
h

 o
u

tc
o

m
es

 o
f 

o
u

r 
re

si
d

en
ts

.

B
ri

n
g

in
g

 t
o

g
et

h
er

 a
 w

id
e 

va
ri

et
y 

o
f 

p
ar

tn
er

s 
al

lo
w

s 
a 

m
o

re
 

jo
in

ed
-u

p
 a

p
p

ro
ac

h
, 
im

p
ro

vi
n

g
 c

o
lla

b
o

ra
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 i
n

cr
ea

si
n

g
 

aw
ar

en
es

s 
o

f 
w

h
at

 i
s 

g
o

in
g

 a
cr

o
ss

 t
h

e 
b

o
ro

u
g

h
. 

T
h

e 
p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 d

ev
el

o
p

ed
 a

ct
io

n
 p

la
n

s 
to

 h
el

p
 a

d
d

re
ss

 

a 
w

id
e 

ra
n

g
e 

o
f 

is
su

es
, 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 a

cc
es

s 
to

 h
ea

lt
h

y 
fo

o
d

s,
 

b
u

ild
in

g
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
kn

o
w

le
d

g
e 

an
d

 s
ki

lls
, 
fo

o
d

 w
as

te
, 

p
ro

cu
re

m
en

t 
an

d
 f

o
o

d
 p

o
ve

rt
y.

 E
xa

m
p

le
s 

o
f 

so
m

e 
 

o
f 

th
e 

in
it

ia
ti

ve
s 

to
 t

ra
n

sf
o

rm
 t

h
e 

fo
o

d
 e

n
vi

ro
n

m
en

t 
ar

e 

in
cl

u
d

ed
 i
n

 t
h

is
 r

ep
o

rt
.

T
h

e 
b

o
ro

u
g

h
 h

as
 n

o
w

 s
ig

n
ed

 u
p

 t
o

 t
h

e 
S
u

st
ai

n
ab

le
  

F
o

o
d

 C
it

ie
s 

N
et

w
o

rk
 i
n

 o
rd

er
 t

o
 s

h
ar

e 
id

ea
s 

an
d

 l
ea

rn
  

fr
o

m
 o

th
er

s 
w

o
rk

in
g

 t
o

w
ar

d
s 

si
m

ila
r 

g
o

al
s.

F
o

r 
m

o
re

 i
n

fo
rm

at
io

n
 o

n
 L

ew
is

h
am

 F
o

o
d

 P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 

co
n

ta
ct

: 

G
w

en
d

a 
S
co

tt
, 
P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
lt

h
 L

ew
is

h
am

 

G
w

en
d

a.
sc

o
tt

@
le

w
is

h
am

.g
o

v.
u

k

Le
w

is
h

a
m

 w
a

s
 

re
c

o
g

n
is

e
d

 a
s

 a
 

le
a

d
e

r 
b

o
ro

u
g

h
 

in
 t

h
e

 2
0

15
 G

o
o

d
 

Fo
o

d
 f

o
r 

Lo
n

d
o

n
 

a
w

a
rd

s
 f

o
r 

b
e

in
g

 

c
o

n
s

is
te

n
tl

y 

b
o

ro
u

g
h

s
 f

o
r 

th
e

ir
 in

vo
lv

e
m

e
n

t 

in
 im

p
ro

vi
n

g
 

Lo
n

d
o

n
’s

 f
o

o
d

. 

T
h

e
 r

e
p

o
rt

 

m
e

a
s

u
re

d
 

p
ro

g
re

s
s

 o
ve

r 

10
 a

c
ti

o
n

s
 t

o
 

s
u

p
p

o
rt

 h
e

a
lt

h
y 

a
n

d
 s

u
s

ta
in

a
b

le
 

fo
o

d
.



4
2

“T
h

e 
Tr

ai
n

in
g

 K
it

ch
en

 r
u

n
 b

y 
C

h
ar

tw
el

ls
 a

s 
p

ar
t 

o
f 

th
e 

 

sc
h

o
o

l 
m

ea
l 
co

n
tr

ac
t 

is
 a

n
 a

m
az

in
g

 f
ac

ili
ty

 a
n

d
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 

p
ro

je
ct

 t
h

at
 i
s 

al
l 
ab

o
u

t 
h

el
p

in
g

 p
eo

p
le

 o
f 

al
l 
ag

es
 t

o
 c

o
o

k 

an
d

 e
at

 w
el

l.
 T

h
e 

te
am

 i
n

cl
u

d
es

 a
 t

ra
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 d

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 

ch
ef

 a
n

d
 n

u
tr

it
io

n
is

t.
 T

h
e 

Tr
ai

n
in

g
 K

it
ch

en
 b

as
ed

 a
t 

 

th
e 

G
re

en
 M

an
 i
s 

av
ai

la
b

le
 t

o
 t

h
e 

w
h

o
le

 L
ew

is
h

am
 

co
m

m
u

n
it

y,
 w

it
h

 a
 f

o
cu

s 
o

n
 p

ri
m

ar
y 

an
d

/
o

r 
se

co
n

d
ar

y 

sc
h

o
o

l 
ch

ild
re

n
 o

n
 T

u
es

d
ay

s 
an

d
 T

h
u

rs
d

ay
s 

an
d

 t
h

e 
lo

ca
l 

co
m

m
u

n
it

y 
o

n
 F

ri
d

ay
s.

 

“T
h

e 
Tr

ai
n

in
g

 K
it

ch
en

 d
o

es
n

’t
 j
u

st
 t

ea
ch

 p
eo

p
le

 t
o

 c
o

o
k;

 

it
 t

ea
ch

es
 t

h
em

 t
o

 t
ak

e 
fr

es
h

 s
ea

so
n

al
 i
n

g
re

d
ie

n
ts

 a
n

d
 

tu
rn

 t
h

em
 i
n

to
 s

im
p

le
, 
n

u
tr

it
io

u
s 

b
al

an
ce

d
 d

is
h

es
. T

h
is

 

is
 p

ar
ti

cu
la

rl
y 

im
p

o
rt

an
t 

fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n

; 
en

ab
lin

g
 t

h
em

 t
o

 

d
ev

el
o

p
 h

ea
lt

h
y 

h
ab

it
s 

fr
o

m
 a

 y
o

u
n

g
 a

g
e 

an
d

 u
ti

lis
e 

th
es

e 

sk
ill

s 
as

 t
h

ey
 l
ea

ve
 h

o
m

e 
an

d
 g

o
 o

n
 t

o
 f

u
ll-

ti
m

e 
w

o
rk

 o
r 

fu
rt

h
er

 s
tu

d
y”

. 
C

h
a
rt

w
el

ls
 n

u
tr

it
io

n
is

t

H
e
a
lt

h
ie

r 
ca

te
ri

n
g

 c
o

m
m

it
m

e
n

ts
T

h
e 

sc
h

em
e 

d
ev

el
o

p
ed

 f
o

r 
Lo

n
d

o
n

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

s 
fo

o
d

 

b
u

si
n

es
se

s 
to

 m
ak

e 
st

ra
ig

h
tf

o
rw

ar
d

 c
h

an
g

es
 t

o
 m

en
u

s 
an

d
 

fo
o

d
 p

re
p

ar
at

io
n

 w
h

ic
h

 h
el

p
s 

m
ak

e 
fo

o
d

 h
ea

lt
h

ie
r.
 T

h
e 

sm
al

l 

ch
an

g
es

 n
o

t 
o

n
ly

 i
m

p
ro

ve
 d

ie
t 

b
u

t 
al

so
 h

el
p

 t
h

e 
b

u
si

n
es

s 

it
se

lf
 s

av
e 

m
o

n
ey

. T
h

e 
si

m
p

le
 s

te
p

s 
h

el
p

 t
o

 r
ed

u
ce

 t
h

e 
sa

lt
, 

fa
t 

an
d

 s
u

g
ar

 c
o

n
te

n
t 

o
f 

m
ea

ls
 o

ff
er

ed
. T

h
is

 y
ea

r 
th

e 
S
u

g
ar

 

S
m

ar
t 

ca
m

p
ai

g
n

 w
ill

 b
e 

em
b

ed
d

ed
 i
n

 t
h

e 
sc

h
em

e 
an

d
 f

o
o

d
 

b
u

si
n

es
se

s 
w

ill
 b

e 
as

ke
d

 t
o

 m
ak

e 
an

 a
d

d
it

io
n

al
 p

le
d

g
e 

 

o
n

 s
u

g
ar

.

T
h

e 
fo

cu
s 

o
f 

th
e 

H
ea

lt
h

ie
r 

C
at

er
in

g
 C

o
m

m
it

m
en

ts
 w

ill
 

b
e 

o
n

 f
as

t 
fo

o
d

 o
u

tl
et

s 
an

d
 b

u
si

n
es

se
s 

n
ea

r 
sc

h
o

o
ls

. T
h

is
 

w
ill

 i
n

cl
u

d
e 

su
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 1

4
 l
o

ca
l 
b

u
si

n
es

se
s 

to
 r

en
ew

 t
h

ei
r 

co
m

m
it

m
en

t 
to

 t
h

e 
sc

h
em

e.
 T

h
es

e 
sm

al
l 
ch

an
g

es
 t

o
 i
m

p
ro

ve
 

th
e 

fo
o

d
 o

ff
er

 w
ill

 h
av

e 
an

 i
m

p
ac

t 
o

n
 t

h
o

u
sa

n
d

s 
o

f 
m

ea
ls

 

se
rv

ed
 e

ac
h

 y
ea

r.



4
3

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 f

o
o

d
 g

ro
w

in
g

Le
w

is
h

am
 n

o
w

 h
as

 m
o

re
 t

h
an

 6
0
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
g

ar
d

en
s 

in
cl

u
d

in
g

 o
rc

h
ar

d
s,

 k
it

ch
en

 g
ar

d
en

s,
 a

n
d

 fl
o

w
er

 g
ar

d
en

s.
 

S
o

m
e 

o
f 

th
e 

g
ar

d
en

s 
ar

e 
w

it
h

in
 p

ar
ks

 o
r 

w
o

rk
 w

it
h

  

fr
ie

n
d

s 
o

f 
p

ar
ks

 g
ro

u
p

s.
 T

h
e 

m
aj

o
ri

ty
 a

re
 s

el
f-

ru
n

n
in

g
  

an
d

 h
av

e 
th

ei
r 

o
w

n
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 n

et
w

o
rk

s 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 a

 v
ib

ra
n

t 

w
eb

si
te

 w
h

ic
h

 p
ro

vi
d

es
 i
n

fo
rm

at
io

n
 o

n
 a

ct
iv

it
ie

s,
 e

ve
n

ts
 

su
ch

 a
s 

o
p

en
 d

ay
s 

an
d

 t
ra

in
in

g
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s.
  

w
w

w
.l
ew

is
h

am
g

ar
d

en
s.

w
eb

s.
co

m

Tw
o

 L
ew

is
h

am
 g

ar
d

en
s 

to
o

k 
p

ar
t 

in
 C

ap
it

al
 G

ro
w

th
’s

 U
rb

an
 

H
ar

ve
st

 F
ea

st
 i
n

 S
ep

te
m

b
er

. 
A

ct
iv

it
ie

s 
at

 W
ild

ca
t 

W
ild

er
n

es
s 

in
 C

at
fo

rd
 i
n

cl
u

d
ed

 b
ak

in
g

 b
re

ad
 o

n
 a

 c
am

p
fi

re
, 
sh

o
w

in
g

 

vi
si

to
rs

 h
o

w
 t

o
 m

ak
e 

ch
u

tn
ey

s 
an

d
 j
am

s 
an

d
 t

ea
ch

in
g

 

p
eo

p
le

 a
b

o
u

t 
b

ee
s 

an
d

 b
ee

ke
ep

in
g

. 
D

u
ri

n
g

 t
h

e 
ev

en
in

g
 

th
ey

 h
o

st
ed

 a
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
B

B
Q

 a
n

d
 l
an

te
rn

 e
ve

n
in

g
.

Sy
d

en
h

am
 G

ar
d

en
s 

h
el

d
 a

n
 o

p
en

 v
o

lu
n

te
er

 s
es

si
o

n
, 

 

to
u

rs
 a

n
d

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

d
ay

 a
t 

th
ei

r 
n

ew
 s

it
e,

 t
h

e 
D

e 
F
re

n
e 

M
ar

ke
t 

G
ar

d
en

.

T
h

e 
co

u
n

ci
l 
h

as
 a

ls
o

 p
ro

d
u

ce
d

 a
 g

u
id

e 
to

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

g
ar

d
en

s 
w

h
ic

h
 p

ro
vi

d
es

 g
en

er
al

 a
d

vi
ce

 a
b

o
u

t 
st

ar
ti

n
g

, 

d
ev

el
o

p
in

g
 a

n
d

 r
u

n
n

in
g

 a
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
g

ar
d

en
, 
as

 w
el

l 
 

as
 o

u
tl

in
in

g
 s

o
m

e 
o

f 
th

e 
ke

y 
is

su
es

 i
n

vo
lv

ed
.



4
4

d
o

in
g

 t
h

e 
O

p
en

 C
o

lle
g

e 
N

et
w

o
rk

 (
O

C
N

) 
H

ea
lt

h
y 

E
at

in
g

  

an
d

 H
o

w
 t

o
 R

u
n

 a
 C

o
o

ke
ry

 C
lu

b
 c

o
u

rs
e 

av
ai

la
b

le
 a

s 
p

ar
t 

 

o
f 

Le
w

is
h

am
’s

 H
ea

lt
h

 I
m

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

tr
ai

n
in

g
 o

ff
er

. 
S
h

e 
w

en
t 

o
n

 t
o

 s
u

cc
es

sf
u

lly
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 t

h
e 

O
C

N
 1

2
-w

ee
k 

tr
ai

n
in

g
 

co
u

rs
e.

 S
h

e 
th

en
 v

o
lu

n
te

er
ed

 o
n

 t
w

o
 s

er
ie

s 
o

f 
co

o
ke

ry
  

cl
u

b
s 

an
d

 a
ls

o
 a

t 
co

m
m

u
n

it
y 

ev
en

ts
. 
S
h

e 
w

ill
 n

o
w

 b
e 

m
en

to
re

d
 a

t 
th

e 
G

re
en

 M
an

 c
o

o
ke

ry
 c

lu
b

 o
ve

r 
5
 w

ee
ks

. 

U
p

o
n

 s
u

cc
es

sf
u

l 
co

m
p

le
ti

o
n

 s
h

e 
w

ill
 T

u
to

r 
o

n
e 

o
f 

th
e 

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 c
o

o
ke

ry
 c

lu
b

s.
 

g
cd

a.
co

o
p
/
2
0
1
6
/
0
4
/
2
8
/
ru

n
-c

o
o
ke

ry
-c

lu
b
-t

ra
in

in
g
-c

o
u
rs

e/

B
e
 I

n
sp

ir
e
d

 L
e
w

is
h

a
m

G
re

en
w

ic
h

 C
o

-O
p

er
at

iv
e 

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

A
g

en
cy

 r
ec

en
tl

y 

b
eg

an
 d

el
iv

er
in

g
 a

 r
an

g
e 

o
f 

co
m

m
u

n
it

y 
n

u
tr

it
io

n
 a

n
d

 

p
h

ys
ic

al
 a

ct
iv

it
y 

in
it

ia
ti

ve
s 

in
 L

ew
is

h
am

. T
h

e 
se

rv
ic

e 
ai

m
s 

to
 i
m

p
ro

ve
 p

eo
p

le
’s

 k
n

o
w

le
d

g
e 

an
d

 s
ki

lls
 o

n
 f

o
o

d
 c

h
o

ic
es

 

th
ro

u
g

h
 t

ra
in

in
g

, 
w

o
rk

sh
o

p
s 

an
d

 w
o

rk
in

g
 w

it
h

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

o
rg

an
is

at
io

n
s 

to
 s

ti
m

u
la

te
 v

o
lu

n
te

er
in

g
 a

ro
u

n
d

 g
o

o
d

 f
o

o
d

 

an
d

 p
h

ys
ic

al
 a

ct
iv

it
y.

 

T
h

e 
se

rv
ic

e 
al

so
 d

el
iv

er
s 

co
m

m
u

n
it

y 
co

o
ke

ry
 c

lu
b

s,
 

in
cl

u
d

in
g

 t
h

re
e 

fo
r 

Le
w

is
h

am
 H

o
m

es
. T

w
o

 o
f 

th
e 

co
o

ke
ry

 

cl
u

b
 t

u
to

rs
 a

re
 L

ew
is

h
am

 r
es

id
en

ts
. T

h
e 

co
o

ke
ry

 c
lu

b
s 

co
n

si
st

 o
f 

5
 w

ee
ks

 c
o

o
ki

n
g

 s
es

si
o

n
s 

co
m

b
in

ed
 w

it
h

 h
ea

lt
h

y 

ea
ti

n
g

 m
es

sa
g

es
 f

o
llo

w
ed

 b
y 

a 
vi

si
t 

to
 a

 l
o

ca
l 
co

m
m

u
n

it
y 

g
ar

d
en

 i
n

 t
h

e 
si

xt
h

 w
ee

k.
 

A
tt

en
d

in
g

 t
h

e 
co

o
ke

ry
 c

lu
b

s 
n

o
t 

o
n

ly
 b

ri
n

g
s 

ab
o

u
t 

p
o

si
ti

ve
 

ch
an

g
es

 i
n

 f
o

o
d

 c
h

o
ic

es
 a

ro
u

n
d

 s
u

g
ar

, 
fa

t 
an

d
 s

al
t 

b
u

t 
al

so
 

im
p

ro
ve

m
en

ts
 i
n

 w
el

lb
ei

n
g

. 

“A
ft

er
 fi

ve
 w

ee
ks

 o
f 

at
te

n
d

in
g

 a
 p

ar
ti

ci
p

an
t 

fe
d

 b
ac

k 
h

o
w

 

m
u

ch
 o

f 
a 

d
if

fe
re

n
ce

 t
h

e 
co

o
ke

ry
 c

lu
b

 h
ad

 m
ad

e 
to

 h
er

 

w
el

l 
b

ei
n

g
. 
S
h

e 
w

as
 m

u
ch

 m
o

re
 c

o
n

fi
d

en
t 

w
it

h
in

 h
er

se
lf
, 

th
e 

co
o

ke
ry

 c
lu

b
 e

n
ab

le
d

 h
er

 t
o

 i
m

p
ro

ve
 h

er
 s

o
ci

al
 a

n
d

 

co
m

m
u

n
ic

at
io

n
 s

ki
lls

, 
sh

e 
n

o
 l
o

n
g

er
 f

ee
ls

 n
er

vo
u

s 
an

d
 f

ee
ls

 

a 
lo

t 
h

ap
p

ie
r 

w
it

h
in

 h
er

se
lf

”.

A
 p

ar
ti

ci
p

an
t 

at
te

n
d

ed
 t

h
e 

Le
w

is
h

am
 L

ib
ra

ry
 C

o
o

ke
ry

 c
lu

b
 

in
 S

ep
te

m
b

er
 2

0
1
4
. 
S
h

e 
en

jo
ye

d
 t

h
e 

se
ss

io
n

s 
so

 m
u

ch
 s

h
e 

ex
p

re
ss

ed
 a

n
 i
n

te
re

st
 i
n

 t
ak

in
g

 h
ea

lt
h

y 
ea

ti
n

g
 f

u
rt

h
er

 –
 

Le
w

is
h

a
m

 c
o

o
k

e
ry

 

c
lu

b
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
n

t 
 

 

A
c

c
re

d
it

e
d

 t
ra

in
in

g
 

V
o

lu
n

te
e

r 

 

C
o

o
k

e
ry

 C
lu

b
 T

u
to

r



4
5

It
 i
s 

th
e 

fi
rs

t 
Q

u
ie

tw
ay

 r
o

u
te

 t
o

 b
e 

o
p

en
ed

 w
it

h
 s

ix
 m

o
re

 

ad
d

it
io

n
al

 r
o

u
te

s 
d

u
e 

to
 b

e 
co

m
p

le
te

d
 b

y 
sp

ri
n

g
 n

ex
t 

ye
ar

. 

T
h

e 
ro

u
te

 i
s 

b
ei

n
g

 a
d

ve
rt

is
ed

 t
o

 n
ew

 a
n

d
 n

o
vi

ce
 c

yc
lis

ts
 a

s 

an
 i
d

ea
l 
w

ay
 o

f 
g

et
ti

n
g

 i
n

 t
o

 c
en

tr
al

 L
o

n
d

o
n

 o
n

 t
h

e 
sa

fe
st

 

an
d

 q
u

ie
te

st
 r

o
u

te
 p

o
ss

ib
le

.

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

Q
u

ie
tw

a
y
 R

o
u

te
Le

w
is

h
am

 i
s 

p
ar

t 
o

f 
Lo

n
d

o
n

’s
 fi

rs
t 

Q
u

ie
tw

ay
 w

h
ic

h
 o

p
en

ed
 

fo
r 

cy
cl

is
ts

 a
n

d
 p

ed
es

tr
ia

n
s 

in
 J

u
n

e 
2
0
1
6
. T

h
e 

n
ew

 Q
u

ie
tw

ay
 

(Q
1
) 

is
 a

 c
o

n
ti

n
u

o
u

s 
si

g
n

-p
o

st
ed

 r
o

u
te

 t
h

at
 l
in

ks
 G

re
en

w
ic

h
 

an
d

 W
at

er
lo

o
 b

y 
tr

af
fi

c-
fr

ee
 p

at
h

s 
an

d
 q

u
ie

te
r 

b
ac

ks
tr

ee
ts

.

T
h

e 
9
km

 r
o

u
te

 p
as

se
s 

th
ro

u
g

h
 f

o
u

r 
Lo

n
d

o
n

 b
o

ro
u

g
h

s 
–
 

G
re

en
w

ic
h

, 
Le

w
is

h
am

, 
S
o

u
th

w
ar

k 
an

d
 L

am
b

et
h

. 
It

 i
s 

cl
ea

rl
y 

m
ar

ke
d

 w
it

h
 d

is
ti

n
ct

iv
e 

p
u

rp
le

 b
ra

n
d

ed
 w

ay
fi

n
d

in
g

 s
ig

n
s 

an
d

 i
n

cl
u

d
es

 o
ve

r 
2
km

 o
f 

tr
af

fi
c-

fr
ee

 p
at

h
s 

fo
r 

cy
cl

is
ts

 a
n

d
 

im
p

ro
ve

d
 p

ed
es

tr
ia

n
 f

ac
ili

ti
es

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

o
u

t.
 P

ed
es

tr
ia

n
s 

w
ill

 

b
en

efi
t 

fr
o

m
 n

ew
 o

r 
im

p
ro

ve
d

 c
ro

ss
in

g
 f

ac
ili

ti
es

 a
n

d
 w

id
er

 

fo
o

tw
ay

s 
al

o
n

g
si

d
e 

th
e 

im
p

ro
ve

m
en

ts
 f

o
r 

cy
cl

is
ts

, 
w

h
ic

h
  

w
ill

 m
ak

e 
th

e 
ro

u
te

 s
af

er
 a

n
d

 m
o

re
 a

tt
ra

ct
iv

e 
fo

r 
w

al
ki

n
g

  

as
 w

el
l 
as

 c
yc

lin
g

.

T
h

e 
Le

w
is

h
am

 s
ec

ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e 
ro

u
te

 r
u

n
s 

fr
o

m
 t

h
e 

n
ew

 

cy
cl

in
g

 a
n

d
 w

al
ki

n
g

 s
h

ar
ed

 u
se

 p
at

h
 w

h
ic

h
 r

u
n

s 
ro

u
n

d
 t

h
e 

b
ac

k 
o

f 
M

ill
w

al
l 
F
C

’s
 N

ew
 D

en
 s

ta
d

iu
m

, 
al

o
n

g
 S

u
rr

ey
 C

an
al

 

R
o

ad
, 
th

ro
u

g
h

 a
 n

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

q
u

ie
t 

st
re

et
s 

in
 D

ep
tf

o
rd

 b
ef

o
re

 

cr
o

ss
in

g
 D

ep
tf

o
rd

 C
re

ek
 a

t 
H

al
f 

P
en

n
y 

H
at

ch
 B

ri
d

g
e 

in
to

 

th
e 

R
o

ya
l 
B

o
ro

u
g

h
 o

f 
G

re
en

w
ic

h
.

T
h

e 
ro

u
te

 w
as

 d
el

iv
er

ed
 i
n

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 w
it

h
 f

o
u

r 
so

u
th

-e
as

t 

Lo
n

d
o

n
 b

o
ro

u
g

h
s,

 T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 f
o

r 
Lo

n
d

o
n

 a
n

d
 S

u
st

ra
n

s,
 t

h
e 

cy
cl

in
g

 a
n

d
 w

al
ki

n
g

 c
h

ar
it

y.
 

   
   

  Q
1 

is
 a

m
a

zi
n

g
, 

it
 h

a
s

 c
h

a
n

g
e

d
 

m
y 

c
o

m
m

u
ti

n
g

 

ro
u

ti
n

e
 

c
o

n
s

is
te

n
tl

y,
 

th
a

n
k

 y
o

u
  

s
o

 m
u

c
h

!

S
a

ra
”

“
E

d
w

ar
d

s 
S
tr

ee
t 

C
yc

le
 T

ra
ck



RIVER

T
H

A
M

E
S

R
IV

E
R

 T
H

A
M

E
S

S
T
.

W
ATERLO

O
   

 R
O

A
D

BLACKFRIARS     ROAD

S
O

U
T

H
W

A
R

K
 

  
S

T
R

E
E

T

S
T
A

M
F
O
R

D
  

S
T

.

YORK  R

O
A

D

B
O

R
O

U
G

H
   

   
   

   
 H

IG
H    

STREET

W
E
S

T
M

IN
S

T
E
R

   
   

  
B

R
ID

G
E

 R
D

.
B

O
R

O
U

G
H

  
  
  
 R

D
.

O
L
D

  K
E
N

T
  R

O
A

D

O
LD

  K
EN

T  R
O

A
D

N
E

W
  

K
E

N
T

  
R

O
A

D
T
O

W
E
R
   

   
  B

R
ID

G
E

 ROAD

GREAT  D
O

V
ER  S

T.

L
O

N
G

  
  
  
 L

A
N

E

DUNTON    
   R

D.

R
O

T
H

E
R

H
IT

H
E
  

  N
E

W
  R

O
A

D

TRUNDLEYS  ROAD

G
R

IN
S

T
E

A
D

 R
D

.

DEPTFORD  CH. ST.

C
R

E
E

K
  
R

O
A

D

E
V

E
LY

N
  

S
T

R
E

E
T

G
R

E
E

N
W

IC
H

  H
IG

H
  

  S
TREET

ROAD

E
D

W
A

R
D

SANFORD  S
TR

EE
T

B
L

A
C

K
H

E
A

T
H

  
R

O
A

D

N
E

W
  
 C

R
O

S
S

 R
O

A
D

S
O

U
T

H
W

A
R

K
  
P

A
R

K
  
R

O
A

D

G
R

A
N

G
E
  R

O
A

D

R
O

L
L

S
  
R

O
A

D

W
ATERLOO B

RID
GE

BLACKFRIARS

BRIDGE

L
Y

N
T

O
N

  
  
R

O
A

D

ST.  JAMES’S        ROAD

T
H

E
 C

U
T

ILDERTON  ROAD

S
U

R
R

E
Y

HIGH   ST.

U
P

P
E

R
G

R
O

U
N

D

BELVEDERE

TRAFALGAR   ROAD

DEPTFORD

S
T

.

C
H

IL
D

E
R

S
  
S

T
R

E
E

T

C
A

N
A

L
  

R
O

A
D

O
X

L
E

Y
C

L
O

S
E

W
IL

LO
W

 W
A

LK

TABARD S
T.

T
R

IN
IT

Y
S

T
R

E
E

T

W
E

B
B

E
R

 
 S

T
R

E
E

T

CORNWALL ROAD

RD.

NORMAN

SOUTHWARK    
 B

RIDG
E

 

 ROAD

GRE AT S

U
FF

O
LK

4
6



4
7

D
r 

B
ik

e
D

r 
B

ik
e 

se
ss

io
n

s 
ar

e 
o

ff
er

ed
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
o

u
t 

th
e 

ye
ar

 t
o

 h
el

p
 

p
eo

p
le

 g
et

 t
h

ei
r 

b
ik

es
 b

ac
k 

o
n

 t
h

e 
ro

ad
. 
O

ft
en

 t
h

e 
b

ig
g

es
t 

ca
u

se
 f

o
r 

n
o

t 
cy

cl
in

g
 i
s 

th
at

 t
h

e 
b

ik
e 

is
 o

ff
 t

h
e 

ro
ad

. T
h

e 

h
ab

it
 o

f 
n

o
t 

cy
cl

in
g

 t
ak

es
 h

o
ld

 a
n

d
 a

 c
yc

lis
t 

ca
n

 b
e 

lo
st

 

to
 p

u
b

lic
 t

ra
n

sp
o

rt
. 
B

y 
o

ff
er

in
g

 f
re

e 
se

rv
ic

in
g

 a
n

d
 c

h
ec

ks
 

o
n

 b
ik

es
 i
t 

h
el

p
s 

ke
ep

 p
eo

p
le

 o
n

 t
h

ei
r 

sa
d

d
le

. T
h

e 
ch

ec
ks

 

ar
e 

u
su

al
ly

 h
el

d
 i
n

 c
af

es
 a

ro
u

n
d

 t
h

e 
b

o
ro

u
g

h
, 
ad

ve
rt

is
ed

 

th
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
e 

ca
fé

 a
n

d
 o

n
 t

h
e 

Le
w

is
h

am
 w

eb
si

te
.

A
t 

o
th

er
 e

ve
n

ts
 s

u
ch

 a
s 

E
xc

h
an

g
in

g
 P

la
ce

s,
 w

h
er

e 
cy

cl
is

ts
 

ca
n

 e
xp

er
ie

n
ce

 s
it

ti
n

g
 i
n

 t
h

e 
se

at
 o

f 
a 

lo
rr

y,
 D

r 
B

ik
es

 a
re

 t
h

e 

lu
re

 f
o

r 
th

em
 t

o
 s

to
p

 a
n

d
 t

ak
e 

so
m

e 
ti

m
e 

w
it

h
 t

h
e 

P
o

lic
e 

an
d

 r
o

ad
 s

af
et

y 
st

af
f 

to
 t

al
k 

ab
o

u
t 

th
e 

b
lin

d
 s

p
o

ts
 o

n
 l
o

rr
ie

s.

w
w

w
.l
ew

is
h

am
.g

o
v.

u
k/

m
ys

er
vi

ce
s/

tr
an

sp
o

rt
/
cy

cl
in

g

G
e

t  
a

 fr
e

e
  

b
ik

e
 

sa
fe

ty
 

c
h

e
c

k
 

h
e

re
  



4
8

A
d

u
lt

 C
y
cl

e
 L

o
a
n

 S
ch

e
m

e
A

s 
o

n
e 

o
f 

th
e 

la
rg

es
t 

em
p

lo
ye

rs
 i
n

 t
h

e 
b

o
ro

u
g

h
, 
th

e 
C

o
u

n
ci

l 

h
as

 a
n

 i
m

p
o

rt
an

t 
ro

le
 i
n

 s
et

ti
n

g
 a

n
 e

xa
m

p
le

 t
o

 o
th

er
 

o
rg

an
is

at
io

n
s 

o
f 

th
e 

n
ee

d
 t

o
 t

ra
ve

l 
in

 s
u

st
ai

n
ab

le
 w

ay
s.

 I
t 

is
 a

ls
o

 r
es

p
o

n
si

b
le

 f
o

r 
p

ro
m

o
ti

n
g

 g
en

er
al

 r
o

ad
 s

af
et

y 
to

 i
ts

 

o
w

n
 s

ta
ff

, 
p

eo
p

le
 w

o
rk

in
g

 w
it

h
in

 t
h

e 
b

o
ro

u
g

h
 a

n
d

 r
es

id
en

ts
.

Le
w

is
h

am
 i
s 

co
m

m
it

te
d

 t
o

 i
m

p
ro

vi
n

g
 c

yc
lin

g
 f

ac
ili

ti
es

, 
 

b
o

th
 i
n

fr
as

tr
u

ct
u

re
 a

n
d

 e
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 t
ra

in
in

g
, 
as

 w
el

l 
 

as
 t

h
e 

sa
fe

ty
 p

er
ce

p
ti

o
n

 o
f 

cy
cl

is
ts

 t
ra

ve
lli

n
g

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

  

o
r 

w
it

h
in

 t
h

e 
b

o
ro

u
g

h
.

T
h

e 
R

o
ad

 s
af

et
y 

Te
am

 h
av

e 
o

ff
er

ed
 c

o
u

rs
es

 d
es

ig
n

ed
 t

o
 

at
tr

ac
t 

cy
cl

is
ts

 o
f 

al
l 
ag

es
, 
an

d
 g

en
d

er
s 

to
 t

ak
e 

u
p

 c
yc

lin
g

  

as
 a

 r
ea

l 
al

te
rn

at
iv

e 
to

 d
ri

vi
n

g
 o

r 
p

u
b

lic
 t

ra
n

sp
o

rt
 u

se
. 

A
 k

ey
 c

h
al

le
n
g
e 

h
as

 b
ee

n
 t

ry
in

g
 t

o
 fi

ll 
a 

m
is

si
n
g
 li

n
k 

b
et

w
ee

n
 

ta
ki

n
g

 a
 l
es

so
n

 o
r 

tw
o

 a
n

d
 a

ct
u

al
ly

 i
n

ve
st

in
g

 i
n

 a
 b

ik
e.

 

Le
w

is
h

am
 m

ad
e 

a 
d

ec
is

io
n

 t
o

 o
ff

er
 a

n
yo

n
e 

w
h

o
 w

o
rk

s,
 

st
u

d
ie

s 
o

r 
liv

es
 i
n

 t
h

e 
b

o
ro

u
g

h
 a

n
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
y 

to
 b

o
rr

o
w

 

a 
b

ik
e 

fo
r 

£
1
0
 f

o
r 

o
n

e 
m

o
n

th
 i
n

 c
o

n
ju

n
ct

io
n

 w
it

h
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 

C
yc

lin
g

 C
am

p
ai

g
n

 (
LC

C
).

F
o

r 
o

n
e 

m
o

n
th

 a
n

 a
d

u
lt

 c
an

 b
o

rr
o

w
 a

 n
ew

 o
r 

ve
ry

 n
ea

rl
y 

n
ew

 b
ik

e 
to

 t
ry

 o
u

t.
 A

t 
th

is
 p

o
in

t 
th

e 
b

ik
e 

is
 fi

tt
ed

 t
o

 t
h

e 

ri
d

er
, 
a 

cy
cl

e 
h

el
m

et
, 
h

ig
h

 v
is

ib
ili

ty
 w

ai
st

co
at

, 
b

ik
e 

lig
h

ts
 

an
d

 m
ap

s 
ar

e 
g

iv
en

. 
A

 c
yc

le
 i
n

st
ru

ct
o

r 
is

 a
va

ila
b

le
 t

o
 o

ff
er

 

ti
p

s 
fo

r 
ri

d
in

g
 i
f 

n
ee

d
ed

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

y 
to

 b
o

o
k 

a 

le
ss

o
n

 o
r 

h
av

e 
a 

ro
u

te
 p

la
n

n
in

g
 r

id
e 

is
 o

ff
er

ed
.



4
9

P
o

si
ti

ve
s 

o
f 

th
e
 s

ch
e
m

e
:

  p
eo

p
le

 c
an

 t
ry

 o
u
t 

a 
b
ik

e 
w

it
h
o
u
t 

h
av

in
g
 t

o
 s

p
en

d
 t

o
o

 

m
u
ch

 I
n
 t

im
es

 o
f 

au
st

er
it

y 
th

is
 h

as
 b

ee
n
 w

el
l r

ec
ei

ve
d

 

an
d
 h

ig
h
ly

 a
p
p
re

ci
at

ed
 b

y 
re

si
d
en

ts
 a

n
d
 e

m
p
lo

ye
es

 a
lik

e

  t
h

e 
sc

h
em

e 
su

p
p

o
rt

s 
th

e 
R

o
ad

 S
af

et
y 

P
la

n
 i
n

 g
et

ti
n

g
 

m
o

re
 p

eo
p

le
 c

yc
lin

g
 m

o
re

 s
af

el
y

  p
ar

ti
ci

p
an

ts
 c

an
 t

ak
e 

o
n

e 
to

 o
n

e 
le

ss
o

n
s,

 o
r 

ta
ke

 p
ar

t 

in
 a

 5
 s

es
si

o
n

 a
d

u
lt

 b
ik

ea
b

ili
ty

 c
o

u
rs

e 

  t
h

er
e 

is
 a

 r
ip

p
le

 e
ff

ec
t,

 t
h

o
se

 i
n

vo
lv

ed
 i
n

 t
h

e 
sc

h
em

e 

ar
e 

in
fl

u
en

ci
n

g
 t

h
ei

r 
fr

ie
n

d
s 

an
d

 r
el

at
iv

es

W
h

en
 t

h
e 

b
ik

e 
is

 d
ro

p
p

ed
 o

ff
 t

h
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 m

o
n

th
, 
th

e 

b
ik

es
 a

re
 s

er
vi

ce
d

 a
n

d
 c

h
ec

ke
d

 f
o

r 
th

e 
n

ex
t 

p
ic

k 
u

p
 s

es
si

o
n

. 

N
o

 b
ik

es
 g

o
 s

tr
ai

g
h

t 
b

ac
k 

o
u

t 
to

 n
ew

 c
yc

lis
ts

 w
it

h
o

u
t 

a 

se
rv

ic
e 

an
d

 c
h

ec
k.

 

E
ve

ry
 p

ar
ti

ci
p

an
t 

re
ce

iv
es

 a
 1

 y
ea

r 
m

em
b

er
sh

ip
 o

f 
th

e 

LC
C

, 
cy

cl
in

g
 g

o
o

d
ie

s 
su

ch
 a

s 
lig

h
ts

, 
a 

p
u

m
p

 e
tc

, 
an

d
 t

h
e 

kn
o

w
le

d
g

e 
th

at
 i
n

 t
h

e 
m

o
n

th
 l
o

an
 p

er
io

d
 t

h
ey

 w
ill

 k
n

o
w

 

th
at

 c
yc

lin
g

 fi
ts

 i
n

 t
o

 t
h

ei
r 

lif
es

ty
le

.

w
w

w
.l
ew

is
h

am
.g

o
v.

u
k/

m
ys

er
vi

ce
s/

tr
an

sp
o

rt
/
cy

cl
in

g
/

P
ag

es
/
C

yc
le

-l
o

an
-s

ch
em

e

S
in

ce
 t

h
e
 s

ch
e
m

e
 s

ta
rt

e
d

 o
ve

r 
1
,2

0
0
 p

e
o

p
le

 h
a
ve

 t
a
k
e
n

 

u
p

 t
h

e
 c

y
cl

e
 l

o
a
n

 a
n

d
 r

e
su

lt
s 

h
a
ve

 b
e
e
n

 h
ig

h
ly

 p
o

si
ti

ve
:

  4
6
%

 o
f 

cy
cl

is
ts

 a
re

 u
si

n
g

 t
h

ei
r 

lo
an

 b
ik

es
 m

o
re

 t
h

an
 

3
-5

 t
im

es
 a

 w
ee

k 
w

it
h

 1
1
%

 u
si

n
g

 t
h

e 
b

ik
e 

d
ai

ly
. 

  6
0
%

 o
f 

th
o

se
 u

si
n

g
 a

 l
o

an
 b

ik
e 

ar
e 

cy
cl

in
g

 m
o

re
  

th
an

 t
h

ey
 i
n

it
ia

lly
 e

xp
ec

te
d

!

  6
6
%

 s
ai

d
 t

h
ey

 f
ee

l 
sa

fe
 w

h
en

 r
id

in
g

 i
n

 L
ew

is
h

am
.

  8
9
%

 a
re

 n
o

w
 l
o

o
ki

n
g

 t
o

 b
u

y 
a 

b
ik

e,
 o

f 
w

h
ic

h
 4

5
%

  

b
u

y 
a 

b
ik

e 
th

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

e 
sc

h
em

e,
 i
e.

 t
h

e 
b

ik
e 

th
ey

  

h
av

e 
b

o
rr

o
w

ed
 f

o
r 

a 
m

o
n

th
!

  3
0
%

 o
f 

cy
cl

is
ts

 a
re

 u
si

n
g

 t
h

e 
b

ik
e 

fo
r 

co
m

m
u

ti
n

g
, 

 

w
it

h
 a

 f
u

rt
h

er
 4

8
%

 f
o

r 
fi

tn
es

s 
an

d
 l
ei

su
re

.



5
0

T
h

e
 D

a
il

y
 M

il
e

w
w

w
.t

h
ed

ai
ly

m
ile

.c
o

.u
k

P
h

y
si

ca
l 
a
ct

iv
it

y
 f

o
r 

e
a
rl

y
 y

e
a
rs

 –
 e

ve
ry

 m
o

ve
m

e
n

t 
co

u
n

ts

w
w

w
.b

h
fa

ct
iv

e.
o

rg
.u

k/
u

se
rfi

le
s/

C
h

ild
re

n
_
u

n
d

er
_
5
_

in
fo

g
ra

p
h

ic
_
F
IN

A
L
.p

d
f

H
e
a
lt

h
y
 S

ch
o

o
l 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

w
w

w
.h

ea
lt

h
ys

ch
o

o
ls

.l
o

n
d

o
n

.g
o

v.
u

k

S
p

o
rt

 F
a
ci

li
ti

e
s 

in
 L

e
w

is
h

a
m

w
w

w
.l
ew

is
h

am
.g

o
v.

u
k/

in
m

ya
re

a/
sp

o
rt

/
fa

ci
lit

ie
s

M
a
k

in
g

 E
ve

ry
 C

o
n

ta
ct

 C
o

u
n

t

w
w

w
.m

ak
in

g
ev

er
yc

o
n

ta
ct

co
u

n
t.

co
.u

k

L
e
w

is
h

a
m

 H
e
a
lt

h
 a

n
d

 W
e
ll

b
e
in

g
 i

n
fo

rm
a
ti

o
n

 

w
w

w
.l
ew

is
h

am
.g

o
v.

u
k/

h
ea

lt
h

R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

a
n

d
 i

n
fo

rm
a
ti

o
n

 

C
h

a
n

g
e
 f

o
r 

L
if

e
 –

 S
u

g
a
r 

S
m

a
rt

 W
e
b

si
te

w
w

w
.n

h
s.

u
k/

su
g

ar
-s

m
ar

t/
h

o
m

e

L
e
w

is
h

a
m

 H
e
a
lt

h
 I

m
p

ro
ve

m
e
n

t 
T
ra

in
in

g

w
w

w
.l
ew

is
h

am
.g

o
v.

u
k/

m
ys

er
vi

ce
s/

so
ci

al
ca

re
/
h

ea
lt

h
/

im
p

ro
vi

n
g

-p
u

b
lic

-h
ea

lt
h

/
P

ag
es

/
H

ea
lt

h
-i

m
p

ro
ve

m
en

t-

tr
ai

n
in

g
.a

sp
x

E
a
t 

B
e
tt

e
r 

S
ta

rt
 B

e
tt

e
r

w
w

w
.c

h
ild

re
n

sf
o

o
d

tr
u

st
.o

rg
.u

k/
ch

ild
re

n
s-

fo
o

d
-t

ru
st

/
ea

rl
y-

ye
ar

s

B
re

a
st

fe
e
d

in
g

 F
ri

e
n

d
ly

 S
ch

e
m

e

w
w

w
.b

re
as

tf
ee

d
in

g
n

et
w

o
rk

.o
rg

.u
k/

b
fn

-b
re

as
tf

ee
d

in
g

-

fr
ie

n
d

ly
-s

ch
em

e

T
h

e
 B

a
b

y
 F

ri
e
n

d
ly

 I
n

it
ia

ti
ve

w
w

w
.u

n
ic

ef
.o

rg
.u

k/
b

ab
yf

ri
en

d
ly



R
ef

: 
6

9
8

 P
u

b
lis

h
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

s 
U

n
it

,  

Lo
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
Le

w
is

h
am

 O
ct

o
b
er

 2
0
1
6





Identification and Brief Advice (IBA)

Number of front line workers trained in IBA

Number of patients identified with excess alcohol intake

Number of patients who have received NHS Health Checks who have been screened for 

alcohol (AUDIT C)

572

638 652 653

530 587

195 110

563

637

554

2015/162013/14

645

2015/16

(71%) 5216

 (12.5%) 655

245

increase from previous year

2013/14

615

23 (2%)

541

(86%) 5236

NHS Health Checks

79 (6%)

London

(89%) 4793

(11.5%) 696

Latest period of 

availability

England

2014/15

2014/15

668

2008/09 2009/10 2011/12

587

2012/13

Lewisham

Alcohol related admissions to hospital. Age-standardised rates per 100,000 

population 

614

2013/14

606

1434

2010/11

1351number

(10.1%) 545

LondonLewisham

526 641

661 602

1430

2015-16

644

-

similar

110 - - -

Indicator

Alcohol related admissions (ASR per 100,000 population)

Number of practitioners attending Brief Intervention Training

Direction from 

previous period

2014-15

England 

benchmark
England

2014/15

644

1516

82 (5%)

526

641

400

450

500

550

600

650

700

750

800

2
0
0
8
/0

9

2
0
0
9
/1

0

2
0
1
0
/1

1

2
0
1
1
/1

2

2
0
1
2
/1

3

2
0
1
3
/1

4

2
0
1
4
/1

5

Rate

Chart 3: Rate of Alcohol Related Hospital Admissions per 100,000 (age-
standardised). Lewisham compared with England, 2008/09 - 2014/15

England

Lewisham

London

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, Public Health England

455

494

504

519

526

528

529

594

630

632

641

644

646

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700 800

Croydon

Waltham Forest

Greenwich

Brent

London region

Wandsworth

Barking and Dagenham

Southwark

Hackney

Haringey

England

Lewisham

Lambeth

Rate/100,000

Chart 4: Rate of Alcohol Related Hospital Admissions per 100,000 (age-
standardised). Lewisham compared with its similar  CCGs, London and 

England, 2014/15 

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, Public Health England

5.7

7.3

9.0

9.2

9.2

9.3

10.0

10.0

10.1

10.5

10.6

10.6

11.0

0 2 4 6 8 10 12

England

Wandsworth

London

Greenwich

Croydon

Brent

Haringey

Waltham Forest

Lewisham

Barking & Dagenham

Southwark

Hackney

Lambeth

Rate/1000

Chart 6: Rate of Alcohol Related Recorded Crimes per 1000 (age-
standardised). Lewisham compared with its similar  CCGs, London and 

England, 2012/13 

Source:  http://www.lape.org.uk/

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

2
0
0
8
/0

9

2
0
0
9
/1

0

2
0
1
0
/1

1

2
0
1
1
/1

2

2
0
1
2
/1

3

Rate

Chart 5: Rate of Alcohol Related Recorded Crimes per 1000. Lewisham 
compared with England, 2008/09 - 2012/13

Lewisham

London

England

Source:  http://www.lape.org.uk/

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

2
0
0
1
/0

3

2
0
0
2
/0

4

2
0
0
3
/0

5

2
0
0
4
/0

6

2
0
0
5
/0

7

2
0
0
6
/0

8

2
0
0
7
/0

9

2
0
0
8
/1

0

2
0
0
9
/1

1

2
0
1
0
/1

2

2
0
1
1
/1

3

2
0
1
2
/1

4
Rate

Chart 1: Mortality from liver disease in females under 75. Directly age-
standardised rates/100,000. Lewisham compared with London & England

Lewisham

England

London

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, Public Health England

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

2
0
0
1
/0

3

2
0
0
2
/0

4

2
0
0
3
/0

5

2
0
0
4
/0

6

2
0
0
5
/0

7

2
0
0
6
/0

8

2
0
0
7
/0

9

2
0
0
8
/1

0

2
0
0
9
/1

1

2
0
1
0
/1

2

2
0
1
1
/1

3

2
0
1
2
/1

4

Rate

Chart 2: Mortality from liver disease in males under 75. Directly age-
standardised rates/100,000. Lewisham compared with London & England

Lewisham

London

England

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, Public Health England

Activity Performance 

Key Messages

• Under 75 mortality for liver disease is increasing in England.  The increase in Lewisham males appears to be at a faster rate, however it is not statistically different 

from England.
• Alcohol related admissions in Lewisham have been steadily rising since 2011/12 and were higher than London and similar boroughs in 2014/15.

• The proportion of those having NHS Health checks  who were screened for alcohol has increased from 74% in 2013/14 to 87% in 2015/16 and AUDIT C is now 
embedded in the programme.

• About 11% of those having a health check have excess alcohol intake (600 people in 2015/16).
• Alcohol related violent Accident & Emergency attendances at Lewisham Hospital appear to be decreasing.

• Front line workers continue to be trained in Brief Interventions, including relating to Alcohol.
• Performance by the specialist provider has improved in terms of numbers reached for alcohol interventions, however these are still far below the numbers of people 

estimated to be alcohol dependent in Lewisham (3,650).  Current performance represents only about 5% in treatment. 

Trends/Benchmarks

Public Health Outcomes: Reduce Alcohol Harm

Health and Wellbeing Board Performance Metrics

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

O
ct

-1
2

N
o
v
-1

2

D
e
c-

1
2

Ja
n
-1

3

F
e
b
-1

3

M
a
r-

1
3

A
p
r-

1
3

M
a
y
-1

3

Ju
n
-1

3

Ju
l-
1
3

A
u
g
-1

3

S
e
p
-1

3

O
ct

-1
3

N
o
v
-1

3

D
e
c-

1
3

Ja
n
-1

4

F
e
b
-1

4

M
a
r-

1
4

A
p
r-

1
4

M
a
y
-1

4

Ju
n
-1

4

Ju
l-
1
4

A
u
g
-1

4

S
e
p
-1

4

O
ct

-1
4

N
o
v
-1

4

D
e
c-

1
4

Ja
n
-1

5

F
e
b
-1

5

M
a
r-

1
5

A
p
r-

1
5

M
a
y
-1

5

Ju
n
-1

5

Ju
l-
1
5

A
u
g
-1

5

S
e
p
-1

5

Chart 7: Number of Alcohol and Violence A&E Attendances

Source:  UHL



1. Successful completions as a proportion of all in treatment

7. Proportion of new presentations to treatment who live with children under the age of 18

Previous period: Jan 2015 to 

Dec  2015

19%

Previous Period:

(n)(n)

100/319

3%

7%

25%

2015-16

2. Proportion who successfully completed treatment in the first 6 months of the latest 12 month period and re-presented within 6 months

Health and mental health services (excl A&E)

6. Proportion in treatment who live with children under the age of 18

Other

13/102

1/102

5/102

1/102 1%

4%

1%

1%

19.1%

1314

2015-16

25/102

5%

13%

Other substance misuse services

Latest period: Apr 2015 to 

Mar 2016

(%)

(n)

Latest Period: April 2015 to 

Mar 2016

11.4%

(n) (%)

Abstinence rates

11.8%

(%) (n)

%

National average

(%) (n)

17.1%

43.6% 31.3%

(%)

61/286

Previous period: Jan 2015 to 

Dec  2015

(n)

Adults: Diagnostic Outcomes Monitoring Executive Summary (DOMES)

(%)

%

Previous Period: Oct 2014 to 

Sept 2015

14.6% - 27.2%

(n)

Latest period: Jan 2016 to 

Mar 2016

Latest period: Jan 2016 to 

Mar 2016

1/961.0%

27/158

(%)

Latest period: Jan 2015 to 

Dec 2015

Number in specialist services

21.3%

(%)

46/22121.3%

(n)

14.5%

26/136

(n)

1.6% 1/62

National average

44/207

4.2%

20.8%

%

(%)

Reliably 

improved

Expected range for Lewisham 

clients

(n)

9.3%
(%)

Previous period: Oct 2015 to 

Dec 2015

39.2%
125/287

(%)

15.5%9/76

(%)

9/58

Latest Period: Apr 2015 to Sep 

2015 

Re-presentations: up to Mar 

2016

National average

(%) (n)

(%)

Number over 6 weeks

18.4%

Previous Period: Oct 2015 to 

Dec 2015

National average

3. Abstinence and reliably improved rates at 6 months review in the last 12 months

Previous Period: Jan 2015 to 

Jun 2015 

Re-presentations: up to Dec 

2015

0

5/44

Baseline period: Completions: 

April 2014 - Sep 2014

Re-presentations: up to March 

2015

Baseline period: April 2014 - 

Mar 2015

4. Percentage of clients waiting over three weeks to start first intervention

32.7% 111/339

(n)

(%)

(n)

Latest period: Apr 2015 to 

Mar 2016

(%) (n)

18.9% 64/339

%

National average

24.7%

National average

Children and family services

79

Young people: YP Specialist Substance Misuse Interventions

Local Local%

2/102 2%

12%

A&E

England

40%

26%14%

41/102

14/102

27%

No. of young people under 18 in specialist services 

within the secure estate

Referral sources

Youth justice (incl the Secure Estate)

Education Services

1010

National

Self, family and friends

99 14133

(n)

No. of young people under 18 in specialist services in 

the community

52/254

(%)

23.4%

No. of young adults, 18-24, in 'young people 

only'specialist services in the community

85

2014-15

104 2934

20.5%51/218 23.9%

(n)

5. Proportion of new representations who had an early unplanned exit (before 12 weeks)

(%)

Specialist Treatment Service

Achievements

Public Health Outcomes: Reduce Alcohol Harm

• There has been a continued focus on enforcement regarding the availability and supply of alcohol and a new statement of Licensing Policy has been released.

• Increase in numbers screened for alcohol - All pregnant women are now screened for alcohol.

• The proportion of those having NHS Health checks screened for alcohol has increased and is now embedded in programme. 

• Increase in number of front line workers trained to identify alcohol and deliver brief interventions.

• Specialist alcohol services have become increasingly effective at reaching dependent drinkers in A & E and as hospital inpatients.



London England

68.3% 75.4%

68.4% 73.5%

47.8% 57.1%

48.2% 50.7%

132.6 141.5

2014 45.6% 47.3% Similar

2012-14 159.2 146.1 Similar

2015 - 43.3% Significantly lower -

Direction of 

Travel

2015 65.0% 65.7% Significantly lower

Early diagnosis of cancer (%)

Under 75 mortality from all cancers (DSR)

Latest period 

of availability

Previous period 

(Lewisham)

Latest period 

(Lewisham)

England 

benchmark

2015 73.7% 71.7% Significantly lower

Breast cancer screening coverage (%)

Cervical cancer screening coverage (%)

Bowel cancer screening coverage (%)*

Indicator

* The latest figure for bowel cancer screening cannot be compared to previous years as it is based on local authority of residence as opposed to PCOs on a registered popultion 

basis

0

40

80

120

160

200

2
0
0
1
-0

3

2
0
0
2
-0

4

2
0
0
3
-0

5

2
0
0
4
-0

6

2
0
0
5
-0

7

2
0
0
6
-0

8

2
0
0
7
-0

9

2
0
0
8
-1

0

2
0
0
9
-1

1

2
0
1
0
-1

2

2
0
1
1
-1

3

2
0
1
2
-1

4

DSR

Chart 1: Mortality from cancer in persons under 75
Directly age-standardised rates /100,000 population.

3 year average periods, 2001-03 to 2012-14

Lewisham

England

London

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, Public Health England 

1
6

8
.9

1
5

6
.9

1
5

4
.0

1
5

2
.6

1
4

7
.7

1
4

6
.1

1
3

9
.3

1
3

7
.0

1
3

3
.7

1
3

2
.6

1
2

7
.5

1
2

2
.9

England

0

40

80

120

160

200

B
a
rk

in
g
 &

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

H
a
ck

n
e
y

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

L
a
m

b
e
th

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

W
a
lt
h
a
m

 F
o
re

st

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

L
o
n
d
o
n

C
ro

y
d
o
n

B
re

n
t

DSR

Chart 2: Mortality from cancer in persons under 75
Directly age-standardised rate/100,000 with 95% confidence 

intervals. Lewisham compared with its similar CCGs, London and 
England, 2012-14

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, Public Health England 

Cancer, 28%

All others, 27%

Circulatory 
diseases, 21%

Respiratory, 16%

Not known, 4%

Infection, 2%

Chart 3: Death of Lewisham residents of all ages by underlying 
cause of death, Apr 2015 to Mar 2016

S Source: Primary Care Mortality Database/local analysis

other, 31%

Lung/bronchus, 
23%

Other digestive 
organs, 21%

Bowel, 10% Breast, 7%

Prostate, 
8%

Chart 4: Cancer deaths of Lewisham residents of all ages by tumour 
site, Apr 2015 to Mar 2016

Source: Primary Care Mortality Database/local analysis

Key Messages

Mortality: Trends/Benchmarks

0

40

80

120

160

200

2
0
0
1
-0

3

2
0
0
2
-0

4

2
0
0
3
-0

5

2
0
0
4
-0

6

2
0
0
5
-0

7

2
0
0
6
-0

8

2
0
0
7
-0

9

2
0
0
8
-1

0

2
0
0
9
-1

1

2
0
1
0
-1

2

2
0
1
1
-1

3

2
0
1
2
-1

4

DSR

Chart 1: Mortality from cancer in persons under 75
Directly age-standardised rates /100,000 population.

3 year average periods, 2001-03 to 2012-14

Lewisham

England

London

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, Public Health England 

1
6

8
.9

1
5

6
.9

1
5

4
.0

1
5

2
.6

1
4

7
.7

1
4

6
.1

1
3

9
.3

1
3

7
.0

1
3

3
.7

1
3

2
.6

1
2

7
.5

1
2

2
.9

EnglandEnglanEnglan

0

40

80

120

160

200

B
a
rk

in
g
 &

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

H
a
ck

n
e
y

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

L
a
m

b
e
th

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

W
a
lt
h
a
m

 F
o
re

st

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

L
o
n
d
o
n

C
ro

y
d
o
n

B
re

n
t

DSR

Chart 2: Mortality from cancer in persons under 75
Directly age-standardised rate/100,000 with 95% confidence 

intervals. Lewisham compared with its similar CCGs, London and 
England, 2012-14

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, Public Health England 

Cancer, 28%

All others, 27%27%27%

Circulatory 
diseases, 21%21%

RespiratoryRespiRespi , 16%

Not knownNot k , 4%

Infection, 2%

Chart 3: Death of Lewisham residents of all ages by underlying 
cause of death, Apr 2015 to Mar 2016

Source: Primary Care Mortality Database/local analysis

other, 31%

Lung/broncbroncbronchus, 
23%23%23%

Other digestive 
organs, 21%

Bowel, 10% Breast, 7%

Prostate, 
8%

Chart 4: Cancer deaths of Lewisham residents of all ages by tumour 
site, Apr 2015 to Mar 2016

Source: Primary Care Mortality Database/local analysis

Public Health Outcomes: Cancer

• Over the past ten years premature mortality (under 75) from cancer has decreased in England, London and Lewisham. However premature mortality from cancer in 

Lewisham remains significantly higher than London (Charts 1 and 2). The latest data indicates that the gap between Lewisham and the other areas is closing.

• In 2015/16, cancer was the main cause of death in Lewisham (Chart 3), accounting for 28% of all deaths.

• Breast and Lung cancer survival has seen a slight upwards trend, however the picture is more mixed for Colorectal cancer.

• The proportion of cancer diagnosed at an early stage (1-2) in Lewisham is not significantly different from neighbouring boroughs or England (Chart 8).

• The rate of two week wait referrals per 100,000 population (Chart 9) has increased since the previous period and is above all comparator boroughs.

• Breast screening coverage in Lewisham does not meet the national target of 70% and has remained at approximately 65% for the past 7 years (Charts 10 and 11)

• Cervical screening coverage has fallen compared to the previous year. The Lewisham level is significantly above London but significantly below England (Charts 12 and 13)
• Uptake of bowel cancer screening in Lewisham is below the national target of 60% (Chart 14) and significantly below the national average.

Survival: Trends/Benchmarks

Health and Wellbeing Board Performance Metrics: Increasing the number of people who survive colorectal, breast and lung 

cancer for 1 and 5 years

London England

68.3% 75.4%

68.4% 73.5%

47.8% 57.1%

48.2% 50.7%

132.6 141.5

2014 45.6% 47.3% Similar

2012-14 159.2 146.1 Similar

2015 - 43.3% Significantly lower -

Direction of 

Travel

2015 65.0% 65.7% Significantly lower

Early diagnosis of cancer (%)

Under 75 mortality from all cancers (DSR)

Latest period 

of availability

Previous period 

(Lewisham)

Latest period 

(Lewisham)

England 

benchmark

2015 73.7% 71.7% Significantly lower

Breast cancer screening coverage (%)

Cervical cancer screening coverage (%)

Bowel cancer screening coverage (%)*

Indicator

* The latest figure for bowel cancer screening cannot be compared to previous years as it is based on local authority of residence as opposed to PCOs on a registered popultion 

basis

69.9% 73.7% 75.2% 74.8% 77.1% 73.9%
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

(%)

Chart 6: Colorectal cancer survival rates in Lewisham. Proportion of 
patients still alive 1 year after diagnosis

Source: http://www.cancerresearchuk.org

32.8% 33.5% 34.1% 34.2% 35.2% 34.9%
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

(%)

Chart 7: Lung cancer survival rates in Lewisham. Proportion of 
patients still alive 1 year after diagnosis

Source: http://www.cancerresearchuk.org

94.6% 94.2% 94.0% 94.0% 94.3% 95.9%
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Chart 5: Breast Cancer survival rates in Lewisham. Proportion 
of patients still alive 1 year after diagnosis

Source: http://www.cancerresearchuk.org



0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2
0
0
9
-1

0

2
0
1
0
-1

1

2
0
1
1
-1

2

2
0
1
2
-1

3

2
0
1
3
-1

4

2
0
1
4
-1

5

Chart 10: Breast screening: trends in coverage of women aged 53-70 
years screened in the last 3 year period, 2009-10 to 2014-15

England

London

Lewisham

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, Public Health England

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2
0
0
9
-1

0

2
0
1
0
-1

1

2
0
1
1
-1

2

2
0
1
2
-1

3

2
0
1
3
-1

4

2
0
1
4
-1

5

Chart 12: Cervical screening: annual trends in coverage of women 
aged 25-64 years screened adequately at least once in the last 3.5 

(ages 25-49) or 5.5 (ages 50-64) years, 2009-10 to 2014-15

England

Lewisham

London

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, Public Health England

5
1

.1
%

4
9

.4
%

4
7

.8
%

4
7

.4
%

4
7

.3
%

4
6

.2
%

4
4

.5
%

4
3

.3
%

3
9

.8
%

3
9

.8
%

3
9

.7
%

3
9

.1
%

England
Target

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

C
ro

y
d
o
n

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

L
o
n
d
o
n

B
re

n
t

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

W
a
lt
h
a
m

 F
o
re

st

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

L
a
m

b
e
th

B
a
rk

in
g
 &

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

H
a
ck

n
e
y

Chart 14: Bowel screening uptake in persons aged 60-74, 2014-15

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, Public Health England

Screening: Trends/Benchmarks

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2
0
0
9
-1

0

2
0
1
0
-1

1

2
0
1
1
-1

2

2
0
1
2
-1

3

2
0
1
3
-1

4

2
0
1
4
-1

5

Chart 10: Breast screening: trends in coverage of women aged 53-70 
years screened in the last 3 year period, 2009-10 to 2014-15

England

London

Lewisham

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, Public Health England

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2
0
0
9
-1

0

2
0
1
0
-1

1

2
0
1
1
-1

2

2
0
1
2
-1

3

2
0
1
3
-1

4

2
0
1
4
-1

5

Chart 12: Cervical screening: annual trends in coverage of women 
aged 25-64 years screened adequately at least once in the last 3.5 

(ages 25-49) or 5.5 (ages 50-64) years, 2009-10 to 2014-15

England

Lewisham

London

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, Public Health England

5
1

.1
%

4
9

.4
%

4
7

.8
%

4
7

.4
%

4
7

.3
%

4
6

.2
%

4
4

.5
%

4
3

.3
%

3
9

.8
%

3
9

.8
%

3
9

.7
%

3
9

.1
%

EnglandEnglan
Target

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

C
ro

y
d
o
n

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

L
o
n
d
o
n

B
re

n
t

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

W
a
lt
h
a
m

 F
o
re

st

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

L
a
m

b
e
th

B
a
rk

in
g
 &

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

H
a
ck

n
e
y

Chart 14: Bowel screening uptake in persons aged 60-74, 2014-15

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, Public Health England

Public Health Outcomes: Cancer

6
8

.6
%

6
8

.3
%

6
7

.3
%

6
7

.1
%

6
6

.8
%

6
6

.7
%

6
5

.7
%

6
5

.7
%

6
4

.4
%

6
4

.2
%

6
2

.9
%

5
8

.2
%

England
Target

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

C
ro

y
d
o
n

L
o
n
d
o
n

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

W
a
lt
h
a
m

F
o
re

st

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

B
re

n
t

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

B
a
rk

in
g
 &

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

L
a
m

b
e
th

H
a
ck

n
e
y

Chart 11: Breast screening: coverage of women aged 53-70 years 
screened in the last 3 year period. Lewisham compared with its 

similar CCGs, London and England, 2014-15

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, Public Health England

7
2

.2
%

7
1

.7
%

7
1

.2
%

7
0

.5
%

7
0

.2
%

7
0

.1
%

7
0

.0
%

6
9

.9
%

6
9

.1
%

6
8

.6
%

6
8

.4
%

6
5

.3
%

England
Target

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

C
ro

y
d
o
n

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

L
a
m

b
e
th

B
a
rk

in
g
 &

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

W
a
lt
h
a
m

F
o
re

st

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

H
a
ck

n
e
y

L
o
n
d
o
n

B
re

n
t

Chart 13: Cervical screening: coverage of women aged 25-64 years 
screened adequately at least once in the last 3.5 (ages 25-49) or 5.5 

(ages 50-64) years. Lewisham compared with its similar CCGs, London 

and England, 2014-15

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, Public Health England

54.9% 53.8% 53.0% 51.6% 50.6% 49.9% 48.2% 47.3% 46.9% 46.8% 46.2% 45.1%

England

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Lambeth Hackney Croydon Brent Southwark Wandsworth London region Lewisham Barking and
Dagenham

Greenwich Haringey Waltham
Forest

%

Chart 8: Cancer diagnosed at an early stage  (1 or 2) . Lewisham compared to its similar CCGs, London and England, 2014

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, Public Health England (Experimental Statistics)

3146 3081 2650 2325 2296 2245 2149 2026 1866 1826 1782

England

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

Lewisham Greenwich Croydon Wandsworth Waltham Forest Lambeth Southwark Barking &
Dagenham

City & Hackney Haringey Brent

Rate/100,000

Chart 9: 2 week wait referrals/100,000. Lewisham compared with its similar CCGs and England, 2014-15

Source: NHS England Cancer Waiting Times Database

Early Diagnosis: Trends/Benchmarks

2 Week Waits: Trends/Benchmarks

3146 3081 2650 2325 2296 2245 2149 2026 1866 1826 1782

EnglandEnglandEngla

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

Lewisham Greenwich Croydon Wandsworth Waltham Forest Lambeth Southwark Barking &
Dagenham

City & Hackney Haringey Brent

Rate/100,000

Chart 9: 2 week wait referrals/100,000. Lewisham compared with its similar CCGs and England, 2014-15

Source: NHS England Cancer Waiting Times Database

54.9% 53.8% 53.0% 51.6% 50.6% 49.9% 48.2% 47.3% 46.9% 46.8% 46.2% 45.1%

EnglandEnglaEnglaEnglaEngla

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Lambeth Hackney Croydon Brent Southwark Wandsworth London region Lewisham Barking and
Dagenham

Greenwich Haringey Waltham
Forest

%

Chart 8: Cancer diagnosed at an early stage  (1 or 2) . Lewisham compared to its similar CCGs, London and England, 2014

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, Public Health England (Experimental Statistics)

Achievements

• A Health and Wellbeing Strategy Priority has been to increase the number of people who survive colorectal, breast and lung cancer. As part of implementing this, a number 

of actions have been undertaken including the following:

• Review of Cancer: CCG and Public Health have completed a review of cancer in February 2014. Reducing variation in early detection has been incorporated into the work of 

the CCG Primary Care Development Strategy Board. 

• Cancer awareness raising: Public Health incorporated cancer awareness raising as part the services delivered by the Community Health Improvement Service in Lewisham & 

Greenwich Trust

• Be Clear on Cancer Campaigns: Public Health England’s National Be Clear on Cancer Campaigns that have focussed on Bowel Cancer, Bladder and Kidney Cancer, Lung 

Cancer, Ovarian Cancer and Breast cancer in older persons have been promoted to Primary care and communities

• Lewisham now has a specific Macmillian Cancer GP who is working closely with the Community Outreach Service

• A Bowel Cancer Screening Post which has been vacant, is being proposed to be adapted to also work across breast, lung and prostate cancer screening.



<30

85.0%

0.0

0.0

0.0

19.8

89.3%

0.6

1.7

1.4

Most recent 

data

12

Period

Jul 15 - Jun 16

Jul 14 - Jun 15

2015

2015

18.6

Goal SE London

 No cases of pertussis 2015

 Incidence Rate TB/100,000 

 Measure 

 Avg No cases/mth of measles 

 Avg No cases/mth of mumps 

 % TB Cases Rx complete 

15.4

89.5%

6

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

2
0
1
5

Ju
l 
1
5
 -

Ju
n
1
6

Chart 1: Rate per 100,000 population of new TB notifications. Lewisham 
compared with London and the South East 

Note: Jul 15 - Jun 16 rates based on ONS population estimates for 2015

London

Lewisham

South East

Source: Public Health England/ONS

80%

82%

84%

86%

88%

90%

92%

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

Ju
l 
1
4
 -

Ju
n
1
5

Chart 2: Proportion of new TB notifications completing treatment within 1 
year of notification. Lewisham compared with London and the South East 

Lewisham

London

South East

Source: Public Health England/ONS

Health Protection: Communicable Diseases and Healthcare Acquired Infection

1. Key Messages ges -- Communicable Diseases

Tuberculosis (TB)
• London has a higher TB rate compared to the rest of the UK. Lewisham has a lower rate compared to the London average at 19.8 cases per 100,000 population (Jul 15 - Jun 16 rates based on 

ONS population estimates for 2015)
• TB incidence has been declining in Lewisham since 2011. This is in line with a downward trend in London and the rest of the country.  There has been a slight year on year rise in the proportion 

of TB cases completing treatment since 2010.
• Lewisham Public Health works closely with PHE and the CCG to monitor incidence locally, and to provide oversight of TB incidents with public health implications.
• In line with key recommendations from the National TB Strategy, there are plans locally to implement a latent TB infection screening in primary care settings across Lewisham in 2016/17. 

Commissioners and Public Health are working together on this, drawing on funds provided by NHS England.

Vaccine Preventable Diseases
• There was an outbreak of measles in London and the South of England. London recorded 60 cases between February and April 2016. There would normally be 10 cases in such a time period. 4 

out of 5 cases are in people aged 15 and over. People affected are those who are unimmunised or partially immunised (not had two doses of the MMR vaccine).
• Lewisham has had 5 confirmed cases of measles since February 2016, higher than would normally be expected but lower than the borough of Lambeth which has been badly affected.
• Lewisham Public Health has communicated key messages to Health Visitors and School Nurses. This included the importance of checking the immunisation status of children when opportunities 

arise, and of referring those who are either unimmunised or have incomplete records to see thier GP.  Public awareness was also raised through the Council's website and publicity channels 
during the World immunisation Week in April.

• Latest figures show that the numbers of mumps and whooping cough cases in Lewisham are as low as, or lower than neighbouring boroughs in South East London. However, the data presented 
is for numbers rather than rates (Population data table below). 

Trends/Benchmarks ks -- Communicable Diseases 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

2
0
1
5

Ju
l 
1
5
 -

Ju
n
1
6

Chart 1: Rate per 100,000 population of new TB notifications. Lewisham 
compared with London and the South East 

Note: Jul 15 - Jun 16 rates based on ONS population estimates for 2015

London

Lewisham

South East

Source: Public Health England/ONS

80%

82%

84%

86%

88%

90%

92%

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

Ju
l 
1
4
 -

Ju
n
1
5

Chart 2: Proportion of new TB notifications completing treatment within 1 
year of notification. Lewisham compared with London and the South East 

Lewisham

London

South East

Source: Public Health England/ONS

Population Data ata -- Communicableble Diseases

<30

85.0%

0.0

0.0

0.0

19.8

89.3%

0.6

1.7

1.4

Most recent 

data

12

Period

Jul 15 - Jun 16

Jul 14 - Jun 15

2015

2015

18.6

Goal SE London

 No cases of pertussis 2015

 Incidence Rate TB/100,000 

 Measure 

 Avg No cases/mth of measles 

 Avg No cases/mth of mumps 

 % TB Cases Rx complete 

15.4

89.5%

6

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

2016
Jan-Mar

2016
Apr-Aug

2016
Jan-Mar

2016
Apr-Aug

2016
Jan-Mar

2016
Apr-Aug

2016
Jan-Mar

2016
Apr-Aug

2016
Jan-Mar

2016
Apr-Aug

2016
Jan-Mar

2016
Apr-Aug

Bexley Bromley Greenwich Lambeth Lewisham Southwark

No.

Chart 3: Measles in South East London by year and Local Authority

Confirmed

Suspected

Source: Public Health England



Number of Clostridium Difficile & MRSA healthcare acquired infections for Lewisham CCG

Period 2007/08 to 2015/16

Source HCAI Data Capture System/PHE

0

33

Target
MRSA

59

Healthcare Acquired Infection

Clostridium Difficile
Observed

Target

16

Observed

2008/09

62 34

<5 10 7 6

77

2011/12 2014/152009/10 2010/11

41

5

2012/13

6

2013/14 2015/16

39

<5 <5

52

Health Protection:  Communicable Diseaseseses and andand Healthcare Acquired Infection

Key Messages ges -- Healthcare Acquiredd Infection

Antimicrobial Stewardship

• Primary care antibiotic prescribing guidelines have been reviewed by a multidisciplinary team across a number of CCGs and Trust, including Lewisham and Greenwich Trust, and Lewisham CCG. 

• Lewisham CCG's Prescribing Incentive Quality Scheme indicators will again reflect NHS England's Quality Premium initiatives. 

• Antibiotic prescribing is broken down by GP practice in the graphs below. Despite progress made in 2012/13, the volume of broad spectrum antibiotics prescribed remains greater than  average 

compared to other CCGs, with wide variance across Lewisham practices.

MRSA and Clostridium difficile 
• Despite a zero tolerance policy for cases of MRSA bacteraemia in place for all healthcare organisations, Lewisham recorded five cases in the year 2015/16. 41 cases of C. diff were recorded in that 

year which exceeds the target of 33 cases set by the Department of Health for Lewisham. 

• Lewisham Public Health works closely with stakeholders (including the local acute trust, the CCG, and Gp practices) to prevent Healthcare Aquired Infections.

• Public Health and the CCG are currently reviewing their infection control arrangements. The aim is to improve infection control practices within primary care, and to establish an improved delivery 

function for Post-Infection Reviews and Root Cause Analyses within the CCG. 
• Lewisham Public Health will continue to have oversight of the work, which will enable the DPH to retain assurance responsibilities for Post Infection Reviews and Root Cause Analysis.

Trends/Benchmarks ks -- Healthcare Acquiredd Infection

NumNumber of Clostridium Difficile & MRSA healthcare acquired infections for Lewisham CCG

PerPeriod 2007/08 to 2015/16

SouSource HCAI Data Capture System/PHE

0

33

Target
MRSA

59

Healthcare Acquired Infection

Clostridium Difficile
Observed

Target

16

Observed

2008/09

62 34

<5 10 7 6

77

2011/12 2014/152009/10 2010/11

41

5

2012/13

6

2013/14 2015/16

39

<5 <5

52

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

2
0
1
3
 Q

2

2
0
1
3
 Q

3

2
0
1
3
 Q

4

2
0
1
4
 Q

1

2
0
1
4
 Q

2

2
0
1
4
 Q

3

2
0
1
4
 Q

4

2
0
1
5
 Q

1

2
0
1
5
 Q

2

2
0
1
5
 Q

3

2
0
1
5
 Q

4

2
0
1
6
 Q

1

Rate

/1000

Chart 4: Antibiotics: total number prescribed/1000 persons. Lewisham 
CCG compared with London and England. 

England

Lewisham

London

Source: Public Health England (http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/amr-local-indicators/

Antimicrobialbial Stewardshipip --- Healthcare Acquiredd Infection

Achievements

• Latent TB infection screening pilot has now gone live in Lewisham
• C. Diff infections are on the decline

0

40

80

120

160

200

D
R
 M

O
G

 S
A
R

D
E
R

D
R
 B

K
 B

A
T
R

A

Q
R

P
 S

U
R
G

E
R
Y

D
R
 S

 S
H

R
I-

K
R
IS

H
N

A

C
L
IF

T
O

N
 R

IS
E
 F

P

D
R
 R

 B
E
R
M

A
N

A
M

E
R

S
H

A
M

 V
A
L
E

D
E
P
T
F
O

R
D

 S
U

R
G

E
R
Y

G
R

O
V
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

 G
P
 L

E
D

N
E
W

 C
R

O
S
S
 H

C

K
IN

G
F
IS

H
E
R

 M
E
D

 C
T
R

H
IL

L
Y
 F

IE
L
D

S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

B
E
L
M

O
N

T
 H

IL
L

N
IG

H
T
IN

G
A
L
E

W
O

O
D

L
A
N

D
S
 H

C

L
E
E
 R

O
A
D

 S
U

R
G

E
R

Y

M
O

R
D

E
N

 H
IL

L

T
R
IA

N
G

L
E
 G

R
O

U
P

B
U

R
N

T
 A

S
H

H
O

N
O

R
 O

A
K
 G

R
P

T
H

E
 B

R
O

C
K
L
E
Y

R
U

S
H

E
Y
 G

R
E
E
N

S
T
 J

O
H

N
S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

W
IN

L
A
T
O

N

T
O

R
R

ID
O

N
 R

O
A
D

O
A
K
V
IE

W
 F

P

D
R
 J

 I
S
R
A
E
L

W
O

O
L
S
T
O

N
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

W
E
L
L
S
 P

A
R
K

N1 N2 N3 N4

Rate

/1000

Chart 5: Total number of prescribed antibiotic items per 1000 registered patients in Lewisham, 2015 
Q4

England

Lewisham

Source: PHE General Practice Profiles (http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-practice/)

0.00

0.05

0.10

0.15

0.20

0.25

0.30

0.35

0.40

0.45

D
R
 M

O
G

 S
A
R

D
E
R

D
R
 B

K
 B

A
T
R

A

Q
R

P
 S

U
R
G

E
R
Y

D
R
 S

 S
H

R
I-

K
R
IS

H
N

A

C
L
IF

T
O

N
 R

IS
E
 F

P

D
R
 R

 B
E
R
M

A
N

D
E
P
T
F
O

R
D

 S
U

R
G

E
R
Y

A
M

E
R

S
H

A
M

 V
A
L
E

L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

 G
P
 L

E
D

G
R

O
V
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

K
IN

G
F
IS

H
E
R

 M
E
D

 C
T
R

N
E
W

 C
R

O
S
S
 H

C

H
IL

L
Y
 F

IE
L
D

S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

N
IG

H
T
IN

G
A
L
E

B
E
L
M

O
N

T
 H

IL
L

W
O

O
D

L
A
N

D
S
 H

C

H
O

N
O

R
 O

A
K
 G

R
P

M
O

R
D

E
N

 H
IL

L

T
R
IA

N
G

L
E
 G

R
O

U
P

L
E
E
 R

O
A
D

 S
U

R
G

E
R

Y

B
U

R
N

T
 A

S
H

T
H

E
 B

R
O

C
K
L
E
Y

S
T
 J

O
H

N
S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

R
U

S
H

E
Y
 G

R
E
E
N

S
O

U
T
H

 L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

T
O

R
R

ID
O

N
 R

O
A
D

P
A
R

K
V
IE

W

D
R
 J

 I
S
R
A
E
L

W
O

O
L
S
T
O

N
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

W
E
L
L
S
 P

A
R
K

N1 N2 N3 N4

Items
/STAR-PU

Chart 6: Total number of prescribed antibiotic items per STAR-PU by Lewisham GP Practice, 2015 Q4

England

Lewisham

Source: PHE General Practice Profiles (http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-practice/)

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

D
R
 M

O
G

 S
A
R

D
E
R

Q
R

P
 S

U
R
G

E
R
Y

D
R
 R

 B
E
R
M

A
N

D
R
 B

K
 B

A
T
R

A

D
E
P
T
F
O

R
D

 S
U

R
G

E
R
Y

A
M

E
R

S
H

A
M

 V
A
L
E

L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

 G
P
 L

E
D

G
R

O
V
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

C
L
IF

T
O

N
 R

IS
E
 F

P

N
E
W

 C
R

O
S
S
 H

C

K
IN

G
F
IS

H
E
R

 M
E
D

 C
T
R

D
R
 S

 S
H

R
I-

K
R
IS

H
N

A

B
E
L
M

O
N

T
 H

IL
L

H
O

N
O

R
 O

A
K
 G

R
P

H
IL

L
Y
 F

IE
L
D

S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

T
R
IA

N
G

L
E
 G

R
O

U
P

B
U

R
N

T
 A

S
H

L
E
E
 R

O
A
D

 S
U

R
G

E
R

Y

T
H

E
 B

R
O

C
K
L
E
Y

L
E
E
 H

IG
H

 R
O

A
D

M
O

R
D

E
N

 H
IL

L

S
T
 J

O
H

N
S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

R
U

S
H

E
Y
 G

R
E
E
N

N
IG

H
T
IN

G
A
L
E

T
O

R
R

ID
O

N
 R

O
A
D

D
O

W
N

H
A
M

 C
L
IN

IC

O
A
K
V
IE

W
 F

P

S
Y
D

E
N

H
A
M

 G
R
E
E
N

D
R
 P

G
V
 M

O
R
A
N

T

T
H

E
 J

E
N

N
E
R

N1 N2 N3 N4

%

Chart 7: Percentage of broad spectrum prescribed antibiotic items (cephalosporin, quinolone and co-amoxiclav class) by 
Lewisham GP Practice, 2015 Q4

Lewisham

England

Source: PHE General Practice Profiles (http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-practice/)



Uptake of the Measles, Mumps and 

Rubella Vaccine at five years of age (%)

Indicator

HPV Vaccine Uptake (%)

Uptake of Flu vaccine in persons 65+

Latest period of 

availability

2015-16

2014-15

2014-15

Previous 

period of 

availability

Latest 

available 

period

71.5

82.9

70.2

71.5

73.4

71.4

London England
England 

Benchmark

Direction of 

Travel

79.5

79.2

88.0

-

significantly lower

-

69.2 72.7 similar

91.1%

91.4%

88.2%

 MMR2 at 5 years 

90.8%

68.4%

91.1% 84.2%

85.6%

81.6%

84.8%

85.3%

90.8% 85.5%

85.1%

86.9%

91.5%86.6%

87.8%

77.4%

84.7%

83.1%86.9%

62.1%

 D4 at 5 years 93.7%

85.5%

79.1% 86.7%

80.4% 88.2%

 Vaccine Target 2015-16 Q2 2015-16 Q3

91.3%85.9%

88.5% MMR1 at 2 years 

 Pneumococcal booster at 2 years 

2015-16 Q4

88.9% 93.2%

2016-17 Q1

89.3%90.5%

91.5%

 D3 at 1 year 91.9% 92.4%

London (2015-

16 Q4)

 Hib/Meningitis C booster at 2 years 90.3% 85.4% 87.2%

England (2015-16 

Q4)

• Increasing the uptake of immunisation is one of the priorities of the Be Healthy element of the Children and Young People’s Plan and has been identified as one of its 

priorities by the Lewisham Health and Wellbeing Board.

• Uptake of all four key childhood immunisations has improved. This is most marked for the substantial increase in Measles, Mumps and Rubella 2 at five years in the 

last quarter of 2015/16. This relates to extensive work undertaken by the Lewisham Immunisation Coordinator who identified a problem with vaccination data 

recording by GP practices. Over a period of several months many Lewisham GP practices were using the wrong READ codes to record MMR2 vaccination after 

migrating to Emis web. The Immunisation Coordinator has now corrected this problem. In addition, a GP registrar has been carrying out work with individual GP 

practices to ensure that children are invited for MMR1 and 2 vaccinations at the appropriate age. 

• The latest data for HPV vaccine uptake shows a decline on the previous year. Public Health and school nursing are developing an action plan for the 2016/17 

academic year to address the fall in HPV vaccine coverage and the challenge of protecting teenagers against a range of meningococcal diseases. This decline in 

uptake appears to relate to increasing numbers of parents withholding consent for their daughters to be vaccinated, as well as changes to the dosage schedule and 

delivery in schools.

• Uptake of flu vaccine in 2014/2015 was considerably better than in previous years. At the end January our uptake showed improvements for all the main groups 

targeted. This means that we were the most improved borough in London and safely put us in the top ten performers in the Capital.  Lewisham's performance 

improved most in relation to the uptake of flu vaccine in pregnant women in Lewisham: we ranked fourth in London and achieved an increase of 11% over last year’s 

Notes
• London and England data are for the quarter for which thie most recent data is available.

• Uptake of the third dose of Diphtheria vaccine (D3) is an indicator of completion of the primary course of immunisation of children under 12 months that aims to protect 

children against diphtheria, tetanus, whooping cough, polio, Haemophilus influenzae b and Group C Meningococcus.

• MMR aims to protect children against measles, mumps and rubella.  Two doses are required: MMR 1 at 12 months and MMR 2 at any time after three months have 

elapsed since MMR1, but before five years of age.

• Hib/ MenC and PCV boosters (bstr) are given at 12 months and aim to protect children against Haemophilus influenzae B, Group C Meningococcus and Pneumococcus.  

These are relatively new to the programme – hence the apparent rapid increase in uptake of these vaccines.

• D4 is the fourth dose of diphtheria vaccine.  This is a key component of the preschool booster, which should be given at any time from the age of three years and four 

months but before the child starts school.  The preschool booster completes the protection of children against diphtheria, tetanus, whooping cough and polio.  

Key Messages

Trends/Benchmarks

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2
0
1
3
-1

4
 Q

2

2
0
1
3
-1

4
 Q

3

2
0
1
3
-1

4
 Q

4

2
0
1
4
-1

5
 Q

1

2
0
1
4
-1

5
 Q

2

2
0
1
4
-1

5
 Q

3

2
0
1
4
-1

5
 Q

4

2
0
1
5
-1

6
 Q

1

2
0
1
5
-1

6
 Q

2

2
0
1
5
-1

6
 Q

3

2
0
1
5
-1

6
 Q

4

2
0
1
6
-1

7
 Q

1

Chart 1: % uptake of the Diphtheria (D3) vaccine at  1 year

England

Lewisham

London

Source: COVER

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2
0
1
3
-1

4
 Q

2

2
0
1
3
-1

4
 Q

3

2
0
1
3
-1

4
 Q

4

2
0
1
4
-1

5
 Q

1

2
0
1
4
-1

5
 Q

2

2
0
1
4
-1

5
 Q

3

2
0
1
4
-1

5
 Q

4

2
0
1
5
-1

6
 Q

1

2
0
1
5
-1

6
 Q

2

2
0
1
5
-1

6
 Q

3

2
0
1
5
-1

6
 Q

4

2
0
1
6
-1

7
 Q

1

Chart 2: % uptake of the Diphtheria booster (D4) at  5 years

England

Lewisham

London

Source: COVER

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2
0
1
3
-1

4
 Q

2

2
0
1
3
-1

4
 Q

3

2
0
1
3
-1

4
 Q

4

2
0
1
4
-1

5
 Q

1

2
0
1
4
-1

5
 Q

2

2
0
1
4
-1

5
 Q

3

2
0
1
4
-1

5
 Q

4

2
0
1
5
-1

6
 Q

1

2
0
1
5
-1

6
 Q

2

2
0
1
5
-1

6
 Q

3

2
0
1
5
-1

6
 Q

4

2
0
1
6
-1

7
 Q

1

Chart 3: % uptake of the Measles, Mumps and Rubella (MMR1)  
vaccine at  2 years

England

Lewisham

London

Source: COVER

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2
0
1
3
-1

4
 Q

2

2
0
1
3
-1

4
 Q

3

2
0
1
3
-1

4
 Q

4

2
0
1
4
-1

5
 Q

1

2
0
1
4
-1

5
 Q

2

2
0
1
4
-1

5
 Q

3

2
0
1
4
-1

5
 Q

4

2
0
1
5
-1

6
 Q

1

2
0
1
5
-1

6
 Q

2

2
0
1
5
-1

6
 Q

3

2
0
1
5
-1

6
 Q

4

2
0
1
6
-1

7
 Q

1
Chart 4: % uptake of the Measles, Mumps and Rubella (MMR2)  vaccine 

at  5 years

England

London

Lewisham

Source: COVER

Percentage Uptake of Key Vaccines in Childhood

Source: COVER Data (please see Notes)

Public Health Outcomes: Increase Uptake of Immunisation 

Health and Wellbeing Board Priority: Improving Immunisation Uptake



Neighbourhood 2 Neighbourhood 3

87.7%92.3%

Neighbourhood 1

94.5%

* This illustrates the relative performance of practices in ensuring children receive their first dose of MMR. It is based on the most recent and complete data

% uptake of MMR1 by Neighbourhood for babies born in 2013-14 Q4

(vaccination given Feb 2016). Comparison by GP Practice

87.5% 89.8%

LewishamNeighbourhood 4

83.5% 82.7% 81.0% 80.5% 79.7% 79.2% 79.2% 78.9% 77.3%
73.4% 73.3%

64.1%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

B
a
rk

in
g
 &

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

B
re

n
t

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

L
o
n
d
o
n

C
ro

y
d
o
n

L
a
m

b
e
th

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

W
a
lt
h
a
m

F
o
re

st

H
a
ck

n
e
y

%

Chart 7: Percentage of females aged 12-13 who have received all doses of the 
HPV vaccine. Lewisham compared with statistical comparators, 2014/15 

Source: PHE (https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics)

100% 100% 100% 97% 96% 90% 89% 89% 89% 86% 83% 77% 0% 97% 97% 93% 92% 91% 89% 88% 85% 84% 80% 79% 74% 100% 100% 100% 100% 96% 94% 89% 85% 100% 93% 90% 88% 84% 82% 81%

Lewisham
Herd Immunity

13

23

13

32

25

10

19 18

35

14

6

13

0

39

31

14

39

22
19

73

48

25
20 19

34

3

22

30

9

50

16 18

34

18

44

61

17

51

62

26

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

D
R
 S

 S
H

R
I-

K
R
IS

H
N

A

G
R
O

V
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

D
R
 M

O
G

 S
A
R
D

E
R

D
R
 B

K
 B

A
T
R
A

Q
R
P
 S

U
R
G

E
R
Y

K
IN

G
F
IS

H
E
R
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

N
E
W

 C
R
O

S
S
 H

C

D
R
 R

 B
E
R
M

A
N

A
M

E
R
S
H

A
M

 V
A
L
E

D
E
P
T
F
O

R
D

 S
U

R
G

E
R
Y

L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

 G
P
 L

E
D

C
L
IF

T
O

N
 R

IS
E
 F

P

N
IG

H
T
IN

G
A
L
E

W
O

O
D

L
A
N

D
S
 H

C

L
E
E
 R

O
A
D

 S
U

R
G

E
R
Y

B
E
L
M

O
N

T
 H

IL
L

H
IL

L
Y
 F

IE
L
D

S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

M
O

R
D

E
N

 H
IL

L

T
R
IA

N
G

L
E
 G

R
O

U
P

S
T
 J

O
H

N
S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

R
U

S
H

E
Y
 G

R
E
E
N

L
E
E
 H

IG
H

 R
O

A
D

T
H

E
 B

R
O

C
K
L
E
Y

B
U

R
N

T
 A

S
H

H
O

N
O

R
 O

A
K
 G

R
P

W
IN

L
A
T
O

N

D
O

W
N

H
A
M

 C
L
IN

IC

T
O

R
R
ID

O
N

 R
O

A
D

P
A
R
K
V
IE

W

S
O

U
T
H

 L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

O
A
K
V
IE

W
 F

P

B
A
R
IN

G
 R

O
A
D

 M
E
D

 C
T
R

IC
O

 H
E
A
L
T
H

 G
R
P

W
O

O
L
S
T
O

N
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

D
R
 J

 I
S
R
A
E
L

T
H

E
 J

E
N

N
E
R

D
R
 P

G
V
 M

O
R
A
N

T

S
Y
D

E
N

H
A
M

 G
R
E
E
N

W
E
L
L
S
 P

A
R
K

B
E
L
L
IN

G
H

A
M

 G
R
E
E
N

Neighbourhood 1 Neighbourhood 2 Neighbourhood 3 Neighbourhood 4

%

Chart 5: % uptake of MMR1 by Neighbourhood for babies born in 2013-14 Q4
(vaccination given Feb 2016). Comparison by GP Practice

n    = number of children in this cohort registered with this practice
x

100% 89% 87% 86% 85% 82% 78% 78% 76% 71% 70% 50% 97% 88% 86% 86% 83% 83% 83% 82% 80% 79% 78% 77% 70% 90% 89% 88% 86% 78% 71% 64% 58% 86% 84% 79% 78% 76% 70% 57%

Lewisham, 81%

Herd immunity, 91%

11

28

15

37

13
17

9 9

17

28

10 10

33

41

35

21
18

53

23

51

25

14

36

22

53 52

9

16

7

37

28
25 24

42

31

39

18 17

60 58

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

 G
P
 L

E
D

Q
R
P
 S

U
R
G

E
R
Y

C
L
IF

T
O

N
 R

IS
E
 F

P

A
M

E
R
S
H

A
M

 V
A
L
E

K
IN

G
F
IS

H
E
R
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

D
R
 S

 S
H

R
I-

K
R
IS

H
N

A

V
E
S
T
A
 R

O
A
D

D
E
P
T
F
O

R
D

 S
U

R
G

E
R
Y

W
A
L
D

R
O

N
 H

C

G
R
O

V
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

D
R
 M

O
G

 S
A
R
D

E
R

N
E
W

 C
R
O

S
S
 H

C

N
IG

H
T
IN

G
A
L
E

L
E
E
 R

O
A
D

 S
U

R
G

E
R
Y

H
O

N
O

R
 O

A
K
 G

R
P

T
R
IA

N
G

L
E
 G

R
O

U
P

B
E
L
M

O
N

T
 H

IL
L

R
U

S
H

E
Y
 G

R
E
E
N

M
O

R
D

E
N

 H
IL

L

H
IL

L
Y
 F

IE
L
D

S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

W
O

O
D

L
A
N

D
S
 H

C

T
H

E
 B

R
O

C
K
L
E
Y

L
E
E
 H

IG
H

 R
O

A
D

B
U

R
N

T
 A

S
H

S
T
 J

O
H

N
S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

S
O

U
T
H

 L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

P
A
R
K
V
IE

W

O
A
K
V
IE

W
 F

P

W
IN

L
A
T
O

N

T
O

R
R
ID

O
N

 R
O

A
D

IC
O

 H
E
A
L
T
H

 G
R
P

B
A
R
IN

G
 R

O
A
D

 M
E
D

 C
T
R

D
O

W
N

H
A
M

 C
L
IN

IC

W
E
L
L
S
 P

A
R
K

B
E
L
L
IN

G
H

A
M

 G
R
E
E
N

D
R
 J

 I
S
R
A
E
L

W
O

O
L
S
T
O

N
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

D
R
 P

G
V
 M

O
R
A
N

T

T
H

E
 J

E
N

N
E
R

S
Y
D

E
N

H
A
M

 G
R
E
E
N

Neighbourhood 1 Neighbourhood 2 Neighbourhood 3 Neighbourhood 4

%

n    = number of children in this cohort registered with this practice
x

Chart 6: Pre-School Booster uptake % by Lewisham GP Practice for children aged 5.
Comparison by Lewisham GP Practice, 2015/16 Q4

Source: WILMA

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2
0
0
8
-0

9

2
0
0
9
-1

0

2
0
1
0
-1

1

2
0
1
1
-1

2

2
0
1
2
/1

3

2
0
1
3
/1

4

2
0
1
4
/1

5

%

Chart 8: Percentage of females aged 12-13 who have received all 

doses of the HPV vaccine. Lewisham compared with London and 
England

England

Lewisham

London

Source: www.phoutcomes.info

Supporting Information

Source: Lewisham Healthcare NHS Trust

Public Health Outcomes: Increase Uptake of Immunisation



7
7
%

7
2
%

6
9
%

6
8
%

6
6
%

6
6
%

6
3
%

6
3
%

6
2
%

6
1
%

6
1
%

5
4
%

8
2
%

7
5
%

7
5
%

7
3
%

7
1
%

7
1
%

7
0
%

7
0
%

6
6
%

6
6
%

6
6
%

6
4
%

5
5
%

7
9
%

7
6
%

7
6
%

7
5
%

7
2
%

7
2
%

6
7
%

6
6
%

7
2
%

7
2
%

7
0
%

6
9
%

6
8
%

6
7
%

6
3
%

Target, 75%
Lewisham, 69%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

D
E
P
T
F
O

R
D

G
R
O

V
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

A
M

E
R
S
H

A
M

 V
A
LE

N
E
W

 C
R
O

S
S

L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

 G
P
 L

E
D

D
R
 M

O
G

 S
A
R
D

E
R

T
H

E
 Q

R
P
 S

U
R
G

E
R
Y

C
L
IF

T
O

N
 R

IS
E

D
R
 S

 S
H

R
I-

K
R
IS

H
N

A

D
R
 R

 B
E
R
M

A
N

D
R
 B

K
 B

A
T
R
A

D
R
 A

K
 J

A
IN

N
IG

H
T
IN

G
A
L
E

D
R
 B

B
 S

H
A
H

S

D
R
 N

O
 U

D
U

K
U

S
T
 J

O
H

N
S

T
R
IA

N
G

L
E
 G

P

D
R
 R

A
 L

U
M

B

D
R
 I

R
J 

M
A
C
D

O
N

A
G

H

B
E
L
M

O
N

T
 H

IL
L

R
U

S
H

E
Y
 G

R
E
E
N

B
R
O

C
K
L
E
Y

M
O

R
D

E
N

 H
IL

L

H
IL

L
Y
 F

IE
LD

S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

H
O

N
O

R
 O

A
K

A
T
 P

A
R
K
V
IE

W

S
O

U
T
H

 L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

W
IN

L
A
T
O

N
 S

U
R
G

E
R
Y

O
A
K
V
IE

W

B
A
R
IN

G
 R

O
A
D

D
R
 Y

D
 M

A
L
IK

T
H

E
 D

O
W

N
H

A
M

 C
L
IN

IC

T
O

R
R
ID

O
N

 R
O

A
D

D
R
 P

G
V
 M

O
R
A
N

T

B
E
L
L
IN

G
H

A
M

 G
R
E
E
N

W
O

O
L
S
T
O

N
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

S
Y
D

E
N

H
A
M

 G
R
E
E
N

D
R
 J

 I
S
R
A
E
L

D
R
 R

M
 R

O
W

L
A
N

D

W
E
LL

S
 P

A
R
K

Neighbourhood 1 Neighbourhood 2 Neighbourhood 3 Neighbourhood 4

%

Chart 9: Flu vaccine monthly uptake percentage for Lewisham patients 65 and over by GP Practice, 31/01/2016

Source: www.immform.dh.gov.uk

6
8
.0

%

6
3
.0

%

6
2
.0

%

6
1
.0

%

5
7
.0

%

5
5
.0

%

5
0
.0

%

5
0
.0

%

4
9
.0

%

4
7
.0

%

4
7
.0

%

3
9
.0

%

5
7
.0

%

5
6
.0

%

5
4
.0

%

5
4
.0

%

5
4
.0

%

5
1
.0

%

4
8
.0

%

4
8
.0

%

4
6
.0

%

4
5
.0

%

4
4
.0

%

4
3
.0

%

3
5
.0

%

7
5
.0

%

6
1
.0

%

5
8
.0

%

5
2
.0

%

5
0
.0

%

4
8
.0

%

4
3
.0

%

3
1
.0

% 5
4
.0

%

5
2
.0

%

5
0
.0

%

4
7
.0

%

4
6
.0

%

4
6
.0

%

4
3
.0

%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

D
R
 M

O
G

 S
A
R
D

E
R

C
L
IF

T
O

N
 R

IS
E

A
M

E
R
S
H

A
M

 V
A
LE

D
R
 B

K
 B

A
T
R
A

D
R
 S

 S
H

R
I-

K
R
IS

H
N

A

D
R
 R

 B
E
R
M

A
N

D
E
P
T
F
O

R
D

D
R
 A

K
 J

A
IN

G
R
O

V
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

T
H

E
 Q

R
P
 S

U
R
G

E
R
Y

N
E
W

 C
R
O

S
S

L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

 G
P
 L

E
D

T
R
IA

N
G

L
E
 G

P

D
R
 N

O
 U

D
U

K
U

N
IG

H
T
IN

G
A
L
E

H
O

N
O

R
 O

A
K

B
E
L
M

O
N

T
 H

IL
L

D
R
 I

R
J 

M
A
C
D

O
N

A
G

H

M
O

R
D

E
N

 H
IL

L

D
R
 R

A
 L

U
M

B

D
R
 B

B
 S

H
A
H

S

H
IL

L
Y
 F

IE
LD

S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

B
R
O

C
K
L
E
Y

R
U

S
H

E
Y
 G

R
E
E
N

S
T
 J

O
H

N
S

W
IN

L
A
T
O

N
 S

U
R
G

E
R
Y

A
T
 P

A
R
K
V
IE

W

S
O

U
T
H

 L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

T
H

E
 D

O
W

N
H

A
M

 C
L
IN

IC

O
A
K
V
IE

W

D
R
 Y

D
 M

A
L
IK

T
O

R
R
ID

O
N

 R
O

A
D

B
A
R
IN

G
 R

O
A
D

D
R
 P

G
V
 M

O
R
A
N

T

B
E
L
L
IN

G
H

A
M

 G
R
E
E
N

D
R
 J

 I
S
R
A
E
L

W
E
LL

S
 P

A
R
K

W
O

O
L
S
T
O

N
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

S
Y
D

E
N

H
A
M

 G
R
E
E
N

D
R
 R

M
 R

O
W

L
A
N

D

Neighbourhood 1 Neighbourhood 2 Neighbourhood 3 Neighbourhood 4

%

Chart 10: Flu vaccine monthly uptake percentage for Lewisham patients under 65 (at-risk only) by GP Practice, 31/01/2016

Source: www.immform.dh.gov.uk

5
7
.0

%

5
7
.0

%

5
5
.0

%

5
3
.0

%

5
3
.0

%

5
0
.0

%

5
0
.0

%

4
7
.0

%

4
6
.0

%

4
3
.0

%

3
9
.0

%

3
6
.0

% 6
2
.0

%

5
2
.0

%

5
0
.0

%

4
9
.0

%

4
7
.0

%

4
3
.0

%

4
0
.0

%

4
0
.0

%

3
9
.0

%

3
8
.0

%

3
6
.0

%

3
5
.0

%

2
4
.0

%

6
2
.0

%

5
7
.0

%

5
0
.0

%

4
9
.0

%

4
7
.0

%

4
4
.0

%

4
4
.0

%

3
8
.0

%

4
4
.0

%

4
4
.0

%

4
3
.0

%

4
0
.0

%

3
5
.0

%

2
5
.0

%

2
3
.0

%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

D
R
 M

O
G

 S
A
R
D

E
R

A
M

E
R
S
H

A
M

 V
A
L
E

D
R
 A

K
 J

A
IN

C
L
IF

T
O

N
 R

IS
E

D
R
 B

K
 B

A
T
R
A

D
R
 R

 B
E
R
M

A
N

N
E
W

 C
R
O

S
S

T
H

E
 Q

R
P
 S

U
R
G

E
R
Y

G
R
O

V
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

D
R
 S

 S
H

R
I-

K
R
IS

H
N

A

L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

 G
P
 L

E
D

D
E
P
T
F
O

R
D

D
R
 N

O
 U

D
U

K
U

B
R
O

C
K
L
E
Y

H
O

N
O

R
 O

A
K

H
IL

L
Y
 F

IE
L
D

S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

B
E
L
M

O
N

T
 H

IL
L

R
U

S
H

E
Y
 G

R
E
E
N

M
O

R
D

E
N

 H
IL

L

T
R
IA

N
G

L
E
 G

P

S
T
 J

O
H

N
S

D
R
 B

B
 S

H
A
H

S

D
R
 R

A
 L

U
M

B

N
IG

H
T
IN

G
A
L
E

D
R
 I

R
J 

M
A
C
D

O
N

A
G

H

D
R
 Y

D
 M

A
L
IK

W
IN

L
A
T
O

N
 S

U
R
G

E
R
Y

T
O

R
R
ID

O
N

 R
O

A
D

A
T
 P

A
R
K
V
IE

W

T
H

E
 D

O
W

N
H

A
M

 C
L
IN

IC

O
A
K
V
IE

W

B
A
R
IN

G
 R

O
A
D

S
O

U
T
H

 L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

D
R
 J

 I
S
R
A
E
L

B
E
L
L
IN

G
H

A
M

 G
R
E
E
N

D
R
 R

M
 R

O
W

L
A
N

D

S
Y
D

E
N

H
A
M

 G
R
E
E
N

W
O

O
L
S
T
O

N
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

W
E
L
L
S
 P

A
R
K

D
R
 P

G
V
 M

O
R
A
N

T

Neighbourhood 1 Neighbourhood 2 Neighbourhood 3 Neighbourhood 4

%

Chart 11: Flu vaccine monthly uptake percentage for all pregnant women in Lewisham by GP Practice, 31/01/2016

Source: www.immform.dh.gov.uk

7
0
.4

%

6
9

.0
%

6
8
.4

%

6
7
.4

%

6
7
.3

%

6
6
.9

%

6
6
.2

%

6
6
.1

%

6
3
.9

%

6
3
.7

%

6
3
.5

%

London

England
(2014/15)

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

W
a
lt
h
a
m

F
o
re

st

B
re

n
t

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

B
a
rk

in
g
 &

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

C
it
y
 &

H
a
ck

n
e
y

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

L
a
m

b
e
th

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

C
ro

y
d
o
n

%

Chart 12: Flu vaccine monthly uptake in patients 65 and 
over. Lewisham compared to its similar CCGs, 31/01/2016

Source: www.immform.dh.gov.uk

4
9
.3

%

4
7
.3

%

4
6
.1

%

4
4
.8

%

4
4
.8

%

4
4

.3
%

4
3
.4

%

4
2
.6

%

4
2
.1

%

4
1
.3

%

4
1
.1

%

London

England
(2014/15)

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

B
re

n
t

B
a
rk

in
g
 &

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

C
it
y
 &

H
a
ck

n
e
y

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

C
ro

y
d
o
n

L
a
m

b
e
th

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

W
a
lt
h
a
m

F
o
re

st

%

Chart 13: Flu vaccine monthly uptake in patients under 
65 (at risk only). Lewisham compared to its similar 

CCGs, 31/01/2016

Source: www.immform.dh.gov.uk

4
3

.6
%

4
3
.5

%

4
2
.8

%

4
0
.8

%

3
8
.9

%

3
7
.8

%

3
6
.9

%

3
6
.2

%

3
4
.8

%

3
3
.3

%

3
1
.3

%

London

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

B
a
rk

in
g
 &

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

C
ro

y
d
o
n

L
a
m

b
e
th

B
re

n
t

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

W
a
lt
h
a
m

F
o
re

st

C
it
y
 &

H
a
ck

n
e
y

%

Chart 14: Flu vaccine monthly uptake in all pregnant 
women. Lewisham compared to its similar CCGs, 

31/01/2016

Source: www.immform.dh.gov.uk

Influenza Vaccination

Achievements

Public Health Outcomes: Increase Uptake of Immunisation

• Signifcant improvement in recording of Measles, Mumps and Rubella 2 at age five, resulting in dramtically improved performance in Quarter 4 of 2015/16.
• Flu vaccination has also been an area of notable improvement.

58.1%
53.7% 52.5%

40.8% 40.3% 38.6%
31.4%

10.9%

Target, 75%

London, 41.3%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Guy's and St

Thomas'

St Georges Croydon King's Lewisham &

Greenwich

S.W. London &

St George's

Oxleas SLAM

%

Chart 15: Flu vaccine uptake for healthcare workers by selected healthcare trust, 2015-16

Source: PHE (https://www.gov.uk)



                                                 

-

Indicator

Low Birth Weight of all babies (%)

Excess Weight in Reception (%)

Excess Weight in Year 6 (%)

Maternal Excess Weight (%)

Breastfeeding Prevalance 6-8 weeks 

(%)

Smoking Status at Time of Delivery (%)

Direction of Travel

2014

2014-15

2014-15

2015-16

7.8%

23.7%

38.9%

45.8%

Latest period of 

Availability Lewisham London England
Previous Period 

of Availability

2015-16

2015-16

7.8%

24.6%

39.3%

42.0%

73.9%

4.9%

England 

Benchmark

76.3%

4.6%

7.7%

22.2%

similar

sig high

sig high

-

sig high

sig lower

37.2%

-

4.8%

7.4%

21.9%

33.2%

-

43.8%

11.4%

Pregnancy
• Early access to maternity care is a national key performance indicator with a national target of 90% (women booked for maternity care by 13 weeks of pregnancy). Lewisham borough rate is 

92.7% but UHL is 86.1%. This latter figure is an improvement, likley to be due to the audit carried out which pinpointed system and process improvements.
• Maternal obesity increases the risk of poor pregnancy outcomes and is a risk factor for childhood obesity. The Lewisham proportion for excess weight has increased, however is still below levels 

seen between 2010 and 2012. This has also been the subject of a CQUIN in 2015-16.

Birth
• The rate of low birthweight in Lewisham has declined significantly over the past eight years and has now stablised to be comparable to London as a whole. Despite this the Lewisham rate of low 

birthweight is still significantly greater than the country as a whole. Maternal smoking is the single biggest contributor to low birthweight. Also, a significant proportion of low birthweight babies 
are pre-term. Premature births remain higher in Lewisham than in both England and London. Extreme prematurity is the single most important cause of mortality in childhood in Lewisham.

Antenatal and Newborn Screening
• Assurance systems for the antenatal and newborn screening programme were reviewed in 2015 following discussions with NHSE and PHE. UHL is meeting most screening KPIs with the exception 

of newborn bloodspot avoidable repeats, referral of Hepatitis B positive women to specialist services and timely testing of partners when women are found to be of sickle cell disease carrier 
status. However, a verbal report from the Antenatal and Newborn screening co-ordinator suggest a significant improvement in the Hepatitis B KPI indicating that in Q4 2015/16, 100% of women 
referred were seen by a GastroEnterologist within 6 weeks of results being available. This data is still to be confirmed by PHE.

Mortality
• In the past, perinatal mortality and in particular stillbirth rates, have been significantly higher in Lewisham than in England and London as a whole. Most recent data suggests that local infant and 

child mortality rates are now similar to the England average. Continued scrutiny of these important indicators of maternal and child health is necessary.

Promoting a Healthy Weight
• Breastfeeding initiation continues to remain consistenly above 85% for the most recent data available but had risen to 79.7% at 6-8 weeks in Quarter 3 of 2015/16. These rates continue to out 

perform both London and England. 
• Actions to increase breastfeeding rates include working towards UNICEF Baby Friendly accreditation in the borough.  The community and hospital achieved stage two accreditation in 2014 and 

are jointly working towards achieving stage 3 by Autumn 2016. Children's centres are supporting the assessment by  working closely with health visitors and maternity services in supporting 
mothers to breastfeed.

• Childhood obesity: Rates remain significantly higher than the England rate and for 2014/15 Lewisham falls within the top quintile (highest) of Local Authority obesity prevalence rates for 
Reception and Year 6. As in previous years the proportion of obese children in Year 6 was more than double that of Reception year children, similar to the national results. Actions to address this 
problem include building the local capabilities of the workforce though training on a variety of topics to promote healthy weight, provision of targeted and specialist weight management services 
accessible in community venues and the development of a ‘Health in Lewisham’ webpage on the council website to provide information and advice to support families achieve a healthy lifestyle.

Injury
Locally, the rate of admission of children to hospital due to injury of any kind has increased over recent years and rose again in 2014/15.  This rise is counter to the nation decline in such 
admissions.  The numbers of deaths and serious injuries of Lewisham children on the roads, on the other hand, has declined in recent years and is now directly comparable to rates in London and 
in England as a whole.  The rise in admissions, therefore requires further investigation.

Key Messages

Trends/Benchmarks

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

2
0
0
4

2
0
0
5

2
0
0
6

2
0
0
7

2
0
0
8

2
0
0
9

2
0
1
0

2
0
1
1

2
0
1
2

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

2
0
1
5

No.

Chart 1: Live births in Lewisham 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2
0
1
2
-1

3
 Q

2

2
0
1
2
-1

3
 Q

3

2
0
1
2
-1

3
 Q

4

2
0
1
3
-1

4
 Q

1

2
0
1
3
-1

4
 Q

2

2
0
1
3
-1

4
 Q

3

2
0
1
3
-1

4
 Q

4

2
0
1
4
-1

5
 Q

1

2
0
1
4
/1

5
 Q

2

2
0
1
4
/1

5
 Q

3

2
0
1
4
/1

5
 Q

4

2
0
1
5
/1

6
 Q

1

2
0
1
5
/1

6
 Q

2

2
0
1
5
/1

6
 Q

3

2
0
1
5
/1

6
 Q

4

Chart 3: Smoking status at time of delivery (SATOD) & breastfeeding initiation 
and prevalence

Breastfeeding
initiation

Breastfeeding
prevalence at 6-8
weeks

Did not meet
validation criteria

SATOD

Source: HSCIC

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

2
0
0
4

2
0
0
5

2
0
0
6

2
0
0
7

2
0
0
8

2
0
0
9

2
0
1
0

2
0
1
1

2
0
1
2

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

Chart 2: Low birthweight births in Lewisham 

Lewisham

London

England

Source: HSCIC

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

2
0
0
3
-0

5

2
0
0
4
-0

6

2
0
0
5
-0

7

2
0
0
6
-0

8

2
0
0
7
-0

9

2
0
0
8
-1

0

2
0
0
9
-1

1

2
0
1
0
-1

2

2
0
1
1
-1

3

2
0
1
2
-1

4

Rate/
1000

Chart 4: Stillbirth rate/1000 total births. Lewisham compared with London and 
England

Lewisham

London

England

Source: HSCIC 

Source: ONS

   Public Health Outcomes: Maternal & Child Health 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

2
0
0
6
/0

8

2
0
0
7
/0

9

2
0
0
8
/1

0

2
0
0
9
/1

1

2
0
1
0
/1

2

2
0
1
1
/1

3

2
0
1
2
/1

4

Rate
/1000

Chart 5: Premature (gestational age < 37 weeks) live birth and still birth 
rate/1000 live births and stillbirths. Lewisham compared with London and 

England.

Lewisham

London

England

Source: http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-profiles

28.4% 27.7% 27.6% 27.6% 26.0% 25.1% 24.4% 23.3% 21.8% 21.8% 21.0% 18.6% 18.6%
0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

B
a
rk

in
g
 &

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

H
a
ck

n
e
y

L
a
m

b
e
th

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

W
a
lt
h
a
m

 F
o
re

st

L
o
n
d
o
n

C
ro

y
d
o
n

B
re

n
t

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

E
n
g
la

n
d

%

Chart 6: % of children under 16 in poverty, 2013

Source: www.phoutcomes.info/HM Revenue & Customs

Health and Wellbeing Board Performance Metrics



* Data did not meet validation criteria

Uptake is 20% for the whole year

N=691

2014/15

2012/14

N=398

Uptake is 8% for the whole year

2014/15

9.1% 2014/15

18.6%

19.1%

12.0

216.1

Low birth-weight births

NBBS Coverage by 17/7 (NB1)

Breastfeeding Initiation

Breastfeeding Prevalence at 6-8 weeks

Uptake of healthy start vitamin D - Children registered

Hospital admissions caused by unintentional and 

deliberate injuries in children aged 0-14 years. 

Rate/10,000

Childhood poverty <16 years

Maternal Smoking Status At Time Of Delivery

77%

95%

2%

89.3%

NBBS-coverage (NB4) - data to follow

Childhood obesity - Year 6

Uptake of healthy start vitamin D - Mothers registered

Childhood obesity - Reception

Hospital admissions for asthma (under 19 years). 

Rate/100,000

Childhood admissions from dental decay

4.5

Bookings>12+6

Stillbirth Rate/1000

Neonatal Mortality Rate/1000

3.6 4.0

90%

5.5

Number of Births (all births)

3.0

Infant Mortality Rate/1000

Premature (gestational age < 37 weeks) live birth 

rate/1000 live births and stillbirths

10.6%

43.7%

2014

4.9%

85.5%

2015/16 Q4

2015

2014/15 Q3

2012-14

2012-14

2012-14

2012-14

2015/16

2015/16 Q1

2015/16 Q4 * indicates data did not meet validation criteria

130,261

96.2%

2.5

5.2

92.7%

7.4%

5.3

7.7%

4.7

3.1

102.1%

4.7

73.8%

73.2%

5%

97.8%

* 47.6%

97.4% 96.2%

2015/16 Q3

2015/16 Q4

1080

2014/15109.6

2015/16 Q4

1172

26.0%

12.0

263.4

10.6

21.8%

Child mortality 1-17 years DSR/100,000

2013

12.2% 11.0%

7.2% 7.8%

86.5%

24.2%24.0% 22.6%

83.3

10.1%

113.7

87.7

4.5%5.4%

4843

CommentLewisham EnglandLondon Period Measure Goal

2.8

667,351

77.6077.5

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

2
0
0
1
-2

0
0
3

2
0
0
2
-2

0
0
4

2
0
0
3
-2

0
0
5

2
0
0
4
-2

0
0
6

2
0
0
5
-2

0
0
7

2
0
0
6
-2

0
0
8

2
0
0
7
-2

0
0
9

2
0
0
8
-2

0
1
0

2
0
0
9
-2

0
1
1

2
0
1
0
-2

0
1
2

2
0
1
1
-2

0
1
3

2
0
1
2
-2

0
1
4

Rate/
1000

Chart 7: Infant mortality rate /1000. Lewisham compared with London and 
England

Lewisham

London

England

Source:  www.phoutcomes.info / https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/webview/,  Indicator type: PHOF  

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

2
0
1
0
/1

1

2
0
1
1
/1

2

2
0
1
2
/1

3

2
0
1
3
/1

4

2
0
1
4
/1

5

Rate/
10,000

Chart 8: Hospital admissions caused by unintentional and deliberate injuries in 
children (ICD 10: S00-T79 and/or V01-Y36) aged 0-14 years. Rate/10,000

Lewisham

England

London

Source:  www.phoutcomes.info,  Indicator type: PHOF  

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

2
0
0
6
-0

7

2
0
0
7
-0

8

2
0
0
8
-0

9

2
0
0
9
-1

0

2
0
1
0
-1

1

2
0
1
1
-1

2

2
0
1
2
-1

3

2
0
1
3
-1

4

2
0
1
4
-1

5
Chart 9: % of children in reception and year 6 who are obese. Lewisham 

compared with London and England

Lewisham - year 6

London - year 6

England - year 6

Lewisham - reception

London - reception

England - reception

Source:  http://www.hscic.gov.uk/ncmp

Population Data

Public Health Outcomes: Maternal & Child Health 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

2
0
0
2

2
0
0
3

2
0
0
4

2
0
0
5

2
0
0
6

2
0
0
7

2
0
0
8

2
0
0
9

2
0
1
0

2
0
1
1

2
0
1
2

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

Rate/
1000

Chart 10: Under 18 conception rate: annual trends (rate/1000 females aged 
15-17)

Lambeth

Lewisham

Southwark

England

London

Source:  http://www.ons.gov.uk



<24%

3% 2013/14

15.1%

2015/16 Q3

99.8%

Mar/2015

Mar/2015

Mar/2015

CommentPeriod

Mar/2015

Previous 

Data

83.4%

347

Red flag? 

(Y/N)

 Obese mothers 16.1% 2015-16

2015/16 Q4

 Antenatal Hep B Referral in 6/52 

 Breastfeeding initiation 

 Stillbirths >= 24 weeks (number) 

 Total C/S rate (planned and unscheduled) 

2015-16

Mar/2016

 Preterm births 

28.2%

 Public Health Indicators 

2.0%

2014-15

Mar/2015

N

 Screening 

 Morbidly obese mothers 2.2%

 Antenatal (AN) Sickle cell and Thalassaemia 

(SCT) coverage (ST1) 
95%

90% 99.9%

 Down's Syndrome Form Complete (FA1) 97%

 Antenatal HIV testing coverage (ID1) 

70%

 Avoidable Repeat NB Blood Spot (NB2) 2% 2.7% 1.4%Y 2015/16 Q32015/16 Q4

N2015/16 Q499.9% 100.0%

2015/16 Q3

2015/16 Q3

2014-15

99.3%

85.7%

99.3%N2015/16 Q4

4.3%

2014-15

2015/16 Q3

Mar/2015

0

 Smoking status at time of delivery 

 Overweight mothers 27.5%

N

5% 3.8% Mar/2016

86.4% 86.5%

24.9%2015-16

Mar/20161 1

95%

Y

12%

27.7%

2013/14

N

N

Mar/2016

N

N

86.1%

339 Mar/2016

 < 37 weeks 

 < 32 weeks 

Period Measure 
Most recent 

data
Goal

 Activity 

 % Bookings > 12+6 Mar/2016

 Number of births per month (maternities) 350

90%

Y

Lewisham Healthcare (Trust) Data

Achievements

• Breastfeeding rates remain significantly higher than England.
• Smoking status at time of delivery has fallen again and continues to be lower than London and signicantly below England.
• A research study, supported by Public Health and South London CLAHRC is due to start this year at Lewisham University Hospital to look at the impact of providing a continuity of carer model of 
care on pre-term birth rates in women with risk factors. Pauline Cross, Public Health Consultant Midwife is on the steering group for this research and has also run a series of service-user events 
for parents of pre-term babies to ensure the whole pathway for this group is improved.
• Pauline Cross and Gwenda Scott, Public Health Strategist wrote an obesity CQUIN for LGT in 2015/16  in collaboration with CCG colleagues, which has resulted in the introduction of a new 
pathway for pregnant women with excess weight. They have also supported LGT in designing an evaluation process to measure the outcomes of this pathway and service-user satisfaction.

Public Health Outcomes: Maternal & Child Health 



England 

Benchmark

sig high

sig lower

-

-

Indicator

Prevalence of serious mental illness (%)

Prevalence of Depression (%)

Improving Access to Physiological Therapies referrals entering treatment (%)  

Proportion of those accessing IAPT who moved to recovery (%)

England

0.88

7.30

-

-

6.40

6.9

35.0

Latest period of 

availability

5.33

-

-

1.07

London
Direction of 

Travel

-

-

2014-15

2014-15

2014-15

2014-15

Lewisham

1.28

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

2
0
0
1
-0

3

2
0
0
2
-0

4

2
0
0
3
-0

5

2
0
0
4
-0

6

2
0
0
5
-0

7

2
0
0
6
-0

8

2
0
0
7
-0

9

2
0
0
8
-1

0

2
0
0
9
-1

1

2
0
1
0
-1

2

2
0
1
1
-1

3

2
0
1
2
-1

4

DSR

Chart 6: Mortality from suicide for persons of all ages. Directly age-
standardised rates per 100,000 population. Lewisham compared with 

London and England

England

London

Lewisham

Source:  www.phoutcomes.info/

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

2
0
1
3
/1

4
 Q

1

2
0
1
3
/1

4
 Q

2

2
0
1
3
/1

4
 Q

3

2
0
1
3
/1

4
 Q

4

2
0
1
4
/1

5
 Q

1

2
0
1
4
/1

5
 Q

2

2
0
1
4
/1

5
 Q

3

2
0
1
4
/1

5
 Q

4

2
0
1
5
/1

6
 Q

1

2
0
1
5
/1

6
 Q

2

2
0
1
5
/1

6
 Q

3

No.

Chart 1: A&E psychiatric attendances at Lewisham Hospital

Source:  South London & Mausley NHS Trust (SLAM)

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

S
e
p
-1

4

O
ct

-1
4

N
o
v
-1

4

D
e
c-

1
4

Ja
n
-1

5

F
e
b
-1

5

M
a
r-

1
5

A
p
r-

1
5

M
a
y
-1

5

Ju
n
-1

5

Ju
l-
1
5

A
u
g
-1

5

S
e
p
-1

5

O
ct

-1
5

N
o
v
-1

5

D
e
c-

1
5

Ja
n
-1

6

F
e
b
-1

6

M
a
r-

1
6

No.

Chart 5: Number of Lewisham patients on Care Programme Approach (CPA)

Lewisham

Lambeth

Southwark

Source:  MHLDS (http://www.hscic.gov.uk/)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

2
0
1
3
/1

4
 Q

1

2
0
1
3
/1

4
 Q

2

2
0
1
3
/1

4
 Q

3

2
0
1
3
/1

4
 Q

4

2
0
1
4
/1

5
 Q

1

2
0
1
4
/1

5
 Q

2

2
0
1
4
/1

5
 Q

3

2
0
1
4
/1

5
 Q

4

2
0
1
5
/1

6
 Q

1

2
0
1
5
/1

6
 Q

2

2
0
1
5
/1

6
 Q

3

No.

Chart 2: Number of Lewisham patients detained under the Mental Health Act 
(Data for 2015/16 Q4 not yet finalised)

Lambeth

Lewisham

Southwark

Source:  MHLDS (http://www.hscic.gov.uk/mhldsreports)

Public Health Outcomes: Mental Health

Adult Mental Health

Key Messages

• There are higher rates of mental illness in Lewisham compared to London and England as a whole, although they are similar to those of our neighbouring boroughs.  

As a result there are high levels of service usage and spending on mental health in the borough.

• The adult community mental health teams were reorganised into a new structure which aims to support recovery, prevent relapse and crisis and enable service users 

where appropriate to step down from specialist mental health care to primary care.  

Health and Wellbeing Board Performance Metrics - Improving Mental Health and Wellbeing

Activity Performance

The number of A&E Psychiatric attendances has increased in Quarter 3 of 2015/16. (Chart 1) We are awaiting data for Quarter 4.

There is also a general upwards trend for the number of patients detained under the Mental Health Act, which is broadly witnessed in Lambeth and Southwark (Chart 2).

The 3 year average (2012-14) directly age-standardised rate for suicide per 100,000 population was 7.6, compared to 7.8 in London and 10.0 in England. (Chart 6)

New three year rolling averages have been released by ONS on Wellbeing, Lewisham residents are more likely to have a high anxiety score than both London and England.

(Chart 4)

Lewisham has consistently had a higher rate of people on a Care Programme Approach (CPA), compared to Lambeth and Southwark. (Chart 5)

Trends/Benchmarks

Commentary

Suicide rates have seen the first rolling three year average decrease since 2006-08. The actual numbers of deaths remain small but the Lewisham figure is not 

significantly lower than England.

Older Adults Mental Health

15.6%

17.2%

19.8%

20.1%

20.2%

20.6%

20.7%

20.9%

21.1%

23.3%

23.3%

24.6%

25.1%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35%

Brent

Waltham…

Wandsworth

England

Haringey

Barking &…

Croydon

London

Southwark

Lewisham

Lambeth

Hackney

Greenwich

Chart 4: Self-reported well-being: people with a high anxiety score. 
Lewisham compared with its similar CCGs, London and England, 2012/15

Source:  www.ons.gov.uk/

6.7%

7.5%

8.5%

9.3%

9.3%

9.4%

9.6%

10.0%

10.9%

11.6%

11.9%

12.2%

12.3%

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16%

Wandsworth

Brent

Lambeth

Lewisham

London

Southwark

England

Waltham Forest

Haringey

Hackney

Greenwich

Barking & Dagenham

Croydon

Chart 3: Self-reported well-being: people with a low happiness score. 
Lewisham compared with its similar CCGs, London and England, 2012/15

Source:  www.ons.gov.uk/



143

125
117

140

154 153

180
186

161

179

151

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

2
0
1
3
/1

4
 Q

1

2
0
1
3
/1

4
 Q

2

2
0
1
3
/1

4
 Q

3

2
0
1
3
/1

4
 Q

4

2
0
1
4
/1

5
 Q

1

2
0
1
4
/1

5
 Q

2

2
0
1
4
/1

5
 Q

3

2
0
1
4
/1

5
 Q

4

2
0
1
5
/1

6
 Q

1

2
0
1
5
/1

6
 Q

2

2
0
1
5
/1

6
 Q

3

No.

Chart 7: Referrals to Lewisham Memory Service

Source: Lewisham  SLAM

742 750
777

868

951
990

1064

1312

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

No.

Chart 8: Number of Patients on Lewisham GP practice Dementia 

Register by year

Source: QOF/HSCIC

Public Health Outcomes: Mental Health

Older Adults Mental Health

Trends/Benchmarks

PuPuPuPuPuPuPuPuPuPuPuPublblblblblblblblblblicicicicicicicicicic H H H H H H H H H Heaeaeaealtltltltltltltltltlth h h h h h h h h h h OuOuOuOuOuOuOuOuOuOuOuOutctctctctctctctcomomomomeseseses: : : : MeMeMeMeMeMeMeMeMeMeMeMentntntntntntntntalalalalalalalalalalal H H H H H H H H H H H Heaeaeaealtltltltltltltltltltlthhhhhhhhhhh
Key Messages

• The focus for adult mental health services in Lewisham is improving the care for people with dementia.  In particular, increasing diagnosis at the earliest stage as 
possible.  

Commentary

The Lewisham Memory Service was established in April 2011 as a single point of access service. The referrals to the service have continued to fluctuated but remain 
above the levels seen in the inital quarters.  Encouragingly the size of GP Dementia Registers have increased year on year.  However, the graph shows that the gap 
between the diagnosed and expected rates of diagnosis vary greatly between GP practices suggesting that GPs performance in diagnosing and consequently caring for 
their dementia patients is also variable.  

61.5%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

140%

G
R

O
V
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

N
E
W

 C
R
O

S
S
 H

C

V
E
S
T
A
 R

O
A
D

C
L
IF

T
O

N
 R

IS
E

D
e
p
tf

o
rd

 M
e
d
 C

tr

D
E
P
T
F
O

R
D

W
a
ld

ro
n

T
H

E
 Q

R
P

A
M

E
R
S
H

A
M

 V
A
L
E

M
o
rn

in
g
to

n
 S

u
rg

e
ry

K
IN

G
F
IS

H
E
R
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

W
O

O
D

L
A
N

D
S
 H

C

H
IL

L
Y
 F

IE
L
D

S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

S
T
 J

O
H

N
S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

T
R
IA

N
G

L
E
 G

R
O

U
P

R
U

S
H

E
Y
 G

R
E
E
N

 G
P

B
U

R
N

T
 A

S
H

B
E
L
M

O
N

T
 H

IL
L

T
H

E
 B

R
O

C
K
L
E
Y
 R

O
A
D

H
O

N
O

R
 O

A
K

N
IG

H
T
IN

G
A
L
E

M
O

R
D

E
N

 H
IL

L

L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

 M
E
D

 C
T
R

L
E
E
 R

O
A
D

L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

 G
P
 L

E
D

 H
C

O
A
K
V
IE

W

P
A
R
K
V
IE

W

S
O

U
T
H

 L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

B
A
R

IN
G

 R
O

A
D

 M
E
D

 C
T
R

W
IN

L
A
T
O

N

T
O

R
R

ID
O

N
 R

O
A
D

D
O

W
N

H
A
M

IC
O

 H
E
A
L
T
H

 G
R
O

U
P

V
A
L
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

W
E
L
L
S
 P

A
R
K

S
Y
D

E
N

H
A
M

 G
R

E
E
N

S
y
d
e
n
h
a
m

 S
u
rg

e
ry

B
E
L
L
IN

G
H

A
M

 G
R
E
E
N

T
H

E
 J

E
N

N
E
R

W
O

O
L
S
T
O

N
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

Neighbourhood 1 Neighbourhood 2 Neighbourhood 3 Neighbourhood 4

(Observed/

Expected)

x 100

Chart 9: Dementia Diagnosis rate by Lewisham GP Practice, March 2015

Practice Diagnosis Rate Lewisham Average Diagnosis Rate

Source: National Dementia Prevalence Calculator **Prevalance based on Dementia UK figures for 2007



Public Health Outcomes: Mental Health

3. Improving Access To Psychological Therapies (IAPT)

Key Messages

• Between April 2015 and March 2016 8,377 referrals were made to the Lewisham IAPT service. Neighbourhood 2 continues to receive the highest number of referrals 

(37%).

• 6,039 patients entered treatment, which equates to meeting 16% of need for people with depression and anxiety in Lewisham and exceeds the local target set for the 

service, of 5,664.

• 47% of referrals were made by GPs (previously 56%); 48% were self referrals.

• 66% of people referred to the service were women; 34%, men.

• BME Groups were under-represented in referrals.

• 26% of referrals reported having a long term health condition and 19% of referrals to the service reported having a disability.

• The average wait time in actual days from referral to first attended appointment was 29 days.

• The service Did Not Attend (DNA) rate, for all appointments, is 9%; whilst the DNA rate for assessment appointments was just under 19%.

Trends/Benchmarks

35.9

27.2 26.9

21.2

18.7

16.3

12.1

8.7
7.1

3.1

0.2
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

V
e
st

a
 R

o
a
d

A
m

e
rs

h
a
m

 V
a
le

G
ro

ve
 M

C

W
a
ld

ro
n

D
e
p
tf

o
rd

 M
e
d
 C

tr

M
o
rn

in
g
to

n
 S

u
rg

e
ry

T
h
e
 Q

R
P
 S

u
rg

e
ry

C
lif

to
n
 R

is
e
 M

C

D
e
p
tf

o
rd

 S
u
rg

e
ry

N
e
w

 C
ro

ss
 H

C

K
in

g
fi
sh

e
r 

M
C

Rate/
1000

Chart 10: Referral rate/1000 to IAPT services by GP Practice in 

Neighbourhood 1, 2015-16

N1 Avg

Lewisham

Source:  IAPT Services

34.7

29.6

21.3
19.2

17.3

10.8
9.4

8.1

2.2
0.9 0.9 0.4 0.2

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

S
t 

Jo
h
n
's

 M
C

B
e
lm

o
n
t 

H
ill

M
o
rd

e
n
 H

ill

B
u
rn

t 
A
sh

W
o
o
d
la

n
d
s 

H
C

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

 M
C

T
ri
a
n
g
le

L
e
e
 R

o
a
d
 S

u
rg

e
ry

H
o
n
o
r 

O
a
k

H
ill

y
 F

ie
ld

s 
M

C

T
h
e
 B

ro
ck

le
y

R
u
sh

e
y
 G

re
e
n
 G

P

N
ig

h
ti
n
g
a
le

 S
u
rg

e
ry

Rate/
1000

Chart 11: Referral rate/1000 to IAPT services by GP Practice in 

Neighbourhood 2, 2015-16

N2 Avg

Lewisham

Source:  IAPT Services

27.0

16.7

9.3
7.0

4.5 4.0

0.4 0.3
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

O
a
k
v
ie

w
 F

P

B
a
ri
n
g
 R

o
a
d
 M

C

W
in

la
to

n
 S

u
rg

e
ry

D
o
w

n
h
a
m

 F
P

P
a
rk

v
ie

w
 S

u
rg

e
ry

T
o
rr

id
o
n
 R

o
a
d
 M

P

S
o
u
th

 L
e
w

is
h
a
m

 G
P

IC
O

 H
e
a
lt
h
 G

ro
u
p

Rate/
1000

Chart 12: Referral rate/1000 to IAPT services by GP Practice in 

Neighbourhood 3, 2015-16

Lewisham

N3 Avg

Source:  IAPT ServicesSource:  IAPT Services

23.8 23.6

20.5

11.1

8.5

4.5
2.2

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

W
o
o
ls

to
n
e
 M

C

W
e
lls

 P
a
rk

 P
ra

ct
ic

e

B
e
lli

n
g
h
a
m

 G
re

e
n

S
y
d
e
n
h
a
m

 S
u
rg

e
ry

T
h
e
 J

e
n
n
e
r

S
y
d
e
n
h
a
m

 G
re

e
n

V
a
le

 M
e
d
 C

tr

Rate/
1000

Chart 13: Referral rate/1000 to IAPT services by GP Practice in 

Neighbourhood 4, 2015-16

N4 Avg

Lewisham

Source:  IAPT ServicesSource:  IAPT Services



Public Health Outcomes: Mental Health

Primary Care/Secondary Care Interface

Key Messages

The primary/secondary care interface is of increasing importance as specialist mental health services work to step down service users who no longer require specialist 
care. Following the implentation of the new adult mental health model, community teams have moved from a three team structure to a four team structure to mirror the 
primary care neighbourhoods in the borough.  There is also additional support for GPs to manage their mental health caseload.

Trends/Benchmarks

Commentary

• There remains wide variation in the number of SSRI items prescribed by GP practice.  
• The BMI measure is no longer available and has been substituted with a blood pressure check. Again there is variation in and between Neighbourhoods. This remains 

a potentially important indicator of how well practices are managing the physical health of their mental health patients. 
• The is a great variation in the rate of admissions by GP practice for mental health reasons. Some of this will be related to the number of patients on their registers 

with a mental health diagnosis and the serverity of the condiditon. The concentration of admissions in some practices and neighbourhoods suggest there could be 
value in practice based initiatives to prevent admissions. 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

V
E
S
T
A
 R

O
A
D

Q
R

P
 S

U
R

G
E
R
Y

W
A
L
D

R
O

N
 H

C

N
E
W

 C
R
O

S
S
 H

C

K
IN

G
F
IS

H
E
R

 M
E
D

 C
T
R

G
R

O
V
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

A
M

E
R
S
H

A
M

 V
A
L
E

D
E
P
T
F
O

R
D

 M
E
D

 C
T
R

D
E
P
T
F
O

R
D

 S
U

R
G

E
R

Y

M
O

R
N

IN
G

T
O

N
 S

U
R

G
E
R

Y

C
LI

F
T
O

N
 R

IS
E
 F

P

L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

 G
P
 L

E
D

R
U

S
H

E
Y
 G

R
E
E
N

H
IL

L
Y
 F

IE
L
D

S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

B
E
L
M

O
N

T
 H

IL
L

S
T
 J

O
H

N
S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

T
H

E
 B

R
O

C
K
L
E
Y

M
O

R
D

E
N

 H
IL

L

H
O

N
O

R
 O

A
K
 G

R
P

L
E
E
 R

O
A
D

 S
U

R
G

E
R
Y

B
U

R
N

T
 A

S
H

N
IG

H
T
IN

G
A
L
E

L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

 M
E
D

 C
T
R

T
R
IA

N
G

L
E
 G

R
O

U
P

W
O

O
D

L
A
N

D
S
 H

C

IC
O

 H
E
A
L
T
H

 G
R
O

U
P

S
O

U
T
H

 L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

B
A
R

IN
G

 R
O

A
D

 M
E
D

 C
T
R

O
A
K
V
IE

W
 F

P

P
A
R

K
V
IE

W

T
O

R
R
ID

O
N

 R
O

A
D

D
O

W
N

H
A
M

 C
L
IN

IC

W
IN

L
A
T
O

N

V
A
L
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

W
E
L
L
S
 P

A
R
K

S
Y
D

E
N

H
A
M

 G
R
E
E
N

T
H

E
 J

E
N

N
E
R

W
O

O
LS

T
O

N
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

B
E
L
L
IN

G
H

A
M

 G
R
E
E
N

S
Y
D

E
N

H
A
M

 S
U

R
G

E
R

Y

Neighbourhood 1 Neighbourhood 2 Neighbourhood 3 Neighbourhood 4

Number

(Xs)
%

Chart 15: The percentage of patients with schizophrenia, bipolar affective disorder and other psychoses who have a record of blood 
pressure in the preceding 12 months (MH003), 2014/15

2015/16 data should be available in October

London Lewisham

Source: QOF, HSCIC

£0

£2,000

£4,000

£6,000

£8,000

£10,000

£12,000

£14,000

£16,000

£18,000

£20,000

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

4500

5000

C
LI

F
T
O

N
 R

IS
E
 F

P

K
IN

G
F
IS

H
E
R

 M
E
D

 C
T
R

D
e
p
tf

o
rd

 M
e
d
 C

tr

L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

 G
P
 L

E
D

M
O

R
N

IN
G

T
O

N
 S

U
R

G
E
R

Y

V
E
S
T
A
 R

O
A
D

D
E
P
T
F
O

R
D

 S
U

R
G

E
R

Y

W
a
ld

ro
n

N
E
W

 C
R
O

S
S
 H

C

A
M

E
R
S
H

A
M

 V
A
L
E

G
R

O
V
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

Q
R

P
 S

U
R

G
E
R
Y

T
H

E
 B

R
O

C
K
L
E
Y

N
IG

H
T
IN

G
A
L
E

H
O

N
O

R
 O

A
K
 G

R
P

L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

 M
E
D

 C
T
R

B
E
L
M

O
N

T
 H

IL
L

W
O

O
D

L
A
N

D
S
 H

C

M
O

R
D

E
N

 H
IL

L

L
E
E
 R

O
A
D

 S
U

R
G

E
R
Y

B
U

R
N

T
 A

S
H

T
R
IA

N
G

L
E
 G

R
O

U
P

H
IL

L
Y
 F

IE
L
D

S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

R
U

S
H

E
Y
 G

R
E
E
N

S
T
 J

O
H

N
S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

W
IN

L
A
T
O

N

O
A
K
V
IE

W
 F

P

P
A
R

K
V
IE

W

D
O

W
N

H
A
M

 C
L
IN

IC

B
A
R

IN
G

 R
O

A
D

 M
E
D

 C
T
R

T
O

R
R
ID

O
N

 R
O

A
D

IC
O

 H
E
A
L
T
H

 G
R
O

U
P

S
O

U
T
H

 L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

S
y
d
e
n
h
a
m

 S
u
rg

e
ry

W
O

O
LS

T
O

N
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

B
E
L
L
IN

G
H

A
M

 G
R
E
E
N

V
A
L
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

W
E
L
L
S
 P

A
R
K

T
H

E
 J

E
N

N
E
R

S
Y
D

E
N

H
A
M

 G
R
E
E
N

Neighbourhood 1 Neighbourhood 2 Neighbourhood 3 Neighbourhood 4

CostItems

Chart 14: SSRI Prescription Items vs Cost by GP Practice, 2015/16

Source: Lewisham Pharmacy Team, EPACT



Child and Adolescent Mental Health

Key Messages

• Both the number and proportion of CAMHS referrals which are accepted has seen a decline since 2013/14. The most common source of referral is from GPs, followed 
by Schools; A&E and Social Services. (Chart 17)

• An online counselling service has been run by Kooth as part of the Headstart project. There was a total of 762 registrations oin 2015/16, however young women have 
been four times more likely to register compared to young men.

• Chart 18 shows standardised rates of self-harm in per 100,000 population aged 10-24 years in Lewisham compared to neighbouring boroughs, London and England. 
This data refers to admissions from A&E, to another ward, i.e. psychiatric ward, short stay/assessment unit or mental health inpatient ward. 

• Chart 19 shows the trend for Lewisham for self-harm admissions in young people

Trends/Benchmarks

Public Health Outcomes: Mental Health

Achievements

• The number of patients on GP Practice Dementia Register continues to increase
• Work is being undertaken regarding the Mental Health of Older Adults (65+)
• The IAPT service exceeed its target for number of patients seen

267
242

299

244
230

249

193
180

219
188

236

179

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

Q1 13/14 Q2 13/14 Q3 13/14 Q4 13/14 Q1 14/15 Q2 14/15 Q3 14/15 Q4 14/15 Q1 15/16 Q2 15/16 Q3 15/16 Q4 15/16

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

re
fe

rr
a

ls
 a

c
c
e

p
te

d

%
 o

f 
re

fe
rr

a
ls

 a
c
c
e

p
te

d

Chart 17: Number and % of CAMHS Referrals which are accepted

Number %

Source:  SLaM Performance monitoring data

Admissions as a result of self harm 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Lewisham Southwark Lambeth Greenwich London England

A
d

m
is

s
io

n
 r

a
te

 p
e
r
 1

0
0
,0

0
0
 

p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 a
g

e
d

 1
0
-2

4
y
e
a
r
s

2010-2013 (pooled)

 2013-14 

Admissions as a result of self harm, Lewisham  

205

210

215

220

225

230

235

240

245

250

2007/8 - 2009/10 2008/9 - 2010/11 2009/10 - 2011/12 2010/11- 2012/13 2011/12 -2013/14

A
d

m
is

s
io

n
 r

a
te

 p
e
r
 1

0
0
,0

0
0
 o

f 

p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 a
g

e
d

 1
0
-2

4
 y

e
a
r
s



20.7 16.2 sig high

2012-2014 40.7

2015

* the direction of travel for this indicator can be debated as we also wish to ensure that we are screening the correct young people

Teenage conceptions (rate per 1000 15-17 yr olds) 2014 31.3 21.5 22.8 sig high

Legal abortion rate/1000 women of all ages 25.6

Direction 

from 

previous 

period

England 

Benchmark
LewishamIndicator England

Latest period of 

availability
London

2015

36.6 42.2

Rate of chlamydia detection per 100,000 young 

people aged 15 to 24 (crude rate)*

similar

5434 2200 1887 sig high

People presenting with HIV at a late stage of infection 

(%)

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

1
9
9
8

1
9
9
9

2
0
0
0

2
0
0
1

2
0
0
2

2
0
0
3

2
0
0
4

2
0
0
5

2
0
0
6

2
0
0
7

2
0
0
8

2
0
0
9

2
0
1
0

2
0
1
1

2
0
1
2

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

Rate/
1000

Chart 1: Under 18 conception rate: annual trends (rate/1000 females 

aged 15-17)

Lambeth

Lewisham

Southwark

England

London

Source: Sexual Health Profiles

Young Person's Sexual Health (under 19s)

• In 2014, there were 144 conceptions recorded among under 18s in Lewisham which was down from 152 in 2013.

• Lewisham's under 18 conception rate has declined by 60.9% since 1998, comparing favourably with the decline of 51.1% across England.

• While the gap has narrowed, Lewisham is one of only 5 London boroughs where conception rates remain significantly higher than the national average. 

• As a consequence, the under 18 abortion rate is also relatively high but the proportion of conceptions ending in abortion is similar to the average.

Trends/Benchmarks

2.9

3.1

3.6

3.9

3.9

4.4

4.4

4.5

6.1

6.3

6.3

6.5

6.7

0 2 4 6 8 10 12

Brent

Southwark

City & Hackney

Wandsworth

London

Waltham Forest

England

Haringey

Barking & Dagenham

Greenwich

Lewisham

Croydon

Lambeth

Rate/1,000

Chart 2: Under 16 conception rate/1000 females aged 13-15, 

2014

Source: Sexual Health Profiles

9.7

9.9

10.6

10.8

11.5

12.3

12.9

13.4

15.0

15.9

16.8

19.0

19.0

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Brent

England

Waltham Forest

Wandsworth

London

Greenwich

Haringey

Hackney

Croydon

Southwark

Lewisham

Lambeth

Barking & Dagenham

Rate/1,000

Chart 3: Legal abortion rates/1000 women aged under 18. 

Lewisham compared with its similar CCGs, London and England, 

2015

Source: Sexual Health Profiles

Overall Key Messages

• Under 18 conceptions remain signifcantly higher than the national average (Chart 1)
• Chlamydia positvity rates remain high and are now higher than all similar CCGs (Chart 4)
• The number of new STIs has decreased for both Heterosexual and MSM since 2014 (Chart 8)

Public Health Outcomes: Improve Sexual Health

Health and Wellbeing Board Performance Metrics - Improving Sexual Health

Waldron HC

The Primary Care Ctr

Downham H&L Ctr
Sydenham Green HC



5
0
.2

%

4
3
.4

%

4
0
.8

%

4
0
.0

%

3
9
.4

%

3
1
.3

%

2
7
.4

%

2
6
.3

%

2
5
.6

%

2
2
.5

%

2
2
.3

%

2
1
.4

%

2
0
.9

%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

L
a
m

b
e
th

H
a
ck

n
e
y

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

L
o
n
d
o
n

C
ro

y
d
o
n

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

E
n
g
la

n
d

B
re

n
t

B
a
rk

in
g
 &

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

W
a
lt
h
a
m

F
o
re

st

%

Chart 6: Chlamydia: percentage of the resident population aged 15-

24 screened. Lewisham compared with its similar CCGs, London and 

England, 2015

Source: PHE Sexual Health Profiles

5
4
3
4

4
0
4
5

3
7
6
9

3
7
6
4

2
9
8
2

2
8
4
3

2
4
8
9

2
2
0
0

2
1
7
6

2
0
9
9

1
9
1
9

1
8
8
7

1
8
2
8

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

L
a
m

b
e
th

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

H
a
ck

n
e
y

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

C
ro

y
d
o
n

L
o
n
d
o
n

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

W
a
lt
h
a
m

F
o
re

st

B
a
rk

in
g
 a

n
d

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

E
n
g
la

n
d

B
re

n
t

R
a
te

/1
0
0
,0

0
0

Chart 4: Chlamydia: detection rate/100,000 resident population 

aged 15-24. Lewisham compared with its similar CCGs, London and 

England, 2015

Source: PHE Sexual Health Profiles

Sexually Transmitted Infections

Trends/Benchmarks

Key Messages

• Although Chlamydia screening coverage has decreased, it still compares favourably with similar CCGs and the London and England average. (Charts 4 & 5)

• A decrease in the number of new STIs was seen which is counter to the trend of recent years. This was seen in both heterosexual and MSM residents. (Chart 8) 

• Pelvic Inflammatory Disease is high, further work is being undertaken to better understand this. (Chart 7)

• Gonorrhoea is seeing an upwards trend nationally but particularly in London. Lewisham's rate remains above London but has stablised. (Chart 10)

Commentary

• 6,346 new STIs were diagnosed in residents of Lewisham in 2015, a rate of 2,174 per 100,000 residents.

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2000

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

No.

Chart 8: Number of new STIs, chlamydia, gonorrhoea, syphilis, 

genital warts and genital herpes in Lewisham (GUM diagnoses only)

Heterosexual
men

MSM

Source: HPA Web Portal

NB. Data 
not 
provided for 
women

Public Health Outcomes: Improve Sexual Health

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

2012 2013 2014 2015

%

Chart 5: Chlamydia: percentage of the resident population aged 15-

24 screened. Annual trends

Lewisham

Lambeth

Southwark

London

England

Source: PHE Sexual Health Profiles

1
3
7
.0

1
5
1
.6

1
5
3
.4

1
8
2
.8

1
8
6
.5

1
9
1
.7

1
9
7
.2

2
1
4
.1

2
2
3
.3

2
2
4
.9

2
3
6
.4

2
8
0
.2

3
3

0
.3

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

H
a
ck

n
e
y

L
a
m

b
e
th

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

L
o
n
d
o
n

B
re

n
t

C
ro

y
d
o
n

W
a
lt
h
a
m

 F
o
re

st

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

E
n
g
la

n
d

B
a
rk

in
g
 &

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

R
a
te

/1
0
0
,0

0
0

Chart 7: Pelvic Inflammatory Disease (PID) admission rate per 

100,000 - 2014/15 (This dataset is awaiting correction due to coding issue)

Source: PHE Sexual Health Profiles

2.2%
3.5% 3.7%

14.1%

35.2%

40.9%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

Asian Other Ethnic
Group

Not Specified Mixed Black White

%

Chart 9: Proportion of new STIs by Ethnic Group, 2015 

Source: HPA Web Portal

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

2
0
0
9

2
0
1
0

2
0
1
1

2
0
1
2

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

2
0
1
5

Rate/
100,000

Chart 10: Gonorrhoea diagnosis rate per 100,000 population. Lewisham 

compared with London and England. Annual trends

Lewisham

London

England

Source: PHE Sexual Health Profiles



Contraception

Key Messages

• The Lewisham General Fertility Rate has dropped fractionally to bring it closer to both the London and England average. (Chart 11) The overall conception rate has seen 

a more notable decrease yet still remains higher than the London and England average (Chart 12).

• Whilst Lewisham sees a lower rate of GP Prescribed LARC compared with similar CCGs, the trend for LARC at Contraception and Sexual Health Clinics is positive.  (Charts 

13 & 14)

• Both Black African and Black Caribbean women are disproportionately 'over represented' in the numbers receiving emergency contraception (Chart 16).

Trends/Benchmarks

Public Health Outcomes: Improve Sexual Health

8.2

10.0

11.4

13.1

13.6

15.1

16.1

19.4

19.5

19.6

19.9

27.5

32.3

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

Waltham Forest

Brent

Lewisham

Southwark

Hackney

Haringey

London

Lambeth

Wandsworth

Barking & Dagenham

Greenwich

Croydon

England

Rate/1,000

Chart 13: GP prescribed Long-Acting Reversible Contraceptive 

(LARC) rate/1000 females aged 15-44. Lewisham compared with 

its similar CCGs, London and England, 2014

Source: Sexual Health Profiles

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

2
0
0
6

2
0
0
7

2
0
0
8

2
0
0
9

2
0
1
0

2
0
1
1

2
0
1
2

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

2
0
1
5

Rate/
1000

Chart 11: General fertility rate (live births)/1000 women aged 15-

44. Lewisham compared with London and England

Lewisham

London

England

Source: http://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/births-and-fertility-rates-borough

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

2
0
0
6

2
0
0
7

2
0
0
8

2
0
0
9

2
0
1
0

2
0
1
1

2
0
1
2

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

Rate/
1000

Chart 12: Overall conception rate: annual trends (rate/1000 females 

aged 15-44)

Lewisham

London

England

Source: ONS (http://www.statistics.gov.uk)

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

5,000

W
h
it
e

B
la

ck
 C

a
ri
b
b
e
a
n

B
la

ck
 A

fr
ic

a
n

B
la

ck
 O

th
e
r

M
ix

e
d

D
e
cl

in
e
d

A
si

a
n

O
th

e
r

N
o
t 

st
a
te

d

No.

Chart 16: Number of Lewisham pharmacy supplied Emergency 

Hormonal Contraceptions (EHC) by broad ethnicity and age group, 

April 2015 to Mar 2016

25 and over

Under 25

Source: PharmOutcomes

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

A
si

a
n

B
la

ck
 A

fr
ic

a
n

B
la

ck
 C

a
ri
b
b
e
a
n

B
la

ck
 O

th
e
r

C
h
in

e
se

M
ix

e
d

N
o
t 

st
a
te

d

O
th

e
r

W
h
it
e

%

Chart 15: Contraception following abortion in Lewisham by 

contraception method and broad ethnic group, 2015

User dependent

Unknown

LARC

DEPO

Source: BPAS-MSI-Kings 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

2
0
1
1

2
0
1
2

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

Rate/
1000

Chart 14: GP prescribed Long-Acting Reversible Contraceptive (LARC) 

rate/1000 females aged 15-44. Lewisham compared with London and 

England. Annual trends

England

London

Lewisham

Source: Sexual Health Profiles



Abortions

Key Messages

• 1,905 abortions took place on Lewisham residents in 2015, this was an increase on 2014 (Chart 18). 
• The 2015 total abortion rate per 1000 population was only available for 152 local authorities in 2015. Of these Lewisham was second, just behind Barking and 

Dagenham. 

• The rate of women of Black African ethnicity having an abortion, is over twice the Lewisham average rate. Black Caribbean women are also far more likely to have an 
abortion than other ethnic groups. (Chart 21)

Commentary

Among NHS funded abortions, the proportion of those under 10 weeks gestation was 83.7%, in 2015 while in England the proportion was 80.3%. The earlier abortions are 
performed the lower the risk of complications. Prompt access to abortion, enabling provision earlier in pregnancy, is also cost-effective and an indicator of service quality and 
increases choices around procedure.

Public Health Outcomes: Improve Sexual Health

Trends/Benchmarks

29.4 25.6 25.2 24.8 23.9 23.2 22.9 22.5 21.9 20.8 20.7 16.5

England

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

B
a
rk

in
g
 &

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

W
a
lt
h
a
m

 F
o
re

st

C
ro

y
d
o
n

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

B
re

n
t

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

L
a
m

b
e
th

C
it
y
 &

 H
a
ck

n
e
y

L
o
n
d
o
n

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h
Rate/
1000

Chart 17: Legal abortion rates (ASR with 95% confidence intervals) 

per/1000 women aged 15-44. Lewisham compared with its similar 

CCGs, London and England, 2015

Source: https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-of-health

10

24

28

23

17

8

12

32

37

27

21

12

17

44 44

33

25

16

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

Under 18 18-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35 +

Rate/
1000

Chart 19: Legal abortion rates/1000 women by age group. 

Lewisham compared with London and England, 2015

England London Lewisham

Source:  https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-of-health

38%

42%
45%

27%

31%
34%

46%
48%

51%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

England London Lewisham England London Lewisham England London Lewisham

All ages Under 25 25 and over

%

Chart 20: Legal abortions : % of repeat abortions by selected age 

bands. Lewisham compared with London and England, 2015

Source: https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-of-health

51.9 43.3 29.5 21.9 14.8 14.3 4.4

Lewisham, 25.8

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Black
African

Black
Caribbean

Other White Asian Chinese Black other

Rate
/1000

Chart 21: Termination of pregnancies in Lewisham by ethnicity. 

Rate/1000 female population aged 15-44 years, 2015

Source: BPAS/MSI/Kings

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Count
Rate/
1000

Chart 18: Legal abortion rates (ASR) per/1000 women aged 
15-44. Lewisham compared with Lambeth, Southwark, London 

and England. Annual trends  

Lewisham rate London rate England rate

Lambeth rate Southwark rate Lewisham count

Source: https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-of-health



27.0%

29.9%

33.7%

35.8%

36.6%

37.8%

37.9%

40.7%

42.2%

43.2%

48.0%

48.8%

58.8%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

Waltham Forest

Lambeth

Wandsworth

Hackney

London

Southwark

Brent

Lewisham

England

Haringey

Greenwich

Barking & Dagenham

Croydon

%

Chart 23: People presenting with HIV at a late stage of infection 
(CD4 cell count < 350mm3). Proportions with 95% confidence 

intervals, 2012-14

Source: Sexual Health Profiles

HIV

Key Messages

• HIV Diagnosis is high compared to similar local authorities, the new HIV Diagnosis rate is also relatively high. (Chart 22)

• Neighbourhood 1 (North Lewisham) sees the highest concentration of residents who are HIV Positive. (Map 2)

• New data is on Antenatal HIV Positivity is included, however this is just for women booking at UHL, not necessarily residents. 2015/16 saw a slight increase compared to 

2014/15. (Chart 24)

Trends/Benchmarks

Public Health Outcomes: Improve Sexual Health

2.2

4.5

5.2

5.3

5.3

5.9

6.1

6.2

7.1

8.1

8.4

13.0

15.1

0 5 10 15 20

England

Brent

Croydon

Waltham Forest

Wandsworth

London

Barking & Dagenham

Greenwich

Haringey

Hackney

Lewisham

Southwark

Lambeth

Rate/1000

Chart 22: HIV diagnosis prevalence/1000 for persons aged 

15-59 years, 2014

Source: Sexual Health Profiles

Map 2

12.3

18.1

25.2

27.2

32.7

35.7

36.5

41.8

42.7

46.4

51.6

76.2

85.4

0 20 40 60 80 100 120

England

Croydon

Brent

Barking & Dagenham

Wandsworth

Waltham Forest

London

Greenwich

Lewisham

Hackney

Haringey

Southwark

Lambeth

Rate/100,00

Chart 25: New HIV diagnosis rate/100,000 persons aged 15+. Lewisham 
compared with its similar CCGs, London and England, 2014

Source:  Sexual Health Profiles

16

20

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

2014/15 2015/16

Source: UHL

Chart 24: Antenatal HIV Positivity - Number of
women booked at UHL who tested positive for HIV



Primary Care

Key Messages

The rate of STI testing and the positivity rates varies by GP practice as does the abortion rate.

Public Health Outcomes: Improve Sexual Health

Trends/Benchmarks

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

W
a
ld

o
rn

 H
C

C
lif

to
n
 R

is
e
 F

a
m

ily

M
o
rn

in
g
to

n
 S

u
rg

e
ry

G
ro

v
e
 M

e
d
 C

tr

D
e
p
tf

o
rd

 M
e
d
 C

tr

N
e
w

 C
ro

ss
 H

C

V
e
st

a
 R

o
a
d

A
m

e
rs

h
a
m

 V
a
le

T
h
e
 Q

rp
 S

u
rg

e
ry

D
e
p
tf

o
rd

 S
u
rg

e
ry

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

 G
P
 L

e
d
 H

C

W
o
o
d
la

n
d
s 

H
C

H
ill

y
 F

ie
ld

s 
M

e
d
 C

tr

T
ri
a
n
g
le

 G
ro

u
p

B
u
rn

t 
A
sh

B
e
lm

o
n
t 

H
ill

H
o
n
o
r 

O
a
k
 G

ro
u
p

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

 M
e
d
 C

tr

N
ig

h
ti
n
g
a
le

 S
u
rg

e
ry

L
e
e
 R

o
a
d
 S

u
rg

e
ry

T
h
e
 B

ro
ck

le
y

M
o
rd

e
n
 H

ill

R
u
sh

e
y
 G

re
e
n
 G

P

S
t 

Jo
h
n
's

 M
e
d
 C

tr

W
in

la
to

n
 S

u
rg

e
ry

T
h
e
 D

o
w

n
h
a
m

 C
lin

ic

IC
O

 H
e
a
lt
h
 G

ro
u
p

T
o
rr

id
o
n
 R

o
a
d

B
a
ri
n
g
 R

o
a
d
 M

e
d
 C

tr

S
o
u
th

 L
e
w

is
h
a
m

O
a
k
v
ie

w
 F

a
m

ily

P
a
rk

v
ie

w
 S

u
rg

e
ry

S
y
d
e
n
h
a
m

 S
u
rg

e
ry

S
y
d
e
n
h
a
m

 G
re

e
n

V
a
le

 M
e
d
 C

tr

W
o
o
ls

to
n
e

W
e
lls

 P
a
rk

T
h
e
 J

e
n
n
e
r

B
e
lli

n
g
h
a
m

 G
re

e
n

Neighbourhood 1 Neighbourhood 2 Neighbourhood 3 Neighbourhood 4

%Rate/
1000

Chart 27: Chlamydia Testing and Positivity Rate by Lewisham GP Practice, 15-24

2013 /14 Q3 to 2014/15 Q2

15-24 Chlamydia Testing Rate per 1000 15-24 Chlamydia Positivity Rate (%)

Source: UHL Laboratory Data

0.0%

1.0%

2.0%

3.0%

4.0%

5.0%

6.0%

7.0%

8.0%

9.0%

10.0%

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

D
E
P
T
F
O

R
D

 M
E
D

 C
T
R

D
E
P
T
F
O

R
D

 S
U

R
G

E
R
Y

A
M

E
R
S
H

A
M

 V
A
L
E

Q
R
P
 S

U
R
G

E
R
Y

G
R

O
V
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

N
E
W

 C
R
O

S
S
 H

C

L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

 G
P
 L

E
D

V
E
S
T
A
 R

O
A
D

C
L
IF

T
O

N
 R

IS
E
 F

P

M
O

R
N

IN
G

T
O

N
 S

U
R
G

E
R
Y

W
A
L
D

R
O

N
 H

C

S
T
 J

O
H

N
S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

R
U

S
H

E
Y
 G

R
E
E
N

H
O

N
O

R
 O

A
K
 G

R
P

T
H

E
 B

R
O

C
K
L
E
Y

M
O

R
D

E
N

 H
IL

L

B
U

R
N

T
 A

S
H

W
O

O
D

L
A
N

D
S
 H

C

L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

 M
E
D

 C
T
R

N
IG

H
T
IN

G
A
L
E

L
E
E
 R

O
A
D

 S
U

R
G

E
R
Y

H
IL

L
Y
 F

IE
L
D

S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

B
E
L
M

O
N

T
 H

IL
L

T
R

IA
N

G
L
E
 G

R
O

U
P

S
O

U
T
H

 L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

O
A
K
V
IE

W
 F

P

B
A
R
IN

G
 R

O
A
D

 M
E
D

 C
T
R

W
IN

L
A
T
O

N

P
A
R
K
V
IE

W

T
O

R
R
ID

O
N

 R
O

A
D

D
O

W
N

H
A
M

 C
L
IN

IC

IC
O

 H
E
A
L
T
H

 G
R

O
U

P

B
E
L
L
IN

G
H

A
M

 G
R
E
E
N

W
E
L
L
S
 P

A
R
K

T
H

E
 J

E
N

N
E
R

S
Y
D

E
N

H
A
M

 G
R
E
E
N

W
O

O
L
S
T
O

N
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

V
A
L
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

S
Y
D

E
N

H
A
M

 S
U

R
G

E
R
Y

Neighbourhood 1 Neighbourhood 2 Neighbourhood 3 Neighbourhood 4

P
o

s
it

iv
it

y
 (

%
)

R
a

te
/
1

0
0

0

Chart 26: HIV Testing Rate and Positivity by Lewisham GP Practice, 2014/15

Source:  UHL lab, HSCIC Exeter Quarterly Registered Population data

3
8
.5

3
6
.7

3
0
.5

2
6
.1

2
5
.3

2
3
.2

2
2
.4

1
7
.2

1
6
.5

1
1
.8

1
1
.2

8
.8

3
6
.5

3
4
.0

3
2
.4

2
6
.0

2
4
.0

2
3
.9

2
1
.1

2
0
.9

2
0
.8

1
9
.0

1
8
.9

1
3
.0

1
2
.9

3
4
.3

3
2
.6

3
2
.3

3
1
.0

2
8
.3

2
4
.3

2
3
.6

2
2
.8

3
4
.5

3
2
.5

2
9
.8

2
8
.6

2
5
.6

2
1
.1

1
5
.7

Lewisham

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

W
A
L
D

R
O

N
 H

C

K
IN

G
F
IS

H
E
R
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

A
M

E
R
S
H

A
M

 V
A
L
E

D
E
P
T
F
O

R
D

 M
E
D

 C
T
R

M
O

R
N

IN
G

T
O

N
 S

U
R
G

E
R
Y

G
R

O
V
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

Q
R
P
 S

U
R
G

E
R
Y

V
E
S
T
A
 R

O
A
D

C
L
IF

T
O

N
 R

IS
E
 F

P

N
E
W

 C
R
O

S
S
 H

C

D
E
P
T
F
O

R
D

 S
U

R
G

E
R
Y

L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

 G
P
 L

E
D

T
R

IA
N

G
L
E
 G

R
O

U
P

R
U

S
H

E
Y
 G

R
E
E
N

B
U

R
N

T
 A

S
H

N
IG

H
T
IN

G
A
L
E

H
IL

L
Y
 F

IE
L
D

S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

H
O

N
O

R
 O

A
K
 G

R
P

M
O

R
D

E
N

 H
IL

L

T
H

E
 B

R
O

C
K
L
E
Y

W
O

O
D

L
A
N

D
S
 H

C

S
T
 J

O
H

N
S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

L
E
E
 H

IG
H

 R
O

A
D

L
E
E
 R

O
A
D

 S
U

R
G

E
R
Y

B
E
L
M

O
N

T
 H

IL
L

D
O

W
N

H
A
M

 C
L
IN

IC

IC
O

 H
E
A
L
T
H

 G
R

P

T
O

R
R

ID
O

N
 R

O
A
D

P
A
R
K
V
IE

W

O
A
K
V
IE

W
 F

P

B
A
R
IN

G
 R

O
A
D

 M
E
D

 C
T
R

W
IN

L
A
T
O

N

S
O

U
T
H

 L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

B
E
L
L
IN

G
H

A
M

 G
R
E
E
N

W
O

O
L
S
T
O

N
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

S
Y
D

E
N

H
A
M

 G
R
E
E
N

W
E
L
L
S
 P

A
R
K

S
Y
D

E
N

H
A
M

 S
U

R
G

E
R
Y

T
H

E
 J

E
N

N
E
R

V
A
L
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

Neighbourhood 1 Neighbourhood 2 Neighbourhood 3 Neighbourhood 4

Rate/
1000

Chart 28: Abortion Rate/1000 Women Aged 15-44 by Lewisham GP Practice, 2015

Source: BPAS/MSI/Kings

Achievements

• Teenage conception rates continue to fall

• Chlamydia positvity rates remain high and are now higher than all similar CCGs (Chart 4)

• The number of new STIs has decreased for both Heterosexual and MSM since 2014 (Chart 8)



-

Smoking status at time of delivery (%) 2015-16 4.5% 4.9% 10.6%
significantly 

lower

4 week smoking quitters (crude rate per 

100,000)
2015-16 473 440547680

4.9%

Indicator
Latest period 

of availability
Lewisham London England

England 

Benchmark

Direction from 

previous period

for Lewisham

Smoking Prevalance (%) aged 18+: 

current smokers (APS)

Previous 

period of 

availability

20.6%2015 16.6% 16.3% 16.9% similar

• More people smoke in Lewisham compared with London and England.  1 in 5 people continue to smoke in Lewisham, which rises to ith 1 in 4 for those in routine and manual 

occupations.

• The number of smoking quitters has remained stable after falling in previous years.

• The Stop Smoking Service is very successful at reaching heavily addicted smokers such as pregnant women and people with mental health problems, with a strong correlation 

between deprivation (shown through areas with low IMD scores) and smoking quitters and an increasing number of smokers quitting from more deprived wards.

• Continued focus on illegal and underage sales and large quantities of illegal tobacco seized, through the use of sniffer dogs and the Enforcement Team.

• Smoking attributable hospital admissions and mortality are statistically higher than England and London. 

• New data is being used to understand smoking prevalance in young people, via the WAY Survey (Chart  3), which indicates less 15 year olds in Lewisham smoke than in England, 

however the confidence intervals for this indicator are wide at borough level.

Key Messages

Trends/Benchmarks

306

319

372

385

440

470

473

511

547

612

642

699

783

0 200 400 600 800 1000

Southwark

Brent

Barking &…

Haringey

England

Lambeth

London

Wandsworth

Lewisham

Croydon

Waltham Forest

Hackney

Greenwich

Quit rate/100,000

Chart 9: Smoking quit rate at 4 weeks per 100,000 
population aged 16 and over, 2015/16

Source: http://www.hscic.gov.uk/

306

319

372372

385385

440

470

473

511

547547

612

642

699

783

0 200 400 600 800 1000

Southwark

Brent

Barking &…

Haringey

England

Lambeth

London

Wandsworth

Lewisham

Croydon

Waltham Forest

Hackney

Greenwich

Quit rate/100,000

Chart 9: Smoking quit rate at 4 weeks per 100,000 
population aged 16 and over, 2015/16

Source: http://www.hscic.gov.uk/

219.9

254.4

261.4

267.7

271.4

273.5

274.8

305.8

312.6

316.8

323.2

326.0

365.0

0 100 200 300 400 500

Brent

Croydon

London

Waltham Forest

Haringey

Wandsworth

England

Lambeth

Lewisham

Southwark

Greenwich

Hackney

Barking & Dagenham

DSR/100,000

Chart 8: Smoking attributable mortality. DSR/100,000, 
2012-14

Source: http://www.tobaccoprofiles.info/

1333

1380

1414

1517

1650

1670

1671

1764

1773

1782

1853

1870

1968

0 500 1000 1500 2000 2500

Brent

Waltham Forest

Croydon

London

Greenwich

Wandsworth

England

Lambeth

Hackney

Southwark

Haringey

Barking and Dagenham

Lewisham

DSR/100,000

Chart 7: Smoking attributable hospital admissions. 
DSR/100,000, 2014/15

Source: http://www.tobaccoprofiles.info/

2.9%

3.4%

3.6%

3.9%

4.5%

4.9%

5.2%

5.5%

5.6%

7.6%

8.6%

8.6%

10.6%

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12%

Southwark

Lambeth

Wandsworth

Brent

Lewisham

London

City & Hackney

Waltham Forest

Haringey

Croydon

Barking & Dagenham

Greenwich

England

Percentage

Chart 4: Smoking status at time of delivery, 2015/16

Source: http://www.hscic.gov.uk/

Public Health Outcomes: Tobacco Control

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2
0
0
1
-0

3

2
0
0
2
-0

4

2
0
0
3
-0

5

2
0
0
4
-0

6

2
0
0
5
-0

7

2
0
0
6
-0

8

2
0
0
7
-0

9

2
0
0
8
-1

0

2
0
0
9
-1

1

2
0
1
0
-1

2

2
0
1
1
-1

3

2
0
1
2
-1

4

DSR/
100,000

Chart 10: Under 75 mortality from respiratory disease in persons.  Directly 

aged-standardised rate per 100,000 population. Lewisham compared with 

London and England

Lewisham

London

England

Source: http://www.phoutcomes.info/

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2
0
0
1

2
0
0
2

2
0
0
3

2
0
0
4

2
0
0
5

2
0
0
6

2
0
0
7

2
0
0
8

2
0
0
9

2
0
1
0

2
0
1
1

2
0
1
2

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

DSR/
100,000

Chart 11: Under 75 mortality from lung cancer 

DSR/100,00

Lewisham

London

England

Source: HSCIC

Health and Wellbeing Board Performance Metrics - Preventing the uptake of smoking among children and young people and reducing the numbers of 
people smoking

-

Smoking status at time of delivery (%) 2015-16 4.5% 4.9% 10.6%
significantly 

lower

4 week smoking quitters (crude rate per 

100,000)
2015-16 473 440547680

4.9%

Indicator
Latest period 

of availability
Lewisham London England

England 

Benchmark

Direction from 

previous period

for Lewisham

Smoking Prevalance (%) aged 18+: 

current smokers (APS)

Previous 

period of 

availability

20.6%2015 16.6% 16.3% 16.9% similar

4.2%

4.5%

4.7%

5.5%

5.6%

5.8%

5.8%

6.1%

6.5%

6.7%

7.2%

7.8%

8.2%

0% 5% 10% 15%

Brent

Southwark

Waltham Forest

Greenwich

Barking & Dagenham

Lambeth

Hackney

London

Haringey

Lewisham

Croydon

Wandsworth

England

Chart 3: Smoking prevalence of 15 year olds - current 
smokers, 2014/15

Source: What About Youth Survey, HSCIC

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

2
0
1
2

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

2
0
1
5

Chart 1: Smoking prevalence of adults aged 18+: current smokers (APS)

England

Lewisham

Source: http://www.tobaccoprofiles.info/Annual Population Survey

1291

1326

1350

1358

1359

1407

1511

1511

1519

1524

1694

1756

1877

0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000

Croydon

London

Brent

Haringey

Wandsworth

England

Greenwich

Lewisham

Southwark

Waltham Forest

Lambeth

Hackney

Barking & Dagenham

DSR/100,000

Chart 5: Potential years of life lost due to smoking related 
illness. DSR/100,000, 2012-14

Source: http://www.tobaccoprofiles.info/ONS

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

2
0
1
2

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

2
0
1
5

Chart 2: Smoking prevalence of adults aged 18+ in routine and manual jobs: 

current smokers (APS)

England

Lewisham

Source: http://www.tobaccoprofiles.info/Annual Population Survey



335

Quarterly 4 week quits

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Target: 1500

2015/16

369

277

310

392

372

377

350

689

396

545416

3912012/13

42 (48%)

Quit rate Pregnancy

1573

1800 1703

44%

45%

1900

ActualAnnual 4 weeks quits

1291

1803 47 (56%)1800 46%

371369

411

Breakdown of 4 week quits by quarterAchieve the annual DH target: 4 week quits in 2015/16 and quarterly targets

1500 49 (54%)

43 (43%)2013/14

2015/16

2014/15

44%

Target 2014/15

Target: 1900

2013/14

Target: 1800

2012/13

Target: 1800

R² = 0.343

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

0 10 20 30 40 50

No.

Ward IMD score

Chart 18: Correlation between IMD scores by 
ward and number of successful quitters by 

ward for Lewisham, 2015/16

Source: Lewisham Stop Smoking Services

P-value = 0.002: The correlation is statistically 
significant at the accepted 5% level

52
98 109

81 83 65 73 54 65 66 45 52 36 28 45 60 81
45

134

206

270

210

164 166 166

111

155 150

113 118

72 66
92

129
154

109

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

E
v
e
ly

n
 (

N
1
)

D
o
w

n
h
a
m

 (
N

3
)

B
e
lli

n
g
h
a
m

 (
N

4
)

R
u
sh

e
y
 G

re
e
n
 (

N
3
)

W
h
it
e
fo

o
t 

(N
3
)

N
e
w

 C
ro

ss
 (

N
1
)

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

 C
e
n
tr

a
l 
(N

2
)

S
y
d
e
n
h
a
m

 (
N

4
)

B
ro

ck
le

y
 (

N
1
)

T
e
le

g
ra

p
h
 H

ill
 (

N
1
)

P
e
rr

y 
V
a
le

 (
N

4
)

G
ro

v
e
 P

a
rk

 (
N

3
)

F
o
re

st
 H

ill
 (

N
4
)

B
la

ck
h
e
a
th

 (
N

2
)

L
e
e
 G

re
e
n
 (

N
2
)

C
ro

ft
o
n
 P

a
rk

 (
N

4
)

L
a
d
yw

e
ll 

(N
2
)

C
a
tf

o
rd

 S
o
u
th

 (
N

3
)

No.

Ward IMD Score

Chart 17: Number of smokers who quit (self-report) at 4 week follow-up by Lewisham ward in descending 
order of Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) score, 2015/16

Lost to follow-up

Non quits

Quits

Total setting quit
date

Source: Lewisham Stop Smoking Services

Stop Smoking Services

335

Quarterly 4 week quitsQuarterly 4 week quits

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Target: 1500

2015/16

369

277

310

392

372

377

350

689

396

545416

3912012/13

42 (48%)

Quit rate Pregnancy

1573

1800 1703

44%

45%

1900

ActualAnnual 4 weeks quits

1291

1803 47 (56%)1800 46%

371369

411

Breakdown of 4 week quits by quarterAchieve the annual DH target: 4 week quits in 2015/16 and quarterly targets

1500 49 (54%)

43 (43%)2013/14

2015/16

2014/15

44%

Target 2014/15

Target: 1900

2013/14

Target: 1800

2012/13

Target: 1800

R² = 0.3430.3430.3430.3430.3430.343

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

0 10 20 30 40 50

No.

Ward IMD score

Chart 18: Correlation between IMD scores by 
ward and number of successful quitters by 

ward for Lewisham, 2015/16

Source: Lewisham Stop Smoking Services

P-value = 0.002: The correlation is statistically 
significant at the accepted 5% level

52
98 109

81 83 65 73 54 65 66 45 52 36 28 45 60 81
45

134

206

270270270

210

164164 166166 166166

111

155155 150150

113 118118

7272 6666
9292

129129
154154

109

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

E
v
e
ly

n
 (

N
1
)

D
o
w

n
h
a
m

 (
N

3
)

B
e
lli

n
g
h
a
m

 (
N

4
)

R
u
sh

e
y
 G

re
e
n
 (

N
3
)

W
h
it
e
fo

o
t 

(N
3
)

N
e
w

 C
ro

ss
 (

N
1
)

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

 C
e
n
tr

a
l 
(N

2
)

S
y
d
e
n
h
a
m

 (
N

4
)

B
ro

ck
le

y
 (

N
1
)

T
e
le

g
ra

p
h
 H

ill
 (

N
1
)

P
e
rr

y 
V
a
le

 (
N

4
)

G
ro

v
e
 P

a
rk

 (
N

3
)

F
o
re

st
 H

ill
 (

N
4
)

B
la

ck
h
e
a
th

 (
N

2
)

L
e
e
 G

re
e
n
 (

N
2
)

C
ro

ft
o
n
 P

a
rk

 (
N

4
)

L
a
d
yw

e
ll 

(N
2
)

C
a
tf

o
rd

 S
o
u
th

 (
N

3
)

No.

Ward IMD Score

Chart 17: Number of smokers who quit (self-report) at 4 week follow-up by Lewisham ward in descending 
order of Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) score, 2015/16

Lost to follow-up

Non quits

Quits

Total setting quit
date

Source: Lewisham Stop Smoking ServicesSource: Lewisham Stop Smoking Services

48
32

17 8 12 15 9 4 5 2

76
62

44
28 19 20 27

8 6 7 6 4 4

40 45
24

66

24 25
8

46
61

35
21 29 35

92

72

32 31 31

49

35

22
11 9

146
135

92

56 53 50

75

13
19

12
20

13
5

84 89

63

156

63 62

31

145

119

75

52
63

89

5

5

3
3

2 2 2 2

1

0

8

6
6

4

3
3

3

2 2 1
1 1

0

9

7

6

5

3

1

9

5

4
4 4

3

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

Q
R
P
 S

U
R
G

E
R
Y

G
R
O

V
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

N
E
W

 C
R

O
S
S
 H

C

D
E
P
T
F
O

R
D

 S
U

R
G

E
R

Y

D
R

 B
K
 B

A
T
R
A

A
M

E
R
S
H

A
M

 V
A
LE

D
R

 R
 B

E
R

M
A
N

D
R

 M
O

G
 S

A
R

D
E
R

C
L
IF

T
O

N
 R

IS
E
 F

P

L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

 G
P
 L

E
D

H
IL

L
Y
 F

IE
L
D

S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

R
U

S
H

E
Y
 G

R
E
E
N

H
O

N
O

R
 O

A
K
 G

R
P

L
E
E
 H

IG
H

 R
O

A
D

W
O

O
D

LA
N

D
S
 H

C

M
O

R
D

E
N

 H
IL

L

S
T
 J

O
H

N
S
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

B
U

R
N

T
 A

S
H

T
H

E
 B

R
O

C
K
L
E
Y

B
E
LM

O
N

T
 H

IL
L

T
R

IA
N

G
LE

 G
R
O

U
P

N
IG

H
T
IN

G
A
L
E

L
E
E
 R

O
A
D

 S
U

R
G

E
R
Y

O
A
K
V
IE

W
 F

P

D
O

W
N

H
A
M

 C
L
IN

IC

P
A
R
K
V
IE

W

S
O

U
T
H

 L
E
W

IS
H

A
M

B
A
R
IN

G
 R

O
A
D

 M
E
D

 C
T
R

IC
O

 H
E
A
LT

H
 G

R
P

T
O

R
R
ID

O
N

 R
O

A
D

B
E
LL

IN
G

H
A
M

 G
R
E
E
N

S
Y
D

E
N

H
A
M

 G
R
E
E
N

W
E
LL

S
 P

A
R

K

W
O

O
L
S
T
O

N
E
 M

E
D

 C
T
R

D
R

 J
 I

S
R
A
E
L

T
H

E
 J

E
N

N
E
R

Neighbourhood 1 Neighbourhood 2 Neighbourhood 3 Neighbourhood 4

Rate/1000

No.

Chart 19: Number and rate/1000 population of smokers in Lewisham who had quit (self-report) at 4 week follow-up by GP Practice, 2015/16

Quits Non quits/lost to follow-up Total Rate/1000

Source: Lewisham Stop Smoking Services

61 52 43
32

47 43 42 49

124

105

88
80 84

101

87 90

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

2
0
0
8
/0

9

2
0
0
9
/1

0

2
0
1
0
/1

1

2
0
1
1
/1

2

2
0
1
2
/1

3

2
0
1
3
/1

4

2
0
1
4
/1

5

2
0
1
5
/1

6

No.

Chart 12: Number of pregnant smokers in Lewisham 
who had quit at 4 week follow-up

Lost to follow-up

Non quits

Quits

Total setting quit
date

Source: Lewisham Stop Smoking Services

13

306 314
427

23133

780

668

977

449

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

Under 18 18-34 35-44 45-59 60 and
over

No.

Chart 13: Number of smokers in Lewisham who had 
quit at 4 week follow-up by age group, 2015/16

Lost to follow-

up

Non quits

Quits

Total setting a
quit date

Source: Lewisham Stop Smoking Services

609 682

1329

1578

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

Males Females

No.

Chart 14: Number of smokers in Lewisham who 
had quit at 4 week follow-up by gender, 2014/15

Lost to follow-
up

Non quits

Quits

Total setting a
quit date

Source: Lewisham Stop Smoking Services

Achievements

White

68%

Mixed

5%

Asian

4%

Black

14%

Other

3%

Not Stated

6%

Chart 15: Ethnic breakdown of number of smokers 
in Lewisham setting a quit date , 2015/16

Source: Lewisham Stop Smoking Services

White

71%

Mixed

5% Asian

4%

Black

12%

Other

3%

Not Stated

5%

Chart 16: Ethnic breakdown of number of smokers 
in Lewisham who quit, 2015/16

Source: Lewisham Stop Smoking Services

Public Health Outcomes: Tobacco Control

• Smoking status at time of delivery remains less than half that of England (SATOD) and almost half of pregnant smokers who are referred to the Stop Smoking Service successfully 

quit.

• There are a number of key actions identified at a local level in addition to national measures to reduce smoking prevalence. These include continued focus on enforcement (there has 

been significant success in seizures of illegal tobacco) and a stop smoking service for heavily addicted smokers.

• There has also been particular success in reaching smokers and encouraging them to quit in more deprived areas of the borough.



75.7

U75 CVD mortality 

rate/100,000

Lewisham

England

164.9

138.0

3 year rolling average 2007-09 2008-102001-03 2002-04 2011-13 2012-14

129.5

157.1 144.8150.5

120.9 112.3

2003-05 2004-06 2006-08

131.6

2005-07

134.9 109.7

105.1

87.096.2 90.5 84.9

84.0 80.8 77.893.1

2009-11 2010-12

Source

PHOF78.7

Lewisham

84.9

Previous 

period

88.6

118.4

99.0

England 

benchmark
Indicator

Under 75 Mortality from CVD (rate per 100,000) 87.0 similar

England

75.7

Direction from 

previous period
London

Latest 

period of 

availability

2012-14

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

2
0
0
1
-0

3

2
0
0
2
-0

4

2
0
0
3
-0

5

2
0
0
4
-0

6

2
0
0
5
-0

7

2
0
0
6
-0

8

2
0
0
7
-0

9

2
0
0
8
-1

0

2
0
0
9
-1

1

2
0
1
0
-1

2

2
0
1
1
-1

3

2
0
1
2
-1

4

DSR

Chart 1: Mortality rate from all circulatory diseases (ICD10 I00-I99) in persons aged 
< 75/100,000 (directly age-standardised) population. Lewisham compared to 

England

Lewisham
London
England

Source: http://www.phoutcomes.info

107.4 100.9 98.4 90.6 90.2 86.7 86.1 85.6 84.9 84.7 78.7 77.4

England

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

C
it
y
 &

 H
a
ck

n
e
y

B
a
rk

in
g
 &

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

B
re

n
t

W
a
lt
h
a
m

 F
o
re

st

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

L
a
m

b
e
th

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

L
o
n
d
o
n

C
ro

yd
o
n

DSR

Chart 2: Mortality rate from all circulatory diseases (ICD10 I00-I99) in persons aged < 
75/100,000 (directly age-standardised) population. Lewisham compared to its similar 

CCGs, London and England, 2012-14

Source: http://www.phoutcomes.info

Key Messages

• The rate of CVD mortality for persons under 75 in Lewisham is decreasing faster than that for England. However the Lewisham rate does remain higher than the London and national average 

(Chart 1).

• Benchmarking data by CCG is now available for Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm screening. Lewisham ranks in the middle of its peers, however fares signifcantly worse than England. (Chart 3)

• Stroke admissions have increased only slightly over the last three years but remain significantly higher than England. (Chart 5) Coronary Heart Disease admissions are decreasing slightly. (Chart 

4)

• The NHS Health Check programme aims to prevent heart disease, stroke, diabetes and kidney disease, and raise awareness of dementia both across the population and within high risk and 

vulnerable groups. In April 2013 the NHS Health Check became a mandated public health service in England. Local authorities are responsible for making provision to offer an NHS Health Check 

to eligible individuals aged 40-74 years once every five years. At least 20 per cent of the eligible population have been offered a health check annually. The annual % uptake rate is 32.6% in 

2015/16 (Chart 9), which was a decrease from 38.7% in 2014/15 and falls below the London level of 38.7% and England (44.4%) for 2015/16.

• The Health Check programme is increasingly reaching more men (46% in 2015/16, up from 44% in 2014-15) (Chart 16). The majority of people attending are in the younger age group (40-55 

years) with 40-44 year olds alone making up 9% of the total. (Chart 14)

Public Health Outcomes: CVD and Health Checks Programme

CVD - Trends/Benchmarks

82% 78% 76% 74% 72% 70% 69% 68% 67% 66% 59%

England
London

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

W
a
lt
h
a
m

 F
o
re

st

B
a
rk

in
g
 &

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

B
re

n
t

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

C
ro

yd
o
n

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

C
it
y
 &

 H
a
ck

n
e
y

L
a
m

b
e
th

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

%

Chart 3: Percentage uptake of males aged 65+ screened for Abdominal Aortic 
Aneurysm. Lewisham compared to its similar CCGs, London and England, 2014/15

Source: https://www.gov.uk/

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

4.5

5.0

2
0
0
9
/1

0

2
0
1
0
/1

1

2
0
1
1
/1

2

2
0
1
2
/1

3

Rate/
1000

Chart 4: CHD total admissions per 1000 population. Lewisham compared with England. 
Annual trends

England

Lewisham

Source: http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-practice

Health and Wellbeing Board Performance Metrics

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

2
0
0
3
-0

4

2
0
0
4
-0

5

2
0
0
5
-0

6

2
0
0
6
-0

7

2
0
0
7
-0

8

2
0
0
8
-0

9

2
0
0
9
-1

0

2
0
1
0
-1

1

2
0
1
1
-1

2

2
0
1
2
-1

3

2
0
1
3
-1

4

2
0
1
4
-1

5

ISR/
1000

Chart 5: Stroke admissions for persons of all ages. Directly age-standardised rates 
(DSR) per 100,000 population. Lewisham compared with England. Annual trends

Lewisham

England

Source: http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/cardiovascular

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

Estimated -
2011

Observed -
2014-15

Estimated -
2011

Observed -
2014-15

Estimated -
2011

Observed -
2014-15

Estimated -
2011

Observed -
2014-15

Expected -
2008/09

Observed -
2014-15

CHD COPD Hypertension Stroke Diabetes

%

Chart 6: Observed and expected conditions prevalence by Lewisham neighbourhood

N1 N2 N3 N4 Lewisham

Source: http://www.hscic.gov.uk/qof, http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-practice

8.0% 7.3% 6.6% 6.6% 6.3% 6.2% 6.1% 5.9% 5.7% 5.6% 5.2% 4.3%

England

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

9%

10%

B
re

n
t

B
a
rk

in
g
 a

n
d

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

C
ro

yd
o
n

W
a
lt
h
a
m

 F
o
re

st

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

L
o
n
d
o
n
 r

e
g
io

n

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

H
a
ck

n
e
y

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

L
a
m

b
e
th

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

%

Chart 7: Diabetes prevalence in persons aged 17+. Lewisham compared to its 
similar CCGs, London and England, 2014-15

Source: http://www.phoutcomes.info

12.3% 12.2% 12.1% 11.9% 11.3% 11.3% 11.1% 10.7% 10.5% 9.6% 9.6% 8.4%

England

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

C
ro

yd
o
n

B
re

n
t

B
a
rk

in
g
 a

n
d

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

W
a
lt
h
a
m

 F
o
re

st

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

L
o
n
d
o
n

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

C
it
y
 &

 H
a
ck

n
e
y

L
a
m

b
e
th

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

%

Chart 8: Hypertension prevalence in persons  of all ages. Lewisham compared to its 
similar CCGs, London and England, 2014-15

Source: QOF database (http://www.gpcontract.co.uk/)



Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

YTD

Source: QMS Health Check Focus

47.9%

45.2%

36.6%33.5%Lewisham

London

36.6%

2033

41.3%

1388

3449

40.7%

1201

2951

23.2%

1462

6295

2033

5561

5385

16057

Number Offered 55613362

Number Completed

% uptake

Number Offered

Number Completed

% uptake

Number Offered

Lewisham

Period 2015/16 2016/17

Number Completed

1334

38.7%

Number Offered

Number Completed

% uptake

Total Number Offered

Total Number Completed

England

% Uptake

% uptake

12.0%

3.1%

9.9%

0.7%

11.7%

2.4%

9.9%

0.5%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

Physical
activity

Stop smoking Diet/Weight
management

Alcohol

Chart 17: Referrals to lifestyle services as a 
percentage of all Health Checks

2014/15 2015/16

Source: QMS Health Check Focus

1%

38%
35%

23%

2%
1%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

U
n
d
e
rw

e
ig

h
t

(<
2
0
)

H
e
a
lt
h
y

(2
0
-2

4
.9

)

O
v
e
rw

e
ig

h
t

(2
5
-2

9
.9

)

O
b
e
se

(3
0
-3

9
.9

)

M
o
b
id

ly
 o

b
e
se

(>
=

4
0
)

U
n
sp

e
ci

f'
d

Chart 18:  Health checks by BMI status, 2015-16

Source: QMS Health Check Focus

Inactive, 24%

Mod. Inactive, 
19%

Mod. active, 
20%

Active, 34%

Unspecif'd, 3%

Chart 19: Physical activity status, 2015-16

Source: QMS Health Check Focus

Current 
smoker, 15%

Ex-smoker, 
15%

Non-smoker, 6%

Never smoked, 
39%

Unspecif'd, 25%

Chart 20: Smoking status, 2015-16

Source: QMS Health Check Focus

males, 
46%

females, 
54%

Chart 16: Health checks by gender, 2015-
16

Source: QMS Health Check Focus

17.1

13.2

19.0

20.7

17.1

0 10 20 30

Other

Asian/Asian
British

White

Black African

Black Caribbean

Rate/1000 

Chart 15: Rate of health checks per 1000 
population aged 40-74 by ethnicity, 2015-

16

Source: QMS HC Focus/2013 Low GLA Pop. Projections

3369

1078

190 373 159 26 73 36 7
0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

G
P
s

P
h
a
rm

a
cy

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

G
P
s

P
h
a
rm

a
cy

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

G
P
s

P
h
a
rm

a
cy

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

Low < 10% Moderate 10% - 20% High/Very high >20%

C
o

u
n

t 
(X

s
)

%
 (

co
lu

m
n
s)

Chart 13: CVD risk of Lewisham health checks by provider, 2015-16

Source: QMS Health Check Focus

Service Data

Activity Performance - NHS Health Check Programme

Normal 
(<=41), 1638, 

81%

Pre-diabetic 
(42-47), 320, 

16%

Type 2 Diabetic 
(>=48), 61, 

3%

Chart 21: Health checks by HbA1c screening/diabetes 
filter, 2015-16

Source: QMS Health Check Focus

< 5, 47.6%

5 to 5.9, 34.1%
6 to 7.4, 16.8%

>= 7.5, 1.5%

Chart 22: Health checks by cholesterol level, 2015-16

Source: QMS Health Check Focus

Regular, 87.2%

Irregular, 1.0%

Unspecified, 
11.9%

Chart 23: Health checks by pulse rhythm, 2015-16

Source: QMS Health Check Focus

9.0%

5.3%
4.6%

3.6%
3.2%

2.2% 1.9%

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

9%

10%

4
0
-4

4

4
5
-4

9

5
0
-5

4

5
5
-5

9

6
0
-6

4

6
5
-6

9

7
0
-7

4

>
=

7
5

Chart 14: Completed health checks as a % 
of GLA estimated total population by age 

band, 2015-16

Source: QMS HC Focus/2014 GLA Pop. Projections

GP Practice, 
3729, 71%

Com'ty 
Outreach, 223, 

4%

Pharmacy, 
1274, 25%

Chart 11: Total number of NHS health checks by 
Lewisham provider, 2015-16

Source: QMS Health Check Focus

86.9%

10.6%

2.0% 0.4%

Chart 12: CVD risk (QRISK2) of Lewisham health 
checks by risk category, 2015-16

Low < 10%

Moderate 10%
to 20%

High >20% to
30%

Very high
>30%

Source: QMS Health Check Focus

Public Health Outcomes: CVD and Health Checks Programme

66.0% 64.5% 55.3% 48.3% 47.0% 45.8% 42.6% 41.9% 39.2% 33.5% 17.3%

England
London

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

B
a
rk

in
g
 a

n
d

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

H
a
ck

n
e
y

B
re

n
t

W
a
lt
h
a
m

F
o
re

st

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

C
ro

yd
o
n

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

L
a
m

b
e
th

% uptake

Chart 9: Completed NHS health checks as a percentage of those offered to persons aged 40-74
Lewisham compared with its similar CCGs, London and England, 2015-16 

Source: http://www.healthcheck.nhs.uk

158.9 142.2 138.2 135.7 135.0 110.4 88.2 78.0 76.0 68.7 62.7

London
England

0

40

80

120

160

200

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

W
a
lt
h
a
m

F
o
re

st

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

B
re

n
t

H
a
ck

n
e
y

B
a
rk

in
g
 a

n
d

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

L
a
m

b
e
th

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

C
ro

yd
o
n

Rate
/1000

Chart 10: Completed NHS health checks per 1000 eligible population aged 40-74. Lewisham compared with its 
similar CCGs, London and England, 2015-16

Source: http://www.healthcheck.nhs.uk



 

Expected 

prevalence (%)

1.7%

Expected 

prevalence (%)

2013/14

11.3%

1.8%

 Hypertension 11.0% 11.3%

 Heart Failure 0.5% 0.5%

1.1%

0.5%

 Coronary Heart Disease 1.8%

 Stroke/Transient Ischaemic Attack 1.1% 1.1%

 Atrial Fibrillation 0.7%

2014/15

Recorded 

prevalence (%)

0.8% 0.8%

2012/13

QOF Indicator Recorded prevalence 

(%)

Expected 

prevalence (%)

Recorded 

prevalence (%)

Prevalence diagnosis in Lewisham

Achievements

Public Health Outcomes: CVD and Health Checks Programme

• The NHS Health Check programme is now in the 5th year which means local residents are now receiving a second inviation five years on. 
• Point of Care Blood Testing for cholestrol and HbA1C has been introduced into 20 GP surgery sites. These sites have seen an increase in Health Check numbers since their introduction.
• The Health Check programme is increasingly reaching more men (46% in 2015/16). The majority of people attending are in the younger age group (40-55 years).
• In 2015/16 the programme has identified 300 Lewisham residents at high risk of developing diabetes.



2007/08 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2007/08 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

10.6% 12.0% 12.3% 12.0% 12.0% 25.3% 24.3% 24.0% 24.0% 24.0%

10.6% 11.4% 10.7% 10.8% 11.0% 25.3% 25.0% 23.3% 24.3% 24.2%

2,625 3,223 3,565 3,487 3,615 2,522 2,420 2,442 2,672 2,857

87.0% 87.0% 87.0% 87.0% 87.0% 89.0% 89.0% 89.0% 89.0% 89.0%

87.0% 92.5% 93.3% 95.5% 94.0% 89.0% 93.4% 91.9% 93.1% 92.0%

Indicator

Q1 2015/16-Q4 

2015/16
75.7 -

60.7

23.7

38.9

45.8

Lewisham London

Excess weight in Children - Reception (%)

Excess weight in Children - Year 6 (%)

Maternal Excess Weight (%)

Breastfeeding Prevalance at 6-8 weeks (%)

22.2

37.2

-

2014-15

2014-15

2015-16

NCMP

Percentage of children with height and weight recorded who are obese (actual)

LGT

64.6

21.9

33.2

-

Excess weight in Adults (%) 58.42012-14

Percentage of children with height and weight recorded who are obese (target)

Number of children with height and weight recorded

Percentage of children with height and weight recorded (target)

Percentage of children with height and weight recorded (actual)

Year 6Reception Year

England
Latest period 

of availability

Direction from 

previous period
Source

42.8 NHS England

Active People Survey

NCMP

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2
0
0
6
/0

7

2
0
0
7
/0

8

2
0
0
8
/0

9

2
0
0
9
/1

0

2
0
1
0
/1

1

2
0
1
1
/1

2

2
0
1
2
/1

3

2
0
1
3
/1

4

2
0
1
4
/1

5

Chart 1: Percentage of school children in reception who are obese. Lewisham 
compared to London and England. Annual trends

Lewisham

London

England

Source: www.hscic.gov.uk/NCMP

1
3
.0

%

1
2
.8

%

1
2
.0

%

1
1
.3

%

1
1
.0

%

1
0
.6

%

1
0
.5

%

1
0
.2

%

1
0
.1

%

9
.9

%

9
.7

%

9
.7

%

England
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

H
a
ck

n
e
y

W
a
lt
h
a
m

F
o
re

st

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

L
a
m

b
e
th

B
re

n
t

L
o
n
d
o
n

H
a
m

m
e
rs

m
it
h

&
 F

u
lh

a
m

C
ro

yd
o
n

Is
lin

g
to

n

Chart 3: Reception year: annual percentages with 95% confidence intervals of obese 
children, 2014/15

Source: www.hscic.gov.uk/NCMP

2
7
.9

%

2
7
.2

%

2
5
.6

%

2
4
.5

%

2
4
.2

%

2
3
.8

%

2
3
.8

%

2
3
.3

%

2
2
.8

%

2
2
.6

%

2
2
.6

%

2
1
.5

%

England

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

L
a
m

b
e
th

H
a
ck

n
e
y

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

B
re

n
t

C
ro

yd
o
n

H
a
m

m
e
rs

m
it
h

&
 F

u
lh

a
m

Is
lin

g
to

n

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

L
o
n
d
o
n

W
a
lt
h
a
m

F
o
re

st

Chart 4: Year 6: annual percentages with 95% confidence intervals of obese 
children, 2014/15

Source: www.hscic.gov.uk/NCMP

Key Messages

Prevention and early intervention are the key to tackling obesity. To achieve this involves working in partnership to minimise the impact of the obesogenic environment and supporting a healthier built 
environment that encourages healthier eating and being active. Lewisham is a national pilot for the whole systems approach to obesity, working with Leeds Beckett University to understand what works to tackle 
obesity and share learning. 

Environment: Actions to support healthier eating and being active include being a key partner in developing a sugar smart campaign, promoting the uptake of the Daily Mile initiative in primary schools, a 
restrictive planning policy on new hot food take away establishments and a new borough wide community service to support communities on healthy eating and activity. 

Childhood obesity: Rates remain significantly higher than the England rate and for 2014/15 Lewisham remains in the top quintile (highest) of Local Authority obesity prevalence rates for Year 6. Reception 
year performance has improved and Lewisham is now in the second quintile. As in previous years the proportion of obese children in Year 6 was more than double that of Reception year children, similar to the 
national results. Local analysis of the data reveals that for the nine years data has been collected (2006/7 to 2014/15) there is slight variability but no consistent trend over the period in obesity rates in either 
cohort of children.  Actions to address this problem include building the local capabilities of the workforce though training on a variety of topics to promote healthy weight, provision of targeted and specialist 
weight management services accessible in community venues and the development of a ‘Health in Lewisham’ webpage on the council website to provide information and advice to support families achieve a 
healthy lifestyle.

Breastfeeding: Rates for both initiation and 6-8 weeks show improvement since 2013-14. All submitted data continue to meet the national validation criteria whereas many London boroughs still fail to meet 
the validation criteria. Actions to increase breastfeeding rates include working towards UNICEF Baby Friendly accreditation in the borough.  The community and hospital achieved stage two accreditation in 2014 
and are jointly working towards achieving stage 3 by the end of 2016. Lewisham Health Visiting service achieved their Stage 3 award in July 2016 with the support of Lewisham Children’s Centres and Lewisham 
Council’s Public Health Team. Lewisham Maternity services  are preparing for their Stage 3 assessment in December 2016.

Maternal obesity: Maternal obesity increases the risk of poor pregnancy outcomes and is a risk factor for childhood obesity. Data from Lewisham Hospital for 2015 indicates that maternal obesity rates are 
lower than those recorded in 2010-12 although there has been a slight increase in 2015.  Whether this reflects a change in the ethnicity of women booking for maternity care at the hospital is currently being 
investigated.  Actions to address this problem include ensuring that all obstetricians and midwives at the Trust have been trained in how to raise the issue of healthy weight with pregnant women and in 
ensuring that all women with a possible problem are referred appropriately. Preconceptual advice on healthy weight is also available for women themselves on the public health pages on Lewisham Council 
website (www.lewisham.gov.uk/health), links to which exist on the Trust website. The PH team have worked with Lewisham CCG and Lewisham hospital to design an improved care pathway for overweight and 
obese women who choose to have their babies at the hospital. This has also been the subject of a CQUIN in 2015-16.

Adult Obesity: The prevalence of obesity in adults and children in England has more than doubled in the last twenty-five years. A modelled estimate of adult obesity prevalence in Lewisham is 23.7% which is 
not significantly different to the England average, and indicates that around 53,000 residents are obese. Recently published data for Lewisham on the prevalence of excess weight (overweight and obese) in 
adults is 60.7%, similar to the national average but higher than the London average (58.4%). (Chart 12) A similar level of excess weight (57.9%) is seen in adults aged 40-74 years – monitored as part of the 
NHS Health Check programme. Chart 11 shows that GP Practices in Lewisham are notably under-reporting obesity.
Actions to address this problem include building the local capabilities of the workforce though training on a variety of topics to promote healthy weight, and provision of a range of weight management services.

Physical Actvity - Adults: Physical inactivity is the fourth largest cause of disease and disability in the UK. Reducing inactivity could prevent up to 40% of long term conditions (PHE 2014). In Lewisham the 
proportion of Adults (16+) classified as physically active is 58.8% which is not significantly different from that of England. Nationally, over one in four adults (28.7%) do less than 30 minutes of physical activity 
a week, and are classified as 'inactive'. The Lewisham proportion is similar at 27.1%.  NICE suggests all 'inactive' adults should be offered a PA BA intervention.  Lewisham residents are less likely to use outdoor 
space for exercise/health reasons than the England (13.2% compared to 17.9%). Over four in ten NHS Health Checks reveal that the patient is inactive to some extent (43%). 

Physical Actvity - Children: National surveys show that only a small proportion (20%) of children aged 5 to 15 years meet the Government recommendation for physical activity with children leading 
increasingly sedentary lifestyles. No information is available locally on activity levels of young children, but new data is now available from the WAY Survey for 15 year olds which shows just 11.3% are physically 
active for one hour every day.

Sport: Males particpipation in Sport has remained stable over the last ten years but women 's has decreased from a smaller starting point.

Performance Targets - Children

National Child Measurement Programme  - 2014/15

Public Health Outcomes: Whole System Approach to Obesity

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2
0
0
6
/0

7

2
0
0
7
/0

8

2
0
0
8
/0

9

2
0
0
9
/1

0

2
0
1
0
/1

1

2
0
1
1
/1

2

2
0
1
2
/1

3

2
0
1
3
/1

4

2
0
1
4
/1

5

Chart 2: Percentage of school children in year 6 who are obese. Lewisham 
compared to London and England. Annual trends

Lewisham

London

England

Source: www.hscic.gov.uk/NCMP

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

2
0
0
6
/0

7

2
0
0
7
/0

8

2
0
0
8
/0

9

2
0
0
9
/1

0

2
0
1
0
/1

1

2
0
1
1
/1

2

2
0
1
2
/1

3

2
0
1
3
/1

4

2
0
1
4
/1

5

Chart 5: Percentage of school children in reception with excess weight. Lewisham 
compared to London and England. Annual trends

Lewisham

London

England

Source: www.hscic.gov.uk/NCMP

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

2
0
0
6
/0

7

2
0
0
7
/0

8

2
0
0
8
/0

9

2
0
0
9
/1

0

2
0
1
0
/1

1

2
0
1
1
/1

2

2
0
1
2
/1

3

2
0
1
3
/1

4

2
0
1
4
/1

5

Chart 6: Percentage of school children in year 6 with excess weight. Lewisham 
compared to London and England. Annual trends

Lewisham

London

England

Source: www.hscic.gov.uk/NCMP

Health and Wellbeing Board Performance Metrics - Achieving a Healthy Weight



0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2
0
1
2
/1

3
 Q

2

2
0
1
2
/1

3
 Q

3

2
0
1
2
/1

3
 Q

4

2
0
1
3
/1

4
 Q

1

2
0
1
3
/1

4
 Q

2

2
0
1
3
/1

4
 Q

3

2
0
1
3
/1

4
 Q

4

2
0
1
4
/1

5
 Q

1

2
0
1
4
/1

5
 Q

2

2
0
1
4
/1

5
 Q

3

2
0
1
4
/1

5
 Q

4

2
0
1
5
/1

6
 Q

1

2
0
1
5
/1

6
 Q

2

2
0
1
5
/1

6
 Q

3

2
0
1
5
/1

6
 Q

4

Chart 7: Breastfeeding initiation and prevalence at 6 to 8 weeks in Lewisham

Initiated

Totally or
partially
breastfed

Totally
breastfed

Note:  empty markers mean that data for that quarter did not meet validation criteria
Source: NHS England/Department of Health

8.4%

16.2%

20.7%

24.4%

26.2%

29.8%

38.3%

40.9%

44.8%

44.9%

55.5%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Islington

Barking & Dagenham

Greenwich

Waltham Forest

Hammersmith & Fulham

City & Hackney

Croydon

Haringey

Lewisham

Wandsworth

Brent

Lambeth

Southwark

Chart 8: Exclusive breastfeeding prevalence at 6 to 8 weeks in Lewisham 
compared to NHS England Similar CCGs, 2015/16 Q4

Note:  empty bars mean that data did not meet validation criteria; missing bars denote no submission
Source: NHS England/Department of Health

Public Health Outcomes: Whole System Approach to Obesity

Trends/Benchmarks - Adults Weight

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2
0
1
3
/1

4
 Q

2

2
0
1
3
/1

4
 Q

3

2
0
1
3
/1

4
 Q

4

2
0
1
4
/1

5
 Q

1

2
0
1
4
/1

5
 Q

2

2
0
1
4
/1

5
 Q

3

2
0
1
4
/1

5
 Q

4

2
0
1
5
/1

6
 Q

1

2
0
1
5
/1

6
 Q

2

2
0
1
5
/1

6
 Q

3

2
0
1
5
/1

6
 Q

4

Chart 10: NHS Health Checks, Lewisham - % of persons aged 40-74 who are Obese 
(BMI>30) or carry Excess Weight (BMI > 25)

Excess
weight

Obese

Source: QMS Health Check Focus

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Underweight 4.6% 5.0% 5.2% 5.5% 5.1% 3.5%

Overweight 25.2% 27.0% 25.9% 25.3% 24.9% 27.7%

Obese 16.7% 16.4% 15.1% 14.8% 15.9% 16.1%

Excess Weight 43.7% 45.2% 42.9% 41.7% 42.8% 45.9%

Morbidly obese 1.8% 1.8% 1.9% 1.6% 2.0% 2.2%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 20152015
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%
Chart 9: Maternal Obesity at < 13 weeks gestation in Lewisham

Source: Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Chart 11: Adult obesity modelled estimates: % of persons 16+ in Lewisham 
with GP registered BMI > 30

2007-2013 estimates based on Health Survey for England
2014 estimate based on Active People Survey

Lewisham

England

Lewisham GP
registered BMI
> 30 (%)

Source: http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles

4
9
.6

%

5
0
.4

%

5
2
.1

%

5
2
.3

%

5
3
.3

%

5
5
.5

%

5
5
.7

%

5
8
.1

%

5
8
.4

%

5
9
.2

%

6
0
.7

%

6
3
.0

%

6
4
.0

%

6
4
.6

%

6
8
.4

%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

L
a
m

b
e
th

H
a
ck

n
e
y

H
a
m

m
e
rs

m
it
h

&
 F

u
lh

a
m

Is
lin

g
to

n

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

W
a
lt
h
a
m

F
o
re

st

L
o
n
d
o
n

B
re

n
t

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

C
ro

yd
o
n

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

E
n
g
la

n
d

B
a
rk

in
g

&
 D

a
g
e
n
h
a
m

Chart 12: Excess weight in Adults (%), Lewisham compared to NHS England 

Similar CCGs, 2012-14

Note:  Hammersmith &Fulham /Islington included for CYP Benchmarking 
Source: www.phoutcomes.info/

Physical Actvity - Trends/Benchmarks

Breastfeeding

6
9
.3

%

6
6
.1

%

6
0
.6

%

5
9
.7

%

5
8
.8

%

5
8
.2

%

5
8
.1

%

5
3
.8

%

5
1
.5

%

4
9
.2

%

4
6
.0

%

England

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

L
a
m

b
e
th

C
ro

y
d
o
n

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

W
a
lt
h
a
m

F
o
re

st

H
a
ck

n
e
y

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

B
re

n
t

B
a
rk

in
g
 a

n
d

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

Chart 13: Adults (16+) classified as physically active, i.e., 
achieving at least 150 minutes of physical activity/week. 

Lewisham compared to its similar CCGs and England, 2015 
(PHOF 2.13i)

Source: Active People Survey (www.phoutcomes.info)

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2
0
1
2

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

2
0
1
5

Chart 14: Adults (16+) classified as physically active, i.e., 
achieving at least 150 minutes of physical activity/week. 
Lewisham compared to London and England (PHOF 2.13i)

Lewisham

London

England

Source: Active People Survey (www.phoutcomes.info)

4
3
.7

%

3
4
.3

%

2
9
.0

%

2
8
.6

%

2
8
.2

%

2
7
.4

%

2
7
.1

%

2
5
.7

%

2
4
.9

%

2
3
.2

%

1
8
.7

%
England

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

B
a
rk

in
g
 a

n
d

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

B
re

n
t

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

H
a
ck

n
e
y

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

C
ro

y
d
o
n

W
a
lt
h
a
m

F
o
re

st

L
a
m

b
e
th

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

Chart 15: Adults (16+) classified as physically inactive. 
(less than 30 minutes exercise per week)      Lewisham 
compared to its similar CCGs and England, 2015 (PHOF 

2.13ii)

Source: Active People Survey (www.phoutcomes.info)

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2
0
1
2

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

2
0
1
5

Chart 16: Adults (16+) classified as physically inactive. (less 
than 30 minutes exercise per week)              Lewisham 

compared to London and England,
(PHOF 2.13ii)

England

Lewisham

London

Source: Active People Survey (www.phoutcomes.info)

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2005/06 2010/11 2015/16

Chart 17: CMO 3 x 30: % Male participation in at least 3 
days (on at least 12 days in last 4 weeks) sport and 

active recreation for at least 30 minutes

Lewisham London England

Source: Active People Survey

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2005/06 2010/11 2015/16

Chart 18: CMO 3 x 30: % Female participation in at 
least 3 days (on at least 12 days in last 4 weeks) sport 

and active recreation for at least 30 minutes 

Lewisham London England

Source: Active People Survey

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2
0
0
5
/0

6

2
0
0
7
/0

8

2
0
0
8
/0

9

2
0
0
9
/1

0

2
0
1
0
/1

1

2
0
1
1
/1

2

2
0
1
2
/1

3

2
0
1
3
/1

4

2
0
1
4
/1

5

2
0
1
5
/1

6

Chart 19: % Total adult participation in at least 3 days (on at  
least 12 days in last 4 weeks) sport and active recreation for 

at least 30 minutes

England London
Lewisham Linear (Lewisham)

Source: Active People Survey

1
6
.6

%

1
6
.0

%

1
5
.8

%

1
5
.0

%

1
4
.7

%

1
4
.2

%

1
3
.2

%

1
2
.1

%

9
.9

%

7
.2

%

England

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

L
a
m

b
e
th

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

B
re

n
t

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

W
a
lt
h
a
m

F
o
re

st

B
a
rk

in
g
 a

n
d

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

C
ro

y
d
o
n

H
a
ck

n
e
y

Chart 20: Adults (16+) using outdoor space for 
exercise/health reasons. Lewisham compared to its similar 

CCGs and England, Mar 2014 - Feb 2015  (PHOF 1.16)

Source: Natural Environment (MENE) survey

24%
19% 20%

34%

3%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

In
a
ct

iv
e

M
o
d
e
ra

te
ly

In
a
ct

iv
e

M
o
d
e
ra

te
ly

a
ct

iv
e

A
ct

iv
e

U
n
sp

e
ci

fi
e
d

%
 o

f 
in

d
iv

id
u
a
ls

 

Chart 21: Lewisham NHS Health Checks by physical 
activity status, 2015-16 

Source:  QMS Health Check Focus

5385 completed



Value Value

1230 1225

1189

8.7% 13.2%

5 2

60

38

34 12

133

69 194

1152 1172

3740 4069

1056 1080

632 579

1829 1488

48.1% 44.0%

87% 87%

63% 60%

92% 85%

43% 41%

46% 77%

181 267

55 145

12 46

339 285

54% 54%

50% 53%

134 120

41.3% 31.0%

26.0% 25.0%

63.0% 51.0%

735 447

249 428

122 75

465 195

284 149

21 16

1432 601

132 86

82% 85%

60.9%

129 450

300 397

16.1%

900

533

224 148

5071 13.2%

Proportion of the population meeting the recommended '5 a day' on a usual day 2014 2015

  Walking to School Once a Week (School Travel Plan)

Healthy Walks

Walking

Local Cycling Initiatives

Cycling

Exercise on Referral (EOR)

Number of EOR (16+) referrals received (Fusion Leisure Data). 2015/16 Q1+2 2015/16 Q3+4

Number of EOR referrals (16+) attended initial group assessment (Fusion Leisure 

data)
2015/16 Q1+2 2015/16 Q3+4

Number of EOR completers (Fusion Leisure Data) 2015/16 Q1+2 2015/16 Q3+4

Number of EOR referrals received (1Life) 2014/15

2015/16 Q4

M
e

n
d

Weight 

management 

Adults

W
e

ig
h

t 

W
a

tc
h

e
rs

No increase in BMI at 12 months

2015/16 Q1-3

Number of EOR initial assessments completed (1Life) 2014/15 2015/16 Q1-3

Vitamin D Number of parents registered

Number of tablets issued - pregnant women

Number of tablets issued - post-natal women

Mar-16Dec-15

Mar-16

2015/16 Q4

Numbers referred

% take-up KS2 free school meals (yrs 3-6) Mar-16

Dec-15

Dec-15

2015/16 Q3

Dec-15

Training

Number attending community cookery clubs

Children

Number of pupils particpating in the Daily Mile

Number of children registered

% take-up Secondary free school meals

Every Contact Counts Training

Number of children's drops issued

Total number of adults participating in the regular walks (on average at least once a 

week)

Total number of new walkers

Percentage of new walkers reporting doing more physical activity

Numbers completed

School meals

Number of EOR completers (1Life)

Number of Year 6 participating in Bikeability cycle training (Level 1 and/or level 2 

training)

Number of under 9's learn to ride sessions with parents

Number of adult cycle lessons delivered to beginners and improvers 16+ years

Number of adults who have taken up bike loan offer

Percentage of Adults who Do Any Cycling (PHE Fingertips)

Fruit and Veg Intake

% total take-up Secondary school meals

Weight watchers number referred

Childhood obesity training staff

% take-up KS2 paid school meals (yrs 3-6)

Number signed up to the sugar smart campaign

2014/15

New

Previous data

Planning applications for fast food outlets refused

Change for Life Get Moving Signups

2015/16

Use of outdoor space for exercise health reasons

Indicator (and frequency of reporting)

2013/14

Period

2014/15

2015

Feb-16

2015/16 Q4

2015/16 Q4

2015/16 Q4

2015/16 Q4

2015/16 Q4

2015/16 Q3-4

2015/16 Q3

2015/16

2015/16 Q3

2015/16 Q1-2

2015/16 Q4

2015/16 Q3

Mar-16

2015/16

2016/17 Q1

Change 4 Life sugar swap signups

Area

2013/14

Period

Current data

2015

Environment

Number of Breastfeeding Welcome venues

2016/17 Q1

% take-up KS1 Universal Infant FSM (yrs R,1,2) Month

Participants attending nutrition/weight management training

2015/16 Q3

Dec-14

2015/16 Q4>5% weight loss 2015/16 Q3

2014/15

Other Number of adults, 60+ yrs accessing free swimming 2014/15 2015/16

2014/15

2015/16 (Q1-3)

2015/16 (Q1-3) 2016/17 Q1-Q2

2016/17 Q1

2016/17 Q1-Q2

2014/15 2015/16 Q1-3

2015/16 Q3

Numbers recruited

2015/16 Q3D
ie

te
ti

c
 

W
e

ig
h

t 

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

S
e

rv
c
e

2015/16 Q4

2015/16 Q3

Weight 

management 

Children

% completed programme

2014/15 Q1+2 2015/16 Q1

2014/15 Q1+2

2014/15 Q1+2

2015/16 Q1

2015/16 Q1

2014/15

Percentage of Adults who do any walking, at least fives times per week (Department 

of Transport, Active People Survey)
2014/15

2015/16 (Q1-3)

2016/17 Q1

2015/16 Q3% completed programme

Number referred

% completed with >5% weight loss 2015/16 Q4

2015/16 Q3

2015/16 Q4

2015/16 Q4

2015/16 Q2

2015/16 Q3

Key Performance Indicators

Achievements

8
9

.2
%

9
1

.3
%

8
8

.9
%

8
4

.0
%

8
3

.9
%

8
0

.7
%

8
1

.4
%

8
4

.7
%

8
4

.0
%

8
2

.5
%

7
2

.2
%

England

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

H
a
ck

n
e
y

L
a
m

b
e
th

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

W
a
lt
h
a
m

F
o
re

st

C
ro

y
d
o
n

B
re

n
t

B
a
rk

in
g
 a

n
d

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

Chart 24: Percentage of adults who do any walking, at least once per week Lewisham 
compared to its similar CCGs and England, 2014-15

Source:  Department for Transport, Active People Suvey

1
5

.0
%

1
2

.3
%

7
.9

%

6
.2

%

6
.0

%

5
.8

%

5
.5

%

4
.0

%

3
.5

%

3
.2

%

2
.4

%

England
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

H
a
ck

n
e
y

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

L
a
m

b
e
th

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

W
a
lt
h
a
m

F
o
re

st

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

B
a
rk

in
g
 a

n
d

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

B
re

n
t

C
ro

y
d
o
n

Chart 25: Percentage of adults who do any cycling, at least three times per week. Lewisham 
compared to its similar CCGs and England, 2014-15

Source:  Department for Transport, Active People Suvey

7
7

.8
%

7
6

.0
%

7
3

.4
%

7
2

.5
%

7
2

.2
%

7
0

.7
%

7
0

.5
%

7
0

.1
%

6
9

.5
%

6
8

.4
%

6
4

.5
%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

B
a
rk

in
g
 a

n
d

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

L
a
m

b
e
th

H
a
ck

n
e
y

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

C
ro

y
d
o
n

W
a
lt
h
a
m

F
o
re

st

B
re

n
t

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

Chart 26: Percentage of 15 year olds with a mean daily sedentary time in the last 
week over 7 hours per day. Lewisham compared to its similar CCGs and England, 

2014-15

Source: WAY Survey (PHE Fingertips)

England

1
3

.1
%

1
2

.8
%

1
2

.1
%

1
2

.0
%

1
1

.4
%

1
1

.3
%

1
0

.9
%

1
0

.6
%

1
0

.4
%

9
.9

%

9
.8

%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt

h

B
a
rk

in
g
 a

n
d

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m

S
o
u
th

w
a
rk

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

L
a
m

b
e
th

W
a
lt
h
a
m

F
o
re

st

H
a
ck

n
e
y

B
re

n
t

C
ro

y
d
o
n

Chart 27: Percentage of 15 year olds physically active for at least one hour per day seven 
days a week. Lewisham compared to its similar CCGs and England, 2014-15

Source: WAY Survey (PHE Fingertips)

England

Public Health Outcomes: Whole System Approach to Obesity

• Breastfeeding: Community and maternity services achieved UNICEF Baby Friendly Initiative stage 2 award in 2014.

• Nutrition initiatives: Implementation of a universal vitamin D scheme reached 30% of eligible women and 50% of infants under 1 year.

• Physical activity: Implementation of a 20mph zone across Lewisham

• Healthier built environment: Successful in bid to be a national pilot for the Whole Systems approach to obesity.

• Obesity surveillance: High participation was achieved in the National Child Measurement Programme. Also weight management support, providing a range of programmes available for children and adults 

as part of a tiered referral pathway accessed by nearly 2,500 residents a year.

• Implementation of the Daily Mile: Currently 4 Primary Schools are taking part.

• Use of Outdoor Space for exercise/health reasons has increased.





Healthier Communities Select Committee

Title Healthwatch Mental Health Forum

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 6

Class Part 1 (open) 18 October 2016

1. Purpose

The report of the Healthwatch Mental Health Forum is attached. 

3. Recommendations

The Committee is asked to note this information report.

For further information, please contact John Bardens, Scrutiny Manager, on 
02083149976.





1 

 

 
 
  

 
 
 
The Healthwatch Croydon Forum, meeting quarterly, advises on our priorities & associated 
work programmes. The focus of this meeting was mental health, looking at the support 
residents require, the services they access, and how we, as a community, can raise 
awareness and maximise support.  
 
Working in partnership with Healthwatch Lewisham, Southwark and Lambeth, the event 
was attended by mental health service users, and their carers, from the boroughs served 
by South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (SLaM).  
 
At the table discussions, delegates raised issues around medication, service accessibility, 
information and advice, user involvement, awareness and carers. The following themes 
emerged: 

 
 

  Medication 

   
  It was commented that medication ‘can have side effects that can worsen, not improve  
  a person’s wellbeing’ and delegates considered whether clinicians were ‘target bound’  
  to prescribe medication, overlooking alternative approaches and talking therapies.’ In   
  one personal experience, a psychiatrist was persistent in offering medication that was  
  not wanted, and implied ‘discharge was conditional on acceptance’. 
 

  The Forum said: 
 

  Patients should be respected when reporting side effects, and alternative therapies  
  considered should the patient clearly not want, or has concerns about medication  
  offered. Is it appropriate for clinicians to ‘pressure’ patients, or make service aspects  
  (such as discharge) conditional on acceptance of medication? 
 
 

 
 

  Service Accessibility 

   
  Most services are now promoting online services - this will save resources but can be  
  ‘extremely problematic’ when trying to speak to someone. It was noted that referrals  
  to Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) can take a long time and social  
  worker allocation ‘may take up to ten months’. It was noted that eligibility criteria for  
  services is ‘shifting to a crisis’, rather than a preventative model. 
 

  The Forum said: 
 

  Getting ‘a human response’ is very important and automated systems should facilitate  
  access to staff or volunteers. There needs to be ‘better access’ to talking therapies and 
  social services in particular, with less waiting time. Would self-referral, or greater use  
  of key workers, assist in expediting treatment and care? In terms of prevention, is there  
  adequate focus and provision locally? 
 

  
 

 

 

Healthwatch Mental Health Forum 
 

                                                                                                                              4th August 2016 
 



2 

 

 

  Information and Advice 

   
  Delegates said ‘we need clear information on mental health services’, including what is  
  available, opening times, and what to do if you can’t get access. It was felt there is too  
  much ‘clinical-speak’ and residents need language they can understand. 
 

  The Forum said: 
 

  Services should use plain language wherever possible. Could we make better use of  
  the voluntary sector to advertise and to signpost – they already hold a ‘wide array of  
  information’. A one-stop-shop for information would be welcome. 
 
 

 
 

  User Involvement 

   
  One person commented ‘it’s only when you have mental health issues, you realise what  
  mental health is’ and delegates felt that having a ‘hidden condition’ is harder because  
  services may try to ‘fit you into a medical model’. Mental health and learning disabilities    
  are often ignored or overlooked, especially if clients have learned to mask their condition  
  in order to cope, or fit in with society.  
 

  The Forum said: 
 

  We need more integrated working and information sharing between services, to achieve  
  a holistic approach. Services need to be better at recognising and diagnosing mental  
  health conditions, this means they need to listen to patients, families and carers. 
 
 

 
 

  Awareness 

   
  Some ethnic minority communities feel ‘mental health is a western idea’, and lack of  
  understanding may deter people from accessing services. Men generally can be  
  reluctant to seek help, with high rates of suicide in males up to 43 years of age. 
 

  The Forum said: 
 

  There is need to create awareness among communities - publicity in social venues such  
  as churches and pubs would reach a wider section of society. People ‘should be  
  respected in their own needs’ and this requires person centred approaches which  
  recognise culture, age and gender.  
 
 

 
 

  Carers 

   
  ‘Care for the carers – who does?’ It was felt that families and carers need more support,  
  with better access to respite and carers assessments. Many carers ‘don’t want to discuss  
  their own mental health needs’, and the only time they come forward ‘is with an issue’.  
 

  The Forum said: 
 

  The mental health and wellbeing of carers should not be overlooked. Carers should be  
  encouraged and supported to get assessed, and access entitlements such as respite. 
 
 



3 

 

Our database contains emerging themes on mental health. In the afternoon session, we 
asked the following questions, framed in various sentiment, so see which resonated with 
the delegates. The trends may form the basis of future work on mental health. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix 1 contains all comments posted by delegates during the day. We would like to 
thank Healthwatch Lewisham, Southwark and Lambeth for supporting the event, and all 
those who attended and assisted on the day. 
 

 

  Agree or Disagree? 
 
 “Doctors can be too quick to reach for the medication. What about alternatives?”   
 Agree 
 

 “There is adequate funding for mental health services.” Disagree 
 

 “I would like a greater choice of services. I feel like a square peg in a round hole   
  sometimes.” Agree 
 

 “I wasn’t on the waiting list for too long.” Disagree 
 

 “The impact of mental health on carers and family members is not fully  
   recognised.” Agree 
 

 “My condition was diagnosed very quickly.” Disagree 
 

 “I got six sessions, but could really do with twice that…” Neither agree or 
disagree 
 

 “I am not too worried about the side effects of my medication.” Disagree 
 

  “I find it easy to talk about my condition within the community.” Neither agree  
  or disagree 
 

 “Getting a referral was a hassle, to be honest!” Agree 
 

 “GPs are very knowledgeable about mental health.” Disagree 
 

 “I find that services do work together and are joined-up.” Disagree 
 

 “Getting through to someone on the phone can be difficult.” Agree 
 

 “I know what to do in a crisis.” Neither agree or disagree 
 

 “I have been given a good level of advice and information.” Disagree 
 

 “I can usually get a GP appointment without difficulty.” Disagree 
 

 “I have a named key worker.” Agree 
 

 “Hidden conditions are much harder to treat than physical conditions.” Agree 
 

 “I feel listened to.” Disagree 
 





Healthier Communities Select Committee

Title Healthwatch report: People that don’t speak English and Access to Health 
and Wellbeing Services in Lewisham

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 7

Class Part 1 (open) 18 October 2016

1. Purpose

The Healthwatch report People that don’t speak English and Access to Health and 
Wellbeing Services in Lewisham is attached. 

3. Recommendations

The Committee is asked to note the report.

For further information, please contact John Bardens, Scrutiny Manager, on 
02083149976.





1 | P a g e  

 

    

 

Seldom Heard 

Speak Up 
People that don’t speak English and Access to Health 

and Wellbeing Services in Lewisham 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

May 2016 
Community House, South Street, Bromley, BR1 1RH, 0208 315 1916  



2 | P a g e  

 

 

Contents 

About Healthwatch Lewisham ............................................................... 3 

Who we engaged with? ........................................................................ 4 

Summary ........................................................................................ 4 

Summary of findings ........................................................................... 5 

NHS positive comments ..................................................................... 5 

GP positive comments ...................................................................... 5 

Difficulties in booking GP appointments ................................................. 5 

Using A&E and other services as a result of difficult GP access ...................... 7 

GP appointment time ....................................................................... 7 

Continuity of care – seeing the same GP ................................................. 7 

Staff Attitudes ............................................................................... 8 

Inadequate treatment ...................................................................... 8 

Paracetamol and low quality medicine .................................................. 9 

Inconsistency ................................................................................. 9 

Cultural differences ......................................................................... 9 

Mental Health .............................................................................. 10 

Interpreting ................................................................................ 10 

Conclusion .................................................................................... 11 

Recommendations ........................................................................... 11 

GP Services ................................................................................. 11 

Staff attitudes ............................................................................. 11 

Cultural Awareness ........................................................................ 12 

Information ................................................................................. 12 

Interpreting ................................................................................ 12 

Mental Health .............................................................................. 12 

Referrals .................................................................................... 12 

Medicine .................................................................................... 12 

Health Improvement ...................................................................... 13 

Appendix 2 - Healthwatch’s core functions .............................................. 14 

 



3 | P a g e  

 

About Healthwatch Lewisham 
 

1. What is Healthwatch Lewisham?    

Healthwatch Lewisham (HWL) is one of 152 local Healthwatch organisations that 

were established throughout England in 2013, under the provisions of the Health 

and Social Care Act 2012. The dual role of local Healthwatch is to champion the 

rights of users of health and social care services and to hold the system to account 

for how well it engages with the public. The remit of Healthwatch is as an 

independent health and social care organisation, representing the voice of local 

people and ensure that health and social care services are designed to meet the 

needs of patients, social care users and carers.   

Healthwatch also supports children, young people and adults in Lewisham to have 

a stronger voice in order to influence how health and social care services are 

purchased, provided and reviewed within the borough.  

Healthwatch’s core functions are:    

1. Gathering the views and experiences of service users, carers, and the wider 

community,   

2. Making people’s views known,   

3. Involving locals in the commissioning process for health and social care services, 

and process for their continual scrutiny,   

4. Referring providers of concern to Healthwatch England, or the CQC, to 

investigate,   



4 | P a g e  

 

5. Providing information about which services are available to access and 

signposting,   

6. Collecting views and experiences and communicating them to Healthwatch 

England,   

7. Work with the Health and Wellbeing board in Lewisham on the Joint Strategic 

Needs Assessment and Joint Health and Wellbeing strategy (which will influence 

the commissioning process).  

Who we engaged with? 
In late 2015, Healthwatch Lewisham engaged with communities that don’t speak 

English as their first language including Vietnamese, Tamil, Polish, Turkish and 

Refugee groups. We engaged with 95 individuals which covered a broad range of 

demographics. Many people engaged with were parents or carers and many 

recognised themselves as being disabled. The full breakdown of equality and 

diversity data can be found in our individual reports.  

Healthwatch is aware that due to limited resources we engaged with a relatively 

small samples of people from individual communities, especially in relation to 

refugees. Within this group we spoke to a small number of participants of Chinese 

and African origins. Healthwatch Lewisham would welcome the opportunity to 

conduct a broader research in future if additional resources become available.  

During the engagement HWL asked participants to share their experiences of 

health and social services both positive and negative. The questions asked covered 

access and general comments around health and social care.  

Healthwatch believes that it is important to highlight the issues faced by the 

communities as part of intelligence which can be used by providers and 

commissioners for learning and improvement of services. 

Summary 
Healthwatch discovered that people who don’t speak English as the first language 

often face similar issues to the general public such as difficulties in accessing GP 

services, problems with referrals and staff attitudes. However, we also found that 

there are additional barriers that participants experienced, such as lack of 

knowledge about local services available; lack of knowledge about how the system 

works and what to expect; difficulties in accessing translation services; and lack of 

clarity around eligibility.  

Some issues were specific to the communities and they were: 



5 | P a g e  

 

- Lack of trust towards medical professionals amongst some Polish 

participants, lack of referrals that leads to delayed diagnosis and treatment 

and use of private Polish clinics.  

- Lack of clarity of eligibility to translation services and translation quality for 

Vietnamese participants combined with cultural differences and lack of 

knowledge about local service provision and access 

- Self-selection of GPs that speak Tamil amongst Tamil participants (this 

finding is reflected in the number of translation requests for primary care – 

low and social care – high).  

- Turkish elders were generally happy with the GP services but there was a 

distinct lack of clarity around waiting times for referrals. Many participants 

were not happy with medicine replacements offered by pharmacies or 

doctors prescribing low quality medicine.  

- Refugee participants of Chinese origin complained about the lack of health 

checks available for younger people.  

Summary of findings 

NHS positive comments 

It is important to note that many of the focus group participants praised the NHS 

and said they are happy with the services they received in primary and secondary 

care settings. Many participants said they received excellent care and were 

treated appropriately. Others praised the excellent care they received from their 

GPs, maternity services and hospitals.  

GP positive comments  

Despite negative issues raised in regards to GP services, many participants 

confirmed they are very happy with their GPs. The most praised trait was their 

listening skills which ensured participants trusted their GPs and felt they were 

treated with respect. Most importantly those patients were happy with their 

treatment and the overall service they received. Participants agreed that ‘when 

the doctor listens, it makes the communication barrier narrower’. Participants 

also pointed out the importance of a positive attitude including a caring approach, 

making eye contact and making an effort to understand in spite of possible 

language barriers. Being referred for medical tests, explaining a diagnosis and 

treatment plans were also mentioned as being of a good standard. Being treated 

with respect, as opposed to looking at a computer screen, was also highlighted as 

positive attitude that made a big difference to participants.  

- Vietnamese participant: He (the GP) listened to my limited English. I 

showed him the old prescription so he understood’.  

Difficulties in booking GP appointments 

The research found that access to GP services is by far the biggest problem for the 

majority of the participants across all communities and age groups. There were 



6 | P a g e  

 

three subthemes that emerged: the waiting time for a pre-booked appointment; 

difficulties in booking urgent appointments; and an urgent appointment booking 

system.  

Many people, especially elderly and parents, complained they can only book 

appointments two, or three weeks in advance and these are not appropriate if you 

need to see a doctor urgently. 

Tamil elder: ‘At our age every day is a bonus. One day you might be OK but 

another you might not be. As a result you should be able to see a GP when you 

need to, not wait two weeks… There should be more urgent appointments 

available.’  

Healthwatch heard that people struggle with booking urgent appointments and 

that the booking system and appointment availability creates an impossible barrier 

that participants felt they cannot overcome. This issue was universal and shared by 

members of most communities.  

Vietnamese participant: Getting an appointment is so hard. They always say to 

ring back tomorrow’. But the same things happen the next day.’ 

Tamil elder: When you call in the morning the phone is engaged till 8.40am. You 

can hear the message ‘We’re very busy right now’. When you finally get through 

you hear: ‘all the appointments are gone’.  

Refugee, mother: ‘My daughter was unwell. I called the surgery from 8am, but 

the phone was engaged. When I finally got through there were no appointments 

left.’ 

Refugee participant: ‘I use three phones and ring on all of them and this way I can 

get an appointment.’ 

Tamil elder: ‘I had to fight for it’.  

Polish participant: I don’t use GPs as I can never book an appointment even if I 

try…’. 

Some participants complained about the booking system in surgeries. Those 

particularly unhappy were pointing out that in order to book an appointment they 

needed to queue outside the surgery which was particularly difficult for elderly 

participants and those with long term conditions. Healthwatch also heard many 

negative stories of phones being constantly engaged when they needed to book an 

urgent appointment.  

An elderly Vietnamese participant: ‘If I want to see a GP on that day I need to be 

ready by 7am.’ 



7 | P a g e  

 

Vietnamese participant: My son had a problem. He had a high temperature but 

the phone was always engaged. By the time I got through there were no more 

appointments.’ 

Using A&E and other services as a result of difficult GP access 

As a result of difficulties in booking urgent appointments many participants (both 

young and old) told Healthwatch they go to Accident and Emergency (A&E) to 

ensure they were treated.  

A refugee, mother: When you’re unwell and try to book an appointment they say 

the earliest one is in two weeks. I can’t hold on for two weeks. So I have no choice 

but to go to A&E.’  

Vietnamese participant: ‘I would go to the hospital (A&E) and wait there until I’m 

seen and treated’.  

Some participants use private health clinics if they can’t access GP services or they 

ae unhappy with the service.  

GP appointment time 

Some participants from various communities told Healthwatch they feel that the 

length of the appointment is too short and doesn’t allow them to fully 

communicate their problem. They felt that the appointments are rushed and not 

thorough which can jeopardise safety and effectiveness. Short appointment times 

made parents and the elderly anxious for their own or their children’s wellbeing. 

Refugee, mother: ‘I started explaining my daughter’s symptoms. The doctor 

replied ’That’s too much. It’s an emergency only appointment. Just tell me 

specifically what’s wrong with her now.’ 

Refugee, mother: ‘I didn’t expect that from a doctor (not giving the patient 

enough time to explain the symptoms in full)… Why am I here, if I can’t tell you 

what’s wrong?’ 

Refugee mother: ‘I booked an appointment to see my doctor. I had three 

problems. I only got 10 minutes. They said if you have three problems, make 

three appointments. I just wanted to get reassurance.’  

Continuity of care – seeing the same GP 

Seeing the same GP and consultants was important for participants when having 

appointments. Many complained that they rarely see the same person and need to 

start explaining issues from the beginning. Healthwatch noted that having the 

same GP or consultant creates a good patient – doctor relationship, builds trust, 

and saves appointment time.  

Refugee mother: ‘They keep reading and reading (patient’s notes) which takes 

ages.’ 



8 | P a g e  

 

Refugee mother:  ‘I want to see my own doctor. They don’t let me see him.’  

Staff Attitudes 

Doctors including GPs 

Many participants complained about the way doctors including GPs interact with 

them. Not listening to the patients and lack of eye contact combined with looking 

at a computer were often mentioned. Another negative observation was the 

doctor’s inability to engage with patients, some people felt their doctor was not 

listening and treated patients in an impersonal way. 

Refugee mother: ‘Doctors don’t listen anymore.’ 

Polish participant: ‘He [GP] is only looking at a computer. He treats me like a 

number’.  

Receptionists 

Healthwatch heard many participants agree that the reception staff at GP 

practices were not welcoming and impolite. This concerned participants and often 

created an obstacle at the first access point to services.  

Refugee mother: ‘When you ring to book an appointment, the receptionists are 

rude.’ 

Refugee mother: [When she rings the surgery] ‘The response is not welcoming. 

They don’t speak to you politely.’ 

Refugee mother: ‘The Rude receptionist discourages me from ringing for my 

appointment. As a result I go to A&E as I don’t want to book or ring again.’ 

Vietnamese participant: ‘GP receptionists should treat people with more respect’ 

and ‘be more mindful when dealing with people who don’t speak English as their 

first language.’  

Inadequate treatment 

Referrals 

Many participants complained about their GPs not referring them to services. In 

their eyes it delays diagnosis and treatment of conditions experienced by patients. 

Participants said some GPs are not interested in getting ‘to the bottom of the 

problem’ but prescribe medicine to control the symptoms.  A few participants 

shared their experience of waiting for months, even years, to be diagnosed and 

treated. One patients said her husband passed away as a result of a late diagnosis 

of cancer, despite trying to raise the issue several times with their GP.  

Polish participant: ‘I haven’t got a good experience with GPs. They don’t want to 

send for tests and don’t give referrals. It is difficult to have tests and diagnosis 

for serious illnesses such as cancer. We were waiting a long time for someone to 



9 | P a g e  

 

react (to pay attention and diagnose cancer) so we took matters in our own hands 

and found a doctor who did something about our concerns’.  

Polish participant: ‘My husband fainted and had a seizure but he didn’t get a 

referral for an MRI scan or any other tests’.  

Polish participant: ‘I had to fight for it [A referral to a medical test]’.  

Polish participant: ‘It’s very hard for an elderly person to receive a referral 

despite requesting one…’. 

Paracetamol and low quality medicine 

Some participants were unhappy with the quality of the treatment they received 

from GPs and told Healthwatch Lewisham that ‘Doctors here cannot give anything 

but paracetamol’ often not finding the route of the problem. Conversely one 

participant praised her doctor saying ‘She doesn’t just prescribe paracetamol.’  

Others complained about the low quality of medicine that doctors prescribe and 

the replacement medication that pharmacists dispense as an alternative to the 

original prescription. Participants told Healthwatch they believe the original works 

better than the alternative medication they received. Some participants also 

complained about the low quality of medicine prescribed.  

Inconsistency 

Healthwatch found out that there was an inconsistency of care especially in 

relation to GPs services (including standard of care and attitude) and interpreting. 

It is worth pointing out that many participants were unhappy with the care they 

received whereas others had an opposite experience and praised their doctors for 

being caring and listening. 

Vietnamese participant: [The quality of service] ‘depends on who you see.’ 

Vietnamese participant: ‘Some GPs are good and some are very bad. I had to 

change my GP as he did not treat me seriously. He didn’t explain his diagnosis or 

opinion and didn’t give me reassurance. The new GP is very thorough and caring.’ 

Cultural differences 

This theme was varied according to the specific communities engaged with. Many 

participants seemed to project experiences of their previous health systems on the 

NHS, such as expectation for the front line staff to be qualified pharmacists and an 

expectation to be eligible for an annual health check as a preventative measure. 

Healthwatch found that lack of knowledge about the NHS system and local service 

accessibility created confusion and unnecessary frustration amongst participants. 

Due to language barriers some participants found it difficult to access information 

about services provided both locally and nationally.  



10 | P a g e  

 

Mental Health  

Healthwatch noted a distinct lack of experiences related to mental health issues. 

However the evidence indicates many participants were experiencing issues with 

their mental health, with many community leaders indicating this is an issue that 

many people are affected by. Community members were interested in  Improving 

Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) services and many asked Healthwatch for 

information about the referral process and contact details. During our engagement 

we collected information in relation to long term conditions and we noted some 

participants referred to experiencing stress, low mood and feeling depressed. This 

suggests that mental health is shrouded in stigma and members of the community 

do not disclose their problems openly. In addition, we discovered that language 

barriers makes the diagnosis of mental health conditions such as dementia and 

depression difficult and decreases access to services including talking therapies.  

Interpreting 

Many members of the communities did not express the need to access interpreting 

services and the need for the service differed amongst the communities. Those 

who needed to access the interpretation services had varied experiences with 

some being content with the service whilst others often used family members to 

help out. Other people struggled with problems in relation to translation services 

including availability criteria, quality, and cancellation of translation sessions 

resulting in cancellation of appointments (including hospital appointments). 

Healthwatch found that the Vietnamese community experienced the most negative 

issues relating to interpreting services. One of the suggestions this community 

raised is to have access to an advocate service with Vietnamese speaking personnel 

who could translate medical letters and help to book appointments and navigate 

the system.  

Vietnamese participant: ‘I’ve waited for half an hour for an interpreter, despite 

my appointment being booked in advance.’ 

Vietnamese participant: ‘I waited 20 minutes for an interpreter at a hospital. No 

interpreter was provided and I was told to go home and bring a relative to the re-

booked appointment.’ 

Vietnamese participant: [Interpreters are] ‘Young students who don’t understand 

Vietnamese people who live in London and don’t know the medical language very 

well.’ 

Vietnamese participant: ‘The current interpreters don’t know patients and can’t 

communicate the message properly. It’s important to understand cultural 

differences and (different) Vietnamese accents.’ 

http://www.iapt.nhs.uk/
http://www.iapt.nhs.uk/


11 | P a g e  

 

Conclusion 
Healthwatch found that a lot of issues faced by communities that do not speak 

English as their first language experience similar issues as the general population 

such as difficulties in accessing GP services and dissatisfaction with NHS staff 

attitudes. Positive comments that were common to many groups were general 

satisfaction with NHS, appropriate treatment and satisfaction with doctors. Each 

group had individual issues that were important to them and this was often driven 

by the demographic of the participants. For example the refugee group consisted 

mainly of mothers and the comments focused on access to services when children 

were unwell; the Tamil participants who were mainly elderly with multiple long 

term conditions commented on the short time (5-10 minutes) during GP 

appointments. Another significant issue for this group was choosing GPs who speak 

Tamil in order to enable easier communication and to remove the access barrier.  

The issues experienced by people who do not speak English as their first language 

are often exacerbated by communication barriers and by a lack of knowledge 

about NHS provision both locally and nationally.  

Recommendations 
As a result of our findings through our engagement with people who don’t speak 

English as their first language in the borough, Healthwatch Lewisham sets out the 

following recommendations to improve access to services for those communities.  

 
COMMISSIONERS AND PROVIDERS:  
 

GP Services 

- Improve access to GP services including improving access to urgent appointments 
and improving booking systems. Consideration should be given to people with 
communication barriers especially elderly, parents of young children and those 
with long term conditions.  

- Increase the length of GP consultation appointments for people who experience 
communication problems especially the elderly, parents and those with long term 
conditions to allow safe and effective diagnosis and treatment. 

- Improve waiting times at GP services and provide information and explanations 
for delays when they occur.  

- Make appointments with a named GP more readily available. 

 

Staff attitudes 

- Identify, promote and encourage existing good practice amongst GPs including a 
caring approach, good listening skills and strong communication when faced with 
communication barriers.  



12 | P a g e  

 

- Improve staff attitudes towards patients by increasing the emphasis on listening 
to the patient, and by taking time to understand the community members.  

 

Cultural Awareness 

- Provide appropriate training for staff to enable improved communication and 
cultural awareness.  

 

Information 

- Provide information about services available locally, how to access them, what to 

expect with focus on vulnerable groups and migrants that are new to the system 

and do not speak English as their first language. The information could be in the 

form of a booklet or as information sessions delivered through local groups.   

Interpreting 

- Clarify and publicise the eligibility criteria for interpreting services for Lewisham 
residents.  

- Improve access to interpreting services.  

- Consider investing in local service providers for the provision of face to face 
interpreting services and advocacy.  

 

Mental Health 

- Improve diagnosis and support for people with mental health issues who don’t 
speak English as their first language.  
 

Referrals 

-Inform the patient about the expected waiting time for a referral. Provide an 
acknowledgement so the patient is reassured of the access to service.  
- Explain to patients what tests they are being referred for and the reason for the 
referral.  
- Ensure patients understand the treatment plan and treatment options available 
to them such as medical test or escalation to the specialists.  
 

Medicine 

- Clearly explain the reason for prescribing a particular medicine and keep the 

patient informed and involved when an alternative is offered. 

- Enable and encourage health professionals to seek confirmation that the patient 

understands how the prescribed medicines work, the side effects and the correct 

dosage and to give patients the opportunity to ask questions about their 

medicines.  



13 | P a g e  

 

Health Improvement 

- Continue to support and fund established groups to deliver health improvement 

training including self care for long term conditions and a healthy eating courses.  

  



14 | P a g e  

 

 

Appendix 2 - Healthwatch’s core functions 

They are: 

 Gathering the views and experiences of service users, carers, and the wider 

community 

 Making people’s views known 

 Involving locals in the commissioning process for health and social care 

services, and process for their continual scrutiny 

 Referring providers or services of concern to Healthwatch England, or the CQC, 

to investigate 

 Providing information to the public about which services are available to access 

and signposting people to them 

 Collecting views and experiences and communicating them to Healthwatch 

England 

 Work with the Health and Wellbeing board in Lewisham on the Joint Strategic 

Needs Assessment and Joint Health and Wellbeing strategy (which will influence 

the commissioning process).  
  



15 | P a g e  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Seldom Heard Speak Up – People who don’t speak English as their first language 

and Access to Health and Wellbeing Services in Lewisham. 

© Healthwatch Bromley 2016  

Healthwatch Bromley has been commissioned by the London Borough of Lewisham 

to deliver Healthwatch Lewisham. The text of this document (this excludes, where 

present, the Royal Arms and all departmental and agency logos) may be 

reproduced free of charge in any format or medium providing that it is reproduced 

accurately and not in a misleading context. The material must be acknowledged as 

Healthwatch Bromley copyright and the document title specified. Where third 

party material has been identified, permission from the respective copyright 

holder must be sought.  Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to 

us at info@healthwatchlewisham.co.uk.  You can download this publication from 

www.healthwatchlewisham.co.uk 

 





Healthier Communities Select Committee

Title Healthwatch report: The Refugee Community and Access to Health and 
Wellbeing Services in Lewisham

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 8

Class Part 1 (open) 18 October 2016

1. Purpose

The Healthwatch report The Refugee Community and Access to Health and 
Wellbeing Services in Lewisham is attached. 

3. Recommendations

The Committee is asked to note the report.

For further information, please contact John Bardens, Scrutiny Manager, on 
02083149976.





1 | P a g e  

 

    

 

The Refugee Community and 

Access to Health and Wellbeing 

Services in Lewisham 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

May 2016 

Community House, South Street, Bromley, BR1 1RH, 0208 315 1916  



2 | P a g e  

 

 

Contents 

1. About Healthwatch Lewisham .......................................................... 3 

2.   Acknowledgements ....................................................................... 4 

3.   The Refugee community of Lewisham ................................................. 4 

4.   Purpose of the engagement ............................................................. 5 

5. Methodology ............................................................................... 7 

6. Findings: The Themes .................................................................... 8 

6.1 Difficulties in booking GP appointments ............................................ 8 

6.2 Using A&E as a result of not being able to see a GP............................... 8 

6.3 GP appointment duration.............................................................. 8 

6.4 Service availability when children are unwell ...................................... 9 

6.5 Staff attitudes ........................................................................... 9 

6.6 Continuity of care .................................................................... 10 

6.7 Issues in relation to A&E ............................................................. 10 

6.8 Mental Health ......................................................................... 10 

6.9 Health checks ......................................................................... 11 

6.10 Translation ........................................................................... 11 

7. Conclusion ................................................................................. 11 

8. Recommendations ........................................................................ 12 

9. Appendices ................................................................................ 13 

Appendix 1 – Equality and Diversity Data and Long Term Conditions .............. 13 

 

 

 

  



3 | P a g e  

 

1. About Healthwatch Lewisham 
 

Healthwatch Lewisham (HWL) is one of 152 local Healthwatch organisations that 

were established throughout England in 2013, under the provisions of the Health 

and Social Care Act 2012. The dual role of local Healthwatch is to champion the 

rights of users of health and social care services and to hold the system to account 

for how well it engages with the public. The remit of Healthwatch is as an 

independent health and social care organisation, representing the voice of local 

people and ensure that health and social care services are designed to meet the 

needs of patients, social care users and carers.   

Healthwatch also supports children, young people and adults in Lewisham to have 

a stronger voice in order to influence how health and social care services are 

purchased, provided and reviewed within the borough. 

 

Healthwatch’s core functions are:    

1. Gathering the views and experiences of service users, carers, and the wider 

community,   

2. Making people’s views known,   

3. Involving locals in the commissioning process for health and social care services, 

and process for their continual scrutiny,   

4. Referring providers of concern to Healthwatch England, or the CQC, to 

investigate,   

5. Providing information about which services are available to access and 

signposting,   



4 | P a g e  

 

6. Collecting views and experiences and communicating them to Healthwatch 

England  

7. Work with the Health and Wellbeing board in Lewisham on the Joint Strategic 

Needs Assessment and Joint Health and Wellbeing strategy (which will influence 

the commissioning process).  

2. Acknowledgements 
Healthwatch Lewisham would like to thank Action for Refugees in Lewisham for 

providing a platform to engage with their members.  

We would like to encourage people who speak up on behalf of seldom heard groups 

to consider this report in their work and to consider joining Healthwatch Lewisham 

to amplify this voice. 

3. The Refugee community of Lewisham 
Lewisham has a population of about 286,000 people and is the 15th most ethnically 

diverse local authority in England with two out of every five residents from a black 

and minority ethnic (BME) background. 1 

Figure 1 shows the breakdown of ethnic groups in the borough cited in the 

Lewisham Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 2016. Non-white ethnic groups 

in Lewisham account for 41% of the population. 

Action for Refugees in Lewisham support 130 refugees and asylum seekers a week 

through their advice services. 2 

                                         

1 Lewisham’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2016 (http://www.lewishamjsna.org.uk/) 
2 http://www.afril.org.uk/en/ 



5 | P a g e  

 

 

Figure 1 3 

4. Purpose of the engagement  
National evidence suggests that public bodies and 

services need to do more to take protected 

characteristics within communities into account 

when developing services. The Department of 

Health in 2012 published an NHS Patient 

Experience Framework developed by the NHS 

National Quality Board. It provides evidence 

based guidance on a number of issues known to 

affect the patient experience.4 These include the 

need for cultural issues to be respected, the need for information, communication 

and education as well as the need for emotional support.  

People from BME communities report numerous issues with access to health 

services. Barriers include dissatisfaction with mainstream services which they 

perceive as lacking in understanding and consideration. This situation can result in 

poorer health compared to other groups, with unnecessary visits to Accident and 

                                         

3 Lewisham JSNA, 2016 
4https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215159/dh_132
788.pdf 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215159/dh_132788.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215159/dh_132788.pdf


6 | P a g e  

 

Emergency, higher rates of hospital admission, and the likelihood of more 

complex, intrusive interventions.5 

Asylum seekers are at risk of developing poor health as a result of a number of 

issues such as difficulty in accessing healthcare services, lack of awareness of 

entitlement, problems in accessing primary and community healthcare services 

and language barriers.6 Asylum seekers may experience conditions which originate 

from physical or mental torture, trauma or harsh conditions. They also experience 

a higher rate of mental health issues. Research suggests that health problems 

increase during an asylum seeker or refugee’s time in the UK. In addition failed 

asylum seekers postpone treatment of minor medical problems that may develop 

into more serious illnesses (in order to reach a threshold at which they will be 

treated in Accident & Emergency services). 7 

In addition to the health inequalities many asylum seekers and refugees in 

Lewisham who have experienced violence and deprivation may have limited 

knowledge of English and lack support systems. Families supported by Action for 

Refugees in Lewisham (AFRIL) live in poverty, and some are destitute; they do not 

have regular meals and often cannot afford suitable clothing.8 

Through this report, Healthwatch Lewisham draws attention to the experiences of 

access to health and social care services faced by members of the refugee 

community living in Lewisham. The report presents themes that emerged through 

Healthwatch engagement and highlights the key issues that are important for this 

community. Recommendations are provided, where possible, to support decision 

making and commissioning of services which will improve access for this 

community.  

The report will be submitted to commissioners at the NHS Lewisham Clinical 

Commissioning Group and Lewisham Council to the Lewisham Health and Wellbeing 

Board, Lewisham Healthier Communities Select Committee, Healthwatch England 

and local providers of services. The report will be made public on Healthwatch 

Lewisham website.  

                                         

5 Good Access in Practice, BME Health Forum 2010 
6 http://www.fph.org.uk/uploads/bs_aslym_seeker_health.pdf 

7 http://www.refugee-action.org.uk/assets/0000/5833/Department_of_Health_-
_Review_of_access_to_the_NHS_for_foreign_nationals.pdf 
8 According to Action for Refugees in Lewisham (AFRIL) 



7 | P a g e  

 

5. Methodology  
The evidence in this report was gathered through a focus group organised in 

partnership with Action for Refugees in Lewisham in the latter part of 2015. The 

group consisted of women from Chinese and African backgrounds.  

In order to ensure that people felt comfortable about sharing their experiences, 

engagement was supported by an interpreter who was known to the participants 

and was part of the community. The interpreter was invaluable in supporting the 

process and acted as a bridge between HWL and this close knit community.  

Participants were asked to share any experiences that had taken place in the last 

12-24 months.  

HWL gathered equality and diversity data alongside that evidencing the prevalence 

of long term conditions amongst the participants. This can be found in Appendix 1.  



8 | P a g e  

 

6. Findings: The Themes 

6.1 Difficulties in booking GP appointments 

The majority of participants said that booking an appointment was extremely 

difficult. They were unhappy that they faced problems at the very first stage of 

trying to access the service. Most of the participants were mothers who explained 

that the inability to access a GP when they needed was problematic. They felt 

concerned when their children were unwell and needed to seek advice from a 

medical professional, however this was not always possible. One participant said 

‘My daughter was unwell. I called the surgery from 8am, but the phone was 

engaged. When I finally got through there were no appointments left.’ Another 

participant shared a method she uses to ensure she gets through to a surgery on 

the phone. ‘You need more than two phones. I use three and ring on all of them 

and this way I can get an appointment.’ Although it works for her, she 

acknowledged that not everyone has the resources and time to do this. Another 

participant who has young children mentioned that the booking system is too strict 

and if ‘you miss the narrow time slot in which you can ring, there is no chance to 

see a doctor that day.’ She said that being a busy mum and having a lot on her 

mind can mean that it is difficult to remember or be available to call during a 

limited time frame.  

6.2 Using A&E as a result of not being able to see a GP 

Many participants confirmed that they have used a Walk in Centre in the past, 

however the majority agreed they go to Accident and Emergency (A&E) to access 

medical help for their children or themselves. One participant summed up the 

group’s experience by saying: ‘When you are unwell and try to book an 

appointment they say the earliest one is in two weeks. I can’t hold on with the 

sickness for two weeks. So I have no choice but to go to A&E’.  

6.3 GP appointment duration 

The majority of participants expressed their concern about not having enough time 

during an appointment. They felt that the appointments are rushed, not thorough 

and as a result unsafe and ineffective. Many participants told Healthwatch that 

this makes them feel anxious for their children’s health and wellbeing. One 

participant told Healthwatch her experience at a GP appointment and a reaction 

she received:  ’I started explaining my daughter’s symptoms. The doctor replied 

“That’s too much. It’s an emergency only appointment. Just tell me specifically 

what’s wrong with her now.’  The patients felt shocked and anxious. She felt all 

the symptoms were important as this could impact on the diagnosis of the 

condition. She was extremely worried about her daughter’s health and left the 

appointment very upset. She expressed her frustration saying: ‘I didn’t expect that 

from a doctor... Why am I here, If I can’t tell you what’s wrong?’ Another 

participant expressed her sympathy towards doctors and blamed the system 

explaining it is set up to fail both patients and doctors. Later she added that ‘The 



9 | P a g e  

 

doctors pass the pressure onto us.’ Participants felt it was a waste of everyone’s 

time to book separate appointments for different issues. They felt that the 

appointments are difficult to arrange so once a person manages to book one, they 

should be able to express all their concerns or have enough time to address an 

issue in full. Another participant agreed: ‘I booked an appointment to see my 

doctor. I had three problems. I only got 10 minutes with them. They said if you 

have three problems, make three appointments. I just wanted to get 

reassurance.’ Another participant added that when she tries to describe her 

symptoms doctors say: ‘no that’s enough’ and don’t let the patients express their 

concerns in full.  

6.4 Service availability when children are unwell 

The theme of service availability touches upon issues previously mentioned in this 

report, however it is important to highlight, as it captures a specific issue faced by 

mothers of young children and was shared by the majority of the participants. The 

mothers said they were confused about where they can go when their children are 

unwell. The GPs were hard to access and at A&E they were told the problems were 

too trivial for the service. This left them worried about their children’s health and 

wellbeing. They felt left with no options and did not know where to go to get help. 

The participants understood that children are often unwell but were extremely 

worried to see their children with symptoms such as high temperature, vomiting, 

tired and listlessness amongst others. Participants agreed they needed a service 

that they could access without barriers to reassure them and rule out any 

potentially dangerous conditions.  

6.5 Staff attitudes 

Some participants felt there was an issue with staff attitudes. This applies to two 

categories of staff: GPs and receptionists 

In relation to GPs participants said that some doctors are not good listeners. One 

participant said ‘Doctors don’t listen anymore’. This is linked with not having 

enough time during appointments and as a result participants felt that GPs didn’t 

appear concerned about patient wellbeing. The research found that in many cases 

there is no relationship between doctors and patients which indicates a lack of 

trust. 

Comments reflecting on reception staff at GP surgeries were mostly negative. For 

example, one participant highlighted ‘When you ring to book an appointment, the 

receptionists are rude.’ Another participant added ‘The response is not 

welcoming. They don’t speak to you politely.’ More participants echoed this issue. 

One participant said that having a ‘rude receptionist discourages me from ringing 

for my appointment. You go to A and E as you don’t want to book or ring again.’ 



10 | P a g e  

 

6.6 Continuity of care 

For some participants continuity of care was an issue. They felt seeing the same 

GP was important in order to ensure good and safe care especially for those with 

long term and chronic conditions. Having the same doctor not only ensured a good 

patient-doctor relationship but could speed up the appointment time. A female 

participant complained about seeing different doctors each time she booked an 

appointment: ‘They keep reading and reading which takes ages’. Despite many 

participants valuing continuity of care, they hardly ever saw the same doctor. 

When requesting to see a particular GP a participant reported the receptionist 

usually says that the doctor of their choice is ‘not available to see you’. Another 

participant added: ‘I want to see my own doctor. They don’t let me see him.’  

6.7 Issues in relation to A&E 

A few participants mentioned experiences that didn’t come under the main 

themes, however it is important to include these in the report.  

A participant described a situation where someone she know fainted. This person 

was alone at home with her primary school age child. The child rang an ambulance 

and asked for help. He got asked a series of questions he couldn’t answer and he 

was asked to pass the receiver to his mum who at that time could not speak. The 

child grew anxious and confused. As a result he gave up trying to speak on the 

phone and got upset. The ambulance did not respond to his call. Luckily a passer-

by spotted the situation through the window and called an ambulance, which 

eventually arrived accompanied by the police. Participants were worried about 

this situation and felt the ambulance crew should have arrived even though the 

protocol questions were not answered. They also felt the ambulance call handler 

should have been sensitive and responsive about the fact that a child called 

instead of an adult. It was a very worrying and potentially dangerous situation and 

participants were concerned this could happen to single parents or when they are 

alone with their children.  

Another participant shared her experience during a visit with her child to A&E. 

After her child was assessed she was told to go home and give the child 

paracetamol. She told the doctor she did not have any at home and did not 

currently have money to buy some. It was late in the evening and she asked to be 

given enough medicine to last a few doses. The medical staff weren’t sympathetic 

to her request, and the mother grew anxious her child would be left without the 

medication. 

6.8 Mental Health 

Despite no individuals sharing any mental health related experiences, many 

participants were interested in the Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 

(IAPT) service signposted by Healthwatch and noted down the details of the 

service. Many were not aware that they could access support including talking 

https://slam-iapt.nhs.uk/


11 | P a g e  

 

therapies to lower mood and stress. This suggests that there is lack of awareness 

amongst the community about the services available to them locally. A report from 

Mind in 2009 asserted that refugees experience a higher incidence of mental 

distress than the wider population. Some of the distress can be linked to 

experiences in their home countries, however there is evidence that many 

refugees can develop poor mental health as a result of difficult living 

circumstances experienced in the UK.9  Based on the fact that the majority of the 

participants were not aware of the IAPT service but were interested in the service 

suggest that many mental health issues that refugees are experiencing might not 

be diagnosed and/or treated.   

6.9 Health checks 

The majority of participants of Chinese origin were concerned about the lack of 

health checks that they said were available in China. The health checks included a 

GP visit and various phlebotomy tests. The reason for the health checks would be 

to determine any conditions that might be ‘hidden’, at early stages without 

showing obvious symptoms. Participants worried that this might prevent them from 

catching the early onset of a condition and that they might be suffering from 

something that they were unaware of. This attitude suggests that there is not 

clarity amongst the community about differences in the health system in China and 

the UK and what services they can access locally. This might cause unnecessary 

visits to GPs and frustration and anxiety amongst patients.  

6.10 Translation 

A significant number of individuals were happy with the translation services they 

received and said it was of good quality. They confirmed the services were 

available if requested. Some participants said they have access to a face to face 

translation which they valued.  

On occasions that participants did not use translation services they communicated 

in English supported by body language. 

7. Conclusion 
The refugee community especially mothers and carers of children face barriers and 

challenges in access to primary care.  

Children’s health and wellbeing was the main issue highlighted through the 

research. It was linked to difficulties in obtaining GP appointments coupled with 

not having enough time during an appointment and not seeing the same GP. As a 

result the participants confirmed they used A&E to ensure their children were 

                                         

9 (Department of Health – Review of access to the NHS for foreign nationals February 2011, Refugee 
Action)   



12 | P a g e  

 

given medical attention and this provided mothers/carers with much needed 

reassurance.   

8. Recommendations 
As a result of the findings through the engagement with refugee community 

members in Lewisham, Healthwatch Lewisham sets out the following 

recommendations to improve access to services in the borough. 

COMMISSIONERS AND PROVIDERS: 

- Improve access to GP services including improving access to urgent 

appointments and improving booking systems. Consideration should be given 

to refugees, people with communication barriers and children.  

- Make appointments with a named GP more readily available. 

- Increase the length of appointments where necessary to allow safe and 

effective diagnosis and treatment. 

- Improve staff attitudes towards patients by increasing the emphasis on 

listening to the patient, and by taking time to understand the community 

members.  

- Provide appropriate training for front line reception staff and clinical staff 

to enable improved communication, cultural awareness and health 

inequalities faced by minority groups and refugees.  

COMMISSIONERS: 

- Increase the provision of information for seldom heard groups including the 

refugees on provision of and access to local services. 

  

  



13 | P a g e  

 

9. Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Equality and Diversity Data and Long Term Conditions  

 

Healthwatch engaged with people from the Refugee Community in the borough 

through a focus group organised through Action for Refugees in Lewisham attended 

by 11 people. All participants returned the equality and diversity questionnaires.   

All respondents were parents or guardians of a child/children under 16 years of age 

and two were carers.  

Long Term Conditions 

Only one person reported having High Blood pressure. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.4

4.6

4.8

5

5.2

5.4

5.6

5.8

6

6.2

25 - 34 35 - 44 45 - 54 55 - 64 65+

Age of the Focus Groups Participants

Gender

female



14 | P a g e  

 

 

Disability 

None of the respondents consider themselves as disabled.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Ethnicity

Chinese Black African



15 | P a g e  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Refugee Community and Access to Health and Wellbeing Services in 

Lewisham 

© Healthwatch Bromley 2016  

 

Healthwatch Bromley has been commissioned by the London Borough of Lewisham 

to deliver Healthwatch Lewisham. The text of this document (this excludes, where 

present, the Royal Arms and all departmental and agency logos) may be 

reproduced free of charge in any format or medium providing that it is reproduced 

accurately and not in a misleading context. The material must be acknowledged as 

Healthwatch Bromley copyright and the document title specified. Where third 

party material has been identified, permission from the respective copyright 

holder must be sought.  Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to 

us at info@healthwatchlewisham.co.uk.  You can download this publication from 

www.healthwatchlewisham.co.uk 

 





Healthier Communities Select Committee

Title Healthwatch report: The Turkish Community and Access to Health and 
Wellbeing Services in Lewisham

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 9

Class Part 1 (open) 18 October 2016

1. Purpose

The Healthwatch report The Turkish Community and Access to Health and 
Wellbeing Services in Lewisham is attached. 

3. Recommendations

The Committee is asked to note the report.

For further information, please contact John Bardens, Scrutiny Manager, on 
02083149976.





1 | P a g e  

 

    

 

The Turkish Community and 

Access to Health and Wellbeing 

Services in Lewisham 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

April 2016 

Community House, South Street, Bromley, BR1 1RH, 0208 315 1916  



2 | P a g e  

 

 

Contents 

1. About Healthwatch Lewisham .......................................................... 3 

Acknowledgements .......................................................................... 4 

2. The Turkish community of Lewisham .................................................. 5 

3. Purpose of the engagement ............................................................. 6 

4. Methodology ............................................................................... 7 

5. Findings: The Themes ...................................................................... 7 

5.1 Good practice – GPs .................................................................... 7 

5.2 Waiting times at GPs ................................................................... 7 

5.3 Referrals ................................................................................. 8 

5.4 Interpreting needs ...................................................................... 8 

5.5 Low quality medicine .................................................................. 8 

5.6 Standalone issues: ...................................................................... 8 

5.7 Dental treatment and mental health ................................................ 8 

5.8 Long term condition not recognised ................................................. 9 

5.9 Pharmacies and prescriptions system, staff attitudes ............................ 9 

6. Conclusion ................................................................................... 9 

7. Recommendations .......................................................................... 9 

8. Appendices ................................................................................ 10 

Appendix 1 – Equality and Diversity Data and Long Term Conditions .............. 10 

 

  



3 | P a g e  

 

1. About Healthwatch Lewisham 
 

 

Healthwatch Lewisham (HWL) is one of 152 local Healthwatch organisations that 

were established throughout England in 2013, under the provisions of the Health 

and Social Care Act 2012. The dual role of local Healthwatch is to champion the 

rights of users of health and social care services and to hold the system to account 

for how well it engages with the public. The remit of Healthwatch is as an 

independent health and social care organisation, representing the voice of local 

people and ensure that health and social care services are designed to meet the 

needs of patients, social care users and carers.   

Healthwatch also supports children, young people and adults in Lewisham to have 

a stronger voice in order to influence how health and social care services are 

purchased, provided and reviewed within the borough.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



4 | P a g e  

 

Healthwatch’s core functions are:    

1. Gathering the views and experiences of service users, carers, and the wider 

community,   

2. Making people’s views known,   

3. Involving locals in the commissioning process for health and social care services, 

and process for their continual scrutiny,   

4. Referring providers of concern to Healthwatch England, or the CQC, to 

investigate,   

5. Providing information about which services are available to access and 

signposting,   

6. Collecting views and experiences and communicating them to Healthwatch 

England,   

7. Work with the Health and Wellbeing board in Lewisham on the Joint Strategic 

Needs Assessment and Joint Health and Wellbeing strategy (which will influence 

the commissioning process).  

 

Acknowledgements 

Healthwatch Lewisham would like to thank the Turkish Elders Club for providing a 

platform to engage with their members. 

We would like to encourage people who speak up on behalf of seldom heard groups 

to consider this report in their work and to consider joining Healthwatch Lewisham 

to amplify this voice. 

 

 

 

 



5 | P a g e  

 

2. The Turkish community of Lewisham 
Lewisham has a population of about 286,000 people and is the 15th most ethnically 

diverse local authority in England with two out of every five residents from a black 

and minority ethnic (BME) background. 1 

Figure 1 shows the breakdown of ethnic groups in the borough cited in the 

Lewisham Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 2016. Non-white ethnic groups 

in Lewisham account for 41% of the population. 

According to the 2011 Census there are 27,826 people from White other ethnic 

minority groups living in Lewisham.2 There are 1,294 people born in Turkey living 

in Lewisham.3 However according to the same source, Turkish is the fifth most 

spoken language in Lewisham (0.8% of the total population) which suggest the 

number is closer to 2300.4 Furthermore, the majority of the members of the 

Turkish Elders Club considered themselves as White British which implies that data 

collected by the census may not reflect the actual number of Turkish people living 

in Lewisham.  

 

Figure 1 5 

                                         

1 Lewisham’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2016 (http://www.lewishamjsna.org.uk/) 
2 https://lewisham.gov.uk/inmyarea/Documents/2011CensusSecondReleaseDec2012.pdf 
3 http://sprc.info/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/DayMer-Final-Report-final.pdf 
4 http://localstats.co.uk/census-demographics/england/london/lewisham 
5 Lewisham JSNA, 2016 

41%

10%

49%

Population in Lewisham

Non White Ethnic Groups White Other White



6 | P a g e  

 

 

3. Purpose of the engagement  
National evidence suggests that public bodies and services need to do more to take 

protected characteristics within communities into account when developing 

services. The Department of Health in 2012 published an NHS Patient Experience 

Framework developed by the NHS National Quality Board. It provides evidence 

based guidance on a number of issues known to affect the patient experience.6 

These include the need for cultural issues to be respected, the need for 

information, communication and education as well as the need for emotional 

support. 

People from BME communities report numerous 

issues with access to health services. Barriers 

include dissatisfaction with mainstream services 

which they perceive as lacking in understanding 

and consideration. This situation can result in 

poorer health compared to other groups, with 

unnecessary visits to Accident and Emergency, 

higher rates of hospital admission, and the 

likelihood of more complex, intrusive 

interventions.7 

                                         

6https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215159/dh_132
788.pdf 
7 Good Access in Practice, BME Health Forum 2010 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215159/dh_132788.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215159/dh_132788.pdf


7 | P a g e  

 

Through this report, Healthwatch Lewisham draws attention to the experiences of 

access to health and social care services faced by members of the Turkish 

community living in Lewisham. The report presents themes that emerged through 

Healthwatch engagement and highlights the key issues that are important for this 

community. Recommendations are provided, where possible, to support decision 

making and commissioning of services which will improve access for this 

community.  

The report will be submitted to commissioners at NHS Lewisham Clinical 

Commissioning Group and Lewisham Council, to the Lewisham Health and 

Wellbeing Board, Lewisham Healthier Communities Select Committee, Healthwatch 

England and local providers of services.  The report will be made public on 

Healthwatch Lewisham website.  

4. Methodology  
The information gathered about access to services for Turkish people living in 

Lewisham came through a focus group in partnership with the Turkish Elders Club 

attended by 21 people. 

The group agreed to support Healthwatch in communication with participants who 

didn’t speak English by support with translation.  

Participants were asked to share experiences that had taken place in the last 12-24 

months.  

HWL gathered equality and diversity data alongside the prevalence of long term 

conditions amongst the participants. This can be found in Appendix 1.  

5. Findings: The Themes 
 

5.1 Good practice – GPs 

The majority of participants said they are happy with their GPs and praised their 

GPs for ‘listening’ to them. This virtue was particularly important for the 

community and participants said that if doctors listened and are willing to 

emphasise then the communication barrier will be reduced. 

5.2 Waiting times at GPs 

The biggest issue for the members of the Turkish Elders Club was waiting times at 

GP surgeries. Some participants said they waited for over an hour despite having a 

booked appointment. Participants said, the typical response when they enquired 

about the reason was ‘IT system change’.  



8 | P a g e  

 

5.3 Referrals 

Some participants told Healthwatch they had issues with delayed referrals. 

Participants were worried about the time it takes to receive any form of response 

after being referred. One elderly man who had knee problems had not heard any 

news about his appointment following a referral four months ago. At the time of 

speaking he had booked a GP appointment to enquire about this. Many participants 

echoed this problem explaining that when they are referred it is not always clear 

when they will hear back. They suggested that it would be worth having an 

acknowledgement with information about the waiting time. Without this 

participants were not sure if they were forgotten or simply still waiting in a queue 

for appointments. This also suggests that people visit their GP just to enquire 

about their referral progress.  

5.4 Interpreting needs 

The participants had varied translation needs; some needed support and others 

communicated in English. In general participants said they were confident when 

talking to their GP about minor issues, however if they have more serious medical 

problems they need an interpreter. Many participants said they use a family 

member to translate when attending hospital appointments.  

5.5 Low quality medicine 

Healthwatch recognised another big issue for this group was the quality of 

medicines. The majority of participants agreed that the medicine they are getting 

is a cheap version of the one their doctor has prescribed or the doctor is not giving 

‘good medicine’ in the first place. One patient told Healthwatch she has been 

suffering with a leg problem but was given a prescription for a ‘cheap cream’ from 

her GP. She would prefer to get ‘a good medicine’ to help the problem. ‘The 

current one is not helping’ she told Healthwatch. Other participants confirmed 

they had experienced the same issue saying the replacement medicine did not 

work as well as the original drug despite professionals assuring them it would. The 

lack of trust in the prescribed medicines could potentially deter patients from 

using the medicine leading to unnecessary waste and worsening of the condition.   

5.6 Standalone issues: 

Healthwatch heard some issues that were unique to individual participants. 

However we felt it was important to include these in the report.  

5.7 Dental treatment and mental health 

A participant’s family member has refused dental treatment despite being referred 

to the hospital. Their family is worried and are adamant the refusal of treatment is 

a result of a mental health issue. However the health professionals involved with 

the care for this patient do not recognise the mental health issue and do not 

cooperate with the family to have this person treated.  



9 | P a g e  

 

5.8 Long term condition not recognised 

A participant’s relative suffered an accident and as a result needed an operation. 

During the treatment, the doctors were unable to pick up that the patient had a 

long term condition. The family was unhappy as this caused complications and 

impacted upon the patient’s recovery.   

5.9 Pharmacies and prescriptions system, staff attitudes 

A participant with a long term condition which has severe symptoms is undergoing 

chemotherapy. She made a complaint to Healthwatch about the repeat 

prescription service and pharmacy staff attitudes. She told Healthwatch her 

medicine was not ready when she came to collect it at her assigned pharmacy. She 

was then send to another pharmacy who then sent her back to the original one. 

After back and forth trips her case was finally looked into and her medicine found 

at the original destination. The participant felt she was not treated seriously by 

some staff due to the level of her spoken English.   

6. Conclusion 
From the data collected it was evident that the focus group participants were 

generally happy with the NHS. This relates to experiences that were shared by the 

group as well as experiences expressed individually.  

By far the most comments received were about waiting times at GP services. This 

was closely followed by lack of clarity around waiting times for referrals coupled 

with long waiting times which made the participants worry as they were unsure if 

their referral had been lost or whether there were simply long waiting delays. A 

third issue that was expressed by this community as significant was poor quality 

medicine and replacement medicines offered by pharmacists.   

7. Recommendations 
As a result of our findings through our engagement with the Turkish community 

members in Lewisham, Healthwatch Lewisham sets out the following 

recommendations to improve access to services for the Turkish community. 

COMMISSIONERS AND PROVIDERS: 

- Improve waiting times at GP services and provide information and 

explanations for delays when they occur.  

 

- Inform the patient about the expected waiting time for a referral. Provide 

an acknowledgement so the patient is reassured of the access to service.  

 

- Providers should explain the rationale for prescribing particular medicine 

and keep the patient informed and involved when an alternative is offered.   



10 | P a g e  

 

8. Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Equality and Diversity Data and Long Term Conditions  

Healthwatch engaged with people from the Turkish Community in Lewisham 

through organising a focus group attended by 21 people. Out of those we collected 

20 feedback forms.  

 

 

 

 

*Others consisted of: Cholesterol x 8, Osteoporosis, Thyroid problems, Eye 

Problem, Glaucoma, Leg Problem x 4, Back Pain. 

 
 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

16 - 19 20 - 24 25 - 34 35 - 44 45 - 54 55 - 64 65+

Age of the Focus Groups Participants

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16

High blood pressure

Diabetes

Coronary Heart Disease

Stroke

Epilepsy

Asthma

Cancer

Mental Health

Depression

Dementia

COPD

Other

Long Term Conditions



11 | P a g e  

 

 

 

 

 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

16 - 19 20 - 24 25 - 34 35 - 44 45 - 54 55 - 64 65+

Age of the Focus Groups Participants

20%

80%

Gender

male female

Disability

Yes No



12 | P a g e  

 

Majority of the participant described themselves as White British. Some used two 

characteristics to describe their ethnicity.   

 Five participants described themselves as White British and British Turks 

 One participants described themselves as White Other and British Turks 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14

British Turks

White Other

White British

Ethnicity



13 | P a g e  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Turkish Community and Access to Health and Wellbeing Services in 

Lewisham 

© Healthwatch Bromley 2016  

 

Healthwatch Bromley has been commissioned by the London Borough of Lewisham 

to deliver Healthwatch Lewisham. The text of this document (this excludes, where 

present, the Royal Arms and all departmental and agency logos) may be 

reproduced free of charge in any format or medium providing that it is reproduced 

accurately and not in a misleading context. The material must be acknowledged as 

Healthwatch Bromley copyright and the document title specified. Where third 

party material has been identified, permission from the respective copyright 

holder must be sought.  Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to 

us at info@healthwatchlewisham.co.uk.  You can download this publication from 

www.healthwatchlewisham.co.uk 

 





Healthier Communities Select Committee

Title Select Committee work programme

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 11

Class Part 1 (open) 18 October 2016

1. Purpose

To advise Members of the proposed work programme for the municipal year 2016-
17, and to decide on the agenda items for the next meeting.

2. Summary

2.1 At the beginning of the municipal year, each select committee drew up a draft work 
programme for submission to the Business Panel for consideration.

2.2 The Business Panel considered the proposed work programmes of each of the 
select committees on 24 May 2016 and agreed a co-ordinated overview and 
scrutiny work programme. However, the work programme can be reviewed at each 
Select Committee meeting so that Members are able to include urgent, high priority 
items and remove items that are no longer a priority.

3. Recommendations

3.1 The Committee is asked to:

 note the work plan attached at Appendix B and discuss any issues arising from 
the programme; 

 specify the information and analysis required in the report for each item on the 
agenda for the next meeting, based on desired outcomes, so that officers are 
clear about what they need to provide;

 review all forthcoming key decisions, attached at Appendix C, and consider any 
items for further scrutiny;

4. The work programme

4.1 The work programme for 2016/17 was agreed at the Committee’s meeting on 19 
April 2016.

4.2 The Committee is asked to consider if any urgent issues have arisen that require 
scrutiny and if any existing items are no longer a priority and can be removed from 
the work programme. Before adding additional items, each item should be 
considered against agreed criteria. The flow chart attached at Appendix A may 
help Members decide if proposed additional items should be added to the work 
programme. The Committee’s work programme needs to be achievable in terms of 
the amount of meeting time available. If the Committee agrees to add additional 
item(s) because they are urgent and high priority, Members will need to consider 



which medium/low priority item(s) should be removed in order to create sufficient 
capacity for the new item(s).

5. The next meeting

5.1 The following reports are scheduled for the meeting on 24 November 2016:

Agenda item Review type Link to Corporate Priority Priority

Health and adult social 
care integration

In-depth review Active, healthy citizens High

Elective orthopaedics Standard item Active, healthy citizens High

Transition from children's 
to adult social care

Standard item Active, healthy citizens Medium

LCCG commissioning 
intentions

Standard item Active, healthy citizens Medium

5.2 The Committee is asked to specify the information and analysis it would like to see 
in the reports for these items, based on the outcomes the Committee would like to 
achieve, so that officers are clear about what they need to provide for the next 
meeting.

6. Financial Implications

There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

7. Legal Implications

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, all scrutiny select committees must 
devise and submit a work programme to the Business Panel at the start of each 
municipal year.

8. Equalities Implications

8.1 The Equality Act 2010 brought together all previous equality legislation in England, 
Scotland and Wales. The Act included a new public sector equality duty, replacing 
the separate duties relating to race, disability and gender equality. The duty came 
into force on 6 April 2011. It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, 
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

8.2 The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to:

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act



 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not.

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not.

8.3 There may be equalities implications arising from items on the work programme and 
all activities undertaken by the Select Committee will need to give due consideration 
to this.

9. Date of next meeting

The date of the next meeting is Tuesday 24 November 2016.

Background Documents

Lewisham Council’s Constitution

Centre for Public Scrutiny: the Good Scrutiny Guide



Appendix A



Work item Type of item Priority
Strategic 
priority

Delivery 
deadline

19-Apr 18-May 28-Jun 13-Sep 18-Oct 24-Nov 12-Jan 01-Mar

Lewisham future programme Standard item High CP9 Ongoing

Confirmation of Chair and Vice Chair Constitutional req High CP9 Apr

Select Committee work programme 2016/17 Constitutional req High CP9 Ongoing

Sustainability and Transformation Plans Standard item Medium CP9 Apr

SLaM place of safety changes Information item High CP9 Apr

Health and social care integration Standard item Medium CP9 May

Health and adult social care integration In-depth review High CP9 March '17 Scope Evidence session Evidence session Evidence session Report Referral

SLaM quality account Performance monitoring Medium CP9 May

Free swimming Standard item High CP9 May

Healthwatch reports on the Polish and Tamil communities' 
access to health and wellbeing services in Lewisham

Standard item Medium CP9 May

Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust Quality Account Standard item Medium CP9 Jun

Public health commissioning intentions and consultation Standard item High CP9 Jun

HIV services Standard item High CP9 Jun

Obesity/sugar-smart pilot Information item Low CP9 Jun

Sustainability and Transformation Plan Information item High CP9 Jun

Public health savings Standard item High CP9 Jun

Devolution pilot business case Standard item High CP10 Sep

Healthwatch annual report Information item Medium CP9 Sep

Adult safeguarding Standard item High CP9 Oct

Public health annual report Performance monitoring Low CP9 Oct

Lewisham hospital update (systems resilience) Standard item High CP9 Oct

Elective orthopaedics Standard item High CP9 Nov

LCCG commissioning intentions Standard review Medium CP9 Nov

Transition from children's to adult social care Standard item Medium CP9 Nov

Adult learning Lewisham annual report Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Jan

Primary care transformation and access to GP services Standard item Medium CP9 Jan

Implementation of the Care Act Performance monitoring High CP9 Jan

Place-based care and neighbourhood care networks Standard item Medium CP9 Mar

Delivery of the Lewisham Health & Wellbeing priorities Performance monitoring High CP9 Mar

Leisure centre contract Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Mar

Item completed
Item on-going 1) Tue 19 April 5) Tue
Item outstanding 2) Wed 18 May 6) Thu
Proposed timeframe 3) Tue 28 Jun 7) Thu
Item added 4) Tue 13 Sep 8) Wed 01 Mar

Healthier Communities Select Committee work programme 2016/17 Programme of work

Meetings
18 Oct
24 Nov
12 Jan





FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS

Forward Plan October 2016 - January 2017

This Forward Plan sets out the key decisions the Council expects to take during the next four months. 

Anyone wishing to make representations on a decision should submit them in writing as soon as possible to the relevant contact officer (shown as number (7) in 
the key overleaf). Any representations made less than 3 days before the meeting should be sent toKevin Flaherty, the Local Democracy Officer, at the Council 
Offices or kevin.flaherty@lewisham.gov.uk. However the deadline will be 4pm on the working day prior to the meeting.

A “key decision”* means an executive decision which is likely to:

(a) result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the 
decision relates;

(b) be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards.



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

February 2016 Insurance Renewal 09/16
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources

 

August 2016 Carer Specialist Information 
Advice and Support Service 
Contract

20/09/16
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People

 

August 2016 Review of Highway 
Maintenance Contract Variation

20/09/16
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

 

August 2016 Accounts 2015-16 21/09/16
Council

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources

 

August 2016 Gypsy and Traveller Local Plan 
Consultation

21/09/16
Council

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

 

August 2016 Gypsy and Traveller Local Plan 21/09/16 Janet Senior, Executive 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

Site Selection Council Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

 

August 2016 LGO Report against Lewisham 21/09/16
Council

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources

 

August 2016 Recommendations of the 
Broadway Theatre Working 
Group

28/09/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People

 

August 2016 Catford Housing Zone Funding 
Award and Terms

28/09/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing

 

February 2016 Health and Social Care 
Devolution Pilot

28/09/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People

 

August 2016 LIP Annual Spending 
Submission 2017/18 and 

28/09/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources &  



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

2016/17 Update Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

August 2016 Lewisham Future Programme 28/09/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources

 

May 2016 Lewisham Homes Loan 
Acquition Programme parts 1 
and 2

28/09/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing

 

August 2016 Outcome of Public Health 
Savings Consultation and 
Approval to Procure

28/09/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People

 

August 2016 Private Rented Sector 
Discharge Policy

28/09/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing

 

August 2016 Secondary School Re-
organisation/Expansion 
Proposal Permission for 
Consultation

28/09/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 

 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

Children and Young 
People

February 2016 Contract Award/s Planned 
Preventative Maintenance, 
Repairs, Building Cleaning and 
Related Services

28/09/16
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

 

August 2016 Occupational Therapy Services 
for Concessionary Award 
Schemes

04/10/16
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People

 

April 2016 Autistic Spectrum Housing 19/10/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing

 

August 2016 Deptford Reach Development 19/10/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing

 

June 2016 Options for 118 Canonbie Road 19/10/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing

 

August 2016 Discretionary Rate Relief 19/10/16 Aileen Buckton, 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

Review Mayor and Cabinet Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources

 

February 2016 Disposal of Copperas Street 
Depot Creekside

19/10/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

 

August 2016 Financial Forecasts 2016/17 19/10/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources

 

August 2016 Heathside & Lethbridge Phase 
5 Compulsory Puchase Order

19/10/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing

 

August 2016 Heathside & Lethbridge Phase 
6 Parts 1 & 2

19/10/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing

 

January 2016 New Bermondsey Housing 
Zone Bid Update

19/10/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

May 2016 Schools with License deficits 19/10/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People

 

August 2016 Treasury Management Mid-
Year Update

19/10/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources

 

August 2016 Update on action plan 
following Education 
Commission Report

19/10/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People

 

August 2016 The Wharves Deptford - 
Compulsory Purchase Order 
Resolution

19/10/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

 

August 2016 Family Support Service 
Contract Award

19/10/16
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 

 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

People

August 2016 Footways Contract Award 19/10/16
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

 

September 2016 Supported Living Services to 
Adults with Learning 
Disabilities Call-Off contracts

19/10/16
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People

 

September 2016 Children and Young People's 
Personalised Care and Support 
Preferred Provider Framework 
Contract Extension

19/10/16
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People

 

August 2016 Re-Procurement Managed 
Service Interpretation, 
Translation and Transcription 
Services Contract award

01/11/16
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources

 

May 2016 Annual Complaints Report 09/11/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Joe Dromey, 
Cabinet Member Policy & 

 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

Performance

September 2016 Catford Regeneration 
Programme Update

09/11/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

 

August 2016 Regionalising Adoption 09/11/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People

 

September 2016 Restoration and Re-Purposing 
of Buildings within Beckenham 
Place Park

09/11/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm

 

August 2016 Review of National Non 
Domestic Rates - Discretionary 
Discount Scheme for 
Businesses Accredited to 
Living Wage Foundation

09/11/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources

 

August 2016 Carriageway Resurfacing 
Contract Award

09/11/16
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

August 2016 School Minor Works 
Programme 2017

09/11/16
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People

 

August 2016 Deptford High Street (North) 
Contract Award

22/11/16
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

 

August 2016 Consultant Appointment 2016 
Schools Minor Works Contract

22/11/16
Overview and 
Scrutiny Education 
Business Panel

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People

 

August 2016 Deptford Parish Council 
Petition and Community 
Governance Terms of 
Reference

23/11/16
Council

Kath Nicholson, Head of 
Law and Councillor Kevin 
Bonavia, Cabinet 
Member Resources

 

May 2016 Main Grants Programme 2017-
18 Appeals Against Proposals

30/11/16
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Joan Millbank, 
Cabinet Member Third 
Sector & Community

 

September 2016 Ashmead Primary School 
Expansion: Results of 

07/12/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and  



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

Consultation Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People

May 2016 2017-18 Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme

07/12/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources

 

August 2016 Contract Extensions for 
Accommodation Based 
Services and Floating Support 
Service

07/12/16
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People

 

August 2016 Fusion Leisure Contract 
Variation

07/12/16
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People

 

May 2016 Main Grants Programme 2017-
18 Allocation of Funding

07/12/16
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Joan Millbank, 
Cabinet Member Third 
Sector & Community

 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

May 2016 Prevention and Inclusion Team 
Award of Contracts

07/12/16
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Janet Daby, 
Cabinet Member 
Community Safety

 

August 2016 Prevention Inclusion and 
Public Health Commissioning 
Contract Award

07/12/16
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People

 

September 2016 Lewisham Music Business 
Plan and Transfer Terms

11/01/17
Mayor and Cabinet

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People

 

August 2016 Community Premises 
Management Contract 
Permission to Tender

11/01/17
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Joan Millbank, 
Cabinet Member Third 
Sector & Community

 

May 2016 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
2017-18

18/01/17
Council

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources

 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

May 2016 Council Budget 2017-18 22/02/17
Council

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources

 

August 2016 Community Premises 
Management Contract Award

22/03/17
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Joan Millbank, 
Cabinet Member Third 
Sector & Community

 




	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 13 September 2016
	2 Declarations of interest
	3 Health and adult social care integration - evidence session
	03 POST, integrating health and social care - 181016
	03 Kings Fund, Social care older people - 181016
	Key messages
	￼ Background and context
	￼ The purpose of 
this report
	Methodology and approach
	The structure of this report
	￼ Local authorities: managing austerity

	The national picture: what do we know?
	The local picture: what we learned from our case studies
	￼ The impact on 
social care providers 

	The national picture: what do we know? 
	The local picture: what we learned from our case studies
	￼ What has been the impact on older people, their families and carers?
	The national picture: what do we know?

	The local picture: what we learned from our case studies 
	￼ The NHS
	The national picture: what do we know?

	The local picture: what we learned from our case studies
	￼ Strategies to improve care and support for older people 
	The national picture: what do we know? 

	The local picture: what we learned from our case studies 
	￼ Discussion: the future of social care over the next five years

	The financial context
	The policy context
	The future of social care for older people 
	Policy challenges 
	Appendix: Methodology 
	References
	About the authors
	Acknowledgements





	4 Lewisham hospital update (systems resilience)
	04 UHL System Resilience - 181016

	5 Public health annual report
	05 Public health annual report - 181016
	05 Public Health Performance Dashboard 2016 - 181016

	6 Information item: Healthwatch Mental Health Forum
	07 Healthwatch Mental Health Forum - 181016

	7 Information item: People that don’t speak English and Access to Health and Wellbeing Services in Lewisham
	08 People that don’t speak English and Access to Health and Wellbeing Services in Lewisham - 181016

	8 Information item: The Refugee Community and Access to Health and Wellbeing Services in Lewisham
	09 The Refugee Community and Access to Health and Wellbeing Services in Lewisham - 181016

	9 Information item: The Turkish Community and Access to Health and Wellbeing Services in Lewisham
	10 The Turkish Community and Access to Health and Wellbeing Services in Lewisham - 181016

	10 Select Committee work programme
	11 Appendix B Select Committee Work Programmes 2016-7 - 181016
	11 Key Decision Plan October 2016 - 181016


